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SUMMARY INFORMATION

Section 5 — Introduction and warnings

Introduction

The issuer is PYX Resources Ltd. (the “Company” or “PYX Resources”), ISIN
AU0000078487.

The Company’s registered office is at Level 5, 56 Pitt Street, Sydney NSW 2000,
Australia and its telephone number is +61 (02) 8823 3132.

The Company’s Legal Entity Identifier (“LEI”) is 529900A51PGY4VFL4EA4S.

The securities being admitted to trading on the Main Market of the London Stock
Exchange are the Ordinary Shares with no par value.

This prospectus has been approved by the Financial Conduct Authority in the United
Kingdom. The address of the Financial Conduct Authority is 12 Endeavour Square,
London E20 1JN, +44 (0)20 7066 1000. Contact information relating to the
Financial Conduct Authority (“FCA”) can be found at http://fca.org.uk/contact.

The date of approval was 8 November 2021.

Warning to
potential
investors:

This summary should be read as an introduction to this prospectus. Any decision
to invest in the Ordinary Shares should be based on consideration of the
prospectus as a whole by the investor. The investor could lose all or part of the
invested capital. Civil liability attaches only to those persons who have tabled the
summary, including any translation thereof, but only if the summary is misleading,
inaccurate or inconsistent when read together with other parts of the prospectus or
it does not provide, when read together with the other parts of the prospectus, key
information in order to aid investors when considering whether to invest in such
securities.

Section 6 — Key Information on the Issuer

6 (a)

Who is the issuer
of the securities?

PYX Resources, currently listed on the National Stock Exchange of Australia (the
“NSX”) (NSX: PYX), was incorporated and registered under the name Kimberley
Resources NL on 19 March 1996 (ACN 073 099 171) in the state of Western
Australia under the Corporations Act 2001 (Commonwealth) (the “Australian
Corporations Act”).

From 1996 to 2000 the Company’s operations focused on gold mining exploration
and production, while for the next two years (2000-2002) the Company was
operating as an investment group. From 3 August 2012 to 31 January 2020 the
Company focused on oil & gas exploration in Papua New Guinea.

The Company is pursuing a strategy to become a major and sustainable global
producer of premium zircon by focusing on identifying, developing and acquiring
undervalued, world-class mineral assets strategically located, that possess
significant resources, long mine life and the high zircon assemblage.

Through the acquisitions of the Takmur Group and the Tisma Group (the
“Subsidiaries”) the Company has contractual rights in, and currently operates two
key tenements located in the alluvium-rich region of Central Kalimantan,
Indonesia, the Mandiri mining project (the “Mandiri Project”) a large-scale near
surface open pit operation in production since 2015 and the Tisma mining project
(the “Tisma Project”), a mineral sands exploration and development project
(together the “Projects”™).

According to publicly available information, during the financial year ended 31
December 2020, the Company and its Subsidiaries (the “Group”) was the 2nd
largest publicly producing mineral sands company by zircon resources with a
JORC compliant mineral resource of 263.5 Mt.

On 3 February 2020 the Company changed its name from South Pacific Resources
Limited (“SPB”) to PYX Resources Limited to reflect its strategy as a zircon
production and development company.




The statutory auditors to the Company are Hall Chadwick, Level 40, 2 Park Street,
Sydney NSW 2000, Australia. The statutory auditors to the Company (then known
as South Pacific Resources Limited) for the years 2018 and 2019 were Pitcher
Partners BA&A Pty Ltd.

The Directors of the Group are:

Name Position Appointment

Oliver B Hasler Chairman & CEO 31 January 2020

Gary J Artmont Non-Executive Director 31 January 2020

Bakhos Georges Non-Executive Director 31 January 2020

Alvin Tan Non-Executive Director 25 May 2000

The Company completed a fundraise of AU$11.2m (£6.1m) on the NSX (the
“June Fundraise”) on 23 June 2021 (gross of expenses). The expenses were borne
by the Company in full and no expenses were charged to the investors. The

expenses included commission and professional advisory fees and reached a total
of AU$673,496 (£364,900).

The net proceeds of the June Fundraise were AU$10.6m (£5.7m) (the “Net June
Fundraise Proceeds”). Upon completion of the June Fundraise, the Company
issued 10,897,988 new shares at AUS$1.03 (£0.56).

Note: AUD/GBP average exchange rate used as of 23 June 2021.

As at the Last Practicable Date, the Company is aware of the following persons
that, directly or indirectly, hold interests in 5 per cent. or more of the Company’s
issued share capital:

As at

the Last Practicable Date
Number of % of the
Ordinary Ordinary
Name Shares held Shares
Phoenix Fund Solutions Ltd 92,520,635 21.54
Takmur SPC Limited” 84,109,669 19.58
Tisma (HK) Limited 51,638,685 12.02
TGN Holdings (HK) Limited 51,638,685 12.02

* Takmur SPC Limited shares are held through Cedrus Investments Ltd

6 (b)

What is the key
financial
information
regarding the
issuer?

PYX Resources is considered to be the legal parent company of the Group, while
Takmur is considered to be the parent company for accounting purposes.

Group

The selection of key historical financial information of the Group as at 30 June
2021, 31 December 2020, 30 June 2020, 31 January 2019, 30 June 2019 and 30
June 2018 set out below has been extracted without material amendment from the
audited financial information of the Group for those years.

Reviewed
Half Year Audited
ended Audited as at Audited asat 1 Jul 2019- Audited as at Audited as at
30 Jun 2021 31 Dec2020 30 Jun2020 31 Jan2020 30 Jun 2019 30 Jun 2018

Statement of financial position US$ US$ US$ A$ A$ A$
Total assets 86,971,936 6,166,204 6,814,532 54,063 69,642 79,714
Total equity 84,709,757 4,520,849 6,408,329 (653,097)  (3,191,528)  (2,381,889)
Statement of comprehensive income
Total revenue 4,660,223 8,956,694 7,816,397 - - -
Net operating loss (1,194,190)  (13,820,603)  (10,885,894)  (1,357,468) (797,866)  (1,205,666)
Basic loss per share (cents) (0.20) (6.0) (10.0) 0.07) (0.43) 0.73)
Diluted loss per share (cents) (0.19) (5.5) (2.4) 0.07) (0.48) 0.73)
Statement of cash flows
Cash flows from operating activities (739,440)  (2,086,711)  (1,872,348) (10,345) (51,867) (609,208)
Cash flows from investing activities (593,189) (837,596) (671,563) - - (80,855)
Cash flows from financing activities 7,539,387 6,278,117 6,773,342 7,162 52,937 647,298
Net cash flow for the period 6,206,758 3,353,810 4,229,431 (3,183) 1,070 (42,765)




TAKMUR GROUP

The selection of key historical financial information of the Takmur Group as at 31
December 2019 and 31 December 2018 set out below has been extracted without
material amendment from the audited financial information of the Takmur Group
for those years.

Audited as at Audited as at

31 Dec 2019 31 Dec 2018
Statement of financial position US$ US$
Total assets 1,714,622 —
Total equity 704,983 (4,375)
Statement of comprehensive income
Total revenue 6,858,289 -
Net loss for the period (58,386) (5,109)
Statement of cash flows
Cash flows from operating activities (110,205) -
Cash flows from investing activities (129,278) -
Cash flows from financing activities 332,554 —
Net cash flow for the period 93,071 -

PT ANDARY USAHA MAKMUR (PT AUM)

The selection of key historical financial information of PT AUM as at
31 December 2018 set out below has been extracted without material amendment
from the audited financial information of PT AUM for the year.

Audited Audited as at
1-9 Jan 2019 31 Dec 2018
Statement of financial position US$ US$

Total assets - -
Total equity (4,375) (4,375)
Statement of comprehensive income

Total revenue -
Net loss for the period
Statement of cash flows

(352,080)

Cash flows from operating/investing/
financing activities - -
Net cash flow for the period - -

PT INVESTASI MANDIRI (PT IM)

The selection of key historical financial information of PT IM as at 31 December
2018 set out below has been extracted without material amendment from the
audited financial information of PT IM for the year.

Audited Audited as at

1-23 Jan 2019 31 Dec 2018
Statement of financial position US$ US$
Total assets 1,413,278 1,150,656
Total equity 755,829 780,943
Statement of comprehensive income
Total revenue — 4,760,828
Net profit for the year (36,899) 302,766
Statement of cash flows
Cash flows from operating activities (319,569) 35,724
Cash flows from investing activities (9,239) 1,314
Cash flows from financing activities 322,558 (21,638)
Net cash flow for the period (6,250) 15,399




TISMA GROUP

The selection of key historical financial information of Tisma Group as at 15
February 2021, 30 June 2020 and 30 June 2019 set out below has been extracted
without material amendment from the audited financial information of the Tisma
Group for those years and periods.

Audited

1 Jul 2020- Audited as Audited as

15 Feb 2021  at 30 Jun 2020  at 30 Jun 2019
Statement of financial position US$ US$ A$
Total assets 3,407 58,994 1,731
Total equity (181,005) (87,916) (60,367)
Statement of comprehensive income
Total revenue - - -
Net loss for the period (93,797) (28,044) (12,295)
Statement of cash flows
Cash flows from operating activities 9,173) (4,076) (1)
Cash flows from financing activities - 13,226 1
Net cash flow for the period (9,173) 9,150 -

PT TISMA GLOBAL NUSANTARA (PT TGN)

The selection of key historical financial information of PT TGN for the period 1
Jan 2018 to 15 Jan 2019 set out below has been extracted without material
amendment from the audited financial information of PT TGN for the period.

Audited from
1 Jan 2018 to

15 Jan 2019
Statement of financial position US$
Total assets -
Total equity (59,420)

Statement of comprehensive income

Total revenue -
Net profit for the year (16,774)
Statement of cash flows

Cash flows from operating/investing/financing activities -
Net cash flow for the period -

Unaudited pro forma financial information

The unaudited consolidated pro forma financial information (the “Pro Forma
Financial Information”) has been prepared on the basis described, for illustrative
purposes only, to provide financial information about how the acquisition of the
Tisma Group, the June Fundraise and the Admission costs might have affected the
income and expenses of the Group for the year ended 30 June 2020, presented on
the basis of accounting policies adopted by the Company in preparing the
unaudited, consolidated interim financial information for the six-month period
ended 30 June 2021, as if these events had occurred on 1 July 2019.

The Pro Forma Financial Information has been prepared on the basis set out
therein and in accordance with the requirement of item 18.4 of Annex 1 and in
accordance with Annex 20 of the Prospectus Regulation Rules to illustrate the
impact of the acquisition of the Tisma Group, the June Fundraise and the
Admission costs as if they had taken place on 1 July 2019 and is given for the
purpose of complying with that requirement and for no other purposes.

UNAUDITED PROFORMA STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Adjustment Adjustment
Group Company Tisma Group Adjustment Adjustment Adjustment Pro Forma
Year ended 7 months Ended Year ended Acquisition of June Settlement of results for
30 June 2020 30 June 2020 30 June 2020 the Tisma Group Fundraise ~ Admission costs the year ended
(Note 1) (Note 2) (Note 3) (Note 4) (Note 5) (Note 6) 30 June 2020
Us$ Us$ Us$ Us$ Us$ Us$ Us$

Revenue 7,816,397 - - - - 7,816,397
Gross profit 1,304,233 - (6,992) - - - 1,297,241
Loss after taxation (10,885,894) (1,357,468) (28,044) (1,200,000 (516,026) (953,319) (14,897,203)
Total comprehensive

loss (10,846,309) (1,445,705) (27,549 (1,200,000 (516,026) (953.319) (14,945,360)




Notes:

1. Represents the audited results of the Company for the period from 1 February 2020 to 30 June
2020 and of the Takmur Group for the year ended 30 June 2020.

2.  Represents the audited results of results of the Company for the period from 1 July 2019 to 31
January 2020.

3. Represents the audited results of the Tisma Group for the year ended 30 June 2020.

4. Represents the cost of the acquisition and consolidation of the Tisma Group.

5. Represents the effects of the June Fundraise, completed on the 23 June 2021.

6. Represents the effects of Admission costs.

6 (¢

What are the key
risks that are
specific to the
issuer?

This summary section only includes the five most material and high-risk factors.
HIGHEST RISKS RELATING TO THE GROUP AND ITS OPERATIONS

e The Company holds contractual interests in the Mandiri and Tisma Projects via
two Exclusive Operation and Management Agreements between:

i. Takmur’s subsidiary PT Andary Usaha Makmur (PT AUM) and PT Investasi
Mandiri (PT IM); and

ii. Tisma’s subsidiary PT Tisma Investasi Abadi (PT TIA) and PT Tisma
Global Nusantara (PT TGN).

Since there is no direct ownership interest in the two tenements, the Company’s
interest may be adversely affected in case of breaching, termination, or
non-renewal of the operational agreements or otherwise becomes unenforceable.
Under the two Agreements PT AUM and PT TIA have the right to appoint the
majority of PT IM and PT TGN’s directors and will have to give their consents
for the Agreements to terminate. Thus, the Directors are confident the Company
will be able to maintain its contractual interest.

e The Tisma Project is at an early stage of exploration and development and the
Group’s additional financial growth above and beyond the development of the
Mandiri Projects depends on the success of the Tisma Project, which will not
commence production until 2022. Failure to do so within the reasonable time
will have a material adverse effect on the Group’s business, results of
operations and financial condition, since production will be limited to only the
Mandiri Project’s capacity.

e The Group is reliant on mining and land licenses to operate adequately. Should
the companies holding the licenses fail to meet government, social or other
commitments the licenses may be at risk.

* A material decline in zircon prices globally may adversely affect the Group’s
operations, prospects and financial condition. The price for commodities is
subject to fluctuation and volatility, making it hard for the Group to accurately
predict future commodity price movements, thus provide assurance that existing
prices and revenues will be maintained in the future.

HIGHEST RISKS RELATING TO INDONESIAN MARKET

e The Republic of Indonesia, in which the Group conducts operations in, is
regarded as an emerging market and could possibly be subject to political,
economic or any other instability. Potential market risks include imposition of
trade barriers or taxes, changes in the regulatory environment and mineral sands
exportation and transportation regulations, difficulties with managing any
foreign operations, potential issues or restrictions on the free transfer of funds
or technology import or export, delays in dealing across borders and local
currency devaluations.




Section 7 — Key Information on the Securities

7 (a)

What are the
main features of
the securities?

The securities are Ordinary Shares in the capital of the Company with no par
value. Application will be made for the Ordinary Shares to be admitted to the
Official List with a Standard Listing and to trading on the Main Market of London
Stock Exchange. When admitted to trading the Ordinary Shares will have an ISIN
of AU0000078487 and a SEDOL of BMHTOV4. The Ordinary Shares are
denominated in GBP.

Holders of Ordinary Shares can hold and transfer interests in the Ordinary Shares
within CREST pursuant to a depositary interest arrangement established by the
Company. The Ordinary Shares will not themselves be admitted to CREST, rather,
the Depositary will issue the Depositary interest in respect of underlying Ordinary
Shares. The Depositary Interests are independent securities constituted under
English law which are held and transferred directly through the CREST system.
Depositary Interests have the same ISIN as the underlying Ordinary Shares and do
not require a separate admission to trading on the London Stock Exchange. The
Depositary Interests were created and issued pursuant to a deed poll issued and
executed by the Depositary.

On Admission, there will be 429,520,222 Ordinary Shares with no par value which
have been issued at the date of this Document (the “Ordinary Shares”), all of
which have been fully paid up. The term of the securities is perpetual.

The rights attaching to the Ordinary Shares arise from a combination of the
constitution of the Company (the “Constitution”), statute and general law. The
Constitution contains the internal rules of the Company and define matters such as
the rights, duties and powers of its shareholders and Directors, including
provisions to the following effect (when read in conjunction with the Australian
Corporations Act and the listing rules of the NSX (the “NSX Listing Rules”).

The Company’s current intention is to retain earnings, if any, for use in its
business operations. In view of this, it is unlikely that the Board will recommend a
dividend in the early years following Admission.

The Company does not have any other securities in issue or liens overs its assets.
All the Ordinary Shares are freely transferable and there are no restrictions on
transfer.

7 (b)

Where will the
securities be
traded?

Application has been made to the FCA and the London Stock Exchange for all of
the Ordinary Shares to be admitted to the standard segment of the Official List and
to trading on the Main Market respectively.

The Ordinary Shares are currently listed on the National Stock Exchange of
Australia. The Company does not intend to seek admission to trading of the
Ordinary Shares on any market other than the Main Market of the London Stock
Exchange and the National Stock Exchange of Australia.

It is expected that Admission will become effective and that unconditional dealings
will commence at 8.00 a.m. on 15 November 2021.

7 (d)

What are the key
risks that are
specific to the
securities?

The Ordinary Shares will be listed on both the National Stock Exchange of
Australia and the standard segment of the Main Market of the London Stock
Exchange. The NSX, and the London Stock Exchange and the FCA and ASIC
therefore have the right to suspend trading in certain circumstances. If trading is
suspended, Shareholders may not be able to dispose of their Ordinary Shares on the
LSE or NSX as the case may be.

Dual listing of the Ordinary Shares will result in differences in liquidity, settlement
and clearing systems, trading currencies, prices and transaction costs between the
exchanges where the Ordinary Shares will be listed. The aforementioned factors
may impede the transferability of the Ordinary Shares between the two exchanges.

The Company can give no assurance that an active trading market for the Ordinary
Shares will develop on the Stock Exchange or elsewhere or, if such an active
trading market is developed, can be sustained. If an active trading market is not
developed or maintained, the liquidity and trading price of the Ordinary Shares
could be adversely affected. The Company may issue Ordinary Shares from time to
time as consideration for future acquisitions and investments.




Section 8 — Key information on the offer of securities to the public and/or the admission to trading on a
regulated market

8 (a)

Under which
conditions and
timetable can I
invest in this
security?

It is expected that Admission will become effective, and that dealings in the Shares
will commence on the London Stock Exchange, at 8.00 a.m. (London time) on 15
November 2021.

The expenses of Admission will be borne by the Company in full and no expenses
will be charged to the investors. These expenses will include registration, listing
and admission fees, printing, advertising and distribution costs and professional
advisory fees, including legal fees, and any other applicable expenses. The expenses
are not expected to exceed.

8 (c)

Why is this
prospectus being
produced?

This document does not constitute an offer or invitation to any person to subscribe
for or purchase any shares in the Company.

The Company is seeking Admission of the Ordinary Shares to the standard segment
of the Official List (by way of a Standard Listing under Chapter 14 of the Listing
Rules) and to trading on the Main Market of the London Stock Exchange. In
accordance with Listing Rule 14.3, at Admission at least 25 per cent. of the
Ordinary Shares will be in public hands (as defined in the Listing Rules).

No person or entity is offering to sell the Ordinary Shares and no person or entity is
entering into a lock-in agreement.

There are no potential or actual conflicts of interest between any duties owed by the
Directors or the Senior Managers to the Company and their private interests and/or
other duties, save for their interest as holders of securities of the Company.
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Part 1
Risk Factors

Investment in the Company and the Ordinary Shares carries a significant degree of risk, including risks in
relation to the Company’s business, strategy, operations in the mining sector, potential conflicts of interest,
risks relating to taxation and risks relating to the Ordinary Shares.

Prospective investors should note that the risks relating to the Company, its industry and the Ordinary Shares
(summarised in the section of this Document headed “Summary”) are the risks that the Directors believe to be
the most essential to an assessment by a prospective investor of whether to consider an investment in the
Ordinary Shares. However, as the risks which the Company face relate to events and depend on circumstances
that may or may not occur in the future, prospective investors should consider not only the information on the
key risks summarised in the section of this Document headed “Summary” but also, among other things, the
risks and uncertainties described below.

The risks referred to below are those risks the Company and the Directors consider to be the material risks
relating to the Company. However, there may be additional risks that the Company and the Directors do not
currently consider to be material or of which the Company and the Directors are not currently aware that may
adversely affect the Company’s business, financial condition, results of operations or prospects. Investors
should review this Document carefully and in its entirety.

If any of the risks referred to in this Document were to occur, the results of operations, financial condition or
prospects of the Company could be materially and adversely affected. If that were to be the case, the trading
price of the Ordinary Shares and/or the level of dividends or distributions (if any) received from the Ordinary
Shares could decline significantly. Further, Investors could lose all or part of their investment.

Before making a final investment decision, prospective investors should consider carefully whether an
investment in the Company is suitable for them and, if they are in any doubt should consult with an independent
financial adviser authorised under FSMA if you are resident in the United Kingdom or, if not, from another
appropriately authorised independent financial adviser in the relevant jurisdiction which specialises in advising
on the acquisition of shares and other securities.

RISKS RELATING TO THE GROUP AND ITS ACTIVITIES
The Group’s Indirect Ownership in the Mandiri Project and Tisma Project

The Group’s interest in both the Mandiri Project and Tisma Project are contractual in nature and based on two
Exclusive Operation and Management Agreements between Takmur and PT IM in respect of the Mandiri Project
and Tisma and PT TGN in respect of the Tisma Project. The Company does not have any property or mineral
rights in respect of either Project or any direct ownership interest. Prospective investors should carefully
consider the details of the Exclusive Operation and Management Agreements, summarised in Part 13,
Paragraphs 18.5 & 18.7 of this Document.

Indirect ownership includes the risk that in the event the Exclusive Operation and Management Agreements are
terminated or otherwise become unenforceable the interests of the Company in both Projects will be adversely
affected and the Company may lose all of its rights to exploit zircon from the Mandiri Project and/or the Tisma
Project. However, the Directors have no reason to believe this will occur.

The Directors are confident that the Company will be able to determine the financial and operational policy of
PT IM and PT TGN for the foreseeable future through the Exclusive Operation and Management Agreements,

based on the following factors:

. The Exclusive Operation and Management Agreements require the Company’s subsidiaries (PT AUM and
PT TIA) to give their consent for the two Agreements to terminate;

. The Company’s subsidiaries (PT AUM and PT TIA) have the right to appoint the majority of PT IM and
PT TGN’s directors; and
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. The shareholders of PT IM and PT TGN have pledged their shares in favour of the Company’s
subsidiaries (PT AUM and PT IA respectively) as a collateral to further safeguard the Company’s rights
and economic benefits under the Exclusive Operation and Management Agreements.

. Even in the case of a bankruptcy, the bankruptcy officer cannot terminate either agreement, unless PT
AUM or PT TIA (as applicable) consents to the termination, even though the bankruptcy officer can sell
the assets of PT IM and PT TGN to satisfy the creditors, after a declaration of insolvency. The Exclusive
Operation and Management Agreements are legally separate from the assets of PT IM and PT TGN and,
therefore, the disposal of the assets by the bankruptcy officer in the case of bankruptcy will not
compromise the enforceability of either agreement.

The Group is Largely Reliant on Mining and Land Usage Licenses to Operate Adequately

Exploration and mining operations are dependent upon the grant, renewal or continuance or maintenance of
appropriate permits, licenses, concessions, leases and regulatory consents which may be valid only for a defined
time period, may be subject to limitations and may provide for withdrawal in certain circumstances. The Group
holds contractual interests rather than holding the licenses in the exploration licenses and permits in respect of
the Mandiri Project and the Tisma Project. The Mandiri Project’s license includes a range of provisions on
government-mandated capital, social, environmental, and other such commitments that need to be met by the
Group.

The Directors are confident that PT Tisma Global Nusantara and PT Investasi Mandiri will continue to fulfil the
necessary conditions to maintain the good standing of the exploration licenses and permits, in order to continue
to be able to execute the business strategy of the Group. Should PT Tisma Global Nusantara or PT Investasi
Mandiri fail to fulfil the terms of any of the licenses currently holding or operates in a manner that violates
applicable law, government regulators will impose fines to the PT IM and PT TGN and suspend or terminate the
licenses. Such an event may have a material adverse effect on the Group’s results, cash flows and financial
condition.

The Concession Holders’ ability to resolve compensation issues and compensation costs that might arise will
have an impact on the future success and financial performance of PT IM and PT TGN’s mineral sands
operations. If the Concession Holders are unable to resolve such compensation claims on economic terms, this
may have a materially adverse effect on the business, results or operations and financial condition of the Group.

The Tisma Project is not Expected to Start Production until 2022

The Tisma Project is at an early stage of exploration and development and the Group’s additional financial
growth above and beyond the development of the Mandiri Projects depends on the success of the Tisma Group
and the Tisma Project.

Failure to commence production within the reasonable time and planned budget, or failure to conclude in an
agreement with the required workforce will have a material adverse effect on the Group’s business, results of
operations and financial condition.

The Projects

There can be no assurance that the Company will be able to manage effectively the expansion of its operations
into the production phase, or that the Company’s personnel, systems, procedures and controls will be adequate
to support such operations. Any failure of the Board to manage effectively the Company’s growth and
development could have a material adverse effect on its business, financial condition and results of operations.
There is no certainty that all or, indeed, any of the elements of the Board’s strategy will develop as anticipated.
The Company’s profitability will depend, in part, on the actual economic returns and the actual costs of
developing its assets, which may differ significantly from the Company’s current estimates.
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The Group may Face Risks from Previous Non-compliance on the Mandiri Project

The Mandiri Project undertook technical and geological analysis from September 2010 up to December 2016, in
order to determine the tenement areas suitable for Heavy Mineral Concentrate (“HMC”) extraction, while
landscape improvement operations were also completed at the same period.

The Technical Expert hired by the Company, Continental Resource Management Pty Ltd, identified that there
has been a history of artisanal mining prior to January 2019 relating to gold extraction and selling HMC as a
by-product of it.

Where historical artisanal mining has occurred, there is a risk that a lack of control and oversight existed over
operations and as a result, a risk that all license conditions have not been complied with. Prospective investors
should be aware of it and should consider that a historic breach of conditions may result in fines, penalties or
forfeiture.

The Group is Reliant on Adequate Infrastructure to Operate Successfully

The continued commercialisation of the Mandiri Project and the commercialisation of the Tisma Project will
depend to a significant degree on adequate infrastructure.

Both Projects are easily accessible for the time being, but should the Board decide to perform any operational
changes and/or future development plans and other process upgrades, significant additional funding would be
required to develop any associated infrastructure. Such infrastructure may include additional plant and
machinery, minehead equipment and apparatus and extensions to existing site roads and mine site buildings,
including workshops, accommodational units and medical facilities.

Unusual or infrequent weather events, sabotage, government, regulatory bodies or other interference in the
maintenance or provision of such infrastructure or any failure or unavailability of such infrastructure would
materially adversely affect the Group’s operations, financial condition and results of operations, in the absence
of raising further funding.

The Group’s Capital and Operating Costs and Exploration and Operating Risks

The Group’s profitability will depend, in part, on the actual economic returns and the actual costs of operating
and developing the Tisma Project and the Mandiri Project, which may differ significantly from the Group’s
current estimates.

Moreover, operations may be affected by a range of factors, such as failure to locate or identify mineral sands
deposits, failure to achieve predicted grade in exploration, failure to commission production facilities, technical
difficulties encountered in commissioning and operating plant and equipment, mechanical failure, metallurgical
problems which affect extraction rates and costs, plant breakdown, unanticipated production issues, failure to
produce goods and services on commercial terms, failure to market production, failure to attract or retain staff,
adverse weather condition due to Indonesia typhoon season (September to December), industrial and
environmental accidents, industrial disputes, strikes, unexpected shortages or increases in the cost of
consumables, spare parts and capital equipment, adverse charges to legislation with respect to the operating
environment and other operating factors.

Unforeseen geological, geotechnical or operational difficulties could also cause a loss of revenue due to lower
production than expected, higher operating and maintenance costs and/or ongoing unplanned capital expenditure
to meet production targets. Any such geological conditions may adversely affect the Group’s financial
performance.

If any of the aforementioned factors was to be negatively impacted, that, in turn, would negatively affect the
Group’s profitability.
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Reliance on Strategic Relationships

In conducting its business, the Group will rely on continuing existing strategic relationships and forming new
ones with other entities in the mining industry and also certain regulatory and governmental departments. While
the Group has no reason to believe otherwise, there can be no assurance that its existing relationships will
continue to be maintained or that new ones will be successfully formed.

The Group Relies on Third Party Contractors

When the world mining industry is buoyant there is increased competition for the services of suitably qualified
and/or experienced sub-contractors, such as mining and drilling contractors, assay laboratories, metallurgical
test work facilities and other providers of engineering, project management and mineral processing services.

As a result, the Group may experience difficulties in sourcing and retaining the services of suitably qualified
and/or experienced sub-contractors. The loss or diminution in the services of suitably qualified and/or
experienced sub-contractors or an inability to source or retain necessary sub-contractors or their failure to
properly perform their services could have a material and adverse effect on the Group’s business, results of
operations, financial condition and prospects.

The Group is unable to predict the risk of insolvency or other managerial failure by any of the contractors or
other service providers currently or in the future used by the Group in its activities. Any of the foregoing may
have a material adverse effect on the results of operations or the financial condition of the Group. In addition,
the termination of these arrangements, if not replaced on similar terms, could have a material adverse effect on
the results of operations or the financial condition of the Group.

The Group’s Future Working Capital Requirements

The Group’s ability to implement its business strategy depends not only on its ability to generate income from
its operations, but also in raising additional funds. In the future, additional funding will be required if the Group
is to be successful pursuing its ultimate strategy. The Group can seek additional funding, through equity, debt,
or joint venture financing. The need and amount of any additional funds required depends on numerous factors,
related to the Group’s current and future activities, so it is currently unknown.

Any additional equity financing may be dilutive to Shareholders and could contain rights and preferences
superior to those of the then-existing ordinary shares, while debt financing may involve restrictions on the
Group’s financing and operating activities or may not be available at reasonable cost.

No assurances can be given that the Company will be able to raise the additional finance that it may require for
its anticipated future operations and there is no assurance that additional funding will be available on terms
acceptable to the Company or at all. If the Group is unable to raise additional capital when needed or on suitable
terms, the Group could be forced to delay, reduce or eliminate its exploration, development and production
efforts. For the avoidance of doubt the Directors do not believe there is any requirement over the next 12
months to raise any further external finance for the Group in order to meet the objectives and strategy set out in
this Document.
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The Group is Exposed to Development and Operating Risks

The Group’s profitability will depend, in part, on the actual economic returns and the actual costs of operating
and developing the Mandiri Project and the Tisma Project, which may differ significantly from the Group’s
current estimates.

The development of the Projects may be subject to unexpected problems and delays. The Group’s decision to
develop a mineral project is typically based on the results of a feasibility study. Feasibility studies derive
estimates of expected or anticipated project economic returns. These estimates are based on assumptions about
future commodity prices, anticipated tonnage, grades and metallurgical characteristics of ore to be mined and
processed, anticipated recovery rates of the mineral from the ore, anticipated capital expenditure and cash
operating costs and the anticipated return on investment. Actual cash operating costs, production and economic
returns may differ significantly from those anticipated by such studies and estimates.

In the development of a new mine or the commercialisation of a project a number of uncertainties can affect
progress. These uncertainties include the timing and cost, which can be considerable, of the construction of
mining and processing facilities; the availability and cost of skilled labour, power, water, consumables and
transportation facilities, the availability and cost of appropriate smelting and refining arrangements, the need to
obtain necessary environmental and other governmental permits and the timing of those permits, and the
availability of funds to finance construction and development activities.

Environmental, Health and Safety and Other Regulatory Standards Regulation

The Group’s operating activities are subject to extensive laws and regulations governing waste disposal,
protection of the environment, mine development, land and water use, prospecting, mineral production and other
matters in Indonesia including the Law on Mineral and Coal Mining No. 4 of 2009, dated 12 January 2009 (the
“Mining Law”) and its implementing regulations. This legislation may change in a manner that may require
stricter or additional standards, than those now in effect.

The Group is also required to comply with applicable health and safety and other regulatory standards.
Environmental legislation in particular can, in certain jurisdictions, comprise numerous regulations which might
conflict with one another and which cannot be consistently interpreted. Such regulations typically cover a wide
variety of matters including, without limitation, prevention of waste, pollution and protection of the
environment, labour regulations and worker safety. The Group may also be subject under such regulations to
clean-up costs and liability for toxic or hazardous substances which may exist on or under any of its properties
or which may be produced as a result of its operations. The Group however has a policy to endeavour to operate
in accordance with the highest standards of environmental practice and comply in all material respects with
applicable environmental laws and regulations.

Any failure to comply with relevant environmental, health and safety and other regulatory standards may subject
the Group to liability and fines and/or penalties and have an adverse effect on the business, results of
operations, or prospects of the Group. In particular, a violation of health and safety laws relating to a mine, or
other plant or a failure to comply with the instructions of the relevant health and safety authorities could lead to,
among other things, a temporary shutdown of all or a portion of the mine, or other plant, a loss of the right to
mine or to use other plant, or the imposition of costly compliance procedures. If health and safety authorities
require the Group to shut down all or a portion of a mine, or other plant or to implement costly compliance
measures, whether pursuant to existing or new health and safety laws and regulations, such measures could have
a material adverse effect on the Group’s results of operations or financial condition. Furthermore, the future
introduction or enactment of new laws, guidelines and regulations could serve to limit or curtail the growth and
development of the Group’s business or have an otherwise negative impact on its operations. Any changes to, or
increases in the current level of regulation or legal requirements may have a material adverse effect upon the
Group in terms of additional compliance costs.
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Any environmental damage, loss of life, injury or damage to property caused by the Group’s operations could
damage the Group’s reputation in the areas in which the Group operates. Negative sentiment towards the Group
could result in a lack of willingness of authorities to grant the necessary licences or permits for the Group to
operate its business and in residents in the areas where the Group is doing business opposing further operations
in the area by the Group. If the Group develops a reputation of having an unsafe work site it may impact the
ability of the Group to attract and retain the necessary skilled employees and consultants to operate its business.
Further, the Group’s reputation could be affected by actions and activities of other corporations operating in the
mining industry, over which the Group has no control. In addition, environmental damage, loss of life, injury or
damage to property caused by the Group’s operations could result in negative investor sentiment towards the
Group, which may result in limiting the Group’s access to capital, increasing the cost of capital, and decreasing
the price and liquidity of the Ordinary Shares.

Mining operations have inherent risks and liabilities associated with pollution of the environment and the
disposal of waste products occurring as a result of mineral exploration and production. Laws and regulations
involving the protection and remediation of the environment and the governmental policies for implementation
of such laws and regulations are constantly changing and are generally becoming more restrictive.

Although the Board believes that the Group will be in compliance in all material respects with applicable
environmental laws and regulations and will hold all necessary approvals and permits under those laws and
regulations by the time operations commence, there are certain risks inherent in the Group’s activities and those
which it anticipates undertaking in the future, such as, but not limited to, risks of accidental spills, leakages or
other unforeseen circumstances, that could subject the Group to potential liability. The Company therefore
cannot give any assurance that, notwithstanding its precautions, breaches of environmental laws (whether
inadvertent or not) or environmental pollution will not materially and adversely affect its financial condition and
its results from operations.

If and where required, obtaining necessary permits and licences can be complex and time consuming and the
Group cannot assure that any necessary permits will be obtainable on acceptable terms, in a timely manner or at
all, if necessary. The costs and delays associated with obtaining necessary permits and complying with these
permits and applicable laws and regulations could stop or materially delay or restrict the Group from proceeding
with any future exploration or development of the Mandiri Project and the Tisma Project.

Uninsured Hazards

The Group may be subject to substantial liability claims due to the inherently hazardous nature of its activities
or for acts and omissions of contractors, sub-contractors or operators. Any indemnities the Group may receive
from such parties may be limited or may be difficult to enforce if such contractors or sub-contractors or
operators lack adequate resources.

The Group can give no assurance that the proceeds of insurance applicable to covered risks will be adequate to
cover expenses relating to losses or liabilities. Accordingly, the Group may suffer material losses from
uninsurable or uninsured risks of insufficient insurance coverage. The Group is also subject to the risk of
unavailability, increased premiums or deductibles, reduced cover and additional or expanded exclusions in
connection with its insurance policies and those of operators of assets it does not itself operate.

The Resources and Reserves Data Cited in this Document are Estimates Based on a Number of
Assumptions that may Prove Inaccurate

The Resources and Reserves estimates cited in this Document in respect of the Mandiri Project and the Tisma
Project are based on a number of assumptions that have been made by the Competent Person in accordance with
the JORC (2012) guidelines.

Estimates of the resources and reserves may change significantly in the future if new information becomes
available or new factors arise, and interpretations and deductions on which these resources and reserves
estimates are based may prove to be inaccurate. Should the Group encounter mineralisation different from that
predicted by past drilling, sampling and similar examination, resources and reserves estimates may have to be
adjusted downward.
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Until a deposit is actually mined and processed, the quantity of mineral resources and reserves, and grades, must
be considered as estimates only. In addition, the value of mineral resources and any mineral reserve will depend
upon, amongst other things, mineral metal prices and currency exchange rates. Any material change in quantity
of mineral resources, or any mineral reserve, or grade, may affect the economic viability of any future mines.
Any material reductions in the estimates or mineral resources, or mineral reserves, or the Company’s ability to
extract any zircon, could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s future results of operation and
financial condition. Resource estimates are estimates of judgment based on knowledge, experience and industry
practice. Often these estimates were appropriate when made but may change significantly when new information
becomes available. Resource estimates are necessarily imprecise and depend to some extent upon
interpretations, which may ultimately prove to be inaccurate and require adjustment.

There can be no assurance that the Group’s resources and reserves will be recovered in the quantities or yields
presented. The inclusion of resources and reserves estimates should not be regarded as a representation that all
these amounts can be economically exploited, and nothing contained herein (including, without limitation,
estimates of mine life) should be interpreted as assurance of the economic life of its resources and reserves or
the profitability of its future operations. If the Group’s actual resources and reserves are less than current
estimates, the Group’s business, development plans, financial position and results of operations could be
materially and adversely affected.

Coronavirus

There exists a risk that the significant outbreak of Coronavirus across the world may detrimentally impact the
Company’s operations in Indonesia. The Company may be affected by disruptions to its operations in one or
more locations, particularly for the foreseeable future in light of the government responses to the spread of
Coronavirus or other potential pandemics.

As a result of the Coronavirus outbreak, there are currently travel restrictions in place in many countries with
many land borders closed and suspension of flights. These restrictions may have an immediate impact on the
operations of the Company in terms of access to resources and supplies from neighbouring countries, access to
its projects by key management personnel, disruption to operations and delays or increased costs in accessing
resources and supplies. The outbreak of Coronavirus has demonstrated the need to have contingency plans in
place in relation to the outbreak of pandemics, and has also resulted with a number of companies across the
globe being essentially shut down for an extended period of time. The impact of this is that the Company will
have to ensure that its future plans include an appropriate amount of contingency planning for the current
Coronavirus and future pandemics, but are also likely to result in some prices from suppliers being higher than
previously thought, as they too include contingencies into their pricing models and work to ensure they remain
profitable despite the period of lock down. As such, costs could escalate from the level originally anticipated.

While the Company will seek to manage the effect of Coronavirus on its personnel and operations, there can be
no assurance that Coronavirus will not have an adverse effect on the future operations of the Company’s
projects or an investment in the Company.

RISK FACTORS RELATING TO THE COMPANY’S KEY MANAGEMENT
The Group is Reliant on a Number of Key Personnel and Director Conflicts

The loss of one or more of its key personnel could have an adverse impact on the business of the Group.
Furthermore, it may be particularly difficult for the Group to attract and retain suitably qualified and
experienced people, given the competition from other industry participants and that the number of persons
skilled in the acquisition, exploration and development of mining properties in each of the Group’s jurisdictions
is limited and competition for such persons is intense.

The loss of, or diminution in, the services of qualified mining specialists or of members of the Group’s senior

management team or an inability to attract and retain additional senior management and/or mining personnel
could have a material adverse effect on the Group’s business, financial condition and results of operations.
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Although the Company believes that it will be successful in attracting and retaining qualified personnel, there is
no assurance that the Group will successfully continue to retain existing specialised personnel and senior
management or attract additional experienced and qualified senior management and/or mining personnel
required to successfully execute and implement the Group’s business plan. The loss of such personnel and the
failure to successfully recruit replacements in a timely manner, or at all, would have a material adverse effect on
its business, prospects, financial condition and results of operations.

Cash Transfer Restrictions

The Company currently conducts the majority of its operations through its foreign subsidiaries. Therefore, the
Company could be dependent on the cash flows of these subsidiaries to meet its obligations. The ability of its
subsidiaries to make payments to the Company may be constrained by, among other things: the level of taxation,
particularly corporate profits and withholding taxes, in the jurisdictions in which it operates; the introduction of
exchange controls or repatriation restrictions or the availability of hard currency to be repatriated; and
contractual restrictions with third parties. For example, certain governments have imposed a number of
monetary and currency exchange control measures that include restrictions on the free disposition of funds
deposited with banks and tight restrictions on transferring funds abroad, with certain exceptions for transfers
related to foreign trade and other authorised transactions approved by a country’s central bank. These central
banks may require prior authorisation and may or may not grant such authorisation for the Group’s foreign
subsidiaries to transfer funds to it and there may be a tax imposed with respect to the expatriation of the
proceeds from the Group’s foreign subsidiaries.

RISK FACTORS SPECIFIC TO THE GROUP’S INDUSTRY

The Group’s Profitability is Reliant on the Market price for Zircon

The Group derives its revenue from the sales of zircon and its by-products. The Group’s revenues, profitability
and future rate of growth are heavily reliant on the prevailing price of zircon, which can be volatile and subject

to fluctuation and thus directly affect the Group’s income.

The price for commodities is, including minor base and precious metals, subject to fluctuation and volatility in
response to a variety of factors beyond the Group’s control, such as:

1. Changes in the global and regional supply and demand and expectations regarding future supply and
demand for zircon;

ii. changes in global and regional economic conditions and exchange rate fluctuations;
iii.  political, economic and military developments in zircon producing regions;
iv. the extent of government regulation and actions, in particular export restrictions, alternatives to zircon,

taxes and the growing environmental obligations;

v. the ability of suppliers, transporters and purchasers to perform on a timely basis, or at all, under their
agreements (including risks associated with physical delivery); and

vi. potential influence on commodity prices due to the large volume of derivative transactions on commodity
exchanges and over-the-counter markets.

Any of these factors could potentially create fluctuations in mineral sands prices, and, in particular, a material
decline in zircon price, which may affect the viability of exploration activities within the Group’s focus areas
and in turn may have material adverse effect on the Group’s future financial condition, business, prospects and
results of operations.
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The Group’s Profitability is Reliant on Zircon Substitutes’ Demand

The Group is aware of the existence and development of alternative products that can be used as substitutions
for zircon. Any potential decrease on the substitutes’ commercial price could possibly have a significant adverse
effect on zircon’s demand as well as its price, subsequently affecting the Group’s profitability and financial
performance.

The Group may be Subject to Foreign Exchange and Investment Risks

The functional currency of each of the Group’s entities is the currency of the primary economic environment in
which that entity operates. The Group may deal in other currencies from time to time, as appropriate. As the
Group’s financial reports will be presented in US dollars, the Group will be exposed to the volatility and
fluctuations of the exchange rate between local currencies, USD and AUD.

Global currencies are affected by a number of factors that are beyond the control of the Group. These factors
include economic conditions in the relevant country and elsewhere and the outlook for interest rates, inflation
and other economic factors. These factors may have a positive or negative effect on the Group’s exploration,
project development and production plans and activities together with the ability to fund those plans and
activities.

The Board may consider whether to manage currency fluctuation risk by hedging however, there can be no
assurance that the Group will hedge its exchange rate exposure, nor that it will be able to hedge such exposure
on acceptable terms in the future or that any exchange rate hedging conducted by the Group will be effective or
will not result in an adverse financial impact arising from the inability to benefit from a favourable movement
in exchange rates.

Volatility or Falls in the Share Price may Affect Group’s Operations

The Company has been listed on the NSX since 25 February 2020. Since it is admitted to a public securities
exchange, the price at which the Company’s shares are trading may be subject to volatility or even a material
decrease in value, as a result of the Group’s performance, rumour or speculation in the market or due to general
or specific factors affecting the performance of capital markets or the Australian or global economy.

Volatility or a material decrease in the price or trading volume of the Company’s shares may make it more
difficult for the Company to attract future capital or result in partners or customers losing confidence in the
operations or the future of the Group. If this were to continue for a long period of time, operations and financial
condition of the Group could be materially and adversely affected.

Activities in the Mining Sector can be Dangerous and may be Subject to Interruption

The Group’s operations are subject to the significant hazards and risks inherent in the mining sector and
countries in which it operates. These hazards and risks include:

. explosions and fires;

. disruption to production operations;

. natural disasters;

. adverse weather conditions;

. equipment break-downs and other mechanical or system failures;
. improper installation or operation of equipment;
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. transportation accidents or disruption of deliveries of fuel, equipment and other supplies;

. accident occurring on site, resulting in death or serious injury to personnel;

. acts of political unrest, civil unrest, war or terrorism;

. labour disputes; and

. wilful damage and sabotage;

. community opposition activities, including the heightened focus on environmental concerns.

If any of these events were to occur, they could result in environmental damage, injury to persons and loss of
life and a failure to produce commodities in commercial quantities. They could also result in significant delays
to mining programs, a partial or total shutdown of operations, significant damage to the Group’s equipment and
equipment owned by third parties and personal injury or wrongful death claims being brought against the Group.
These events could also put at risk the Group’s licenses in respect of the Mandiri Project and the Tisma Project
and could result in the Group incurring significant civil liability claims, significant fines or penalties, as well as
criminal and potentially being enforced against the Group and/or its officers and Directors.

Workforce and Labour Risks

The Group’s operations may be affected by labour-related problems in the future, such as union demands and
litigation for pay rises and increased benefits. There can be no assurance that work stoppages or other
labour-related developments will not adversely affect the results of operations or the financial condition of the
Group.

Competition

The mining industry can be competitive. The Group faces potential competition from other mining companies in
connection with the acquisition of mineral properties, as well as for the recruitment and retention of qualified
employees. Larger companies, in particular, may have access to greater financial resources, operational
experience and technical capabilities than the Group which may give them a competitive advantage.

In addition, actual or potential competitors may be strengthened through the acquisition of additional assets
which could adversely affect the Group’s ability to acquire suitable additional properties in the future. There can
be no assurance that the Group will continue to be able to compete successfully with its rivals.

Mineral Exploration and Development can be Highly Speculative in Nature and Involve a High Degree of
Risk

Mineral exploration and development can be highly speculative in nature and involves a high degree of risk.
The economics of developing mineral properties are affected by many factors including the cost of operations,
variations of the grade of ore mined, fluctuations in the price of the minerals being mined, fluctuations in
exchange rates, costs of development, infrastructure and processing equipment and such other factors as
government regulations, including regulations relating to royalties, allowable production, importing and
exporting of minerals and environmental protection. In addition, the grade of mineralisation ultimately mined
may differ from that indicated by drilling results and such differences could be material.

As a result, there can be no guarantee that mineral exploration and development of any of the Group’s projects
will result in profitable commercial operations. The tenements covered by the Mandiri Project and the Tisma
Project are at a different stage of exploration. Potential investors should understand that mineral exploration is a
high-risk undertaking.
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There can be no assurance that exploration of any other permits that the Group may acquire an interest in, will
result in the discovery of an economic mineral reserve. Even if an apparently viable reserve is identified, there
is no guarantee that it can be commercially exploited. Even if the Company recovers potentially commercial
minerals, there is no guarantee that the Company will be able to successfully transport the minerals to
commercially viable markets or sell the minerals to customers to achieve a commercial return.

Natural Resource Project Appraisal and Exploration Activities are Capital Intensive and Inherently
Uncertain in their Outcome

Natural resource project appraisal and exploration activities are capital intensive and inherently uncertain in
their outcome. The Group’s future natural resource appraisals and exploration projects may involve unprofitable
efforts, either from areas of exploration which ultimately prove not to contain natural resources, or from areas in
which a natural resource discovery is made but is not economically recoverable at current or near future market
prices, when including the costs of development, operation and other costs.

RISKS RELATING TO INDONESIA
The Group is Subject to Risks Associated in Operating in Indonesia
The Republic of Indonesia is a developing country and may be subject to instability, either political, economic

or otherwise. Consequently, the Group’s assets and income will be subject to certain political, economic and
other uncertainties. Possible risks that the Group may face include, among others:

. economic instability;

o trade barriers or the imposition of taxes;

. changes in the regulatory environment;

. changes in mineral sands exportation and transportation regulations;
. imposition of additional obligations/restriction on foreign investors;
. difficulties with staffing and/or managing any foreign operations;

. issues or restriction on the free transfer of funds;

. technology export or import;

. delays in dealing across borders caused by customers or governmental agencies;
. local currency devaluations; and

. nationalisation or expropriation of the Company’s assets.

The Group is Operating in an Emerging Market Economy

The Indonesian economy is vulnerable to market downturns and economic slowdowns that might arise around
the world. Investing in emerging markets such as Indonesia involves greater risk than investing in more
developed markets, including in some cases significant legal, economic and political risks. Investors should note
that emerging markets are subject to rapid change. Global financial or economic crises in any large emerging
market country tend to adversely affect prices in equity markets of most or all emerging market countries as
investors move their money to more stable, developed markets.
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Moreover, financial problems or an increase in the perceived risks associated with investing in emerging
economies could dampen foreign investment in Indonesia, adversely affect the economy and generate severe
liquidity constraints for the Group as foreign funding sources are withdrawn.

The Group is Exposed to Government Regulation and Political Risks

The Group’s operating activities will predominantly be in the Republic of Indonesia, whose economy is subject
to many global and internal forces beyond the control of the Group.

Future political actions cannot be predicted and may adversely affect the Group. Changes, if any, in mining or
investment policies or shifts in political attitude in the countries in which the Company holds property interests
in the future may adversely affect the Group’s business, results of operations and financial condition. Future
operations may be affected in varying degrees by government regulations with respect to, but not limited to,
restrictions on production, price controls, export controls, currency remittance, income taxes, foreign
investment, maintenance of claims, environmental legislation, land use, land claims of local people, water use
and mine safety.

Failure to comply strictly with applicable laws, regulations and local practices relating to mineral right
applications and tenure, could result in loss, reduction or expropriation of entitlements. The occurrence of these
various factors and uncertainties cannot be accurately predicted and could have an adverse effect on the Group’s
consolidated business, results of operations and financial condition.

Moreover, the mining industry in Indonesia is subject to policies which are implemented by the relevant
government from time to time and may have material impact on the business of the Group.

The Group is Exposed to Legal, Regulatory and Taxation Risks

Indonesian tax laws, regulations and court practice are subject to frequent change, varying interpretations,
inconsistent and selective enforcement. Tax audits or inspections may result in additional costs to the Group if
the relevant tax authorities conclude that the Group did not satisfy its tax obligations in any given year.

Moreover, if tax authorities and/or courts adopt a different interpretation of various tax laws and regulations
from the ones followed by the Group, the Group may have to pay taxes of a different type and quantum
anticipated. This could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s business, results of operations,
financial condition and prospects.

Indonesia also imposes restrictions in export of raw minerals, with a minimum 65.5% grade of zircon required
in order to meet export requirements. Given that the legal and regulatory framework for mineral industry in the
country has been subject to major changes in the past, there are risks that a potential future change in regulation
could bring material challenges to the Group, either by being in conflict with local laws and regulations or in
the form of additional taxes.

Expropriation and Nationalism Risk
In order to develop a value-added downstream mining sector, Indonesian government has put in place laws and
regulations for domestic processing and refining, bans on the export of unprocessed ores, use of local content,

domestic market obligations and staged divestment to local parties.

The enforcement of these laws and regulations may result in sub-optimal outcomes for the Group, while there is
a possibility for the Indonesian legislation to become more nationalistic to the detriment of the Group.
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Even though Indonesian legislation warrants the payment of compensatory amounts in the event of an
expropriation or nationalisation of assets, there is no assurance that a compensation would be paid or the
compensation amount would be the same as the price for which the expropriated asset could be sold in a
free-market sale or the value of the asset as part of an ongoing business.

Commercial Disputes Risk

Foreign owned Indonesian companies may face local commercial pressures and legal challenges to asset
ownership and the value of their assets which are time consuming, costly and disrupt harmonious business
relationships.

Even though Indonesian legislation for the protection of commercial rights exists, there is not certain that the
respective protections could be enforced, while commercial settlements may end being lower than the price for
which disputed assets could be sold in a free-market sale or the value of the asset as part of an ongoing
business.

RISKS RELATING TO THE ORDINARY SHARES

An Active Trading Market May Not Develop or be Sustained in the Future

Although the Company has applied to the FCA for admission of its Ordinary Shares to the Standard Segment of
the Official List and has applied to the London Stock Exchange for admission to trading on the Main Market,
and although the Ordinary Shares are already listed on the NSX, the Company can give no assurance that an
active trading market for the Ordinary Shares will develop in the United Kingdom or, if developed can be
sustained. If an active trading market is not developed or maintained, the liquidity and trading price of the
Ordinary Shares could be adversely affected.

Substantial Future Sales of Ordinary Shares, or the Perception that Such Sales Might Occur, or
Additional Offerings of Ordinary Shares, Could Depress the Market Price of Ordinary Shares

The Company cannot predict what effect, if any, future sales of Ordinary Shares, or the availability of Ordinary
Shares for future sale, or the offer of additional Ordinary Shares in the future, will have on the market price of
Ordinary Shares. Sales or an additional offering of substantial numbers of Ordinary Shares in the public market,
or the perception or any announcement that such sales or an additional offering could occur, could adversely
affect the market price of Ordinary Shares and may make it more difficult for Shareholders to sell their Ordinary
Shares at a time and price which they deem appropriate and could also impede the Company’s ability to raise
capital through the issue of equity securities.

Shareholders may not be Able to Realise Returns on Their Investment in Ordinary Shares within a Period
that They Would Consider to be Reasonable

An investment in Ordinary Shares may be relatively illiquid. There may be a limited number of Shareholders
and this factor may contribute to infrequent trading in the Ordinary Shares on the London Stock Exchange and
volatile Ordinary Share price movements. Shareholders should not expect that they will necessarily be able to
realise their investment in Ordinary Shares within a period that they would regard as reasonable. Accordingly,
the Ordinary Shares may not be suitable for short-term investment. Admission should not be taken as implying
that there will be an active trading market for the Ordinary Shares. Even if an active trading market develops,
the market price for the Ordinary Shares may fall.
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Fluctuation in Volatility in the Value and the Market Price for Ordinary Shares

The market price for the Ordinary Shares may be volatile and subject to fluctuations in response to numerous
factors, many of which are beyond the Company’s control, including but are not limited to:

. variations in operating results;

. macro-economic conditions;

. rumour or speculation in the market;

. foreign currency exchange fluctuations relating to the denominations in which the Company conducts

business and holds cash reserves;

. market conditions in the industry, the industries of customers and the economy as a whole;

. actual or expected changes in the Group’s growth rates or competitors’ growth rates;

. changes in the market valuation of similar companies;

. trading volume of the Shares;

. sales of the Shares by the Directors or Shareholders; and

. adoption or modification of regulations, policies, procedures or programmes applicable to the Group’s
business.

Financial markets have experienced significant price and volume fluctuations during the years and have
particularly affected market prices of equity securities, in contrast with the operating performance, prospects or
underlying asset values of these companies.

Also, certain institutional investors may base their investment decisions on consideration of the Group’s
environmental, governance and social practices. If the performance of the Group fails to meet those institutions’
respective investment guidelines and criteria, this may result in a limited or no investment in the Ordinary
Shares by those institutions, which could adversely affect the trading price of the Ordinary Shares.

There is no assurance that continuing fluctuations in the price and volume of publicly traded equity securities
will not occur. If increased levels of volatility and market turmoil appear, the Group’s operations could be
adversely impacted, and the trading price of the Ordinary Shares may be adversely affected.

Dividend Payments on the Ordinary Shares are not Guaranteed and the Company’s Ability to Pay
Dividends in the Future may be Limited

The Company has never declared or paid any dividends on the Ordinary Shares. At present, the Directors’
intention is that all profits generated by the operations of the Group will be reinvested for future growth and
development. Therefore, at present, there is no intention to pay dividends and a dividend may never be paid.
Any decision to declare and pay dividends will be made at the discretion of the Board and will depend on,
among other things, the Group’s results of operations, financial condition and solvency and distributable
reserves tests imposed by corporate law and such other factors that the Board may consider relevant.

Future Issues of Ordinary Shares Could be Dilutive

There is a medium risk that it may be necessary, at some future time, for the Company to issue additional
Ordinary Shares to fund the growth plans of the Group.
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Moreover, the Company has issued the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer performance rights under the
Company’s Stock Incentive Plan, which will convert to shares subject to the achievement of milestones, with
the latest performance rights expiring 30 June 2024.

The Company has adopted a Stock Incentive Plan, in order to align employees’ interests with the ones of the
Group. The plan is available to directors, full or part time employees of any Group Company, casual employees
or contractors of a Group Company to the extent permitted by ASIC Class Order 14/1000 (as amended or
replaced) and prospective participants, being persons to whom the offer is made but who can only accept the
offer if an arrangement has been entered into that will result in the person becoming a participant.

Any such issue would dilute the interests of Shareholders and could impact upon the price of the Ordinary
Shares.

The Rights Afforded to the Shareholders are governed by Australian Law and Non-Australian
Shareholders may have Difficulties Exercising Rights which are Governed by Australian Law

As the Company is an Australian registered company, the rights of Shareholders will be governed by Australian
law and the Constitution. The rights of Shareholders under Australian law may differ from the rights of
shareholders of companies incorporated in other jurisdictions. Not all rights available to shareholders under
English law will be available to the Shareholders.

The Company is organised and exists under Australian law. Accordingly, the rights and obligations of the
Company’s shareholders are regulated by Australian corporate law and the Shareholders must follow Australian
legal requirements in order to exercise their rights, in particular the resolutions of the shareholders in general
meeting may be passed with majorities different from the majorities required for the adoption of equivalent
resolutions under English law or other laws.

LSE Shareholders will be issued with Depositary Interests in respect of Ordinary Shares within CREST

On Admission, holders of Ordinary Shares will be able to hold and transfer interests in the Ordinary Shares
within CREST pursuant to a depositary interest arrangement established by the Company. The Ordinary Shares
will not themselves be admitted to CREST; rather, the Depositary will issue the Depositary Interests in respect
of underlying Ordinary Shares. Holders of Depositary Interests may experience delays in receiving any
dividends paid by the Company, may receive proxy forms later than other Shareholders and may have to act
earlier than other Shareholders when casting votes at general meetings of the Company, by virtue of the
administrative process involved in connection with holding Depositary Interests.

The Company is Applying for a Standard Listing and, Accordingly, the Company will not be Required to
Comply with Those Protections Applicable to a Premium Listing

The Company is seeking a Standard Listing and, as a consequence, additional on-going requirements and
protections applicable to a Premium Listing will not apply to the Company. In particular, the provisions of
Chapters 6 to 13 of the Listing Rules (other than Rule 7.2.1), being additional requirements for a Premium
Listing of equity securities (Premium Listing principles, sponsors, continuing obligations, significant
transactions, related party transactions, dealing in own securities and treasury shares and contents of circulars),
will not apply. In addition, a Standard Listing will not permit the Company to gain UK FTSE indexation.

The proposed Standard Listing of the Ordinary Shares will Afford Investors a Lower Level of Regulatory
Protection than a Premium Listing

Application will be made for the Ordinary Shares to be admitted to a Standard Listing on the Official List. A
Standard Listing will afford investors in the Company a lower level of regulatory protection than that afforded
to investors in a company with a Premium Listing, which is subject to additional obligations under the Listing
Rules.
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Dual Listing on the NSX and LSE May Lead to an Inefficient Market in the Company’s Ordinary Shares

Dual listing of the Ordinary Shares will result in differences in liquidity, settlement and clearing systems,
trading currencies, prices and transaction costs between the NSX and the LSE, where the Ordinary Shares will
be quoted. These and other factors can hinder the transferability of the Ordinary Shares between the two
exchanges.

The Ordinary Shares are quoted and traded in AUD on NSX. The Ordinary Shares will be quoted and traded in
GBP on the LSE. The market price of the Ordinary Shares on those exchanges may also differ due to exchange
rate fluctuations.

Consequently, the trading in and liquidity of the Ordinary Shares is split between these two exchanges. The
price of the Ordinary Shares may fluctuate and may at any time be different on the NSX and LSE. This could
adversely affect the trading of the Ordinary Shares on these exchanges and increase their price volatility and/ or
adversely affect the price and liquidity of the Ordinary Shares on these exchanges.

Trading in the Ordinary Shares may be Suspended

The Ordinary Shares are currently traded on the NSX. In certain circumstances, the NSX have, and the London
Stock Exchange will have following Admission, the right to suspend trading in the Ordinary Shares. If the
Ordinary Shares are suspended from trading, the holders of Ordinary Shares may not be able to dispose of their
Ordinary Shares on the LSE or NSX (as the case may be).

NSX - Suspension of Listing

The NSX may at any time suspend trading in any securities of the Company in circumstances and subject to
conditions as it thinks fit where:

(a)  the Company fails to comply with the NSX Listing Rules;
(b)  there are insufficient securities of the Company in the hands of the public;

(c)  the Company does not have a sufficient level of operations or sufficient assets to warrant the continued
listing of its securities on the NSX; or

(d)  the Company or its business is no longer suitable for listing.

If the Company is suspended for two years, it may be removed from the NSX official list.

The Company may request a short suspension of trading on the occurrence of a material event which requires
immediate disclosure under the NSX Listing Rules, provided that an announcement of the material information
is made. The NSX may accept or reject the request for suspension.

Where trading has been suspended, the procedure for lifting the suspension will depend on the circumstances
and the NSX reserves the right to impose such conditions as it considers appropriate. If the Company is
suspended for two years, it may be removed from the NSX official list.

LSE - Suspension of Listing

The FCA may suspend the Ordinary Shares from trading on the London Stock Exchange if it determines that the
smooth operation of the market is or may be temporarily jeopardised or it is necessary to protect investors.

The Company believes that as at the date of this Document there are no circumstances which could provide
grounds for the halting or suspending of the Ordinary Shares from the London Stock Exchange or NSX for the
foreseeable future. However, there can be no assurance that any such circumstances will not arise in relation to
the Ordinary Shares in the future.
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Cancellation of Listing

In certain circumstances, the Ordinary Shares may be delisted from the London Stock Exchange or NSX.
Delisting could have a material and adverse effect on the liquidity of the Ordinary Shares and on investors’
ability to sell the Ordinary Shares at a satisfactory price.

The Company believes that as at the date of this Document there are no circumstances which could provide
grounds for the delisting of the Ordinary Shares from the London Stock Exchange or NSX in the foreseeable
future. There can however be no assurance that any such circumstances will not arise in relation to the Ordinary
Shares in the future.

NSX - Cancellation of Listing

The NSX may at any time cancel the listing of any securities of the Company in such circumstances and subject
to such conditions as it thinks fit where:

(a)  the Company fails to comply with the Listing Rules or its Company’s undertaking (including a failure to
pay on time any fees or levies due to the NSX);

(b)  there are insufficient securities of the Company in the hands of the public;

(c)  that the Company does not have a sufficient level of operations or sufficient assets to warrant the
continued listing of its securities on the NSX; or

(d)  that the Company or its business is no longer suitable for listing.

There may be cases where a listing is cancelled without a suspension intervening. Where the NSX considers that
the Company or its business is no longer suitable for a listing, the NSX will disseminate an announcement
naming the Company and specifying the period within which the Company must have remedied those matters
which have rendered it unsuitable for a listing. Where appropriate the NSX will suspend trading in the securities
of the Company. If the Company fails to remedy those matters within the period set out in the announcement,
the NSX will cancel the listing.

Alternatively, if the Company’s primary listing is on the NSX, it may voluntarily withdraw its listing if it gives
the NSX at least 90 days’ notice and it has obtained the approval of the holders of each class of its listed
securities by way of a three quarters majority vote at duly convened meetings of those holders.

The Company believes that as at the date of this Document there are no circumstances which could provide
grounds for the removal of the Company from the official list of the NSX in the foreseeable future. However,
there can be no assurances that any such circumstances will not arise in relation to the Ordinary Shares in the
future.

LSE - Cancellation of Listing

The FCA may cancel the listing of the Ordinary Shares on the Official List if satisfied that there are special
circumstances precluding the normal and regular dealings in the Ordinary Shares.

The listing of the Ordinary Shares on the Official List may also be cancelled at the request of the Company,
subject to the Company giving at least 20 Business Days’ notice of the proposed cancellation of the listing.
Because the Company is listed on the Standard Listing segment of the Official List, it would not be required to
seek shareholder approval before seeking the cancellation of the listing of the Ordinary Shares on the Official
List.
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Additional Sanctions for the NSX

If the NSX considers that the Company has contravened the NSX Listing Rules and/or the Corporations Act it
may, in addition to or instead of a suspension in trading or cancellation of a listing:

(a)  censure the Company; and
(b)  publish the fact that the Company has been censured; and
(c)  publish the reason for the censure, if in the NSX’s opinion it is appropriate; and

(d)  impose fines on the Company, with the maximum fine not to exceed AUD$25,000 per offence (excluding
costs and taxes).!

Shareholders may be Subject to Risks Arising from Adverse movements in the Value of Their Local
Currency against the Australian Dollar

The Ordinary Shares have no nominal value and will be quoted and traded in pounds sterling on the LSE and in
Australian dollars on NSX.

In addition, any potential dividends the Company may pay in the future will be declared and paid in AUD.
Shareholders buying Ordinary Shares on the LSE should take into account a potential risk arising from adverse
movements in the value of their local currency against AUD.

The Ability of a Shareholder to Bring or Enforce an Action against the Company may be limited under
Law

The Company is incorporated under the laws of Australia. The majority of the Directors and officers reside
outside the UK and all of the Company’s assets and the assets of the majority of the Directors and officers are
located outside the UK. As a result, it may not be possible for investors to effect service of process within the
UK upon the Company or the majority of the Directors and officers or to enforce against them in Australia any
judgments of the courts of England and Wales including judgments predicated upon the civil liability provisions
of the UK or European securities laws. The ability of a Shareholder to bring an action against the Company may
be limited under law. The rights of Shareholders are governed by the laws of Australia and the Constitution.
These rights may differ from the rights of shareholders in a typical company incorporated in England and
Wales.

RISKS RELATING TO TAXATION
Tax Treatment of Non-Australian investors in an Australian Company may Vary

The Company is organised and exists under the laws of Australia and, as such, the Australian tax regime applies
to the distribution of profit and other payments from the Company to its Shareholders. The taxation of income
from such distributions and payments, as well as other income, for instance, from the sale of the Ordinary
Shares, may vary depending on the tax residence of the Shareholder, as well as the existence and provisions of
any double tax treaty between a Shareholder’s jurisdiction of residence and Australia. Tax provisions applying
to particular Shareholders may be unfavourable and/or may change in the future, in a way which has an adverse
effect on the tax treatment of a Shareholder’s holding of the Ordinary Shares.

Tax Status
Any change in the Group’s tax status (including the tax residence of any member of the Group) or in the tax

legislation and practice of any jurisdiction in which the Group operates could affect the Group’s profitability
and ability to make returns to Shareholders.

' NSX Listing Rule 2.23
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Part 2
Consequences of a Standard Listing

After careful consideration, the Directors have concluded that in order to promote liquidity in the Ordinary
Shares through a public listing on the London Stock Exchange whilst allowing a sufficient degree of flexibility
for a company of its size and type, it is appropriate for the Company’s Ordinary Shares to be admitted to a
Standard Listing of the Official List, in addition to being listed on the NSX. In particular, the following are key
considerations for the Company’s proposed Standard Listing:

. a Standard Listing, as compared to a Premium Listing, will generally facilitate more cost-efficient
administration. In this regard, the Company wishes to align its regulatory responsibilities and the
associated cost consequences with the Company’s size;

. the proposed Standard Listing of the Company will mean that the Company will not be required to
comply with the super-equivalent provisions of the Listing Rules that apply to companies with a Premium
Listing, which will have a direct cost saving for the Company; and

. the Listing Rules for securities with a Standard Listing are far less demanding and stringent than those
applicable to securities with a Premium Listing.

A Standard Listing affords Shareholders and investors in the Company a lower level of regulatory protection
than that afforded to investors in companies whose securities are admitted to the premium segment of the
Official List, which are subject to additional obligations under the Listing Rules.

Application has been made for the Ordinary Shares to be admitted to listing on the standard segment of the
Official List (pursuant to Chapter 14 of the Listing Rules) and to trading on the Main Market of the London
Stock Exchange. The Company intends to comply with the Listing Principles set out in Chapter 7 of the Listing
Rules at Listing Rule 7.2.1 which apply to all companies with their securities admitted to the Official List. In
addition, the Company also intends to comply with the Listing Principles at Listing Rule 7.2.1 notwithstanding
that they only apply to companies which obtain a Premium Listing. With regard to the Listing Principles at
7.2.1A R, the Company is not, however, formally subject to such Listing Principles and will not be required to
comply with them by the FCA.

LISTING RULES WHICH ARE NOT APPLICABLE TO A STANDARD LISTING

The following Listing Rules are not applicable to a Standard Listing:

. Chapter 8 of the Listing Rules regarding the appointment of a listing sponsor to guide the Company in
understanding and meeting its responsibilities under the Listing Rules in connection with certain matters.
In particular, the Company is not required to appoint a sponsor in relation to the Admission;

. Chapter 9 of the Listing Rules regarding continuous obligations for a company with a Premium Listing;

. Chapter 10 of the Listing Rules relating to significant transactions which requires Shareholder consent for
certain acquisitions;

. Chapter 11 of the Listing Rules regarding related party transactions. Nevertheless, the Company will not
enter into any transaction which would constitute a “related party transaction” as defined in Chapter 11 of
the Listing Rules without the specific prior approval of the Directors;

. Chapter 12 of the Listing Rules regarding purchases by the Company of its Ordinary Shares; In particular,
the Company has not adopted a policy consistent with the provisions of Listing Rules 12.4.1 and 12.4.2.
However, the Company’s ability to buy back and cancel Ordinary Shares will remain subject to the Act,

the Australian Corporations Act and the Constitution; and

. Chapter 13 of the Listing Rules regarding the form and content of circulars to be sent to Shareholders.
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LISTING RULES WITH WHICH THE COMPANY MUST COMPLY UNDER A STANDARD LISTING

There are, however, a number of continuing obligations set out in Chapter 14 of the Listing Rules that will be
applicable to the Company. These include requirements as to:

Chapter 7 — Listing Principles

. the taking of reasonable steps to establish and maintain adequate procedures, systems and controls to
enable it to comply with these obligations (Listing Rule 7.2.1);

. the dealing with the FCA in an open and co-operative manner (Listing Rule 7.2.1);

Chapter 14 — Continuing Obligations

. the forwarding of circulars and other documentation to the FCA for publication through the document
viewing facility and related notification to a regulatory information service;

. the provision of contact details of appropriate persons nominated to act as a first point of contact with the
FCA in relation to compliance with the Listing Rules and the Disclosure Guidance and the Transparency
Rules;

. the form and content of temporary and definitive documents of title;

. the appointment of a registrar;

. the making of regulatory information service notifications in relation to a range of debt and equity capital
issues; and

. at least 25 per cent. of the Ordinary Shares being held by the public.

In addition, as a company whose securities are admitted to trading on a regulated market, the Company will be
required to comply with the Disclosure Guidance and Transparency Rules.

It should be noted that the FCA will not have the authority to (and will not) monitor the Company’s
compliance with any of the Listing Rules or those aspects of the Disclosure Guidance and Transparency
Rules (including the Market Abuse Regulation) which the Company is either obliged to comply with or
has indicated herein that it intends to comply with on a voluntary basis, nor to impose sanctions in respect
of any failure by the Company to so comply. However, the FCA would be able to impose sanctions for
non-compliance where the statements regarding compliance in this Document are themselves misleading,
false, or deceptive.

NSX Listing Rules

As the Company has been admitted to the official list of the NSX, the Company is bound to comply with the
NSX Listing Rules and NSX Business Rules (“NSX Rules”), as amended from time to time. The NSX Rules
address such matters as admission to listing on the NSX, quotation of securities, continuous disclosure, periodic
disclosure, certain requirements for terms of securities, issues of new capital, transfers of securities, disclosure
of corporate governance practices, mining and exploration reporting requirements, escrow (lock-in)
arrangements, transactions with related/controlling parties, significant transactions, shareholder meetings,
trading halts and suspensions and fees payable. The NSX also publishes guidance notes regarding the
interpretation of the NSX Rules.
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Part 3
Presentation of Financial and Other Information

GENERAL

This Document comprises a prospectus for the purposes of Article 6 of the Prospectus Regulation and is
issued in compliance with the Listing Rules and has been approved by the FCA as a prospectus which
may be used to offer securities to the public for the purposes of section 87A of FSMA and the Prospectus
Regulation.

No person has been authorised to give any information or to make any representations in connection with
the Admission other than the information and representations contained in this Document and, if any
other information is given or representations are made, such information or representations must not be
relied upon as having been authorised by or on behalf of the Company or the Directors.

The Company does not accept any responsibility for the accuracy or completeness of any information
reported by the press or other media, nor the fairness or appropriateness of any forecasts, views or
opinions expressed by the press or other media regarding the Admission or the Group. The Company
makes no representation as to the appropriateness, accuracy, completeness or reliability of any such
information or publication other than this Document.

Without prejudice to any obligation of the Company under the FSMA, the Prospectus Regulation Rules,
the Listing Rules or the Disclosure Guidance and the Transparency Rules, the delivery of this Document
shall not, under any circumstances, create any implication that there has been no change in the business
or affairs of the Company since the date hereof or that the information contained herein is correct as of
any time subsequent to its date. As required by the Prospectus Regulation Rules, the Company will
update the information provided in this Document by means of supplement to it if a significant new factor
that may affect the evaluation by prospective investors of the Group occurs or if this Document contains
any material mistake or inaccuracy. Any supplement to this Document will be subject to approval by the
FCA and will be made public in accordance with the Prospectus Regulation Rules.

The contents of this Document or any subsequent communications from the Company or any of its
respective affiliates, officers, advisers, Directors, employees or agents are not to be construed as advice
on legal, business, taxation, accounting, regulatory, investment or any other matters. This Document is
not intended to provide the basis of any credit or other evaluation and should not be considered as a
recommendation by any of the Company or the Directors or any of its representatives that any recipient
of the Document should subscribe for or purchase any securities that may be issued by the Company.
Each investor should consult his or her own lawyer, financial adviser or tax adviser for legal, financial or
tax advice, as appropriate.

An investment in the Company should be regarded as a long-term investment. There can be no assurance
that the Group’s objectives, potential future acquisitions, financing and business strategies will be
achieved.

It should be remembered that the price of the Ordinary Shares and any income from such Ordinary Shares
can go down as well as up.

This Document should be read in its entirety before making any investment in the Ordinary Shares. All
Shareholders are entitled to the benefit of, are bound by, and are deemed to have notice of the provisions
of the Company’s Constitution, which prospective investors should review.

The distribution of this Prospectus in certain jurisdictions may be restricted by law. Other than in the

United Kingdom, no action has been taken or will be taken to permit the possession or distribution of this
Prospectus in any jurisdiction where action for that purpose may be required or where doing so is
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restricted by law. In the United States, you may not distribute this Prospectus or make copies of it
without the Company’s prior written consent other than to people you have retained to advise you in
connection with this Prospectus. Accordingly, neither this Prospectus nor any advertisement nor any
offering material may be distributed or published in any jurisdiction, other than in the United Kingdom,
except under circumstances that will result in compliance with any applicable laws and regulations.
Persons into whose possession this Prospectus comes should inform themselves about and observe any
such restrictions. Any failure to comply with such restrictions may constitute a violation of the securities
laws of any such jurisdiction.

The Ordinary Shares have not been and will not be registered under the United States Securities Act, or
under any relevant securities laws of any state or other jurisdiction in the United States, or under the
applicable securities laws of Australia, Canada, Japan or the Republic of South Africa.

Australia

This Document does not constitute a prospectus or other disclosure document under the Australian
Corporations Act and does not purport to include the information required of a disclosure document under
the Australian Corporations Act. This Document has not been, and will not be, lodged with the Australian
Securities and Investments Commission (“ASIC”) (whether as a disclosure document under the
Australian Corporations Act or otherwise). No offer of securities is being made pursuant to this
document.

Investors should read this Document in its entirety.

PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION

The Historical Financial Information of the Group presented in Part 9 of this Document, includes audited
financial statements and accompanying notes for:

(a)  the Group as at and for and for the half year ended 30 June 2021;

(b)  the Group as at and for the years ended 31 December 2020 and 30 June 2020;

(c)  the Company (known at the time as SPB) as at and for the period 1 July-31 January 2020, and for
the years ended 30 June 2019 and 30 June 2018;

(d)  Takmur Group as at and for the years ended 30 June 2019 and 30 June 2018;

(e)  PT AUM as at and for the period 1-9 January 2019 and the year ended 31 December 2018;

() PT IM as at and for the period 1-23 January 2019 and the year ended 31 December 2018;

(g)  Tisma Group as at and for the period 1 July 2020 to 15 February 201;

(h)  Tisma Group as at and for the years ended 30 June 2020 and 30 June 2019; and

(1) PT TGN as at and for the period 1 January 2018 to 15 January 2019.
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The audited annual financial statements of the Company, the Takmur Group, PT AUM and PT IM have
been prepared in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards, other authoritative pronouncements
of the Australian Accounting Standards Board, Australian Accounting Interpretations and the
Corporations Act. Compliance with Australian Accounting Standards ensures that the financial statements
and notes also comply with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as issued by the
International Accounting Standard Board (“IASB”).

The audited annual financial statements of the Tisma Group and the audited financial statements for the
period 1 January 2018 to 15 January 2019 for PT TGN have been prepared in accordance with IFRS
issued by the IASB and IFRIC interpretations issued by the IFRS Interpretations Committee.

Within the Document, the pro forma consolidated financial statements for the Group are presented in
accordance with IFRS as issued by the IASB.

NON-FINANCIAL INFORMATION OPERATING DATA

The non-financial operating data included in this Document has been extracted without material
adjustment from the management records of the Company and is unaudited.

CURRENCIES

In this Document, references to “Pounds Sterling”, “GBP”, “£”, “pence” or “p” are to the lawful currency
of the UK, references to “AUD”, “AU$”, “A$” or “Australian Dollar” are to the lawful currency of
Australia, references to “USD” or “US$” are the lawful currency of the United States.

PRESENTATION OF RESERVES AND RESOURCES

Unless otherwise stated, statements in this Document relating to the Group’s mineral resources have been
estimated in accordance with the Australasian Code for Reporting of Exploration Results, Mineral
Resources and Ore Reserves (2012) (the “JORC Code”). Mineral Resources are not Ore Reserves and do
not have demonstrated economic liability. All references to “reserves” are according to the Proved and
the Probable Ore Reserve classification. The accuracy of reserves estimates and associated economic
analysis is, in part, a function of the quality and quantity of available data and of engineering and
geological interpretation and judgment. This Document should be accepted with the understanding that
reserves, resources and financial performance subsequent to the date of the estimates may necessitate
revision. These revisions may be material. Unless otherwise stated, all information about Mineral
Reserves and resources, forward-looking production estimates and other geological information has been
extracted without material adjustment from the Competent Person’s Report in Part 16 “Competent
Person’s Report” of this Document.

In addition, the Group is subject to the JORC Code, a set of minimum standards, recommendations and
guidelines defined by the Australasian Joint Ore Reserves Committee, which is sponsored by the
Australian mining industry and its professional organisations. The JORC Code covers public reporting in
Australasia of exploration results, mineral resources and Ore Reserves. Disclosure under the JORC Code
is governed by the principles of transparency, materiality and competence.
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The materiality principle requires disclosure of all the relevant information that investors and their
professional advisers would reasonably require, and reasonably expect to find in the report, for the
purpose of making a reasoned and balanced judgement.

The competence principle requires disclosure on exploration targets, exploration results, mineral
resources and Ore Reserves to be based on, and fairly reflect, the information and supporting
documentation prepared by a “competent person”. A competent person must have a minimum of 5 years
relevant experience and be a member of an appropriate professional organisation. The JORC Code does
not specify an amount, type or quality of exploration or other work required to be done before a
competent person assesses and estimates a Mineral Resource or Ore Reserve.

ROUNDING

Percentages and certain amounts in this Document, including financial, statistical and operating
information, have been rounded to the nearest whole number or single decimal place for ease of
presentation. As a result, the figures shown as totals may not be the precise sum of the figures that
precede them. In addition, certain percentages and amounts contained in this Document reflect
calculations based on the underlying information prior to rounding, and, accordingly, may not conform
exactly to the percentages or amounts that would be derived if the relevant calculations were based upon
the rounded numbers.

THIRD PARTY INFORMATION

The Company confirms that all third-party information contained in this Document has been accurately
reproduced and, so far as the Company is aware and is able to ascertain from information published by
that third party, no facts have been omitted that would render the reproduced information inaccurate or
misleading. Where third party information has been used in this Document, the source of such
information has also been identified.

NO INCORPORATION OF WEBSITE

The contents of the Company’s website, any website mentioned in this Document or any website directly
or indirectly linked to these websites have not been verified and do not form part of this Document and
investors should not rely on such information.

DEFINITIONS

A list of defined terms and technical terms used in this Document is set out in “Definitions” of this
Document.

FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Document includes statements that are, or may be deemed to be, “forward-looking statements”.
These statements relate to future events or the future performance of the Group, but do not seek in any
way to qualify the working capital available to the Group during the Working Capital Period, or the
working capital statement given by the Company at paragraph 14 of Part 13 “Additional Information”
of this Document.
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These forward-looking statements can be identified by the use of forward-looking terminology, including
the terms “seek”, “believe”, “estimate”, “anticipate”, “forecast”, “expect”, “intend”, “may”, “will”,
“might”, “project”, “predict”, “potential”, “target”, “plan”, “continue”, “could” or “should” or, in each
case, their negative or other variations or comparable terminology. These forward-looking statements
include all matters that are not historical facts. They appear in a number of places throughout this
Document and include statements regarding the intentions, beliefs or current expectations of the Company
concerning, amongst other things, the investment objectives and policies, financing strategies,
performance, results of operations, financial condition, prospects, and dividend policy of the Company
and the markets in which it operates. By their nature, forward-looking statements involve risks and
uncertainties because they relate to events and depend on circumstances that may or may not occur in the
future. Forward-looking statements do not guarantee future performance. The Company’s actual
performance, results of operations, financial condition, dividend policy and the development of its
financing and operational strategies may differ materially from the impression created by the
forward-looking statements contained in this Document. In addition, even if the performance, results of
operations, financial condition and dividend policy of the Company, and the development of its financing
and operating strategies, are consistent with the forward-looking statements contained in this Document,
those results or developments may not be indicative of results or developments.

Important factors that could cause these differences include but are not limited to the risk factors (which
are not exhaustive) set forth above in Part 1 “Risk Factors” of this Document.

Forward-looking statements are necessarily based upon a number of estimates and assumptions that,
while considered reasonable by the Company, are inherently subject to significant business, economic and
competitive uncertainties and contingencies. Known and unknown factors could cause actual results to
differ materially from those projected in the forward-looking statements. In addition, even if the
Company’s results of operations and financial condition, and the development of the industry in which
the Company operates, are consistent with the forward-looking statements contained in this Document,
those results or developments may not be indicative of results or developments in subsequent periods.

Investors are cautioned that forward-looking statements are not guarantees of future performance. The
Company makes no representation, warranty or prediction that the results predicted by such
forward-looking statements will be achieved and these forward-looking statements represent, in each
case, only one of many possible scenarios and should not be viewed as the most likely or standard
scenario. Forward-looking statements may, and often do, differ materially from actual results. Any
forward-looking statements in this Document speak only as at the date of this Document, reflect the
Company’s current view with respect to future events and are subject to risks relating to future events and
other risks, uncertainties and assumptions relating to the Company’s operations, results of operations,
growth strategy, liquidity and the availability of new credit. Investors should specifically consider the
factors identified in this Document that could cause actual results to differ. All of the forward-looking
statements made in this Document are qualified by these cautionary statements.

Subject to the requirements of the Prospectus Regulation Rules, the Disclosure Guidance and the
Transparency Rules, the Market Abuse Regulation and the Listing Rules, or applicable law, the Company
explicitly disclaims any intention or obligation or undertaking publicly to release the result of any
revisions to any forward-looking statements in this Document that may occur due to any change in the
Company’s expectations or to reflect events or circumstances after the date of it.
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Part 4

Directors, Secretary, Registered Office and Advisers

Directors

Company Secretary

Registered Office of the Company

Financial Adviser and Broker

to the Company

UK Legal Advisers to the Company

Australia Legal Advisers to the Company

Indonesia Legal Advisers to the Company

Hong Kong Legal Advisers to the Company

Singapore Legal Advisers to the Company

Joint Reporting Accountant

Oliver B. Hasler (Chairman of the Board & CEQO)
Gary J Artmont (Non-Executive Director)
Bakhos Georges (Non-Executive Director)

Alvin Tan (Non-Executive Director)

Louisa Martino, FINSIA, Governance Institute Australia

Level 5, 56 Pitt Street
Sydney NSW 2000
Australia

VSA Capital Limited
New Liverpool House
15-17 Eldon Street
London EC2M 7LD
United Kingdom

Gowling WLG (UK) LLP
4 More London Riverside
London SE1 2AU

United Kingdom

HopgoodGanim Lawyers

Level 27, Allendale Square, 77 St Georges Terrace
Perth WA 6000

Australia

Sholeh, Adnan & Associates

Bina Sentra Lantai 1 R.114, Komplek Bidakara
J1. Jend Gatot Subroto Kav 71-73,

Pancoran, Jakarta 12870

Indonesia

Wong Heung Sum & Lawyers
Rooms 911-912, Wing On Centre,
111 Connaught Road Central,
Hong Kong

Bayfront Law LLC
79 Robinson Road, #14-01
Singapore 068897

Hall Chadwick Corporate (NSW) Limited
Level 40, 2 Park Street

Sydney NSW 2000

Australia
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Crowe U.K. LLP
55 Ludgate Hill
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Advanced Share Registry Services Pty Ltd
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Nedlands Western Australia 6909
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Computershare Investor Services plc
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Bridgewater Road
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United Kingdom

Continental Resource Management Pty Ltd
10 Hehir St

Belmont WA 6104

Australia

Watson Farley & Williams LLP
15 Appold Street

London EC2A 2HB

United Kingdom

Www.pyXxresources.com
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Part 5
Expected Timetable of Principal Events etc.

Publication of this Document 8 November 2021

Admission and commencement of dealings in Ordinary Shares 8.00 a.m. on 15 November 2021

All references to time in this Document are to London time, unless otherwise stated. Any changes to the
expected timetable will be notified by the Company through a Regulatory Information Service.

Admission Statistics

Number of Ordinary Shares in issue on Admission 429,520,222
Number of Options and Performance Rights in issue on Admission 15,308,811
Number of Ordinary Shares on a fully diluted basis on Admission 449,407,025

Percentage of issued share capital represented by Options and Performance
Rights outstanding on Admission 3.56%

Expected market capitalisation on Admission? £358.4m

Dealing Codes

ISIN AU0000078487
SEDOL BMHTOV4
LEI 529900A5IPGY4VFLA4E45
TIDM PYX

2

Based on number of Ordinary Shares in issue at Admission at a share price of AU$1.52 and an exchange rate of 1 GBP: 1.82164 AUD,
as at the Last Practicable Date.
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Part 6
The Business

Investors should read this Part 6 “The Business” in conjunction with the more detailed information contained in
this Document, including the financial and other information appearing in Part 9 “Historical Financial
Information” in this Document.

BACKGROUND

The Company is a producer of premium zircon listed on the National Stock Exchange of Australia (“NSX”)
(ticker: NSX: PYX). The Company operates the Mandiri Project, a 2,032 hectares licensed concession near
Kuala Kurun City in the Gunung Mas Regency of Central Kalimantan, Indonesia devoted to the exploration of
mineral sands products and the production and export of premium zircon and the Tisma Project, a fully licensed
mineral sands asset consisting of a concession area of 1,500 hectares located in Central Kalimantan Province,
Indonesia.

HISTORY

The Company was incorporated and registered under the name Kimberley Resources NL on 19 March 1996
subject to provisions of the Australian Corporations Act. In June 1996 the Company changed its name to
Adelong Gold NL and again in October 1996 to Adelong Consolidated Gold Mines NL.

Since inception, the Company developed and operated the Adelong Gold Mines in NSW Australia. In 1997 the
Company was admitted to listing on the ASX under the ticker AEG:AU, under the leadership of the Company
Managing Director and largest shareholder Mr. Jon Starink, who held a 16.31% stake as of 30 June 1998. In
1998, the Company also acquired an additional 50% interest in the Woolgni gold mine in the Northern Territory
and became the sole owner of the Woolgni gold mine, while it also acquired the plant and equipment at the
Comstock-Walkers mine near St Amoud, Victoria as well as the plant and equip at the Woodland Mine near
Tarago, NSW. The equipment was then relocated to operate the Adelong gold mines.

In July 1999, the Company was delisted from the ASX and divested its gold mining activities, due to limited
prospectivity of the gold deposits. Six months later, in January 2000, the Company changed its name to Adelong
Capital Limited and re-focused its business on investment in the technology sector, due to the perceived
potential for investment returns in the wake of the sector outperformance during the 90s, under the leadership of
Mr. Clive McKee, who succeeded Mr. Jon Starink as Chairman of the Board. In August 2000 it got re-admitted
on the official list of the ASX.

No technology related investment was made following re-admission, therefore in 2000 the Company changed its
name to Orchid Capital Limited, and traded on the ASX under the ticker ORC:AU, executing on a strategy to
build a venture capital portfolio across various industries.

In the following year (2001), the Company acquired a 20.73% interest in Richmond Asset Management Ltd/
Hong Kong and a 16.70% interest in Asia Island Homes Inc, which were sold in 2003 to crystallise portfolio
gains.

In 2002 the Company acquired a 23.2% interest in the Jiva Kata Resort, a hotel resort in Phuket, Thailand,
which was later sold in 2006.

In 2005 the Company acquired an 80% interest in the Tibetan Copper Porphyry projects, a copper porphyry

deposit in the Tibetan plateau, which were later abandoned in 2005 due to challenges in enforcing the
Company’s mining rights.
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Between 2006 and 2012, the Company continued to focus its deal origination efforts around Asia, the region
with the highest economic growth rate, with the objective to invest in businesses active in fast growing sectors,
such as pharmaceuticals and renewable energy. These businesses would typically either be located in China, or
benefit directly from the strong economy in China and other Asian countries.

However, the Company was not able to execute any substantial investment during this period as most of the
deals originated were not priced competitively and did not obtain approval from the Company’s board.

In 2012, the Company refocused its operations in oil and gas exploration, due to the perceived investment
potential of oil and gas deposits in South East Asia. Under the leadership of the new Chairman of the Board
Mr. Chris Haiveta, the Company changed its name to Coral Sea Petroleum Ltd and traded on the ASX official
list under the ticker CSP:AU.

The same year the Company acquired five Petroleum Prospecting Licenses in Papua New Guinea, covering an
area of 11,972 square kilometres. Four of the licenses were in the Papuan Basin close to existing oil and gas
fields and the associated production infrastructure while the fifth license covered an underexplored offshore
frontier basin where oil and gas indications had been reported.

In 2015, the Company changed its name to South Pacific Resources Limited, while maintaining its business
focus on oil and gas exploration, under the leadership of the new Chairman of the Board Mr. Domenic Martino.
The company maintained its listing on the ASX with the new ticker SPB:AU.

In 2019, the Company approved a share issue to trade creditors and convertible noteholders, and as a result of
this transaction former convertible noteholder Tamarind Resources Private Limited and former trade creditor
CA Resources Pty Ltd became the largest shareholders, holding 16.14% and 12.88% of the Company’s shares
respectively as of 6th September 2019.

In terms of shareholders, except from 1998 when Chairman Mr. Starink was listed as the largest shareholder
with 16.31% of the shares, and the debt conversion mentioned above, the Company’s shareholders since 1999
were always listed as bank nominees (i.e., ANZ nominees, JP Morgan nominees, HSBC Custody etc) with no
disclosure of any single shareholder holding more than 10%.

In January 2020 Oliver B. Hasler became CEO of the Company and decided to divest the oil and gas exploration
activities, due to limited prospectivity. At the same time, he identified an opportunity to create a leading mineral
sands company focused on the Central Kalimantan area in Indonesia. Under Oliver’s leadership the Company is
pursuing a strategy to become a major and sustainable global producer of premium zircon by focusing on
identifying, developing and acquiring undervalued, world-class mineral assets strategically located that possess
significant resources, long mine life and the highest zircon assemblage in the world.

The Company later obtained shareholder approval to delist from the ASX and to seek admission to the NSX and
appointed Mr. Oliver B Hasler as the new Chairman of the Board, with previous Takmur shareholders Phoenix
Fund Solutions Limted and Takmur SPC being disclosed as the Company new substantial shareholders, holding
35.1% and 31.31% of the Company’s shares respectively as of 31 January 2020.

Since 2020 the Company has acquired contractual rights to, and currently operates two key tenements located in
the alluvium-rich region of Central Kalimantan, Indonesia, the Mandiri mining project (the “Mandiri Project”)
and the Tisma mining project (the “Tisma Project”) (together the “Projects”). Tisma is not in production.

The Mandiri Project is a large-scale near surface open pit operation in production since 2015, in which the
Company obtained contractual interest in January 2020 following the reverse takeover of the Singaporean based
company Takmur Pte. Ltd (“Takmur”) (CR No. 20181911Z) and its subsidiaries (the “Takmur Group”), PT
Andary Usaha Makmur (“PT AUM”) and PT Investasi Mandiri (“PT IM”).
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In February 2020, as part of the Company’s strategy to develop a leading global zircon production company, the
Company changed its name to PYX Resources Limited.

The Tisma Project is a mineral sands exploration and development project in which the Company obtained
contractual interest in February 2021, following the acquisition of Tisma Development (HK) Limited (“Tisma”)
(CR No. 2748671) and its subsidiaries (the “Tisma Group”), PT Tisma Investasi Abadi (“PT TIA”) and PT
Tisma Global Nusantara (“PT TGN”).

The acquisitions of the Takmur Group and the Tisma Group (the “Subsidiaries”) positioned the Company and
its Subsidiaries (the “Group”) as the 2nd largest publicly traded producing mineral sands company by zircon
resources with a JORC compliant mineral resource of 263.5 Mt (according to publicly available information
during the financial year ended 31 December 2020).

The Takmur Group acquisition, due to PYX Resources shares being issued to Takmur Group’s shareholders as
consideration for the acquisition was deemed a reverse takeover under the Australian Accounting Standards,
AASB 3 — Business Combinations and the ASX Listing Rule 19.2. If a company meets the ASX Listing rule
reverse takeover definition, certain process requirements for re-admission to listing are required, such as
shareholder approval. Therefore, the Company’s shares had to be suspended from trading and the Company was
requested to seek shareholder approval for re-admission to the ASX official list.

During the re-admission application, the Company was informed by the ASX that after the Takmur acquisition,
as all the new shares issued to the Takmur vendors as consideration for the Takmur acquisition would be subject
to certain lock up arrangements and therefore considered as “restricted securities” by the ASX, the Company
would not meet the minimum free-float requirement.

According to Guidance note 1 of the ASX Listing Rules, an entity seeking admission in the ASX Listing
category must have a free float at the time of admission to the official list not less than 20%, with free float
defined as percentage of the class of securities which are not “restricted securities” and are held by
non-affiliated securities holders.

As the Company was not meeting the ASX free float requirements for re-admission on the ASX official list
upon completion of the planned acquisition of Takmur Group, the Company then decided to apply for listing on
the National Stock Exchange of Australia (NSX).

Companies listed on the NSX, the second largest securities exchange in Australia, are regulated by ASIC, the
same regulator supervising companies listed on the ASX. In addition, trades on the NSX are settled via CHESS,
the same system used to settle trades executed on the ASX, while some of the largest Australian brokers are also
participant brokers on the NSX.

According to the NSX Listing Rule 3.9, the minimum percentage of securities in public hands (i.e., people who
are not a director or substantial shareholder of the issuer or a director of a substantial shareholder of the issuer
or an associate of any of them) must be 25% at all times. In addition, NSX informed the Company that certain
lock up arrangement would only to be applied to the founders of Takmur Group, and not to all shareholders,
which resulted in the Company meeting the 25% “securities in public hands” threshold.

In consideration of the higher percentage of unrestricted shares being eligible for trading if a listing on the NSX
was pursued, and the resulting positive impact on the share trading liquidity, the Company decided it was in the
best interest of the shareholders not to proceed further with the ASX re-admission and seek shareholder
approval to withdraw from the ASX official list, in order to submit a formal application for listing on the NSX.
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The removal from ASX was approved by the Company shareholders on 24 January 2020 and occurred on 11
February 2020. Following its withdrawal from the ASX, on 25 February 2020 the Company listed on the NSX,
completing a fundraise of AU$14m.

The Group is still listed on the NSX and intends to maintain its NSX listing in addition to its listing on the LSE
Main Market.

The Company completed a fundraise of AU$11.2m (£6.1m) on the NSX (the “June Fundraise”) on 23 June
2021 (gross of expenses).

The expenses were borne by the Company in full and no expenses were charged to the investors. The expenses
included commission and professional advisory fees and reached a total of AU$673,496 (£364,900).

The net proceeds of the June Fundraise were AU$10.6 (£5.7m) (the “Net June Fundraise Proceeds”).
Upon completion of the June Fundraise, the Company issued 10,897,988 new shares at AU$1.03 (£0.56).

The June raising proceeds will be used to fund a capital expenditure and working capital programme related to
the Tisma Project. More specifically:

US$2m for the installation of a Mining Field Unit (MFU);
. US$2.7m to install a Mineral Separation Plant (MSP);

. US$1m infrastructure investment for accessibility and logistics such as roads and vehicles. The necessary
infrastructure is expected to be built within the 18-month timeline needed for the Mining Field Unit
installation. The earth moving equipment will comprise of two excavators, one grader, one bulldozer and
four 8t trucks. In addition, the Company intends to build the roads on the tenement.

. US$2.2m for other fixed assets such as trucks to transport the finished product from the MSP to the port.

The Company expects that the June Fundraising proceeds will enable them to increase production capacity at
the Tisma Project to 12kt/year at 65.5 grade zircon.

GROUP STRUCTURE
The Company owns 100 per cent. of the share capital of Takmur and Tisma.

Takmur holds 99 per cent ownership of PT Andary Usaha Makmur (“PT AUM”). PT AUM holds the exclusive
contractual rights to the operation and management of PT Investasi Mandiri (“PT IM”), under the Mandiri
Exclusive Operation and Management Agreement (as set out in paragraph 18.7 of Part 13 “Additional
Information” of this Document), with no direct ownership interest.

Tisma holds 99 per cent. of ownership of PT Tisma Investasi Abadi (“PT TIA”). PT TIA holds the exclusive
contractual rights to the operation and management of PT Tisma Global Nusantara (“PT TGN”), under the
Tisma Exclusive Operation and Management Agreement (as set out in paragraph 18.5 of Part 13 “Additional
Information” of this Document), with no direct ownership interest.

Note: AUD/GBP average exchange rate used as of 23 June 2021.
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The Board’s decision to acquire the Takmur Group and the Tisma Group was based not only on the two
tenements’ large volume of zircon resources, but also on the fact that, in the opinion of the Board, the control of
both mineral projects through the contractual arrangements executed by the Company’s subsidiaries ensures
sustainable enforceability of the mining rights for the Group and its shareholders.

Under each Exclusive Operation and Management Agreement, PT AUM and PT TIA respectively have
committed to provide mining equipment, technical and management know-how to develop each project.

Under the terms of the Exclusive Operation and Management Agreements, PT IM and PT TGN (together the
“Concession Holders”) and their respective shareholders have delegated to PT AUM and PT TIA:

. the power to determine the financial and operational policy of PT IM and PT TGN;
. the right to appoint the majority of PT IM and PT TGN’s directors; and

. the right to receive 95% of PT IM and PT TGN'’s net profit on an annual basis as a compensation for the
services provided.

The two Exclusive Operation and Management Agreements, along with the legal group structure of the Takmur
Group and the Tisma Group allow the Board to determine the financial and operational policies of PT IM and
PT TGN.

Moreover, the shareholders of the Concession Holders still maintain economic exposure to the companies,
aligning their interests with the interest of the Company, as they have pledged their shares in favour of the
Company’s subsidiaries (PT AUM and PT TIA respectively) as collateral to further safeguard the Company’s
rights and economic benefits under the Exclusive Operation and Management Agreements.

PYX Resources Limited
(Australia)
Public: Listed on NSX

Tisma Development (HK) Ltd Takmur Pte. Ltd.
(Hong Kong) (Singapore)
100% PYX 100% PYX
PT Tisma Investasi Abadi PT Andary Usaha Makmur
(Indonesia) (Indonesia)
99% TDHK 99% Takmur
Controlled through Operation Controlled through Operation
and Management Agreement and Management Agreement
PT Tisma Global Nusantra PT Investasi Mandiri
(Indonesia) (Indonesia)
The Tisma Project The Mandiri Project

Figure 1 — Group structure
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CURRENT OPERATIONS

The Mandiri Project and Tisma Project (together the “Projects”) are amongst the largest volume zircon deposits
globally and both tenements have a higher weighting to zircon within the assemblage than is typical globally, as
well as a Heavy Minerals (“HM”) grade comparable to the highest-grade deposits in the world.

Mandiri Project Tisma Project Combined

Mineral Resources 126.3 Mt 137.2 Mt 263.5 Mt
HM Grade 7.43% 3.99% 5.65%
HM Tonnage 9.4 Mt 5.5 Mt 14.9 Mt
Contained Zircon 6.0 Mt 4.5 Mt 10.5 Mt
Assemblage ZIR: 68% ZIR: 82% ZIR: 70%
RUT: 8.5% RUT: 2% RUT: 6%

ILM: 9.5% ILM: 8.5% ILM: 9.1%

Notes: ZIR: Zircon; RUT: Rutile; ILM: Ilmenite

As part of the Mandiri Operation and Management Agreement, PT AUM will invest up to US$15m for over ten
years for mining equipment, other capital expenditures, exploration and geology studies, operational and
administrative best practices, and management and other consulting services.

Under the terms of the Tisma Operation and Management Agreement, PT TIA has agreed to invest up to
US$15m in PT TGN over a ten year period for mining equipment, other capital expenditures, exploration and
geology studies, operational and administrative best practices, and management and other consulting services.

Even though the Group’s Mineral Resources are classified as Inferred, there are no restrictions on the Group’s
ability to mine the Mandiri Project as there is a history of production of Heavy Mineral Sands (“HMS”) from
the project area. Both the Mineral Resources and Inferred classification is made in accordance with the JORC
Code. The Inferred classification is principally due to the wide spacing of the drilling. For reference, there are a
small number of mining projects for which the grade can be determined by surface sampling or as a by-product
of panning for gold, or where visual examination of colour changes due to alteration intensity can be used to
determine the mineralisation, frequently do not require the definition of JORC compliance ore Reserves.

The feed for the processing plant in Mandiri is purchased from contract miners who present concentrate to the
processing plant and they are paid according to the zircon content. The concentrate supplied by the contract
miners is “ore grade” material and has been mined from heavy mineral sands that have not been the subject of

any form of mineral resource estimation.

The Company is seeking admission of its Ordinary Shares to the standard segment of the Official List (by a way
of a Standard Listing under Chapter 14 of the Listing Rules) and to trading on the Main Market of the London
Stock Exchange.

The Directors expect that the dual listing would make it easier for the Company’s existing shareholders to
participate in the growth of the Company and its business, will enable the Company to enhance its share
liquidity, reach additional institutional investors in the UK and Europe and further raise the profile of the

Group’s projects.
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SUMMARY OF GROUP’S ASSETS AND OPERATIONS

Central Kalimantan has been established as a major producer of heavy mineral sands globally. Zircon has been
the main mineral concentrate in the area, but ilmenite, rutile, leucoxe, gold, kaolin, clay and quartz can are also
present in the area. Management recognised that despite Indonesian producers not having a history of producing
higher quality mineral sands products, especially zircon, there was an opportunity to exploit zircon resources in
Indonesia in a manner that would require minimal capex with low operating expenses.

The Board has carefully chosen the location of the two tenements due to the economies of scale and synergies
that can be created between them. This, along with the high HM grade on the two tenements, gives the Group
the advantage to produce a premium quality product (PT IM producing 65.5% zircon content) and strengthen its
position through the future consolidation of zircon deposits in the area.
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Figure 2 — Location of Company’s Projects

The description of the Group’s assets described below, as well as all scientific and technical information are
sourced directly from the Competent Person’s Report of Continental Resource Management (“CRM”) Australia.

MANDIRI PROJECT, CENTRAL KALIMANTAN, REPUBLIC OF INDONESIA

The Mandiri Project is a mineral sands tenement, located in the alluvium-rich region of Central Kalimantan, 23
km away from the nearest township of Kuala Kurun and 100 km north of the provincial capital city,
Palangkaraya. The Mandiri Tenement can be accessed by commercial flights from Jakarta to Palangkaraya in 1
hour and 20 minutes and the drive from the airport to the Mandiri Tenement takes about 4.5 hours.

The Mandiri Tenement consists of a licensed concession area of 2,032 hectares for mineral sands exploration

and premium grade zircon production and export. The Inferred Mineral Resources for the Mandiri Project are
defined as 126 Mt containing 7.4% HM including 9% slimes and 16% oversize a lower cut-off grade of 2%.
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Figure 3 — Mandiri Project location plan (Source: Competent Persons Report on the Mandiri and Tisma Projects, Central Kalimantan,
Republic of Indonesia, CRM Australia, June 2021)

Mineral Tenure

On 2 September 2010, PT IM was granted a mining permit zin Usaha Pertambangan-Operasi Produksi (“IUP-
OP”) for a total area of 2,032ha, by Bupati Gunung Mas, No. 16/DPE/IX/2010. The Production and Operation
IUP license allows PT IM to carry out production operations, including construction, mining, zircon processing
and refining, transportation and sales. The Mandiri Project has been in production since 2015.

According to the Indonesian minerals legislation, to obtain an export permit for minerals, a processing plant is
required. PT IM has a processing plant located 23 km south of the Mandiri Tenement. Until 2019, a processing
plant of 500tpm (6ktpa) was in operation, however, after the completion of Takmur’s acquisition, this has now
been expanded to 18ktpa and is due to be increased to 24ktpa this year.

Key provisions of the mineral permit for Mandiri Project include the following:

. Dead rent payable to Government of Indonesia at rate of US$4 per hectare per annum;

. Royalty on zircon exported is 1.5% on zircon sales;

. Corporate tax of 22%;

. Payable withholding tax on interest and dividends, set at 5%-20% for non-resident foundation
shareholder;
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. PT IM shall collect, remit and report VAT on the delivery of taxable goods and/or services at a rate of
10%;

. Land and building taxes payable to the local government at a maximum of 0.3%. The effective tax rate of
PT IM is 0.2% (i.e. 0.5% of the sales value of 40% of the total land area for mining) with a deductible
amount of Rp 12 million; and

. Environmental obligations, including reclamation bonding and plans that have been approved by local
government as part of the mine approval process in the term of reclamation bank guarantee.

The Company received approval for the extension of the Production License for an additional five years to 1
September 2025.

Exploration history of the Mandiri Project

There is no record of any systematic exploration conducted over the Mandiri Project area, however artisanal
miners have been active within the area for many years extracting gold and zircon. Even though around 60% of
the area has been covered, exploration has rarely exceeded depths of 4 meters.

In November — December 2018, phase 1 of an auger drilling programme was conducted to explore the license
area systematically and professionally. Phases 2 and 3 were completed in January and February 2019.

Geology and Mineralisation

The Mandiri Project is situated on the anticlinorium complex within Barito Basin with a pull apart sedimentary
basin, occurring in Paleogene age, in Central Kalimantan. The Heavy Mineral Sands (“HMS”) bearing strata of
the Mandiri deposit is composed of ancient Kahayan alluvium, which was deposited during the Holocene age.

The deposit is in the form of a placer formed in a flood plain environment of the ancient Kahayan river by
concentration of heavy minerals, mostly zircon, rutile, leucoxene. Gold, platinum and cassiterite have also been
identified. Drilling has showed that mineralisation occurs as a tabular body within alluvium as a layer between
2m to around a maximum of 11.5m, mostly though to 6m.

Mineral Resource Estimate

A Mineral Resource Estimate was completed for the Mandiri heavy mineral deposit by CRM Australia for the
Company in June 2021. It is reported in accordance with the 2012 Edition of the Australasian Code for
Reporting of Exploration Results, Mineral Resources and Ore Reserves (the “JORC Code”).

Since artisanal miners do not record the volume of production, the mineral assemblage for the Mandiri Project
(shown on the table below) was based on actual production data from January — December 2018 from PT IM
processing plant and confirmed by certified laboratory analyses.

Component Zircon Ilmenite Rutile Other Waste + H,O Total
Relative % 68% 9.5% 8.5% 1% 13% 100%
Contained mineral 6.00 Mt 0.84 Mt 0.75 Mt 0.09 Mt 1.15 Mt 8.82 Mt

Table 1 — Mineral assemblage and contained tonnes of the components for the Mandiri Project (Source: Competent Persons Report on the
Mandiri and Tisma Projects, Central Kalimantan, Republic of Indonesia, CRM Australia, June 2021)
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A composite sample was prepared and analysed by the Uptd Laboratorium Energi Dan Sumber Daya Mineral in
Banjabaru to estimate the zircon, rutile and ilmenite contents.
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Figure 4 — Mandiri deposit ore block model output (Source: Competent Persons Report on the Mandiri and Tisma Projects, Central
Kalimantan, Republic of Indonesia, CRM Australia, June 2021)

The ore block model demonstrates a high level of consistency of grade in excess of 6%.

The Inferred Mineral Resources for the Mandiri Project are defined as 126Mt containing 7% HM including 9%
slimes and 16% oversize at a lower cut-off grade of 2%. The estimated contained zircon is 6Mt.

Area Category Tonnage (Mt) HM (%) Slimes (%) Oversize (%)

Mandiri Project Inferred 126.3 7.43 8.98 16.14

Table 2 — Mineral resources above 2% HM lower block cut-off grade (unrounded) (Source: Competent Persons Report on the Mandiri and
Tisma Projects, Central Kalimantan, Republic of Indonesia, CRM Australia, June 2021)

TISMA PROJECT, CENTRAL KALIMANTAN, REPUBLIC OF INDONESIA

The Tisma Project is located 110 km from the Mandiri Project, 50 km northwest from Palangkaraya and
approximately 75 km via bitumen road. The concession is located in the Kitingan district of Central Kalimantan
Province and along the Katingan river, which flows into the Kahayan river. The Sampit and Banjarmasin ports
are also suitably connected to the factory by paved national highway.
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Figure 5 — Location of the Tisma Tenement (Source: Competent Persons Report on the Mandiri and Tisma Projects, Central Kalimantan,
Republic of Indonesia, CRM Australia, June 2021)

Mineral Tenure

The Tisma Project is owned by PT TGN, under IUP-OP No. 545/244/KPTS/VII1/2012, issued on 1 August 2012.
PT TGN has the exclusive rights of performing exploration and mining works for an area of 1,500 hectares.

Exploration history of the Tisma Project

There is no record of any systematic exploration conducted over the years. There is evidence of some small
artisanal workings close to the south-eastern corner of the Tisma Tenement for gold mining. To the west of the
Tisma Tenement an extensive area of previous workings can be found, but there is no documentation available
on production records or the commodity mined.

Drilling was carried out between July and October 2020 by PT TGN employees using a single drilling rig, with
the drilling method being essentially air-core.

Boundary between Quaternary
and Tertiary sediments

Figure 6 — Area of extensive workings located to the west (Source: Competent Persons Report on the Mandiri and Tisma Projects, Central
Kalimantan, Republic of Indonesia, CRM Australia, June 2021)
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Geology and Mineralisation

The Tisma Project is a placer deposit, created by a flood plain environment by concentration of heavy minerals,
mostly zircon with very minor rutile and ilmenite. Gold has been also identified. The bearing stratum of the
Tisma Project is ancient Kahayan alluvium, deposited during the Holocene age. The lithology consists of loose
quartz, medium grained intercalated grey mudstone containing carbonacerous, shale and bed load stream
product, coarse grain sand layer. The mineralisation occurs as a tabular body within alluvium as a layer of
between 3.5 to 8.3 meters thick, while the overburden varies from 6 to 10 meters in thickness.

Mineral Resource Estimate

A Mineral Resource Estimate was completed for the Tisma Project heavy mineral deposit by CRM Australia for
the Company in November 2020, in accordance with the 2012 Edition of the JORC Code. The ore black model
of the mineralisation was produced through Inverse Distance modelling.

=]

Figure 7 — Tisma deposit ore black model output (Source: Competent Persons Report on the Mandiri and Tisma Projects, Central
Kalimantan, Republic of Indonesia, CRM Australia, June 2021)

The Tisma Project contains Inferred Mineral Resources of approximately 137 Mt, containing 4% HM including
an estimated zircon content of 3%. Slimes and oversize are 14% and 25% respectively. The resources are at a
2% HM lower cut-off.

Are Category Tonnage (Mt) HM (%) Zircon (%) Slimes (%) Oversize (%)

Tisma Project Inferred 137.2 3.99 3.27 14.75 24.90

Table 3 — Mineral resources above 2% HM lower block cut-off grade (unrounded) (Source: Competent Persons Report on the Mandiri and
Tisma Projects, Central Kalimantan, Republic of Indonesia, CRM Australia, June 2021)
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Company strategy & objectives

The Company’s core strategy is to create long term value for its Shareholders by increasing asset valuations,

scaling production of premium grade zircon and drastically reducing the costs by in-house mining. Strategically,

the Company aims to become the consolidator of the mineral sands mining industry in the Central Kalimantan

region.

The recommendations in the Competent Person Report refer to future drilling activity, but the Company has

decided to immediately start production at Tisma, the same way they did at Mandiri, since this activity

generates high EBITDA margins. Once the Tisma Project is in production, the Group will decide upon further

drilling, in case Management believes that this will add value to the Group’s mining activity.

Therefore, the principal objectives of the Company are to:

ii.

iii.

iv.

vi.

Vii.

start in-house mining at both Projects to achieve significant cost reduction: The Board hired Resindo
Resources and Energy, a Jakarta-based engineering consulting company, to aid in the acquisition of the
Mining Field Unit for the Mandiri Project, which was completed in March 2021. The cost for the Mining
Field Unit acquisition was US$1.1m. The Mining Field Unit will be utilised as the first in-house mining
unit, resulting in expanding the extraction capacity, decreasing mining costs and providing successful
high-concentration extraction of heavy mineral sands. The Mining Field Unit is currently undergoing
trials to determine its exact extraction and technical specifications;

increase extraction and production volume: Upon completion of the Mining Field Unit trials, the
Company is planning to upgrade its capacity to reach an HMC output of 40,000 tonnes per year. The
Mineral Separation Plant at the Mandiri Project currently has a capacity of 18kt per year. The Group has
acquired new equipment in order to increase production capacity up to 24kt per year, the installation of
which is expected to complete in the fourth quarter of 2021;

add to its sales mix rutile and ilmenite sales: The Company received approval for its 2021 working plan
and budget on 1 December 2020. The working plan included the extraction, production and addition to
Company’s sale mix of rutile and ilmenite. The upgrade of the Company’s sales mix is expected to start
during the year, upon receiving an IUP extension for rutile and ilmenite from the Central Government of
Indonesia;

develop the Group into one of the most prominent mineral sands producers globally: The Mandiri Project
(already in production) produced 7kt of zircon in 2020, while the Tisma Project is expected to produce an
equal amount of zircon per annum upon start of production in 2022. The Company is planning to start
working towards the Tisma investment plan upon completion of the LSE listing and expects all works to
be completed in 18 months’ time. During that period, the Company will also acquire all necessary
logistical equipment for the mine, such as excavators, bulldozers and trucks and create the required
infrastructure (roads) within the tenement to access the in-house Mining Field Unit;

strengthen its position as the industry consolidator of zircon rich deposits within Kalimantan;
further explore and acquire mineral sand assets in Asia and beyond; and

employ the most effective methods in its mining process by empowering local communities, safeguard
the environment and support diversity.

The Company’s short-term objectives focus on enhancing and maintaining its assets value, while generating

significant synergies and economies of scale, focussing on comprehensive exploration of the Mandiri and Tisma

deposits to mine, process and sell Valuable Heavy Mineral resources in a well-diversified customer mix.
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The Tisma Project requires a low-cost investment to adapt to the demands of the Company’s mining operations
and at the same time help the Group to take advantage of the cost reduction opportunities arising from the
Tisma Project’s location. Therefore, the investment plan for Tisma includes a Mining Field Unit installation
with an in-pit pre-concentrator wet plant including: grizzly, scrubber trommel, desliming cyclones, CD tank,
rougher spiral units and scavenger spiral units. The installation of the MFU is expected to be completed within
18 months.

Besides the MFU, the Tisma Project’s investment plan also includes a Mineral Separation Plant (MSP)
installation. For the MSP installation, the Company will build a factory, which will include all required
equipment for processing the concentrate extracted from the deposit, such as shaking tables, dryers, electrostatic
rolls, high tension electrostatic curve plates, permanent magnets belt separators and permanent disc lift
electromagnets. The expected timing for the MSP installation is 18 months.

The Company also intends to invest in building the necessary infrastructure on the Tisma tenement, such as
roads. As a result, the Company will have to invest in excavators, 8t trucks, loaders and graders.

The June Proceeds enable the Company to reach a capacity of 12k tonnes of zircon per annum on the Tisma
tenement.

Under its current mining license, the Company is currently only able to sell zircon, however it has submitted an
application to enable the export and sale of ilmenite and rutile, with approval expected to be received in H2
2021. However, H1 2021 was marked with a 25% increase in zircon production, while sales volume grew 14%.

The Group used to sell zircon in an ad hoc basis to customers in Indonesia, Taiwan, China, India, France, UK,
Germany, Spain and Mexico. Over the past year, the Company has made significant progress in negotiating
longer term contracts with its clients and also diversifying its customer base, reducing the concentration of
83.6% of its top 3 customers in 2019 to 47.9% in 2020. All revenue is denominated in US$, resulting in limited
currency risk. Moreover, the Group has announced four increases in zircon prices for the year, reaching
US$2,305/tonne for September 2021, when the average price for December was US$1,318/tonne.

Even though the largest market for the Group’s product is traditionally the ceramics market, zircon is becoming
more popular in novel high-tech applications globally, such as 3D printing, semiconductors, solar cells,
implants, fuel cells and batteries, share memory alloys and coating and catalysis.

Zircon’s demand is growing faster in this market and the Group is well positioned to take advantage of the
trend, since its product has high purity characteristics and superior opacifying properties (ZrO2 + HfO2 >66%,
A1203 < 1.0%, TiO2 < 0.1%, Fe202 < 0.1% and U + Th < 450ppm), qualities that are highly sought in this
sector.

The higher quality, high whiteness, low radioactivity and low part of alumina of Group’s zircon has resulted in
increased sales over the past year of 36.5% and secured three offtake agreements:

. a two-year offtake agreement for 250t per month (a total of 6,000t over the two years) with Qingyuan
Jinsheng ZR & TI Resources Co. Ltd (July 2020);

. a two-year offtake agreement for a total of 4,000t of 65.5% zircon product with Euronics, a leading
distributor of zircon in Taiwan and China (November 2020); and

. a two-year offtake agreement for 1,550t per annum (a total of 3,600t over the two years) with Microtech
Zircon, an India incorporated group, member of the Delta Tiles group of companies (February 2021).

(together the “Offtake Agreements”)
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Further details on the Offtake Agreements are set out in Paragraphs 18.9, 18.10 and 18.11 of Part 13 “Additional
Information”.

The Company’s mid/long-term objective is the identification, acquisition and development of undervalued,
word-class mineral assets, which are strategically located and possess significant resources, with long mine life
and superior zircon assemblage.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Group has yet to develop its dividend policy and given that the Group is a mineral sands exploration and
production group, future income generated is likely to be re-invested in the Group to implement its strategy,
develop Group’s assets and acquire new assets. In view of this, it is unlikely that the Board will recommend a
dividend in the early years following Admission. The Directors recognise the importance of dividends to
investors and, as the Group’s business matures, will keep under review the desirability of paying dividends.

EMPLOYEES

In the past three years, the only Group Company that had any employees, other than directors, was PT IM. The
number of employees for PT IM during the past 3 years was as follows:

PT IM
31 Dec 2020 31 Dec 2019 31 Dec 2018
Senior Executives 8 1 1
Other Employees 92 64 75

Very little activity occurred for the years 2018 and 2019, so the Company, at the time known as SPB, had no
employees, other than the board of directors.

Takmur, Tisma, PT AUM and PT TIA are the holding companies for the Group’s indirect interest in the two
Projects and therefore have no employees.

PT TGN, which is pre-production, currently has no employees.

EMPLOYEE REMUNERATION

Equity-settled share-based compensation benefits may be provided to contractors or employees in exchange for
the rendering of services. The cost of equity-settled transactions is measured at fair value on grant date. The

grant date is the date that both contracting parties have a clear understanding of the terms and conditions
attached to the share-based payment and all required approvals have been obtained.
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STOCK INCENTIVE PLAN

At the Company’s General Meeting on 13 December 2019, the Company adopted a new Stock Incentive Plan.
The Stock Incentive Plan intends to align employees’ interest with those of the Company’s Shareholders by
making offers of Awards to reward and retain certain employees, consultants and directors of the Company and
to attract future talent.

There are no participation rights or entitlements inherent in the Awards.

Further details on the Stock Incentive Plan are set out in Paragraph 12.3 of Part 13 “Additional Information”.

SUSTAINABILITY, ENVIRONMENTAL AND SOCIAL

The Group’s operations are subject to various environmental laws and regulations under the relevant legislation
of the jurisdiction in which operates. The Board considers full compliance with these laws and regulations as a
minimum standard for all operations of the Group to achieve. There have been no significant known breaches by
any of the members of the Group during the period covered by the Historical Financial Information.

Sustainability

The Group, inspired by the Sustainable Development Goals (“SDGs”) set forth by the United Nations
Development Programme, has introduced the “PYX Cares” sustainability programme, as the Group’s blueprint
for making a meaningful difference to the communities in which the Group operates and in achieving
sustainable growth.

The “PYX Cares” programme contributes towards a number of the United Nations Development Goals. The
Group aims to empower local communities, protect the environment and foster diversity in order to ensure that
both the Group’s employees and the people of Kalimantan fully participate and benefit from the Group’s
long-term success.

The Group understands that its responsibilities extend to the communities in which it operates and strives to
strike a balance among the Group’s commitment to sustainability, the needs of its employees and the entirety of
its business obligations. The Group’s community-based programmes are aimed at fostering improvements in the
quality of life of all communities in which the Group operates. The Group is dedicated to working with local
communities in Kalimantan, learning about their needs and making meaningful investment which will ensure
that a lasting legacy to the region and its people is left behind.

Following a survey conducted by the Group inviting local villagers to voice their greatest concerns, the need to
improve infrastructure and roads was clear. An important local bridge, between the Bukit Batu and Muroi Raya
villages, had been in a state of disrepair for three years, despite being a key infrastructure link for the local
villagers. The Group provided the expertise of its Mandiri workforce to plan the project, while it also supplied
the use of heavy equipment and machinery to effectively repair the bridge.

Environmental
The Group strongly values the rich biodiversity of the areas in which it operates and strives to preserve and

foster the planet’s biodiversity by adhering to stringent environmental standards and practices, while striving to
go beyond compliance to local and international regulations.
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The Group has introduced an Environmental Management Plan to monitor how it manages and mitigates the
Mandiri Project’s environmental impact while also ensuring that all its employees receive formal training in
environmental monitoring, reporting and compliance. Moreover, the Group has set high benchmarks regarding
land restoration to the state it was prior to the Group’s operations. The Group is committed to the re-filling of
mining pits and planting of native vegetation to ensure that the environmental impact of its operations will be
minimised.

The Group intends to adopt a similar Environmental Management Plan for the Tisma Project at the appropriate
time.

Employees

The Group puts high importance on the recruitment of local people, in order to maximise the employment
opportunities and project benefits for local communities. The Group strives to train its employees
comprehensively and professionally, so they have the knowledge, skills and mentality to see beyond their daily
tasks and help the Group improve its operations.

The Group recognises its employees as its most valuable asset, considering their health, safety and wellbeing of
outmost importance. Following the Covid-19 crisis emergence, the Group adjusted its operating model to deal
with the new circumstances, while taking great care of all its staff, contractors and the communities the Group
works with. Following the World Health Organization guidelines, the Group provided infectious disease
education, continuous communication alongside the implementation of preventive measures and protocols across
the Group.

Moreover, the Group took extensive precautions to respond to the Covid-19 pandemic, by introducing
international and domestic travel restrictions, work-from-home arrangements and supplemental health care. The
Group focused its measures on its Kalimantan-based staff, introducing routine Covid-19 tests in the tenement,
factory and offices, temperature control and continuous communication in order to detect any possible
symptoms immediately.

Community

The Group recognises the importance of its social impact in enhancing the communities in which it operates,
through employment and education, opportunity and community involvement.

The Group looks to foster significant personal growth in its communities through its education programs. The
Group is fully committed to increasing the diversity in its workforce and will continue to foster the favourable
working environment that has ensured high levels of gender equality in its workforce.

The Group is always trying to provide learning and skills transfer opportunities for its communities, by
providing livelihood programmes, putting strong emphasis on education, as well as providing various
internships for university students and pathways into management for its workers.

INSURANCE

The Company has paid premiums to insure all of the Directors, current and former executive officers against
any liability incurred as such by a director or executive officer to the extent permitted by the Corporations Act
2001. The contract of insurance prohibits disclosure of the notice of the liability and the amount of the
premium.

The Group has not otherwise, during or since the financial year, indemnified or agreed to indemnify an officer
or auditor of the Group against a liability incurred as such an officer or auditor.
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CAPITALISATION AND INDEBTEDNESS
Group’s Capitalisation

The following table shows the Group’s capitalisation as of 30 June 2021.

Total current debt

Guaranteed

Secured

Unguaranteed/unsecured

Total non-current debt (excluding current portion of non-current debt)

Guaranteed

Secured
Unguaranteed/unsecured
Shareholders’ equity
Share Capital

Reserves

Accumulated Losses

Equity Attributable to owners of the Company

Non-controlling interest
Total capitalisation

As at
30 Jun 2021
US$

2,262,179

7,138
2,255,041

96,651,080
2,403,793
(13,514,783)

85,540,090

(830,333)
84,709,757

The information above has been extracted without material adjustment from the reviewed financial results of the
Group for the financial half year ended 30 June 2021. There has been no material change in the Group’s

capitalisation from 30 June 2021 to the date of this Document.

GROUP’S INDEBTEDNESS

The following table shows the Group’s net liquidity/(indebtedness) as at 30 September 2021:

Cash and cash equivalent

Trading securities

Liquidity

Current financial receivables
Current portion of non-current debt

Current financial debt

Net current financial liquidity/(indebtedness)
Other non-current leases

Non-current financial liquidity/(indebtedness)
Net financial liquidity/(indebtedness)
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As at

30 September

2021
US$

7,919,352
7,919,352

(4,292)
7,915,060

7,915,060




Part 7
Industry Overview, Indonesia Overview and Regulatory Environment

INDUSTRY OVERVIEW

“Mineral sands” is the term given to a group of minerals commonly found and mined together from water or
wind concentrated deposits, representing less than one per cent. of the value of the global resources sector. The
principal valuable minerals include zircon (ZrSiO4), ilmenite (Fe.TiO3), leucoxene (FeTi03.Ti02), rutile
(TiO2) and monazite (Ce, La, Th, Nd, Y) PO4. Other heavy minerals that frequently occur together include
pseudorutile, anatase, xenotime, garnet, kyanite, sillimanite and staurolite.

The term “mineral sands” normally refers to concentrations of heavy minerals (HM) in alluvial environments
(old beach or river system). Their exploration, development, mining and process allows to visually estimate in
practically all stages the grade and composition of the HM and valuable heavy mineral.

Zircon is an opaque, hard wearing, inert mineral and one of the two principal product streams mineral sands
industry consists of, with titanium dioxide minerals being the second one. Its chemical name, zirconium silicate,
has a general chemical composition of 67% zirconia, 32% silica and typically, about 1% of hafnium. Zircon
exists in varying colours; colourless, yellow-golden, red, brown, blue and green, as well as in many different
forms, such as sand and flour, allowing it to be used in a wide range of applications.

Besides being used as a gemstone for over 2,000 years, zircon also serves in ceramics, precision casting,
refractories, catalysts, fuel cells, fibre optics, nuclear power generation, water treatment and medical prosthetics.
Zircon’s wide-range applications are highly present in home, construction and design, as well as home
appliances. The medical sector is also using zircon in diagnosis and treatment, including oxygen sensors, dental
parts, medical implants and biocompatible devices, drug delivery and bioimaging.

The largest end-use industry for zircon usage is ceramics, accounting for around 55% of all zircon used
globally. Zircon sand’s properties, such as the ability to bind with all organic and inorganic sand binders, low
acidity, low thermal expansion coefficient and high spatial stability at increased temperatures, are highly valued
in the ceramics industry. Within the industry, zircon is mainly used as a raw material in the production of
ceramic bodies, glazes, enamels, frits and pigments, such as wall and floor ceramic tiles, porcelain tiles,
sanitaryware, bathroom basins, dinnerware and industrial tiles. In advanced ceramic applications, such as
electro-ceramics, structural ceramics, pump components and biocompatible devices, zircon is used as a raw
material for the production of fused and chemically derived zirconia.

Due to zircon’s temperature stability, zircon sand is also used widely in the foundry industry in the form of sand
and flour (milled sand) for casting and refractory applications. Its properties make it ideal for sand and
investment casting and as a mould coating in die casting processes. In refractory paints and washes, zircon is
used to reduce the wettability of other foundry sands.

Besides its traditional uses, zircon is also becoming popular in novel high-tech applications, with demand for
zircon growing faster than in the traditional zircon markets. In this sector, zircon is used in manufacturing of 3D
printing, semiconductors, solar cells, implants, fuel cells and batteries, share memory alloys and coating and
catalysis.

The global zircon market is a highly consolidated one, with the top five companies accounting for around 70%
of the global production and the majority of the production being based in Asia-Pacific and Africa. However,
there is currently a general lack of quality mineral sand projects, particularly in high zircon assemblage, and a
depletion of existing operations.
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The Group’s deposits address this deficit of high-quality mineral sands projects. Zircon from the Mandiri
Project ranked among the highest grade for current major mineral sands operations and projects globally. The
Mandiri (highest assemblage amongst peer group) and Tisma Projects’ combined assemblage of JORC
compliant zircon resources with 70% zircon content are in terms of contained zircon amongst the largest mineral
sand targets in the world, as per the Company’s analysis, on competitors’ published JORC reports. Therefore,
according to publicly available information during the financial year ended 31 December 2020, the Group was
positioned as the 2nd largest publicly traded producing mineral sands company based on zircon resources with a
JORC compliant mineral resource of 263.5 Mt.

The global zirconium market was estimated at US$1,820m in 2020° and the expected Revenue CAGR for the
period 2021-2026 is over 5%, with China expected to witness the fastest CAGR for the 5-year period®.

The zircon market is segmented by:

. Occurrence type: zircon, zirconia, other occurrence types;
. Application/product type: zircon flour/sand, zircon opacifier, refractories, zircon chemicals and zircon
metal; and

. Geography:
1. Production: Australia, Brazil, China, Indonesia, South Africa, Ukraine, rest of the world; and
ii. Consumption: China, United States, Japan, European Union, India, Russia, rest of the world.

The majority of zircon consumption occurs in the Asia-Pacific and European region. The Asia-Pacific accounts
for the dominant share of zircon demand, with China dominating the demand in the region and globally.

China has been a major consumer and exporter of ceramics globally, as well as the largest consumer and
producer of ceramic tiles, accounting for more than 50% of the global consumption. Moreover, growth in
production of iron and steel in the country has been driving the growth of the refractories market, and
consequently zircon’s demand. The growth of these industries, the rise in investments in the construction
industry and China’s increasing focus on the development of nuclear power resources are expected to further
increase the demand for zirconium in the following years.

Zircon demand weakened in late 2019 and the first half of 2020. US-China trade tension and Covid-19
pandemic created disruptions to operations and reduced buying interest, leading to a decrease in exports and
consumption. However, with Chinese zircon consumers resuming operations from April 2020, zircon demand
has started to rise again.

On the supply side, zircon’s largest producers had to cut down on their production and output in order to react
to the regional Covid-19 lockdowns around the world and also to try and balance supply. Moreover, existing
reserves are being depleted and only a few large deposits have entered the market over the last two decades.

These factors have led to a strong price increase in zircon industry during Q1 2021, with the main zircon sand
producers increasing their prices by US$70/mt, followed by a Q2 2021 increase of US$75/mt. The increase in
zircon sand pricing has been supported by a strong zircon demand, which cannot be covered due to a substantial
zircon supply gap globally. The zircon market is a highly consolidated one and the absence of quality mineral
sand projects with high zircon assemblage are forecasted to lead to a zircon supply deficit for the following
years. Therefore, further upward pressure to zircon prices is expected to continue, leading to a robust zircon
price environment for the near future®.

3 “Zirconium Market — Growth, Trends, Covid-19 Impact, And Forecasts (2021-2026)”, Mordor Intelligence
4 “Global Zirconium Market (2020 to 2025) — Growth, Trends, and Forecast”, Businesswire
> “Zirconium Market Update 2020” & “Global supply chain issues continue in Q2 20217, www.zircomet.com
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INDONESIA

Indonesia is the largest economy in Southeast Asia, rich with natural resources, mainly mineral ore
commodities. With the country being a key mineral supplier to the global market, the mining industry has
attracted many investors from China, India, Russia and South Korea. The mining and mineral industries have
been one of the most important sectors to drive Indonesia’s economic growth, by promoting the Indonesian
export sector and establishing economic development in remote regions.

Since 1998, the mining sector has undergone considerable changes in policies and regulatory framework, as a
result of the Indonesian democratisation and the application of greater regional autonomy and government
decentralisation. The more democratic environment of the country has provided room for the mining activities
to increase, at the same time, however, regional communities started to demand greater benefits from the mining
industry, in order to maximise revenue and economic development.

The country’s legal system is a Civil Law system, mixed with customary law and the Roman Dutch law. Its
procedures are entirely different to those of the Common Law system, found in England, Australia and other
former British colonies.

MINERAL LEGISLATION AND REGULATORY ENVIRONMENT

Mining activities in Indonesia are governed under the Law on Mineral and Coal Mining No. 4 of 2009, dated 12
January 2009 (the “Mining Law”) and its implementing regulations, which was further amended on 12 May

2020 (“2020 Mining Law Amendment”).

Under the 2020 Mining Law Amendment, mineral and coal commodities are controlled only by the central
government, whereas before the amendment, they were controlled by the central and/or regional governments.

Moreover, business mining licences are issued by the central government, however, the 2020 Mining Law
Amendment allows the central government to delegate the issuance of the licenses to either the relevant regent/
mayor or the regional governor (head of a province).

Mining licenses based on the 2020 Mining Law Amendment are divided into the following types:

i Mining Business Permit (Izin Usaha Pertambangan or “IUP”);

ii. Special Mining Business Permit (Izin Usaha Pertambangan Khusus or “IUPK”);

iii.  IUPK for the continuity of Contract of Work or Coal Contract of Work (IUPK for Continuity of
Operations of Contract/Agreement);

iv. Community Mining Permit (Izin Pertambangan Rakyat or IPR);

v. Rock mining permission letter (Surat Izin Penambangan Batuan or SIPB);

vi. Assignment permit (Izin Penugasan);

vii.  Transportation and Sale license (Izin Penangkutan dan Penjualan);

viii. Mining service business license (Izin Usaha Jasa Pertambangan or IUJP); and

iX. IUP for sales (Izin Usaha Pertambangan Untuk Penjualan).

— 59 —



There are two types of mining licences for the exploration and extraction of mineral resources under the Mining
Law, the Exploration IUP (Wilayah Izin Usaha Pertambangan) (“WIUP”) and the Production Operation [UP. An
Exploration IUP must be obtained by a mining company before conducting exploration activities, general
surveys and feasibility studies, while a Production Operation IUP must be obtained so that the mining company
can proceed with the production operation stage after completing the exploration activities under the
Exploration TUP. Both licenses were issued by the local/regional government, but under the 2020 Mining Law
Amendment the issuer is Central Government.

The validity for the Exploration IUP for metal minerals can be up to eight years in total, for non-metallic
minerals up to three years and for specific non-metallic minerals (such as limestone, diamonds and precious
stones) up to seven years. The validity for the Production Operation IUP for metal minerals and specific
non-metallic minerals is up to twenty years, with a possibility of being extended twice for a ten-year period and
for the non-metal minerals up to ten years, with a possibility of an extension for two five-year periods.

The activity of processing or refining can only be done by mining companies that have Production Operation
IUP or Production Operation IUP Specifically for Processing and/or Refining or Production Operation TUP. The
Government of Indonesia does not impose specific restrictions on the processing of the extracted mineral
resources; however they encourage mining companies to process, extract or refine the minerals domestically up
to certain purity levels.

The 2009 Mining Law imposed the following restrictions on companies holding mining licences: (i) mining
licences cannot be used to conduct mining activities that are beyond the activities stipulated in the licence; (i)
cannot be assigned to other parties; and (iii) the transfer of ownership and/or shares of mining companies on the
Indonesian stock exchange can only be done after at least two prospect areas have been found during the
exploration activities.

Previously the 2009 Mining Law, prohibited the transfer of a mining license to another party, however the
holder of the license could transfer the license to its subsidiary, provided that the TUP holder holds at least 51%
of the shares in that transfer.

The 2020 Mining Law Amendment allows transfer of IUP/IUPK subject to approval from the Ministry of
Energy and Mineral Resources. The approval will be given if the TUP or IUPK holders satisfy the following
requirements: (a) the holders have completed the exploration as evidenced by the availability of resources and
reserve data and (b) the holders satisfy administrative, technical and financial requirements

The Mining Law capped the size of mining operations under a single permit in Indonesia to 15,000 hectares
(37,000 acres). The 2020 reform of the law has removed this limit, allowing mining areas to expand. Another
change introduced was the automatic renewal of mining contracts. A key provision under the previous las was
that the government may not immediately extend expired mining contracts without offering the concessions to
state-owned companies first. Under last year’s reform, companies holding a mining licence is allowed to
automatically renew it two more times for twenty years.

Another notable change is the divestment requirements. Under the 2009 Mining law, holders of TUP and IUPK
licenses were required to divest their foreign ownership to the central or regional government after 5 years of
production. The implementing regulation of the 2009 Mining Law required the divestment to so that in the 10th
year, 51% of the shares would be held by an Indonesian shareholder.

Now, under the new law there is no mentioning of the 5-10-year gradual transfer, however the foreign
investment company are still required to divest 51% of their shares gradually. Thus, unless regulated further by
government regulation the term gradual remain uncertain and may star anytime at Company’s discretion.

The 2020 Mining Law Amendment does not mention when the divesture requirements shall commence and

when they shall be completed. The aforesaid issue would normally be further specified under new implementing
regulations.
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Liabilities

Under Article 128 of the 2020 Mining Law Amendment IUP licence holders are required to pay state and local
revenues.

State revenues consist of tax revenues and non-tax state revenues.
. Tax revenue consists of’:

(a) taxes under the authority of the Central Government in accordance with the provisions of the
legislation in the field of taxation; and

(b)  customs and excise in accordance with the provisions of legislation in the field of customs and
excise.

. Non-tax state revenue consists of:
(a) a fixed fee;
(b)  production fee;
(c) information data compensation; and
(d)  other legal non-tax state revenue based on the provisions of laws and regulations.
Local revenue consists of:
(a) local tax;
(b)  regional retribution;
(c)  community mining fees; and
(d)  other legitimate regional income based on the provisions of the legislation.

Under the 2020 Mining Law Amendment there is no more production fees if during the exploration phase
mineral were discovered and extracted.

Environmental Regulation

Environmental protection in Indonesia is governed under the Environmental Law (Law No. 32 of 2009 on
Environmental Protection and Management). Under the Environmental Law, any company with substantial
impact to the environment must have an Environmental Impact Analysis (locally known as the Analisis
Mengenai Dampak Lingkungan) (“AMDAL”), which allows the relevant authority to issue a decree on the
environmental feasibility.

Mining companies are required to have an AMDAL on their application in order to be eligible to be granted an
IUP. Moreover, since the Government Regulation No. 101 of 2014 concerning Management of Hazardous and
Toxic Material Waste classifies waste resulting from mining activities as hazardous and toxic material waste,
mining companies are required to also obtain a licence from the relevant authority for waste management.
Under Article 99 of Law No 3/2020:

. the holder of Ming Business License is obliged to prepare and submit a Reclamation plan and/or
Post-mining plan;

. the implementation of Reclamation and Post-mining is carried out in accordance with the allocated
Post-mining land.

In the implementation of Reclamation, which has to be carried out throughout the stages of the Mining
Business, the holder of Mining Business License is obliged to:

(a)  establish balance between the land to be cleared and the reclaimed land; and

(b)  manage the final ex-mining pit with the widest limit in accordance with the prevailing regulation.
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Part 8
Directors and Corporate Governance

The Directors are responsible for the overall management of the Company and there are no other persons who
manage the Company or its investments or will review the operations of the Group.

Name Age Position Appointment
Oliver B. Hasler 57 Chairman & Chief Executive Officer 31 January 2020
Gary J. Artmont 72 Non-Executive Director 31 January 2020
Bakhos Georges 66 Non-Executive Director 31 January 2020
Alvin Tan 50 Non-Executive Director 25 May 2000

The management expertise and experience of each of the Directors is set out below:
OLIVER B. HASLER, CHAIRMAN & CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Oliver is an accomplished Chief Executive, president and board member successfully leading world-class
businesses and brands spanning multiple industries and markets, including natural resources, agroindustry,
innovative manufacturing and various industrial sectors.

He led the successful transformation of the publicly traded Spanish packaging company, Europac Group, in a
short span of 3 years into a mid-cap company which was then acquired for a value exceeding US$2 billion.
Major projects that Oliver has participated in include a revision to the strategy of the Professional Division of
Douwe Egberts, which is headquartered in the Netherlands, and its joint venture with U.S.-based Mondelez, and
the restructuring of France’s Arc International.

Oliver has over 20 years’ experience of doing business in Asia, where he has built and operated factories, as
well as setting up distribution networks throughout the region while managing significant export and import
operations.

Oliver’s experience in the natural resources sector comes from his previous role as CEO of Europac, Spain
(2015-2018) through the operation of a foresting business to supply the group’s kraftliner paper production.
Europac Group has 27 industrial plants in Portugal, France and Spain, which directly create 2,300 jobs with a
turnover of 1.2 billion euros per annum. Europac is the only manufacturer of kraftliner paper and coated paper
in southern Europe, and the leading supplier of packaging in Portugal and the fourth largest supplier in France
and the Iberian Peninsula. The group is also the leading recovered paper manager in Portugal.

Oliver is a Swiss citizen with a degree in Materials Engineering and a master’s degree in Metallurgy from the
Federal Institute of Technology in Zurich, Switzerland and an MBA with Honors from the Universidad
Iberoamericana in Mexico City. He is fluent in English, German, Spanish and French.

GARY J. ARTMONT, NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Gary has 46 years of experience in the mining business operating in 21 countries and is familiar with all aspects
of mineral exploration from grassroots to project pre-feasibility studies through to mining operations.

Gary is a fellow of the Australasian Institute of Mining and Metallurgy, AusIMM”#312718 qualified to write Ni
43-101 or JORC Competent Person reports. He is experienced in the management of large multifaceted regional
and detailed exploration programs in overseas locations with 14 years working in tropical environments.

Gary has worked as a geologist and project manager for multiple organizations over the past four decades,
including Geostar Consulting. Rio Tinto, PT Pelsart Indonesia, PT Freeport Indonesia and Ivanhoe Mining

China.

Gary received a bachelor’s degree from Waterloo University, Ontario.
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BAKHOS GEORGES, NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Bakhos has more than 40 years of experience in management and operation in the wholesale, retail and
pharmaceutical sectors with significant direct involvement in internationally focused import and export
operations.

Bakhos has received the Order of Australia Medal (OAM) in 2019 for service to the community. He currently
serves as Director of Saint Charbel’s Aged Care Centre and is a Justice of the Peace (JP) in and for the State of
New South Wales.

Bakhos received a B.Ph.Chem from University of Santa Maria in Caracas, Venezuela in 1982.
ALVIN TAN, NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Alvin has over 25 years’ corporate experience, including mergers, acquisitions, capital raisings and listings on
the Australian Stock Exchange (ASX), the AIM market of the London Stock Exchange, Kuala Lumpur Stock
Exchange (KLSE) and the German Stock Exchange.

Alvin studied at the University of Western Australia, gaining a Bachelor of Commerce with honours, and
subsequently was employed by KPMG in Kuala Lumpur from 1993-1995 as a financial consultant. Returning to
Australia, Alvin worked with the stockbroking firm of DJ Carmichael before pursuing other business interests.
He was a founding director of various companies which are now listed on the ASX. Alvin served on the board
of ASX listed Advanced Share Registries Ltd and previously listed BKM Management Ltd. He also has interests
in companies in technology, mining, exploration, property development, plantation and corporate services both
in Australia and overseas.

During the past three years Alvin held the following directorships in other ASX listed companies: Non-
Executive Director of Advanced Share Registry Ltd (11 September 2007-6 October 2020) and previously listed
BKM Management Limited (5 February 2002—Current).

SENIOR MANAGERS
The Senior Management is responsible for the day-to-day management of the business, operations and

implementation of the Group’s strategy. The following table lists the names, positions and ages of the Senior
Management and the date that they were each appointed:

Name Age Position Appointment
Louisa Martino 51 Company secretary 8 August 2012
Choi Wan Tsang 57 Senior Financial Controller 20 November 2019

The management expertise and experience of each of the Senior Managers is set out below:
LOUISA MARTINO, COMPANY SECRETARY

Louisa has provided company secretarial and accounting services through Indian Ocean Capital Pty Ltd for over
9 years. Prior to this, she was the Chief Financial Officer of a private company during its stage of seeking
investor financing.

Louisa has worked in corporate finance, assisting with company compliance (ASIC and ASX) and capital
raising. She has also worked for a major accounting firm in its offices in Perth, London and Sydney offices,
providing corporate advisory services on IPOs and M&A transactions and performing due diligence. Louisa’s
working experience includes working for the Business Development Division of a government organisation,
where she reviewed business opportunities for companies seeking Government funding.
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She has a Bachelor of Commerce from the University of Western Australia, is a member of Chartered
Accountants Australia and New Zealand, a member of the Financial Services Institute of Australasia (FINSIA)
and a Fellow of the Governance Institute Australia.

CHOI WAN (QUEENIE) TSANG, SENIOR FINANCIAL CONTROLLER

Queenie has over 30 years’ of auditing and accounting experience. She started her career as an auditor with
Deloitte and subsequently joined a few multinational corporations and listed companies including LSI Logic
Corporation, Otis Elevator, and Sigma Elevator (formerly LG Elevator) with increasing responsibilities and
regional exposure.

Prior to joining the Company, Queenie was the General Manager of Finance and Accounting of Asia Minerals
Limited (AML), a Hong Kong based mining group of companies producing manganese and manganese alloys.
As Head of Finance, she supervised the accounting and finance teams of the Group in Hong Kong, China, Japan,
Malaysia, Ukraine and South Africa.

Queenie has a Masters degree in Business Administration from the University of Hong Kong, a Bachelor degree
of Business Administration in Accounting from the Hong Kong Baptist University and is a member of the
American Institute of Certified Public Accountant since 1999.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Board meets at least three times per annum and develops strategies for the Group, reviews strategic
objectives and monitors performance against the corporate governance objectives, as mentioned below:

. maintain and increase Shareholder value;
. ensure a prudential and ethical basis for the for the Group’s conduct and activities; and
. ensure compliance with the Group’s legal and regulatory objectives.

In order to be consistent with these goals, the Board assumes the following responsibilities:

. to develop initiatives for profit and asset growth;

. to review the corporate, commercial and financial performance of the Group on a regular basis;

. to act on behalf of, and being accountable to, the Shareholders; and

. to identify business risks and implementing actions to manage those risks and corporate systems to assure
quality.

The Board is responsible for the corporate governance of the Group and has developed policies to ensure that an
appropriate level of corporate governance is in place. The Group’s corporate governance system is reviewed
regularly by the Board to ensure that it fulfils the needs of the Shareholders.

The Group has adopted comprehensive systems of control and accountability as the basis for administration of
corporate governance. The Board is committed to administering the policies and procedures with openness and
integrity, pursuing the true spirit of corporate governance commensurate with the Group’s needs.

The Board is committed to best practice corporate governance. To the extent applicable, the Group has adopted
the ASX Corporate Governance Principles and Recommendations (4th Edition) (“ASX Principles”) as published
by ASX Corporate Governance Council. In light of the Group’s size and nature, the Board considers the current
board a cost effective and practical method of directing and managing the Group. As the Group’s activities
develop in size, nature and scope, the size of the Board and the implementation of additional corporate
governance policies and structures will be reviewed. The Group’s corporate governance documents are available
on its website.
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In order to comply with the ASX Principles, the Company has put in place the following policies, some of
which are summarised below and all of which may be found on the Company’s website:

° Corporate governance statement;

. Board Charter;

o Code of conduct;

. Disclosure policy;

. Diversity policy;

. Board performance evaluation;

. Procedures for selection and appointment of directors;
. Risk management policy;

. Securities trading policy;

. Anti-bribery and corruption policy;

. Whistleblowing policy;

J Audit committee charter;
. Remuneration Nomination committee charter;
. Health, Safety and Environment policy; and

. Anti-Slavery and Human Trafficking policy.

BOARD CHARTER

The Company will report any departures from the Recommendations in its annual financial report as part of its
Corporate Governance Statement.

The Company’s departures from the Recommendations are set out below:

. Best Practice Recommendation 1.5: Set measurable objectives for achieving gender diversity in the
composition of the entity’s board, senior executives and workforce generally and disclose in relation to
each reporting period the measurable objectives set for that period to achieve diversity and the entity’s
progress towards achieving those objectives.

Nature and Explanation: The Company’s general policy when choosing Employees and Board members is

to recruit and manage on the basis of competence and performance regardless of age, nationality, race,
gender, religious beliefs, sexuality, physical ability or cultural background.
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. Best Practice Recommendation 2.5: The chair of the board of a listed entity should be an independent
director and, in particular, should not be the same person as the CEO of the entity.

Nature and Explanation: Mr. Oliver B. Hasler is the chairman and chief executive officer of the
Company. The Company is mindful of the need to have strong independent Board representation and
anticipates that as the Company grows and its Projects expand it will be appropriate to appoint an
independent nonexecutive as chairman, either from the existing Directors or via a new appointment.

NSX CORPORATE GOVERNANCE POLICIES & PROCEDURES

The NSX has developed suggested content for corporate governance policies and procedures which is set out on
NSX’s Practice Note 14.

COMPOSITION OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS
The Board currently comprises three non-executive directors and one executive director.

Any director appointed to the Board by the Directors will only hold office until the next following annual
general meeting of the Company, and shall then be eligible for re-election. Under the Constitution, all directors
retire from office no later than the longer of the third annual general meeting, or three years, following that
director’s last election or appointment. Any Director who retires in accordance with the Constitution is eligible
for re-election at a general meeting of members.

The composition of the Board will be reviewed regularly to ensure that the Board has the appropriate mix of
expertise and experience. The Constitution provides that the number of directors that may be appointed cannot
be fewer than three or greater than nine. Two directors present and entitled to vote at a board meeting will
constitute a quorum.

The Board is responsible for the corporate governance of the Company, and has developed policies to ensure
that an appropriate level of corporate governance is in place. The Company’s corporate governance system is
reviewed regularly by the Board to ensure that it fulfils the needs of Shareholders.

However, subject thereto, the Company is committed to the following principles:

. the Board is to comprise persons with a blend of skills, experience and attributes appropriate for the
Company and its business; and

. the principal criterion for the appointment of new directors is their ability to add value to the Company
and its business.

Each Director has confirmed to the Company that he anticipates being available to perform his or her duties as a
non-executive director or executive director without constraint from other commitments.

The Directors consider an independent Director to be a non-executive director who is free of any interest,
position, association or relationship that might influence, or reasonably be perceived to influence his or her
capacity to bring an independent judgement to bear on issues before the Board and to act in the best interests of
the Company and its security holders generally. The Directors will consider the materiality of any given
relationship on a case-by-case basis and reviews the independence of each Director in light of interests disclosed
to the Board from time to time.

Mr. Artmont, Georges and Tan are considered to be independent directors.

The Board meets formally at least three times per annum and whenever necessary to deal with other matters
which may arise between scheduled meetings.
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The Company’s Board Charter sets out guidelines of materiality for the purpose of determining independence of
Directors and has adopted a definition of independence that is based on that set out in the Corporate Governance
Council’s Principles and Recommendations (4th edition).

The Board will consider whether there are any factors or considerations which may mean that a Director’s
interest, position, association or relationship might influence, or reasonably be perceived to influence, the
capacity of the Director to bring an independent judgement to bear on issues before the Board and to act in the
best interests of the Company and its Shareholders generally.

IDENTIFICATION AND MANAGEMENT RISK

The Board’s collective experience enables accurate identification of the principal risks that may affect the
Group’s business. Key operational risks and their management are recurring items for deliberation at Board
meetings.

The Board is responsible for overseeing the establishment of and approving risk management strategies,
policies, procedures and systems of the Group. The Group’s management is responsible for establishing the
Group’s risk management framework.

The Group regularly undertakes reviews of its risk management procedures to ensure that it complies with its
legal obligations, including assisting the Chief Executive Officer or Senior Financial Officer to provide required
declarations.

ETHICAL STANDARDS

The Group carries on business honestly and fairly, acting only in ways that reflect well on the Group and in
compliance with all laws and regulations.

The Board has adopted a policy document which outlines employees’ obligations of compliance with the Code
of Conduct and explains how the Code interacts with the Group’s other corporate governance policies. The
responsibilities incorporated in the Code of Conduct include protection of the Group’s business, using the
Group’s resources in an appropriate manner, protecting confidential information and avoiding conflicts of
interest.

INDEPENDENT PROFESSIONAL ADVICE

Subject to the Chairman’s approval (not to be unreasonably withheld), the Directors, at the Company’s expense,
may obtain independent professional advice on issues arising in the course of their duties.

SECURITIES TRADING POLICY

On Admission, the Company will adopt the Securities Trading Policy for Directors, senior managers and
employees in relation to securities dealings which is appropriate for a company with securities traded on the
Main Market and the NSX.

Under the Securities Trading Policy, Directors and employees are prohibited from dealing in the Company’s
securities if they have in their possession information that they know, or ought reasonably to know, is inside

information.

The Securities Trading Policy sets out a notification procedure which is required to be followed prior to any
dealing in the Company’s securities.
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EXTERNAL AUDIT

The Company in general meetings is responsible for the appointment of the external auditors of the Company,
and the Board from time to time will review the scope, performance and fees of those external auditors.

COMMITTEES
Audit Committee

The Audit Committee is comprised of Alvin Tan (Chair), Oliver B. Hasler, Gary J. Artmont and Bakhos
Georges (Members).

The Company has adopted an Audit Committee Charter. The Audit Committee assists the Company in meeting
its financial reporting obligations and other tasks, including but not limited to, monitoring and reviewing any
matters of significance affecting financial reporting and compliance, the integrity of the financial reporting of
the Company, the Company’s internal financial control system and risk management systems and the external
audit function.

Remuneration Nomination Committee

The Remuneration Nomination committee is comprised of Gary J. Artmont (Chair), Oliver B. Hasler, Alvin Tan
and Bakhos Georges (Members).

The Board has adopted a Remuneration Nomination Committee Charter to assist with remuneration of Directors,
executives and key employees. The Company recognises that formal and transparent remuneration and
nomination policies assist in promoting understanding and confidence in remuneration and nomination
decisions.

The Company has established a remuneration nomination charter that states:

. non-executive Directors are to receive fees which are determined by the Board within the aggregate limit
set by the shareholders at a general meeting; and

. executive Directors’ remuneration is determined by the Board with reference to current market rates and
remuneration paid to executives in comparable listed companies determined by the size and nature of
operations.

Remuneration levels are set by the Board in accordance with industry standards to attract suitable qualified and
experienced directors and senior management. The process of periodically evaluating the performance of the
board, its committees and individual directors and senior executives is set out in the Company’s Process for
Performance Evaluations policy. Performance evaluations have been completed for the December 2020 financial

year.

In relation to Board nominations, the Committee reviews and makes recommendations to the Board in relation
to:

(a)  Board succession planning generally;
(b)  induction and continuing professional development programs for directors;

(c)  the development and implementation of a process for evaluating the performance of the Board, its
committees and directors;
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(d)

the process for recruiting a new director, including evaluating the balance of skills, knowledge,
experience, independence and diversity on the Board and, in the light of this evaluation, preparing a
description of the role and capabilities required for a particular appointment;

(e) the appointment and re-election of directors; and

) ensuring there are plans in place to manage the succession of the Managing Director and other senior
executives.

HSE POLICY

The Company is committed to operating its business in a responsible and appropriate manner, that protects the

environment and ensures the safety of its employees and contractors and protects the members of the

communities in which it operates.

The purpose of the HSE Policy is to assist the Company and its Directors to monitor and review the health,

safety, environmental and sustainable development policies, principles, practices and processes, and monitor and

review current and future regulatory issues relating to health, safety, the environment and sustainable

development.

The Company is committed to, and the Board will monitor and review the Company’s compliance with, the

following principles and practices including but not limited to:

Acknowledging that the management of health, safety, and environmental issues is an integral part of the
Company’s business, and should be incorporated into business planning and decision making processes.

Implementing and maintaining a systematic approach to risk management in order to achieve the
objectives outlined in the HSE Policy.

The Company and its subsidiaries complying with all applicable laws and regulations as a minimum
standard, and applying responsible standards consistent with the principles and policies outlined in this

policy where laws do not exist.

Working collaboratively and proactively with stakeholders to develop and advance effective approaches
to HSE management, and communicating openly on HSE related issues.

Continuously seeking ways to minimize the impact of the Group’s exploration and production activities
on the environment.

Continuously identifying, reporting and evaluating risks, threats, hazards and impacts to company
operations that have the potential to adversely affect the environment or the health, safety and security of
employees, contractors or the community, and implementing appropriate control and contingency
measures to minimise and manage them to a responsible level.

Monitoring, reviewing and setting targets for ongoing improved HSE performance.

Committing to employee participation in the Health and Safety process and welcoming the opportunities
presented by Employee Forums to expedite the high standards the HSE Policy represents.

Providing sufficient and competent human resources to manage the Company’s HSE commitments.
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. Selecting and engaging contractors and suppliers whose HSE management systems are acceptable to the
Company and consistent with the principles and policies outlined in the policy.

. Including a HSE performance assessment and requiring a demonstration of continuous commitment to the
principles and policies outlined in the policy in the appraisal of the Company’s personnel and suppliers.

. Providing training, instruction and supervision to personnel to enable them to attain the knowledge and
skill levels necessary to perform their work incident free.

. Committing to re-use waste as much as is economically feasible to minimise the amounts of waste.

RISK MANAGEMENT POLICY

The Company’s Risk Management Policy provides a framework to identify, assess, monitor, and manage the
risks associated with the Company’s business.

In accordance with the Risk Management Policy, the Board assessed the need to form a risk committee in
conjunction with the necessity to form an audit committee, established on 27 March 2020.

The Risk Management Policy identifies that the Company will regularly consider the following main areas of
risk to the Company:

(a)  exploration and development;

(b)  fluctuating commodity prices and exchange rates;

(c)  political and economic climate in its areas of operation; and

(d)  continuous disclosure obligations.

The Company adopted an internal control framework to assist the Board in identifying, assessing, monitoring
and managing risk. The framework includes financial reporting, continuous disclosure, regular operations
reviews and investment appraisals.

ANTI-BRIBERY AND CORRUPTION POLICY

The Group has adopted an anti-bribery and corruption policy to ensure the Company conducts all business
fairly, honestly and openly by ensuring compliance with all applicable anti-corruption laws and regulations, and
to ensure that the Company conduct business in a socially responsible manner. The policy sets out the
responsibilities of the Company, the Board, the Company personnel and the Company’s associated persons. The
policy specifically addresses facilitation payments or gifts and hospitality, dealings with public officials,
political donations, and charitable donations.

DIVERSITY POLICY

The Board has adopted a diversity policy. The Company aims to achieve, amongst other things, a diverse and
skilled workforce, a workplace culture characterised by inclusive practices and behaviours for the benefit of all
staff, improved employment and career development opportunities for women and a work environment that
values and utilises the contributions of employees with diverse backgrounds, experiences and perspectives.
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Part 9
Historical Financial Information

OVERVIEW OF THE PRESENTATION OF THE HISTORICAL FINANCIAL INFORMATION

The Group has a complex financial history and this Document contains several financial sections, each including
audited historical financial information of the constituent parts of the Group which, as at the date of this
Document, comprise:

. the Company (incorporated on 19 March 1996);

. the Takmur Group, being:
. Takmur Pte Ltd (incorporated on 28 June 2018);
. PT AUM (incorporated on 15 March 2018); and
. PT IM (incorporated on 27 February 2012).

. the Tisma Group, being:
. Tisma Development HK Limited (incorporated on 27 September 2018);
. PT TIA (incorporated on 13 October 2018); and
. PT TGN (incorporated on 25 July 2005).

Set out below is an overview of the history of the Group, setting out how and when the constituent parts of the
Group have come together, together with how the following sections of Part 9 “Historical Financial
Information” of this Document set out the historical performance of the constituent parts of the Group.

SUMMARY HISTORY OF THE GROUP

As at the date of this Document, the Group comprises the Company, the Takmur Group and the Tisma Group
and, as such, this Document includes historical financial information for each of these entities and sub-groups.
During the period covered by the historical financial information included in this Document:

Formation of the Takmur Group

The oldest constituent member of the Takmur Group is PT IM, incorporated on 27 February 2012. PT AUM was
incorporated on 15 March 2018 and both PT IM and PT AUM traded as separate entities until 10 January 2019,
when PT AUM acquired PT IM. Following its incorporation on 28 June 2018, Takmur Pte Ltd traded separately
until it acquired PT AUM on 24 January 2019, thereby forming the Takmur Group.

Formation of the Tisma Group

The oldest constituent member of the Tisma Group is PT TGN, incorporated on 25 July 2005. Tisma
Development HK Limited was incorporated on 27 September 2018 and incorporated PT TIA as a wholly-owned
subsidiary on 13 October 2018. Both PT TGN and Tisma Development HK Limited (plus PT TIA) traded as
separate entities until 15 January 2019, when Tisma Development HK Limited acquired PT TGN, thereby
forming the Tisma Group.

Reverse Acquisition of the Company by Takmur Pte Ltd
Takmur Pte Ltd acquired the Company through a reverse acquisition business combination on 31 January 2020

which resulted in the Company becoming a legal parent to the new group and Takmur becoming the accounting
acquirer.
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Acquisition of the Tisma Group by the Company

The Company, as enlarged by the acquisition of the Takmur Group, subsequently acquired Tisma Development
HK Limited on 15 February 2021.

Following the above, the constituent parts formally comprised the Group with effect from 15 February 2021.
PRESENTATION OF THE HISTORICAL FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Given the complex financial history of the Group, the Prospectus Regulation requires that the last three years of
audited financial information for each constituent part of the Group be included in this Document. To comply

with the Prospectus Regulation, the following historical financial information has been presented:

Key:

Company

Takmur Group companies

Tisma Group companies

2017 2018 2019 2020 2021
Company A1
(Incorporated 19 March 1996) A2
A3
| A4
I AS I
[ A I
Takmur Pte Ltd | A1
(Incorporated 28 June 2018) | A2 |
A3
I B I
B2
PT AUM A1l
(Incorporated 15 March 2018) I A2 I
A3
[ B I
C1
PT IM I—A1
(Incorporated 27 Feb 2012) [ A2 |
A3
[ B I
[o1]
[ 02 I
Tisma Development HK Ltd
(Incorporated 27 September 2018)
PT TIA
(Incorporated 13 October 2018)
PT TGN A1
(Incorporated 25 July 2005) E1
E2
E3
E

- 72 —



Section |Entity |Peri0d covered |Durati0n
Al Company 1 January 2021 — 30 June 2021 6 months
Al Takmur Group 1 January 2021 — 30 June 2021 6 months
|Tisma Group | 15 February 2021 — 30 June 2021 | 134 days
A2 Company 1 February 2020 — 31 December 2020 11 months
A2 Takmur Pte Ltd 1 January 2020 — 31 December 2020 12 months
PT AUM 1 January 2020 — 31 December 2020 12 months
PT IM 1 January 2020 — 31 December 2020 12 months
A3 Company 1 February 2020 — 30 June 2020 5 months
A3 Takmur Pte Ltd 1 July 2019 — 30 June 2020 12 months
PT AUM 1 July 2019 — 30 June 2020 12 months
PT IM 1 July 2019 — 30 June 2020 12 months
|A4 |C0mpany | 1 July 2019 — 31 January 2020 |7 months
A5 | Company [ 1 July 2018 — 30 June 2019 | 12 months
| A6 | Company [ 1 July 2017 - 30 June 2018 | 12 months
Bl Takmur Pte Ltd 1 January 2019 — 31 December 2019 12 months
PT AUM 10 January 2019 — 31 December 2019 356 days
PT IM 24 January 2019 — 31 December 2019 342 days
|B2 | Takmur Pte Ltd |28 June 2018 — 31 December 2018 | 187 days
|C1 |PT AUM | 1 January 2019 — 9 January 2019 | 9 days
|2 |PT AUM | 15 March 2018 — 31 December 2018 292 days
D1 |PT IM | 1 January 2019 - 23 January 2019 |23 days
|D2 |PT IM | 1 January 2018 — 31 December 2018 | 12 months

Tisma Development HK Limited |1 July 2020 — 15 February 2021

| 1 July 2020 — 15 February 2021

Tisma Development HK Limited |1 July 2019 — 30 June 2020 12 months

PT TIA 1 July 2019 — 30 June 2020 12 months

1 July 2019 — 30 June 2020 12 months

Tisma Development HK Limited |27 September 2018 — 30 June 2019 277 days

PT TIA 13 October 2018 — 30 June 2019 261 days

15 January 2019 — 30 June 2019 167 days

| 1 January 2018 — 15 January 2019 | 380 days
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ACCOUNTANT’S REPORT ON THE HISTORICAL FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF THE GROUP

8 November 2021

The Directors

PYX Resources Limited

No. 8 Queen’s Road Central, 6th Floor
Hong Kong

Dear Sirs,
Accountants Report on Historical Financial Information

We report on the historical financial information of PYX Resources Limited
(the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (together, the “Group”) for the periods
ended 31 December 2020, 31 December 2019, 31 December 2018 and 30
June 2021, 30 June 2020, 30 June 2019 and 30 June 2018 (together, the
“Historical Financial Information”) as set out in:

e Section A “Financial Information of PYX Resources Ltd”;

e Section B “Financial Information of Takmur Pte Ltd”;

e Section C “Financial Information of PT Andary Usaha Makmur”;
 Section D “Financial Information of PT Investasi Mandiri”; and
 Section E “Financial Information of Tisma Development HK”

e Section F “Financial Information of PT Tisma Global Nusantara”

of Part 9 “Historical Financial Information” of the Company’s prospectus
dated 8 November 2021 (the “Prospectus™).

Opinion on the Historical Financial Information

In our opinion, the Historical Financial Information gives, for the purpose
of the Prospectus, a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group as
at 31 December 2020, 31 December 2019, 31 December 2018 and 30 June
2021, 30 June 2020, 30 June 2019 and 30 June 2018 and of its losses, cash
flows, statement of comprehensive income and changes in equity for the
periods then ended in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and
International Financial Reporting Standards (together, “IFRS”).

Responsibilities

The directors of the Company (the “Directors”) are responsible for
preparing the Historical Financial Information on the basis of preparation
set out in the notes to the Historical Financial Information and in

accordance with IFRS.

It is our responsibility to form an opinion on the Historical Financial
Information and to report our opinion to you.
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Basis of Preparation

The Historical Financial Information has been prepared for inclusion in
Part 9 “Historical Financial Information” of the Prospectus, on the basis of
the accounting policies set out in note 2 to each section comprising the
Historical Financial Information. This report is given for the purpose of
complying with item 18.3.1 of Annex 1 to the UK version of Regulation
number 2019/980 of the European Commission, which is part of UK law by
virtue of the European Union (Withdrawal) Act 2018 (together, the
“Prospectus Regulation”), and is given for the purpose of complying with
that requirement and for no other purpose.

Basis of Opinion

We conducted our work in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards
applicable to assurance engagements. Specifically, our review was carried
out in accordance with Standards on Assurance Engagements ASAE 3420
and ASAE 3450. We are independent of the Company and the Group in
accordance with the FRC’s Ethical Standard as applied to Investment
Circular Reporting Engagements, and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with these requirements.

Our work included an assessment of evidence relevant to the amounts and
disclosures in the Historical Financial Information. It also included an
assessment of significant estimates and judgments made by those
responsible for the preparation of the Historical Financial Information and
whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the Company and
consistently applied and adequately disclosed.

We planned and performed our work so as to obtain all the information and
explanations which we considered necessary in order to provide us with
sufficient evidence to give reasonable assurance that the Historical
Financial Information is free from material misstatement whether caused by
fraud or other irregularity or error.

Declaration

For the purposes of Prospectus Regulation Rule 5.5.3R(2)(f) we are
responsible for this report as part of the Prospectus and declare that, to the
best of our knowledge, the information contained in this report, for which
we are responsible, is in accordance with the facts and that this report
makes no omission likely to affect its import. This declaration is included
in the Document in compliance with item 1.2 of Annex 1 to the Prospectus
Regulation.

Yours faithfully

David Kenney
HALL CHADWICK CORPORATE (NSW) LIMITED
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SECTION A: FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF PYX RESOURCES LTD

SECTION A1l: REVIEWED INTERIM FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF
PYX RESOURCES LTD (30 JUNE 2021)

AUDITOR’S INDEPENDENCE DECLARATION UNDER SECTION 307C OF THE
CORPORATIONS ACT 2001
TO THE DIRECTORS OF PYX RESOURCES LIMITED

Your directors present the Interim Financial Report of the Group for the Half-year ended 30 June 2021.

DIRECTORS

The names of directors who held office during or since the end of the Half-year:

Oliver B. Hasler Gary J Artmont
Bakhos Georges Alvin Tan

REVIEW OF OPERATIONS

The loss after income tax and other comprehensive income of the Group for the Half-year ended 30 June 2021
was US$1,134,608 (30 June 2020 loss: US$10,554,521).

During the Half-year, PYX sold 3,250 tonnes and produced 3,501 tonnes of premium zircon, resulting in a
year-on-year production increase of 25%. Sales volume has shown a strong year-on-year growth of 14%, while
maintaining a tight finished goods inventory. Customer demand continues to increase, showing particular
interest in PYX’s zircon due to its superior quality, making it ideal for producing fused zirconia. Fused zirconia
is used for different high-end zirconium metal products including electric vehicle batteries, technical ceramics,
electronics and specific parts for nuclear reactors.

When confronted with the COVID-19 crisis, the Company moved quickly, taking great care of the welfare of its
staff, contractors, and the communities it works with to ensure early preventive measures were put in place. As
a result of its actions, the Company can report that there have been no cases of COVID-19 at its operation or
offices.

ACQUISITION OF TISMA DEVELOPMENT (HK) LTD.

In February 2021, the Company completed the acquisition of Tisma Development (HK) Ltd. (Tisma), a
world-class mineral sands asset consisting of a concession area of 1,500 hectares located in Central Kalimantan
Province, Indonesia (Tisma Project). The Company acquired the entire share capital of Tisma via the issue of
147,277,370 Shares in PYX.

The acquisition resulted in a change of scale in the Company’s activities, an excellent strategic addition to the
Company’s resource base and a milestone in the consolidation of the Indonesian Mineral Sands mining business
converting PYX into the 2nd largest zircon producing project in the world in terms of JORC compliant zircon
resources. Tisma is fully licensed with an ITUP-OP permit allowing the mining, production and export of zircon.
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EXPLORING THE POSSIBILITY OF A DUAL LISTING ON THE MAIN MARKET OF THE LONDON
STOCK EXCHANGE

On May 25th PYX Resources announced that it is exploring a possible dual listing of the Company’s ordinary
shares on the Standard Segment of the Official List of the Financial Conduct Authority (“FCA”) and to trading
on the Main Market of the London Stock Exchange (“LSE”) (the “LSE Listing”).

The exploration of available listing options is driven by PYX’s increased interest and demand from family
offices and institutional investors in Europe. A potential LSE Listing would make it easier for our existing
shareholders to participate in the growth of the Company and its business, as well as enhancing the Company’s
share liquidity.

PYX appointed VSA Capital Limited (“VSA”), a natural resource focused investment banking and broking firm
as Financial Adviser and Broker in connection with the potential LSE Listing.

PRIVATE PLACEMENT

During the Half-year the Company raised US$8,447,656 (before administrative, legal and placement fees) via a
share placement to professional and sophisticated investors at US$0.77516 per share with approximately 10.9
million new fully-paid ordinary shares to be issued (“Placement”). The Placement was successfully closed on
Wednesday 23rd June 2021 and the shares rank equally with the Company’s existing shares on issue.

OFFTAKE AGREEMENTS

In March 2021, the Company announced that it had entered into a 3,600 tonnes two-year binding Offtake
Agreement with India-incorporated Microtech Zircon, a member of Delta Tiles, a group of companies which fall
under the brand name Geo Gres.

PRICE INCREASES

The Company also implemented three price increases for PYX’s premium zircon during the Half-year, resulting
in a US$355 per tonne increase during 2021 to date. The price increases reflect the general lack of premium
zircon supply globally due to continued supply issues in South Africa and low inventory levels in China, while
reduced Australian sales of Heavy Mineral Concentrate (HMC) to China have created a further void of premium
zircon in the market, leading to higher customer demand and, consequently, higher market prices. Indonesian
zircon prices have now reached their highest price point since 2013

AUDITOR’S INDEPENDENCE DECLARATION

The lead auditor’s independence declaration under s 307C of the Corporations Act 2001 is set out on page 78
for the Half-year ended 30 June 2021.

This directors’ report is signed in accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors.

Oliver Hasler
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Hong Kong
Dated: 1 September 2021
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PYX RESOURCES LIMITED
ABN 30 073 099 171
AND CONTROLLED ENTITIES

AUDITOR’S INDEPENDENCE DECLARATION
UNDER SECTION 307C OF THE CORPORATIONS ACT 2001
TO THE DIRECTORS OF PYX RESOURCES LIMITED

In accordance with section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001, I am pleased to provide the following
declaration of independence to the directors of PYX Resources Limited. As the lead audit partner for the review
of the financial report of PYX Resources Limited for the half year ended 30 June 2021, I declare that, to the
best of my knowledge and belief, there have been no contraventions of:

(1) the auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 in relation to the review; and
(i1) any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the review.
HALL CHADWICK (NSW)

Level 40, 2 Park Street
Sydney NSW 2000

DREW TOWNSEND
Partner
Dated: 1 September 2021
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

FOR THE HALF-YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021

Consolidated Group

Half-year Half-year
Ended Ended
30 June 2021 30 June 2020
Note US$ US$

Revenue 2 4,660,223 3,861,269
Other income 2 - 22,995
Cost of sales 3 (4,059,354) (3,125,159)
Selling and distribution expenses (354,684) (12,100)
Corporate and administrative expenses (1,488,908) (4,022,190)
Foreign exchange loss (15,781) (227,597)
Listing costs (206) (1,795,520)
Acquisition costs - (5,356,997)
Finance costs (5,861) (18,468)
Other expenses (88,259) -
Loss before income tax (1,352,830)  (10,673,767)
Income tax benefit 158,640 85,099
Net loss for the period (1,194,190) (10,588,668)
Other comprehensive income
Items that will be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss

when specific conditions are met
Exchange differences on translating foreign operations, net of tax 59,582 34,147
Total comprehensive income for the period (1,134,608)  (10,554,521)
Net loss attributable to:

— owners of the Parent Entity (637,735) (10,218,963)

— Non-controlling interest (556,455) (369,705)

(1,194,190)  (10,588,668)

Total comprehensive income attributable to:

— owners of the Parent Entity 13,791 (7,803)

— Non-controlling interest 45,791 41,950

59,582 34,147

Loss per share

Basic loss per share (US$ cents per share) (0.20) (9.18)

Diluted loss per share (US$ cents per share) (0.19) (8.05)

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.

- 79 —



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

AS AT 30 JUNE 2021

ASSETS

CURRENT ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents
Trade and other receivables
Advance to suppliers
Prepayments and deposits
Prepaid tax

Inventories

TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS

Non-CURRENT ASSETS

Right of use assets

Property, plant and equipment
Deferred tax assets

Deferred expenses

Intangible assets

TOTAL NON-CURRENT ASSETS

TOTAL ASSETS

LIABILITIES

CURRENT LIABILITIES

Trade and other payables

Lease liabilities

TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES

Non-CURRENT LIABILITIES
Lease liabilities
TOTAL NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES

TOTAL LIABILITIES

NET ASSETS

EQUITY

Issued capital
Reserves
Accumulated losses

Equity attributable to owners of the Parent Entity

Non-controlling interest

TOTAL EQUITY

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.

Note

10

Consolidated Group

As at As at

30 June 31 December
2021 2020

US$ US$
9,717,641 3,509,395
410,526 368,627
429,558 352,062
31,082 41,100
100,324 36,216
394,112 122,703
11,083,243 4,430,103
40,008 60,361
1,823,863 1,317,834
415,514 265,597
265,844 -
73,343,464 92,309
75,888,693 1,736,101
86,971,936 6,166,204
2,255,041 1,626,802
7,138 1,780
2,262,179 1,628,582
- 16,773

- 16,773
2,262,179 1,645,355
84,709,757 4,520,849
96,651,080 14,873,158
2,403,793 2,782,451

(13,514,783)

(12,877,048)

85,540,090 4,778,561
(830,333) (257,712)
84,709,757 4,520,849




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE HALF-YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021

Consolidated Group

Balance at 1 January
2020

Comprehensive income

Loss for the period

Other comprehensive
income for the period

Total comprehensive
income for the period

Transactions with
owners, in their
capacity as owners,
and other transfers

Shares issued during the
period

Share based payments

Total transactions with
owners and other
transfers

Balance at 30 June
2020

Balance at 1 January
2021

Comprehensive income

Loss for the period

Other comprehensive
income for the period

Total comprehensive
income for the period

Transactions with
owners, in their
capacity as owners,
and other transfers

Shares issued during the
period

Non-controlling interests
on acquisitions

Share based payments

Issue of shares to
employees

Total transactions with
owners and other
transfers

Balance at 30 June
2021

Share- Foreign
Ordinary based currency Non-
Share payment Accumulated translation controlling

Capital reserve losses reserve Subtotal Interests Total
US$ US$ US$ US$ US$ US$ US$
1,178 - (101,606) - (100,428) 805,412 704,984
- - (10,218,963) - (10,218,963) (369,705)  (10,588,668)
- - - (7,803) (7,803) 41,950 34,147
- - (10,218,963) (7,803) (10,226,766) (327,755) (10,554,521)
14,871,980 - - - 14,871,980 - 14,871,980
- 1,385,887 - - 1,385,887 - 1,385,887
14,871,980 1,385,887 - - 16,257,867 - 16,257,867
14,873,158 1,385,887  (10,320,569) (7,803) 5,930,673 477,657 6,408,330
14,873,158 2,804,535  (12,877,048) (22,084) 4,778,561 (257,712) 4,520,849
- - (637,735) - (637,735) (556,455)  (1,194,190)
- - - 13,791 13,791 45,791 59,582
- - (637,735) 13,791 (623,944) (510,664)  (1,134,608)
81,777,922 - - - 81,777,922 - 81,777,922

- (61,957) (61,957)
- 566,725 - - 566,725 - 566,725
- (959,174) - - (959,174) - (959,174)
81,777,922 (392,449) - - 81,385,473 (61,957) 81,323,516
96,651,080 2,412,086  (13,514,783) (8,293) 85,540,090 (830,333) 84,709,757

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

FOR THE HALF-YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Receipts from customers

Payments to suppliers and employees

Other income

Interest received

Finance costs

Income tax paid

Net cash (used in)/generated by operating activities

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchase of property, plant and equipment
Payments for acquisitions costs, net of cash acquired

Net cash (used in)/generated by investing activities

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from shares issues

Proceeds from borrowings

Repayment of borrowings

Advances of employee loans

Repayment of lease liabilities

Payment of capital raising costs

Net cash (used in)/generated by financing activities

Net increase/(decrease) in cash held
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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Consolidated Group

Half-year Half-year
Ended Ended

30 June 30 June
2021 2020

US$ US$
4,614,853 3,720,535
(5,205,032) (5,160,884)
(88,259) 22,995
96 135
(5,957) (18,603)
(55,141) (60,067)
(739,440) (1,495,889)
(568,914) (565,492)
(24,275) 311
(593,189) (565,181)
8,327,092 9,378,600
- 2,732
- (431,899)
(6,376) (652)
(11,415) (16,849)
(769,914) (2,524,348)
7,539,387 6,407,584
6,206,758 4,346,514
3,509,395 93,071
1,488 (230,411)
9,717,641 4,209,174




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE HALF-YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021

NOTE 1: SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
a. Basis of Preparation

These general purpose interim financial statements for Half-year reporting period ended 30 June 2021
have been prepared in accordance with requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 and Australian
Accounting Standard AASB 134: Interim Financial Reporting. The Group is a for-profit entity for
financial reporting purposes under Australian Accounting Standards.

This interim financial report is intended to provide users with an update on the latest annual financial
statements of Pyx resources Limited and its controlled entities (referred to as the “Consolidated Group”
or “Group”). As such, it does not contain information that represents relatively insignificant changes
occurring during the Half-year within the Group. It is therefore recommended that this financial report be
read in conjunction with the annual financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2020, together with any public announcements made during the following Half-year.

These interim financial statements were authorised for issue on 1 September 2021.
b. Accounting Policies

The same accounting policies and methods of computation have been followed in this interim financial
report as were applied in the most recent annual financial statements.

The Group has considered the implications of new or amended Accounting Standards, but determined that
their application to the financial statements is either not relevant or not material.

NOTE 2: REVENUE AND OTHER INCOME

The Group has recognised the following amounts relating to revenue in the statement of profit or loss.

Consolidated Group

Half-year Half-year

Ended Ended

30 June 30 June

2021 2020

Note US$ US$

Revenue from contracts with customers 2a 4,660,223 3,861,269
Other income 2b - 22,995
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a. Revenue from Contracts with Customers

Revenue from contracts with customers represents the amounts received and receivable for production

and distribution of premium Zircon.

b. Other Income

Other income

NOTE 3: LOSS FOR THE PERIOD

Loss before income tax from continuing operations includes
the following specific expenses:

Expenses
Cost of sales

Interest expense on financial liabilities not classified as at
fair value through profit or loss:

— unrelated parties

Finance charges

Less: Interest income

Net interest expense

Employee benefits expense:
— Staff salaries and benefits
— Share based payments
Loss allowance on financial assets and other items:
— loss allowance on trade receivables
Rental expense on operating leases
short-term lease expense
Depreciation

_84 —

Consolidated Group

Half-year
Ended

30 June
2021

US$

Half-year
Ended

30 June
2020

US$

22,995

Consolidated Group

Half-year Half-year
Ended Ended

30 June 30 June
2021 2020

US$ US$
4,059,354 3,125,159
4,676 14,029
1,281 4,574
(96) (135)

5,861 18,468
163,686 256,767
566,725 2,519,930
2,421 5,512
92,137 49,400



NOTE 4: BUSINESS ACQUISITION

On 16 February 2021, the Group acquired 100% of the issued capital of Tisma Development (HK) Limited (the
company), The Tisma tenement has 137 million tonnes of JORC-complaint inferred resources, including 4%
heavy minerals, and contains approximately 4.5 million tonnes of zircon. It also contains valuable by-products,
including titanium minerals (rutile and ilmenite), for a purchase consideration of US$73,141,005.

This acquisition is an excellent strategic addition to PYX’s resource base and a milestone in the consolidation of
the Indonesian mineral sands mining business, converting PYX into the second largest producing mineral sands
company globally in terms of JORC-compliant zircon resources.

Through acquiring 100% of the issued capital of Tisma Development (HK) Limited, the Group has obtained
control of the company.

The purchase was satisfied by the issue of 147,277,370 ordinary shares at an issue price of US$0.49662 each.
The issue price was based on the market price on the date of purchase.

Fair Value
US$
Purchase consideration:
Equity issued 73,141,005
Less:
Cash and cash equivalent 3,407
Intangible asset — exploration asset 73,260,053
Non-controlling interest 61,957
Payables (184,412)
Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed 73,141,005

Goodwill -

The impact of the acquisition on the results and cash flow of the Group for the period is insignificant.
NOTE 5: CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

There has been no change in contingent liabilities since the last reporting period.

NOTE 6: ISSUED CAPITAL

Consolidated Group

Half-year Year

Ended Ended

30 June 31 December

2021 2020

US$ US$

429,520,222 (2020: 267,777,037) fully paid ordinary shares 96,651,080 14,873,158

96,651,080 14,873,158
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Consolidated Group

2021 2020
No. of Contributed No. of Contributed
shares equity Shares equity
US$ US$
a. Ordinary Shares
At the beginning of the reporting period 267,777,037 14,873,158 2,500 1,178
Elimination of Takmur Pte Ltd. - - (2,500) -
Movement:

Year 2020 - - 267,777,037 14,871,980
15 February 2021 147,277,370 73,141,005 - -
25 March 2021 1,627,477 437,531 - -
9 April 2021 1,940,350 521,645 - -
23 June 2021 10,897,988 8,447,656 - -

Share issue costs - (769,915) -
At the end of the reporting period 429,520,222 96,651,080 267,777,037 14,873,158

On 15 February 2021, the Company completed acquisition of Tisma Development (HK) Limited. Essentially the
business of Tisma and its controlled entities is the main undertaking of the Group going forward. As part of the
acquisition of Tisma, the Company issued 147,277,370 shares to the vendors of Tisma;

On 25 March 2021, 1,627,477 shares were issued on conversion of 2,257,127 Performance Rights to Shares on
achievement of milestones.

On 9 April 2021, 1,940,350 shares were issued on conversion of 1,940,350 Performance Rights to Shares on
achievement of milestones.

On 23 June 2021, the Company completed a successful capital raise of US$8,447,656 million, with 10,897,988
shares issued at US$0.77516 per share;

At the shareholders’ meetings each ordinary share is entitled to one vote when a poll is called; otherwise, each
shareholder has one vote on a show of hands.

b. Capital Management
Management controls the capital of the Group in order to maintain a sustainable debt to equity ratio,
generate long-term shareholder value and ensure that the Group can fund its operations and continue as a

going concern.

The Group’s debt and capital include ordinary share capital, redeemable preference shares, convertible
preference shares and financial liabilities, supported by financial assets.

Management effectively manages the Group’s capital by assessing the Group’s financial risks and

adjusting its capital structure in response to changes in these risks and in the market. These responses
include the management of debt levels, distributions to shareholders and share issues.
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Consolidated Group

Half-year Year

Ended Ended

30 June 31 December

2021 2020

US$ US$

Total borrowings 7,138 18,553
Less cash and cash equivalents 9,717,641 3,509,395
Net cash/(debt) 9,710,503 3,490,842
Total equity 84,709,757 4,520,849
Total capital 84,709,757 4,520,849
Gearing ratio 0.0084% 0.4104%

NOTE 7: RESERVES
a. Share-based Payment Reserve

The share-based payment reserve records items recognized as expenses on valuation of share-based
payments

b. Foreign Currency Translation Reserve

The foreign currency translation reserve records exchange differences arising on translation of the foreign
controlled subsidiaries.

c. Analysis of Reserves

Consolidated Group

Half-year Year
Ended Ended
30 June 31 December
2021 2020
US$ US$
Share-Based Payment Reserve
At the beginning of the reporting period 2,804,535 -
Share-based payments 566,725 3,938,578
Issue of shares to director (959,174) (1,134,043)
Closing balance in share-based payment reserve 2,412,086 2,804,535
Foreign Currency Translation Reserve
At the beginning of the reporting period (22,084) -
Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations 13,791 (22,084)
Closing balance in foreign currency translation reserve (8,293) (22,084)
Total 2,403,793 2,782,451
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NOTE 8: SHARE-BASED PAYMENT PLANS
Performance Rights

The following performance rights were granted to Director and staff during the period.

Number Grand date Expiry date Share price at grant date
3,200,000 18/05/2021 30/06/2023 A$1.19
3,200,000 18/05/2021 30/06/2023 A$1.19
80,000 15/03/2021 30/09/2023 A$0.97

During the half year, 4,197,477 performance rights were exercised and converted into 3,567,827 shares.
NOTE 9: PROPERTY, PLANT, AND EQUIPMENT

Consolidated Group

Half-year Year
Ended Ended
30 June 31 December
2021 2020
US$ US$
Land and Buildings
Freehold land at cost 194,542 194,542
Total land 194,542 194,542
Buildings at cost 1,309,614 802,470
Accumulated depreciation (156,058) (139,161)
Total buildings 1,153,556 663,309
Total land and buildings 1,348,098 857,851
Plant and Equipment
Plant and equipment at cost 557,945 520,385
Accumulated depreciation (144,910) (106,687)
Total plant and equipment 413,035 413,698
Motor Vehicles
Motor vehicles at cost 47,105 22,894
Accumulated depreciation (9,203) (3,186)
Total motor vehicles 37,902 19,078
Furniture and Fittings
Furniture and fittings at cost 30,668 30,668
Accumulated depreciation (5,840) (3,461)
Total furniture and fittings 24,828 27,207
Total property, plant and equipment 1,823,863 1,317,834
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NOTE 10: INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Goodwill:
Cost
Accumulated impairment losses

Net carrying amount

Mining License Renewal:
Cost
Accumulated amortization

Net carrying amount

Exploration asset
Cost
Accumulated amortization

Net carrying amount

Total intangible assets

Consolidated Group:

Half-year ended 30 June 2021
Balance at the beginning of the year
Addition

Amortisation

Closing value at 30 June 2021

Consolidated Group

Half-year Year

Ended Ended

30 June 31 December

2021 2020

US$ US$

7,774 7,774

7,774 7,774

88,984 88,984
(13,347) (4,449)

75,637 84,535

73,260,053 -

73,260,053 -

73,343,464 92,309

Mining  Exploration

Goodwill License asset Total
US$ US$ US$ US$
7,774 84,535 - 92,309
— - 73,260,053 73,260,053
- (8,898) - (8,898)
7,774 75,637 73,260,053 73,343,464
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NOTE 11: INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

Proportion of Contribution to

Non-Controlling Net Profit/(Loss)

Name of Entity Equity Interest Interest before taxation
2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020
% % % % US$ US$
Takmur Pte Ltd. 100 100 - - (22,250) (21,652)
PT Andary Usaha Makmur 99 99 1 1 (94,016) (3,385)
PT Investasi Mandiri* - - 100 100 (692,421) (454,651)
Tisma Development (HK) Ltd. 100 - - - 4,392 -
PT Tisma Investasi Abadi 99 - 1 - (524) -
PT Tisma Global Nusantara** - - 100 - 3,664 -

The Non-controlling interests in PT Andary Usaha Makmur and PT Tisma Global Nusantara are not material to
the Group.

Subsidiary financial statements used in the preparation of these consolidated financial statements have
also been prepared as at the same reporting date as the Group’s financial statements.

NOTE 12: EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Other than the following, the directors are not aware of any significant events since the end of the interim
period.

1. The Group are working on a possible dual listing of the Company’s ordinary shares on the Standard
Segment of the Official List of the Financial Conduct Authority (“FCA”) and to trade on the Main
Market of the London Stock Exchange (“LSE”) (the “LSE Listing”).

2. The exploration of available listing options is driven by PYX’s increased interest and demand from
family offices and institutional investors in Europe. A potential LSE Listing would make it easier for
existing shareholders to participate in the growth of the Company and its business, as well as enhancing
the Company’s share liquidity.

3. PYX, has appointed VSA Capital Limited (“VSA”), a natural resource focused investment banking and
broking firm as Financial Adviser and Broker in connection with the potential LSE Listing.

* This entity is accounted for as a controlled entity on the basis that control was obtained through the execution of an exclusive operations
and management agreement between PT Andary Usaha Makmur and PT Investasi Mandiri and was for nil purchase consideration.

** This entity is accounted for as a controlled entity on the basis that control was obtained through the execution of an exclusive operations
and management agreement between PT Tisma Investasi Abadi and PT Tisma Global Nusantara and was for nil purchase consideration.
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DIRECTORS’ DECLARATION

In accordance with a resolution of the directors of Pyx resources Limited, the directors of the Entity declare
that:

1. The financial statements and notes, as set out on pages 79 to 90, are in accordance with the Corporations
Act 2001, including:

a. complying with Accounting Standard AASB 134: Interim Financial Reporting; and

b. giving a true and fair view of the Consolidated Group’s financial position as at 30 June 2021 and
of its performance for the Half-year ended on that date.

2. In the directors’ opinion there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Entity will be able to pay its
debts as and when they become due and payable.

Oliver B. Hasler
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Hong Kong
Date: 1 September 2021
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REVIEW REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF PYX RESOURCES LIMITED

Conclusion

Based on our review, which is not an audit, we have not become aware of any matter that makes us believe that
the Half-year financial report of PYX Resources Limited does not comply with the Corporations Act 2001,
including:

1) giving a true and fair view of PYX Resources Limited’s financial position as of 30 June 2021 and of its
performance for the Half-year ended on that date; and

(i) complying with Accounting Standard AASB 134: Interim Financial Reporting and the Corporations
Regulations 2001.

Basis for conclusion

We conducted our review in accordance with ASRE 2410 Review of a Financial Report Performed by the
Independent Auditor of the Entity. Our responsibilities are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities
section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the auditor independence
requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 and the ethical requirements of the Accounting Professional and
Ethical Standards Board’s APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (including Independence
Standards) (the Code) that are relevant to our audit of the annual financial report in Australia. We have also
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.

We confirm that the independence declaration required by the Corporations Act 2001, which has been given to
the directors of the Group, would be in the same terms if given to the directors as at the time of this auditor’s
report.

Directors’ responsibility for the half-year financial report

The directors of PYX Resources Limited are responsible for the preparation of the Half-year financial report
that gives a true and fair view in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Act
2001 and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of the
Half-year financial report that gives a true and fair view and is free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error.

Auditor’s responsibility for the review of the financial report

A review of a Half-year financial report consists of making enquiries, primarily of persons responsible for
financial and accounting matters, and applying analytical and other review procedures. A review is substantially
less in scope than an audit conducted in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards and consequently does
not enable us to obtain assurance that we would become aware of all significant matters that might be identified
in an audit. Accordingly, we do not express an audit opinion.

HALL CHADWICK (NSW)
Level 40, 2 Park Street
Sydney NSW 2000

DREW TOWNSEND

Partner
Dated: 1 September 2021
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SECTION A2: FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF PYX RESOURCES LTD (31 DECEMBER 2020)

Hall Chadwick Pty Ltd, of Level 40, 2 Park Street, Sydney, NSW 2000, Australia, Chartered Accountants and
statutory auditors to the Company, has given its consent and authorisation for:

1. the inclusion in this Document of the statutory audit report issued with respect to PYX Resources Ltd
Financial Information for the years ended 31 December 2020 included in Section A2 “Financial
Information of PYX Resources (31 December 2020)”; and

2. the inclusion in this Document of their name.

Their consent and authorisation is provided as required by item 1.3 of Annex 1 of Commission Delegated
Regulation (EU) 2019/980 supplementing the Prospectus Regulation.

Hall Chadwick Pty Ltd has no material interest in the Company.
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HALL CHADWICKS (NSW)

PYX RESOURCES LIMITED
(FORMERLY SOUTH PACIFIC RESOURCES LIMITED)
ABN 30 073 099 171
AND CONTROLLED ENTITIES

AUDITOR’S INDEPENDENCE DECLARATION SYDNEY
Level 40, 2 Park Street

UNDER SECTION 307C OF THE CORPORATIONS ACT 2001 Sydney NSW 2000

Australia
TO THE DIRECTORS OF PYX RESOURCES LIMITED Pk‘:: 26312) 9263 2600

Fx: (612)9263 2800

In accordance with section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001,1 am pleased to provide the following
declaration of independence to the directors of PYX Resources Limited. As the lead audit partner for the audit
of the financial report of PYX Resources Limited for the year ended 31 December 2020, I declare that, to the
best of my knowledge and belief, there have been no contraventions of:

1) the auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 in relation to the audit; and

(i)  any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit.

HALL CHADWICK (NSW)
Level 40, 2 Park Street Sydney NSW 2000

DREW TOWNSEND
Partner
Dated: 15 March 2021

A Member of PrimeGlobal
An Association of independent

Accounting Firms

SYDNEY ¢ PENRITH = MELBOURNE = ADELAIDE « PERTH = DARWIN * BRISBANE
Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation
www.hallchadwick.com.au
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DIRECTORS’ DECLARATION

In accordance with a resolution of the Directors of Pyx Resources Limited (formerly South Pacific Resources
Ltd), the directors state that:
The financial statements and notes set out on pages 96 to 138 are in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001:

(a) Comply with Australian Accounting Standards which as stated in accounting policy Note 1 to the
financial statements, constitutes compliance with International Financial Reporting Standards and other

mandatory professional reporting requirements; and

(b)  Give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2020 and of the
performance for the year ended on that date.

In the Directors’ opinion, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Group will be able to pay its debts as
and when they become due and payable.

This declaration has been made after receiving the declaration required to be made by the Chief Executive
Officer and Senior Financial Controller to the Directors in accordance with section 295A of the Corporations

Act 2001 for the year ended 31 December 2020.

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the Directors.

Oliver Hasler
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Hong Kong
Date: 15 March 2021
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

Revenue
Cost of sales

Gross Profit
Other income

Selling and distribution expenses
Corporate and administrative expenses

Foreign exchange loss
Listing costs
Acquisition costs
Interest expense

Loss before income tax
Income tax benefit/(expense)

Net loss for the year

Net profit attributable to:
Owners of the Parent Entity
Non-controlling interests

Loss per share
Basic loss per share (cents)

Diluted loss per share (cents)

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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Note

Consolidated Group

2020 2019
US$ US$
8,956,694 6,858,289
(7,630,173)  (5,596,003)
1,326,521 1,262,286
110,576 114,459
(492,248) (260,831)
(7,731,742)  (1,094,458)
(29,376) (11,659)
(5,356,997) -
(1,889,237) -
(20,961) (57,091)
(14,083,464) (47,294)
262,861 (11,092)
(13,820,603) (58,386)
(12,775,441) (96,498)
(1,045,162) 38,112
(13,820,603) (58,386)
(6) (2,390)

(5.5) (2,390)



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

Note

Net loss for the year
Other comprehensive income
Items that will be reclassified subsequently to
profit or loss when specific conditions are met:
Exchange differences on translating foreign operations,
net of tax

Total comprehensive income for the year

Total comprehensive income attributable to:
Owners of the Parent Entity
Non-controlling interests

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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Consolidated Group

2020 2019

US$ US$
(13,820,603) (58,386)

(40,046) 12,296
(13,860,649) (46,090)
(12,797,525) (96,498)

(1,063,124) 50,408
(13,860,649) (46,090)



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

ASSETS

CURRENT ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents
Trade and other receivables
Advances to suppliers
Prepayments and deposits
Prepaid tax

Inventories

TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS

NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Property, plant and equipment
Intangible assets

Right of use assets

Deferred tax assets

TOTAL NON-CURRENT ASSETS
TOTAL ASSETS

LIABILITIES
CURRENT LIABILITIES
Trade and other payables
Lease liabilities

Current tax liabilities
Short term liabilities

TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
Lease liabilities

TOTAL NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
TOTAL LIABILITIES
NET ASSETS

EQUITY

Issued capital
Reserves
Accumulated losses

Equity attributable to owners of the Parent Entity

Non-controlling interest

TOTAL EQUITY

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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Note

10
11

19
12

14
15
16

17
18
19

18

20
25

Consolidated Group

2020 2019
US$ US$
3,509,395 93,071
368,627 468,522
352,062 117,038
41,100 -
36,216 -
122,703 284,023
4,430,103 962,654
1,317,834 654,751
92,309 7,774
60,361 88,058
265,597 1,385
1,736,101 751,968
6,166,204 1,714,622
1,626,802 456,459
1,780 40,797
- 102,086
- 391,152
1,628,582 990,494
16,773 19,145
16,773 19,145
1,645,355 1,009,639
4,520,849 704,983
14,873,158 1,178
2,782,451 -
(12,877,048) (101,607)
4,778,561 (100,429)
(257,712) 805,412
4,520,849 704,983




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

Non-
Ordinary Accumulated controlling
Shares losses Subtotal Interests Total
US$ US$ US$ US$ US$
Balance at 1 January 2019 734 (5,109) (4,375) - (4,375)
Comprehensive income
Profit/(loss) for the year - (96,498) (96,498) 38,112 (58,386)
Other comprehensive income for the year - - - 12,296 12,296
Total comprehensive income for the year - (96,498) (96,498) 50,408 (46,090)
Transactions with owners, in their
capacity as owners, and other
transfers
Shares issued during the year 444 - 444 - 444
Non-controlling interests on acquisitions - - - 755,004 755,004
Total transactions with owners and
other transfers 444 - 444 755,004 755,448
Balance at 31 December 2019 1,178 (101,607) (100,429) 805,412 704,983
Foreign
Share Based Exchange Non-
Ordinary Payment Translation Accumulated controlling
Shares Reserve Reserve losses Subtotal Interests Total
US$ US$ US$ US$ US$ US$ US$
Balance at 1 January
2020 1,178 - - (101,607) (100,429) 805,412 704,983
Comprehensive income
Loss for the year - - —(12,775,441) (12,775,441)  (1,045,162) (13,820,603)
Other comprehensive
income for the year - - (22,084) - (22,084) (17,962) (40,046)
Total comprehensive
income for the year - - (22,084) (12,775,441) (12,797,525) (1,063,124) (13,860,649)
Shares issued during
the year 14,296,456 - - - 14,296,456 - 14,296,456
Share issue costs (558,519) - - - (558,519) - (558,519)
Share based payments - 3,938,578 - - 3,938,578 - 3,938,578
Issue of shares to
employees 1,134,043 (1,134,043) - - - - -
Total transactions with
owners and other
transfers 14,871,980 2,804,535 - - 17,676,515 - 17,676,515
Balance at 31
December 2020 14,873,158 2,804,535 (22,084) (12,877,048) 4,778,561 (257,712) 4,520,849

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Receipts from customers

Payments to suppliers and employees

Other income

Interest received

Finance costs

Income tax paid

Net cash (used in)/generated by operating activities

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchase of property, plant and equipment

Renewal of mining license

Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment
Payments for acquisitions, net of cash acquired

Net cash used in investing activities

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from issue of shares

Repayments of lease liabilities
(Repayments)/Proceeds from short-term borrowings
Repayment of borrowings

Acquisition and capital raising costs

Net cash provided by/(used in) financing activities

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of financial year

Effect of foreign exchange rate changes

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of financial year

- 100 -

Consolidated Group

2020 2019

US$ US$
8,731,354 6,546,726
(10,769,835)  (6,633,518)
110,576 114,459
376 5,670
(21,338) (62,761)
(137,844) (80,781)
(2,086,711) (110,205)
(748,923) (148,246)
(88,984) -

- 1,500

311 17,468
(837,596) (129,278)
9,378,600 444
(52,575) (59,042)
(432,575) 391,152
2,732 -
(2,618,065) -
6,278,117 332,554
3,353,810 93,071
93,071 -
62,514 -
3,509,395 93,071




NOTE 1: SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Basis of Preparation

These general purpose consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the
Corporations Act 2001, Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations of the Australian Accounting
Standards Board and in compliance with International Financial Reporting Standards as issued by the
International Accounting Standards Board. The Group is a for-profit entity for financial reporting purposes
under Australian Accounting Standards. Material accounting policies adopted in the preparation of these
financial statements are presented below and have been consistently applied unless stated otherwise. Except for
cash flow information, the financial statements have been prepared on an accrual basis and are based on
historical costs, modified, where applicable, by the measurement at fair value of selected Non-current assets,
financial assets and financial liabilities.

Going Concern

During the year ended 31 December 2020 the Group incurred a loss after tax of US$13,820,603 and had
negative cash flows from operations of US$2,086,711.

Management has considered it is appropriate to prepare the financial statements on a going concern basis. The
year-end net cash position of the Group was US$3,509,395. The losses and negative cash flows from operations
in the year of 2020 were because of the Non-recurring items of US$12,719,927. The main non—-recurring items
in the period were Non-capitalized listing expenses of US$1,889,237, RTO transaction loss of US$5,356,997
(accounting for the transaction loss on the reverse acquisition of Pyx Resources Ltd.) and accrual of
management’s share-based payments of US$3,938,578. The underlying EBITDA for the period was negative
US$1,213,402. Management has a detailed plan to increase the mining and production capacity which is
expected to generate profit and positive cash flows from operations in the forthcoming years.

These financial statements do not include any adjustments relating to the recoverability and classification of
recorded asset amounts, nor to the amounts or classification of liabilities that might be necessary should the
Group not be able to continue as a going concern.

a. Principles of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate all of the assets, liabilities and results of the Parent
(Pyx Resources Limited) and all of the subsidiaries (including any structured entities). Subsidiaries are
entities the Parent controls. The Parent controls an entity when it is exposed to, or has rights to, variable
returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its power
over the entity. A list of the subsidiaries is provided in Note 13.

The assets, liabilities and results of all subsidiaries are fully consolidated into the financial statements of
the Group from the date on which control is obtained by the Group. The consolidation of a subsidiary is
discontinued from the date that control ceases. Intercompany transactions, balances and unrealised gains
or losses on transactions between Group entities are fully eliminated on consolidation. Accounting
policies of subsidiaries have been changed and adjustments made where necessary to ensure uniformity of
the accounting policies adopted by the Group.

Equity interests in a subsidiary not attributable, directly or indirectly, to the Group are presented as
“Non-controlling interests”. The Group initially recognises Non-controlling interests that are present
ownership interests in subsidiaries and are entitled to a proportionate share of the subsidiary’s net assets
on liquidation at either fair value or at the Non-controlling interests’ proportionate share of the
subsidiary’s net assets. Subsequent to initial recognition, Non-controlling interests are attributed their
share of profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income. Non-controlling interests are
shown separately within the equity section of the statement of financial position and statement of
comprehensive income.
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Business combinations
Business combinations occur where an acquirer obtains control over one or more businesses.

A business combination is accounted for by applying the acquisition method, unless it is a combination
involving entities or businesses under common control. The business combination will be accounted for
from the date that control is obtained, whereby the fair value of the identifiable assets acquired and
liabilities (including contingent liabilities) assumed is recognised (subject to certain limited exemptions).

When measuring the consideration transferred in the business combination, any asset or liability resulting
from a contingent consideration arrangement is also included. Subsequent to initial recognition,
contingent consideration classified as equity is not remeasured and its subsequent settlement is accounted
for within equity. Contingent consideration classified as an asset or liability is remeasured in each
reporting period to fair value, recognising any change to fair value in profit or loss, unless the change in
value can be identified as existing at acquisition date.

All transaction costs incurred in relation to business combinations, other than those associated with the
issue of a financial instrument, are recognised as expenses in profit or loss when incurred. The acquisition
of a business may result in the recognition of goodwill or a gain from a bargain purchase.

Goodwill

Goodwill is carried at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is calculated as the excess
of the sum of:

(1) the consideration transferred at fair value;

(i) any Non-controlling interest (determined under either the fair value or proportionate interest
method); and

(iii)  the acquisition date fair value of any previously held equity interest;

over the acquisition date fair value of any identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed. The
acquisition date fair value of the consideration transferred for a business combination plus the acquisition
date fair value of any previously held equity interest shall form the cost of the investment in the separate
financial statements.

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in subsidiaries that do not result in the Group losing control
over the subsidiaries are accounted for as equity transactions. The carrying amounts of the Group’s
interests and the Non-controlling interests are adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative interests in
the subsidiaries. Any difference between the amount by which the noncontrolling interests are adjusted
and the fair value of the consideration paid or received is recognised directly in equity and attributed to
owners of the Company.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, a gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss and is
calculated as the difference between (i) the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration received and
the fair value of any retained interest and (ii) the previous carrying amount of the assets (including
goodwill), and liabilities of the subsidiary and any Non-controlling interests. All amounts previously
recognised in other comprehensive income in relation to that subsidiary are accounted for as if the Group
had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities of the subsidiary (ie reclassified to profit or loss
or transferred to another category of equity as specified/permitted by applicable Accounting Standards).
The fair value of any investment retained in the former subsidiary at the date when control is lost is
regarded as the fair value on initial recognition for subsequent accounting under AASB 139: Financial
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement, when applicable, the cost on initial recognition of an
investment in an associate or a joint venture.
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The amount of goodwill recognised on acquisition of each subsidiary in which the Group holds less than
100% interest will depend on the method adopted in measuring the Non-controlling interest. The Group
can elect in most circumstances to measure the Non-controlling interest in the acquiree either at fair value
(fullgoodwill method) or at the Non-controlling interest’s proportionate share of the subsidiary’s
identifiable net assets (proportionate interest method). In such circumstances, the Group determines
which method to adopt for each acquisition and this is stated in the respective note to the financial
statements disclosing the business combination.

Under the full goodwill method, the fair value of the Non-controlling interest is determined using
valuation techniques which make the maximum use of market information where available. Goodwill on
acquisition of subsidiaries is included in intangible assets. Goodwill on acquisition of associates is
included in investments in associates.

Goodwill is tested for impairment annually and is allocated to the Group’s cash-generating units or
groups of cash-generating units, representing the lowest level at which goodwill is monitored and not
larger than an operating segment. Gains and losses on the disposal of an entity include the carrying
amount of goodwill related to the entity disposed of.

Changes in the ownership interests in a subsidiary that do not result in a loss of control are accounted for
as equity transactions and do not affect the carrying amounts of goodwill.

Reverse acquisition accounting

On 31 January 2020, Pyx Resources Limited (“PYX”) completed a Reverse Takeover (“RTO”) with
Takmur Pte. Ltd. (“Takmur”). In accordance with accounting standards, this RTO has been accounted
for as a reverse acquisition business combination, described in this financial report as an RTO.

In applying the requirements of AASB 3 Business Combinations:

(a)  PYX became the legal parent entity to the Group; and

(b)  Takmur, which is neither the legal parent nor legal acquirer, is deemed to be the accounting
acquirer.

The consolidated financial information incorporated the assets and liabilities of all entities deemed to be
acquired by Takmur and its controlled entities and the results of these entities for the period from which
those entities are accounted for as being acquired by Takmur. The assets and liabilities of PYX acquired
by Takmur were recorded at fair value whilst the assets and liabilities of Takmur were maintained at their
book value. The impact of all transactions between entities in the Group were eliminated in full. The
impact on equity of treating the formation of the Group as a RTO is disclosed in more detail in note 5.

AASB 3 Business Combinations requires that consolidated financial statements prepared following an
RTO shall be issued under the name of the legal parent (i.e. PYX), but be a continuation of the financial
statements of the legal subsidiary (i.e. Takmur. the acquirer for accounting purposes). The implications of
applying AASB 3 on each of the attached financial statements comparatives are as follows:

Statement of financial position

The consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2020 represents the consolidated
financial position of Takmur Pte. Ltd. (“Takmur”) and its controlled entities as at 31 December 2020.
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Statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income

The consolidated statement of profit or loss for the year ended 31 December 2020 represents the
consolidated results of Takmur and its controlled entities for the period from 1 January 2020 to 31
December 2020 and the consolidated results of PYX for the period from 1 February 2020 (date of the
RTO) to 31 December 2020. The comparative information for the period ended 31 December 2019
represents results of Takmur for the year ended 31 December 2019, the consolidated results of its
controlled entity, PT Andary Usaha Makmur, for the year ended 31 December 2019 and the consolidated
results of its controlled entity, PT Investasi Mandiri, for the year ended 31 December 2019.

Income tax

The income tax expense (income) for the year comprises current income tax expense (income) and
deferred tax expense (income).

Current income tax expense charged to profit or loss is the tax payable on taxable income for the current
period. Current tax liabilities (assets) are measured at the amounts expected to be paid to (recovered
from) the relevant taxation authority using tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax expense reflects movements in deferred tax asset and deferred tax liability balances during
the year as well as unused tax losses.

Current and deferred income tax expense (income) is charged or credited outside profit or loss when the
tax relates to items that are recognised outside profit or loss or arising from a business combination.

A deferred tax liability shall be recognised for all taxable temporary differences, except to the extent that
the deferred tax liability arises from: (a) the initial recognition of goodwill; or (b) the initial recognition
of an asset or liability in a transaction which: (i) is not a business combination; and (ii) at the time of the
transaction, affects neither accounting profit nor taxable profit (tax loss).

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period
when the asset is realised or the liability is settled and their measurement also reflects the manner in
which management expects to recover or settle the carrying amount of the related asset or liability. With
respect to Non-depreciable items of property, plant and equipment measured at fair value and items of
investment property measured at fair value, the related deferred tax liability or deferred tax asset is
measured on the basis that the carrying amount of the asset will be recovered entirely through sale. When
an investment property that is depreciable is held by the entity in a business model whose objective is to
consume substantially all of the economic benefits embodied in the property through use over time (rather
than through sale), the related deferred tax liability or deferred tax asset is measured on the basis that the
carrying amount of such property will be recovered entirely through use.

Deferred tax assets relating to temporary differences and unused tax losses are recognised only to the
extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be available against which the benefits of the
deferred tax asset can be utilised, unless the deferred tax asset relating to temporary differences arises
from the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that:

— is not a business combination; and

- at the time of the transaction, affects neither accounting profit nor taxable profit (tax loss).

Where temporary differences exist in relation to investments in subsidiaries, branches, associates, and
joint ventures, deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised where the timing of the reversal of the

temporary difference can be controlled and it is not probable that the reversal will occur in the
foreseeable future.
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Current tax assets and liabilities are offset where a legally enforceable right of set-off exists and it is
intended that net settlement or simultaneous realisation and settlement of the respective asset and liability
will occur. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset where: (i) a legally enforceable right of set-off
exists; and (ii) the deferred tax assets and liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation
authority on either the same taxable entity or different taxable entities where it is intended that net
settlement or simultaneous realisation and settlement of the respective asset and liability will occur in
future periods in which significant amounts of deferred tax assets or liabilities are expected to be
recovered or settled.

Inventories

Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value. The cost of manufactured products
includes direct materials, direct labour and an appropriate proportion of variable and fixed overheads.
Overheads are applied on the basis of normal operating capacity. Costs are assigned on the first-in,
first-out basis.

Property, plant and equipment

Each class of property, plant and equipment is carried at cost or fair value as indicated less, where
applicable, any accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.

Property, plant and equipment are measured on the cost basis and therefore carried at cost less
accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment. In the event the carrying amount of plant and
equipment is greater than the estimated recoverable amount, the carrying amount is written down
immediately to the estimated recoverable amount and impairment losses are recognised. A formal
assessment of recoverable amount is made when impairment indicators are present (refer to Note 1(g) for
details of impairment).

The carrying amount of plant and equipment is reviewed annually by directors to ensure it is not in
excess of the recoverable amount from these assets. The recoverable amount is assessed on the basis of
the expected net cash flows that will be received from the asset’s employment and subsequent disposal.
The expected net cash flows have been discounted to their present values in determining recoverable
amounts.

The cost of fixed assets constructed within the Consolidated Group includes the cost of materials, direct
labour, borrowing costs and an appropriate proportion of fixed and variable overheads.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as
appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to
the Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. All other repairs and maintenance are
recognised as expenses in profit or loss during the financial period in which they are incurred.

Depreciation
The depreciable amount of all fixed assets including buildings and capitalised leased assets, but excluding
freehold land, is depreciated on a straight-line basis over the asset’s useful life to the Consolidated Group

commencing from the time the asset is held ready for use. Leasehold improvements are depreciated over
the shorter of either the unexpired period of the lease or the estimated useful lives of the improvements.
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The depreciation rates used for each class of depreciable assets are:

Class of Fixed Asset Depreciation Rate
Buildings 5%
Plant and Equipment 20%
Furniture and Fittings 25%
Motor Vehicle 25%

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each
reporting period.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying
amount is greater than its estimated recoverable amount.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing proceeds with the carrying amount. These
gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise. Gains shall not be
classified as revenue. When revalued assets are sold, amounts included in the revaluation surplus relating
to that asset are transferred to retained earnings.

Leases (the Group as lessee)

The Group as lessee

At inception of a contract, the Group assesses if the contract contains or is a lease. If there is a lease
present, a right-of-use asset and a corresponding lease liability is recognised by the Group where the
Group is a lessee. However all contracts that are classified as short-term leases (lease with remaining
lease term of 12 months or less) and leases of low value assets are recognised as an operating expense on
a straight-line basis over the term of the lease.

Initially the lease liability is measured at the present value of the lease payments still to be paid at
commencement date. The lease payments are discounted at the interest rate implicit in the lease. If this
rate cannot be readily determined, the Group uses the incremental borrowing rate.

Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability are as follows:

- fixed lease payments less any lease incentives;

- variable lease payments that depend on an index or rate, initially measured using the index or rate
at the commencement date;

- the amount expected to be payable by the lessee under residual value guarantees
- the exercise price of purchase options, if the lessee is reasonably certain to exercise the options;
- lease payments under extension options if lessee is reasonably certain to exercise the options; and

- payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the exercise of an option
to terminate the lease.
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The right-of-use assets comprise the initial measurement of the corresponding lease liability as mentioned
above, any lease payments made at or before the commencement date as well as any initial direct costs.
The subsequent measurement of the right-of-use assets is at cost less accumulated depreciation and
impairment losses.

Right-of-use assets are depreciated over the lease term or useful life of the underlying asset whichever is
the shortest.

Where a lease transfers ownership of the underlying asset or the cost of the right-of-use asset reflects that
the Group anticipates to exercise a purchase option, the specific asset is depreciated over the useful life
of the underlying asset.

Financial instruments

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when the Group becomes a party to the contractual
provisions to the instrument. For financial assets, this is the date that the Group commits itself to either
the purchase or sale of the asset (ie trade date accounting is adopted).

Financial instruments (except for trade receivables) are initially measured at fair value plus transaction
costs, except where the instrument is classified “at fair value through profit or loss”, in which case
transaction costs are expensed to profit or loss immediately. Where available, quoted prices in an active

market are used to determine fair value. In other circumstances, valuation techniques are adopted.

Trade receivables are initially measured at the transaction price if the trade receivables do not contain a
significant financing component or if the practical expedient was applied as specified in AASB 15.63.

Classification and subsequent measurement

Financial liabilities

Financial instruments are subsequently measured at:

- amortised cost; or

- fair value through profit or loss.

A financial liability is measured at fair value through profit and loss if the financial liability is:

- a contingent consideration of an acquirer in a business combination to which AASB 3: Business
Combinations applies;

- held for trading; or

- initially designated as at fair value through profit or loss.

All other financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest
method.

- 107 -



The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a debt instrument and of
allocating interest expense in profit or loss over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the
internal rate of return of the financial asset or liability. That is, it is the rate that exactly discounts the
estimated future cash flows through the expected life of the instrument to the net carrying amount at
initial recognition.

A financial liability is held for trading if:
- it is incurred for the purpose of repurchasing or repaying in the near term;
- part of a portfolio where there is an actual pattern of short-term profit taking; or

- a derivative financial instrument (except for a derivative that is in a financial guarantee contract or
a derivative that is in a effective hedging relationships).

Any gains or losses arising on changes in fair value are recognised in profit or loss to the extent that they
are not part of a designated hedging relationship are recognised in profit or loss.

The change in fair value of the financial liability attributable to changes in the issuer’s credit risk is taken
to other comprehensive income and are not subsequently reclassified to profit or loss. Instead, they are
transferred to retained earnings upon derecognition of the financial liability. If taking the change in credit
risk in other comprehensive income enlarges or creates an accounting mismatch, then these gains or
losses should be taken to profit or loss rather than other comprehensive income. A financial liability
cannot be reclassified.

Financial guarantee contracts

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires the issuer to make specified payments to
reimburse the holder for a loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payment when due in
accordance with the terms of a debt instrument.

Financial guarantee contracts are initially measured at fair values (and if not designated as at fair value
through profit or loss and do not arise from a transfer of a financial asset) and subsequently measured at
the higher of:

— the amount of loss allowance determined in accordance with AASB 9.3.25.3; and

- the amount initially recognised less the accumulative amount of income recognised in accordance
with the revenue recognition policies.

Financial assets
Financial assets are subsequently measured at:
- amortised cost;

- fair value through other comprehensive income; or

fair value through profit or loss.
Measurement is on the basis of two primary criteria:
— the contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial asset; and

- the business model for managing the financial assets.
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A financial asset that meets the following conditions is subsequently measured at amortised cost:
- the financial asset is managed solely to collect contractual cash flows; and

- the contractual terms within the financial asset give rise to cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding on specified dates.

A financial asset that meets the following conditions is subsequently measured at fair value through other
comprehensive income:

- the contractual terms within the financial asset give rise to cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding on specified dates;

- the business model for managing the financial assets comprises both contractual cash flows
collection and the selling of the financial asset.

By default, all other financial assets that do not meet the measurement conditions of amortised cost and
fair value through other comprehensive income are subsequently measured at fair value through profit or
loss.

The Group initially designates a financial instrument as measured at fair value through profit or loss if:

- it eliminates or significantly reduces a measurement or recognition inconsistency (often referred to
as “accounting mismatch”) that would otherwise arise from measuring assets or liabilities or
recognising the gains and losses on them on different bases;

- it is in accordance with the documented risk management or investment strategy, and information
about the groupings was documented appropriately, so that the performance of the financial
liability that was part of a group of financial liabilities or financial assets can be managed and
evaluated consistently on a fair value basis;

- it is a hybrid contract that contains an embedded derivative that significantly modifies the cash
flows otherwise required by the contract.

The initial designation of the financial instruments to measure at fair value through profit or loss is a
one-time option on initial classification and is irrevocable until the financial asset is derecognised.

Equity instruments

At initial recognition, as long as the equity instrument is not held for trading and not a contingent
consideration recognised by an acquirer in a business combination to which AASB 3: Business
Combinations applies, the Group made an irrevocable election to measure any subsequent changes in fair
value of the equity instruments in other comprehensive income, while the dividend revenue received on

underlying equity instruments investment will still be recognised in profit or loss.

Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised and derecognised at settlement date in
accordance with the Group’s accounting policy.

Derecognition

Derecognition refers to the removal of a previously recognised financial asset or financial liability from
the statement of financial position.
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Derecognition of financial liabilities

A liability is derecognised when it is extinguished (ie when the obligation in the contract is discharged,
cancelled or expires). An exchange of an existing financial liability for a new one with substantially
modified terms, or a substantial modification to the terms of a financial liability is treated as an
extinguishment of the existing liability and recognition of a new financial liability.

The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised and the consideration
paid and payable, including any Non-cash assets transferred or liabilities assumed, is recognised in profit
or loss.

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset is derecognised when the holder’s contractual rights to its cash flows expires, or the
asset is transferred in such a way that all the risks and rewards of ownership are substantially transferred.

All of the following criteria need to be satisfied for derecognition of financial asset:

- the right to receive cash flows from the asset has expired or been transferred;

- all risk and rewards of ownership of the asset have been substantially transferred; and

- the Group no longer controls the asset (ie the Group has no practical ability to make a unilateral
decision to sell the asset to a third party).

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised cost, the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the sum of the consideration received and receivable is recognised in profit or loss.

On derecognition of a debt instrument classified as at fair value through other comprehensive income, the
cumulative gain or loss previously accumulated in the investment revaluation reserve is reclassified to
profit or loss.

On derecognition of an investment in equity which was elected to be classified under fair value through
other comprehensive income, the cumulative gain or loss previously accumulated in the investment
revaluation reserve is not reclassified to profit or loss, but is transferred to retained earnings.

Impairment

The Group recognises a loss allowance for expected credit losses on:

- financial assets that are measured at amortised cost or fair value through other comprehensive
income;

- lease receivables;

- contract assets (eg amounts due from customers under construction contracts);

- loan commitments that are not measured at fair value through profit or loss; and

- financial guarantee contracts that are not measured at fair value through profit or loss.
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Loss allowance is not recognised for:

- financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss; or

- equity instruments measured at fair value through other comprehensive income.

Expected credit losses are the probability-weighted estimate of credit losses over the expected life of a
financial instrument. A credit loss is the difference between all contractual cash flows that are due and all
cash flows expected to be received, all discounted at the original effective interest rate of the financial

instrument.

The Group uses the following approaches to impairment, as applicable under AASB 9: Financial
Instruments:

- the general approach
- the simplified approach
General approach

Under the general approach, at each reporting period, the Group assesses whether the financial
instruments are credit-impaired, and if:

- the credit risk of the financial instrument has increased significantly since initial recognition, the
Group measures the loss allowance of the financial instruments at an amount equal to the lifetime

expected credit losses; or

- there is no significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, the Group measures the loss
allowance for that financial instrument at an amount equal to 12-month expected credit losses.

Simplified approach

The simplified approach does not require tracking of changes in credit risk at every reporting period, but

instead requires the recognition of lifetime expected credit loss at all times. This approach is applicable

to:

- trade receivables or contract assets that result from transactions within the scope of AASB 15:
Revenue from Contracts with Customers and which do not contain a significant financing
component; and

- lease receivables.

In measuring the expected credit loss, a provision matrix for trade receivables was used taking into

consideration various data to get to an expected credit loss (ie diversity of customer base, appropriate

groupings of historical loss experience, etc).

Recognition of expected credit losses in financial statements

At each reporting date, the Group recognises the movement in the loss allowance as an impairment gain
or loss in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

The carrying amount of financial assets measured at amortised cost includes the loss allowance relating
to that asset.
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Assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income are recognised at fair value, with
changes in fair value recognised in other comprehensive income. Amounts in relation to change in credit
risk are transferred from other comprehensive income to profit or loss at every reporting period. For
financial assets that are unrecognised (e.g. loan commitments yet to be drawn, financial guarantees), a
provision for loss allowance is created in the statement of financial position to recognise the loss
allowance.

Impairment of assets

At the end of each reporting period, the Group assesses whether there is any indication that an asset may
be impaired. The assessment will include the consideration of external and internal sources of information
including dividends received from subsidiaries, associates or joint ventures deemed to be out of
pre-acquisition profits. If such an indication exists, an impairment test is carried out on the asset by
comparing the recoverable amount of the asset, being the higher of the asset’s fair value less costs of
disposal and value in use, to the asset’s carrying amount. Any excess of the asset’s carrying amount over
its recoverable amount is recognised immediately in profit or loss, unless the asset is carried at a revalued
amount in accordance with another Standard (e.g. in accordance with the revaluation model in AASB
116: Property, Plant and Equipment). Any impairment loss of a revalued asset is treated as a revaluation
decrease in accordance with that other Standard.

Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Group estimates
the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

Impairment testing is performed annually for goodwill, intangible assets with indefinite lives and
intangible assets not yet available for use.

When an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating
unit) is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying
amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss
been recognised for the asset (or cash-generating unit) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is
recognised immediately in profit or loss, unless the relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount, in
which case the reversal of the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation increase.

Foreign currency transactions and balances

Functional and presentation currency

The functional currency of each of the Group’s entities is the currency of the primary economic
environment in which that entity operates. The consolidated financial statements are presented in United
States dollars, which is the Parent Entity’s functional currency.

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates
prevailing at the date of the transaction. Foreign currency monetary items are translated at the year— end
exchange rate. Non-monetary items measured at historical cost continue to be carried at the exchange rate
at the date of the transaction. Non-monetary items measured at fair value are reported at the exchange

rate at the date when fair values were determined.

Exchange differences arising on the translation of monetary items are recognised in profit or loss, except
exchange differences that arise from net investment hedges.
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Exchange differences arising on the translation of Non-monetary items are recognised directly in other
comprehensive income to the extent that the underlying gain or loss is recognised in other comprehensive
income; otherwise the exchange difference is recognised in profit or loss.

Group companies

The financial results and position of foreign operations, whose functional currency is different from the
Group’s presentation currency, are translated as follows:

- assets and liabilities are translated at exchange rates prevailing at the end of the reporting period;
- income and expenses are translated at exchange rates on the date of transaction; and
- all resulting exchange differences are recognised in other comprehensive income.

Exchange differences arising on translation of foreign operations with functional currencies other than US
dollars are recognised in other comprehensive income and included in the foreign exchange translation
reserve in the statement of change in equity and allocated to Non-controlling interest where relevant. The
cumulative amount of these differences is reclassified into profit or loss in the period in which the
operation is disposed of.

Employee benefits
Short-term employee benefits

Provision is made for the Group’s obligation for short-term employee benefits. Short-term employee
benefits are benefits (other than termination benefits) that are expected to be settled wholly before 12
months after the end of the annual reporting period in which the employees render the related service,
including wages, salaries and sick leave. Short-term employee benefits are measured at the
(undiscounted) amounts expected to be paid when the obligation is settled.

The Group’s obligations for short-term employee benefits such as wages, salaries and sick leave are
recognised as part of current trade and other payables in the statement of financial position. The Group’s
obligations for employees’ annual leave and long service leave entitlements are recognised as provisions
in the statement of financial position.

Other long-term employee benefits

Provision is made for employees’ long service leave and annual leave entitlements not expected to be
settled wholly within 12 months after the end of the annual reporting period in which the employees
render the related service. Other long-term employee benefits are measured at the present value of the
expected future payments to be made to employees. Expected future payments incorporate anticipated
future wage and salary levels, durations of service and employee departures and are discounted at rates
determined by reference to market yields at the end of the reporting period on government bonds that
have maturity dates that approximate the terms of the obligations. Any remeasurements for changes in
assumptions of obligations for other long-term employee benefits are recognised in profit or loss in the
periods in which the changes occur.

The Group’s obligations for long-term employee benefits are presented as Non-current provisions in its
statement of financial position, except where the Group does not have an unconditional right to defer
settlement for at least 12 months after the end of the reporting period, in which case the obligations are
presented as current provisions.

- 113 -



Equity-settled compensation

The Group operates an employee performance rights plan. Share-based payments to employees are
measured at the fair value of the instruments at grant date and amortised over the vesting periods. The
corresponding amounts are recognised in the share-based payment reserve and statement of profit and
loss respectively. The fair value of rights is determined by reference to the share price of the Company.
The number of rights expected to vest is reviewed and adjusted at the end of each reporting period such
that the amount recognised for services received as consideration for the equity instruments granted is
based on the number of equity instruments that eventually vest.

Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the Group has a legal or constructive obligation, as a result of past
events, for which it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will result and that outflow can be

reliably measured.

Provisions are measured using the best estimate of the amounts required to settle the obligation at the end
of the reporting period.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, deposits available on demand with banks, other
short-term highly liquid investments with original maturities of 3 months or less, and bank overdrafts.
Bank overdrafts are reported within borrowings in current liabilities on the statement of financial
position.

Revenue and other income

Revenue recognition

Revenue from sales of zircon is recognised when the customer takes possession of and accepts the
products. If the products are a partial fulfilment of a contract covering other goods and/or services, then
the amount of revenue recognised is an appropriate proportion of the total transaction price under the
contract, allocated between all the goods and services promised under the contract on a relative
stand-alone selling price basis.

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of assets that
necessarily take a substantial period of time to prepare for their intended use or sale are added to the cost
of those assets, until such time as the assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale. All
other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they are incurred.

Comparative figures

When required by Accounting Standards, comparative figures have been adjusted to conform to changes
in presentation for the current financial year.
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Segment information

AASB 8 requires operating segments to be identified on the basis of internal reports about components of
the Company that are regularly reviewed by the chief operating decision maker in order to allocate
resources to the segment and to assess its performance.

The Group engages in one business segment, being premium zircon production, activities from which it
incurs costs. Consequently, the results of the Group are analysed as a whole by the chief operating
decision maker.

Critical accounting estimates and judgements

The directors evaluate estimates and judgements incorporated into the financial statements based on
historical knowledge and best available current information. Estimates assume a reasonable expectation
of future events and are based on current trends and economic data, obtained both externally and within
the Group.

Key estimates
(1) Impairment

The Group assesses impairment at the end of each reporting period by evaluating the conditions
and events specific to the Group that may be indicative of impairment triggers. Recoverable
amounts of relevant assets are reassessed using value-in-use calculations which incorporate various
key assumptions.

Key judgements
(1) Performance obligations under AASB 15

To identify a performance obligation under AASB 15, the promise must be sufficiently specific to
be able to determine when the obligation is satisfied. Management exercises judgement to
determine whether the promise is sufficiently specific by taking into account any conditions
specified in the arrangement, explicit or implicit, regarding the promised goods or services. In
making this assessment, management includes the nature/type, cost/value, quantity and the period
of transfer related to the goods or services promised.

(i)  Lease term and Option to Extend under AASB 16

The lease term is defined as the Non-cancellable period of a lease together with both periods
covered by an option to extend the lease if the lessee is reasonably certain to exercise that option;
and also periods covered by an option to terminate the lease if the lessee is reasonably certain not
to exercise that option. The decision on whether or not the options to extend are reasonably going
to be exercised is a key management judgement that the entity will make. The Group determines
the likeliness to exercise on a lease-by-lease basis looking at various factors such as which assets
are strategic and which are key to future strategy of the entity.

(iii)  Impact of COVID-19 on the Group

Demand remained strong during the year of 2020, with our order book reaching the highest level
since production in 2015 and exceeding our maximum operation capacity. Even with the global
economic fallout caused by the COVID-19 outbreak, prices in 2020 have so far been roughly in
line with the 2019 average pricing. The reasons are: (i) zircon is a concentrated industry with a few
suppliers accounting for a large share of the supply base (ii) expectations that a structural supply
deficit would persist, buoying zircon prices.
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NOTE 2: PARENT INFORMATION

The following information has been extracted from the books

and records of the financial information of the Parent Entity

set out below and has been prepared in accordance with

Australian Accounting Standards.
Statement of Financial Position

ASSETS
Current assets
Non-current assets

TOTAL ASSETS

LIABILITIES
Current liabilities
Non-current liabilities

TOTAL LIABILITIES

EQUITY
Issued capital
Accumulated losses

Share-based payment reserve

Non-controlling interest

TOTAL EQUITY

Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

Net (loss)/profit

Total comprehensive income

NOTE 3: REVENUE AND OTHER INCOME

The Group has recognised the following amounts relating to revenue in the statement of profit or loss.

Revenue from contracts with customers

Other income

2020 2019

US$ US$

6,133,005 964,039

4,917,856 750,583

11,050,861 1,714,622

1,162,006 990,494

- 19,145

1,162,006 1,009,639

22,143,644 1,178
(15,398,389) (101,607)
3,143,600 —

- 805,412

9,888,855 704,983
(8.841.676) 12,296

— 12,296

2020 2019

Note US$ US$
3a 8,956,694 6,858,289
3b 110,576 114,459
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a. Revenue from Contracts with Customers

Revenue from contracts with customers represents the amounts received and receivable for production

and distribution of premium Zircon.

2020
US$

b. Other Income
Other income 110,576

2019
US$

114,459

NOTE 4: LOSS FOR THE YEAR

Loss before income tax from continuing operations includes the following specific expenses:

Consolidated Group

2020 2019
US$ US$
a. Expenses
Cost of sales 7,630,173 5,596,003
Interest expense on financial liabilities not classified as at fair value
through profit or loss:
— unrelated parties 14,029 50,627
Finance charges 7,308 12,134
Less: Interest income (376) (5,670)
Net interest expense 20,961 57,091
Employee benefits expense:
— Staff salaries and benefits 265,885 106,822
— Share based payments 3,938,578 —
Loss allowance on financial assets and other items:
loss allowance on trade receivables 444
Rental expense on operating leases
— short-term lease expense 100,366 111,467
Depreciation and amortization 129,173 76,399

NOTE 5: ACQUISITION OF TAKMUR PTE. LTD. (“TAKMUR”)

On 30 July 2019, Pyx Resources Limited (“PYX”) entered into a Share Exchange Agreement with the
shareholders of Takmur (“Takmur Vendors”), whereby Pyx would acquire 100% of Takmur, subject to certain
conditions precedent. This transaction completed on 31 January 2020 with PYX issuing 210,274,171 shares to
Takmur Vendors. This transaction constituted a Reverse Takeover (“RTO”). On completion of the transaction,

PYX’s shares were re-instated to quotation on the NSX on 24 February 2020.

Under the accounting standards, when a transaction involves the transfer of consideration through the issue of
shares, the directors must make an assessment of who the accounting acquirer in the transaction is by examining

the following indicators of control, post-transaction, including a) the proportion of shareholder representation in

the newly merged group from each transacting entity; and b) the ability of that shareholder group to influence

control through its power over the governance and operations of the newly merged entity.
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After due consideration by the Board and management of composition and other factors, Takmur was
determined to be the acquirer for accounting purposes. The implications of this RTO of Pyx by Takmur are:

(1) Although PYX was considered to be the legal parent company, Takmur was deemed to be the parent
company for accounting purposes;

(i)  The consolidated statement of profit or loss for the year ended 31 December 2020 represents the
consolidated results of Takmur and its controlled entities for the year ended 31 December 2020 and the
consolidated results of PYX for the period from 1 February 2020 (date after the RTO) to 31 December
2020;

(iii) The comparative information for the year ended 31 December 2019 represents results of Takmur for the
year ended 31 December 2019, the consolidated results of its controlled entity, PT Andary Usaha
Makmur, for the year ended 31 December 2019 and the consolidated results of its controlled entity, PT
Investasi Mandiri, for the year ended 31 December 2019;

(iv)  The consideration that Takmur is deemed to have paid for PYX is the fair value of PYX’s equity at the
date of the RTO, which was US$4,917,856. This consideration has been allocated to the fair value of
PYX’s intangible and tangible assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities.

When the accounting acquiree does not satisfy the definition of a business, as set out in AASB 3 “Business
Combinations”, the acquisition by the acquirer of the Non-business entity is treated as a share-based payment
under AASB 2 “Share-based payments” and any dilution in the value of equity of the accounting acquirer, plus
any further consideration paid for the acquisition including related transaction costs, less the written-down book
values of its assets and liabilities consolidated into the merged entity is charged to the profit and loss as a
transaction cost. The value of the dilution of equity is calculated at its fair value as at the date of the transaction
(when the transaction is contractually completed — its grant date), being its quoted market value.

Upon consolidation in the newly merged entity, all intergroup balances and transactions between entities in the
pro-forma consolidated group, including any unrealised profits or losses, are eliminated. As at the date of
completion, Takmur Vendors held 210,274,171 shares which represented 79.8% of the post-consolidation
number of shares and shareholders, PYX held 18,284,582 shares, representing 6.9%. Immediately prior to the
RTO the book value of PYX’s net assets was as follows:

30 January

2020

US$
Cash and cash equivalents 311
Other receivables 36,042
Trade and other payables (434,747)
Borrowings (40,747)
Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed (439,141)
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The transaction cost of the RTO, which was booked to the consolidated statement of profit or loss, was

calculated as follows:

Consideration transferred:

Fair value of net liabilities acquired

Transaction costs

30 January
2020
US$

4,917,856
439,141
5,356,997

The consideration transferred has been accounted for as an increase in share capital of US$4,917,856.

Deemed transaction costs have been expensed in the Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss for the year ended
31 December 2020.

NOTE 6: TAX EXPENSE

The components of tax benefit/(expense) income comprise:
Current tax
Deferred tax

The prima facie tax on (loss) from ordinary activities before income
tax is reconciled to income tax as follows:

(Loss) before income tax expense

Prima facie tax payable on (loss) from ordinary activities before
income tax at 27.5% (2019: 27.5%)

Effect of different tax rate of subsidiaries

Add:

Tax effect of:

— Non-allowable items

— Tax losses and temporary differences not recognised as deferred tax
assets

— Tax credit

Income tax benefit/(expense)

NOTE 7: KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL COMPENSATION

Consolidated Group

2020 2019

US$ US$

- (12,465)

262,861 1,373
262,861 (11,092)
(14,083,464) (47,294)
3,872,953 13,006
(213,012) (325)
(1,605) (5,540)
(3,395,474) (18,233)
262,861 (11,092)

Refer to the remuneration report contained in the directors’ report for details of the remuneration paid or

payable to each member of the Group’s key management personnel (KMP) for the year ended 31 December

2020.
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The totals of remuneration paid to KMP of the Company and the Group during the year are as follows

Short-term employee benefits
Share-based payments

Total KMP compensation

NOTE 8: AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

Remuneration of the auditor for:

Audit or review of financial statement
Pitcher Partners BA & A Pty Ltd.
Hall Chadwick (NSW)

Due diligence

Hall Chadwick (NSW)

Other services

Hall Chadwick (NSW)

Pitcher Partners BA & A Pty Ltd.

NOTE 9: LOSS PER SHARE

Reconciliation of losses to profit or loss:
Loss attributable to Non-controlling equity interest

Loss used to calculate basic and dilutive EPS

Weighted average number of ordinary shares on issue used in the
calculating of basic loss per share
Weighted average number of dilutive options outstanding
Weighted average number of dilutive performance rights outstanding
Weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding
during the year used in calculating dilutive loss per share

Loss per share
Basic loss per share (cents)
Diluted loss per share (cents)
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2020 2019
US$ US$
27,603 -
3,938,578 -
3,966,181 129,100

Consolidated Group

2020 2019
US$ US$
8,847 7,618
58,359 29,976
- 53,405

755 14,793

- 6,602
67,961 112,394

Consolidated Group

2020 2019
US$ US$
(13,820,603) (58,386)
(13,820,603) (58,386)
No. No.
237,772,257 2,442
537,500 -
13,971,527 -
252,281,284 2,442
(6) (2,390)
(5.5) (2,390)




NOTE 10: CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash at bank and on hand

Reconciliation of cash

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial year
as shown in the statement of cash flows is reconciled to
items in the statement of financial position as follows:

Cash and cash equivalents

NOTE 11: TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

Note
CURRENT

Trade receivables
Amount due from a unrelated entity

Other receivables
GST/VAT receivable
Provision for impairment 1la (i)

Total current trade and other receivables
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Consolidated Group

2020 2019
US$ US$
3,509,395 93,071
3,509,395 93,071
3,509,395 93,071
3,509,395 93,071

Consolidated Group

2020 2019
US$ US$
148,000 51,178
- 406,826
148,000 458,004
205,355 8,892
16,450 2,804
(1,178) (1,178)
220,627 10,518
368,627 468,522




The following table shows the movement in lifetime expected credit loss that has been recognised for trade and
other receivables in accordance with the simplified approach set out in AASB 9: Financial Instruments.

Opening Net Closing
balance measurement balance
1 January of loss Amounts 31 December
2019 allowance written off 2019
US$ US$ US$ US$
a. Lifetime Expected Credit Loss:
Credit Impaired
(1) Current other receivables - 738 444 1,178
- 738 444 1,178
Opening Net Closing
balance measurement balance
1 January of loss Amounts 31 December
2020 allowance written off 2020
US$ US$ US$ US$
(1) Current other receivables 1,178 — — 1,178
1,178 - - 1,178

The Group applies the simplified approach to providing for expected credit losses prescribed by AASB 9, which
permits the use of the lifetime expected loss provision for all trade receivables. To measure the expected credit
losses, trade receivables have been grouped based on shared credit risk characteristics and the days past due.
The loss allowance provision as at 31 December 2020 is determined as follows; the expected credit losses also
incorporate forward-looking information.

The “amounts written off” are all due to customers declaring bankruptcy, or term receivables that have now
become unrecoverable.

Credit Risk

The Group has no significant concentration of credit risk with respect to any single counterparty or group of
counterparties other than those receivables specifically provided for and mentioned within Note 11. The class of
assets described as “trade and other receivables” is considered to be the main source of credit risk related to the
Group.

The Group always measures the loss allowance for trade receivables at an amount equal to lifetime expected
credit loss. The expected credit losses on trade receivables are estimated using a provision matrix by reference
to past default experience of the debtor and an analysis of the debtor’s current financial position, adjusted for
factors that are specific to the debtor, general economic conditions of the industry in which the debtor operates
and an assessment of both the current and the forecast direction of conditions at the reporting date.

There has been no change in the estimation techniques used or significant assumptions made during the current
reporting period.
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The Group writes off a trade receivable when there is information indicating that the debtor is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of recovery; for example, when the debtor has been placed
under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy proceedings, or when the trade receivables are over two years
past due, whichever occurs earlier. None of the trade receivables that have been written off are subject to
enforcement activities.

b. Collateral Held as Security
The Group does not hold any collateral over the trade and other receivables.
c. Financial Assets Measured at Amortised Cost
Consolidated Group
2020 2019
Note US$ US$
Trade and other receivables:

— total current 368,627 468,522
— total Non-current - -

Total financial assets measured at amortised cost 24 368,627 468,522

d. Collateral Pledged
The Group does not hold any collateral over the trade and other receivables.
NOTE 12: INVENTORIES

Consolidated Group

2020 2019
Note US$ US$

CURRENT
At cost: 88,935 8,203
Raw materials 33,768 275,820
Finished goods 122,703 284,023
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NOTE 13: INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

a. Information about Principal Subsidiaries
The subsidiaries listed below have share capital consisting solely of ordinary shares, which are held
directly or indirectly by the Group. The proportion of ownership interests held equals the voting rights

held by the Group. Each subsidiary’s principal place of business is also its country of incorporation.

Country of Incorporation and

Principal Ownership Proportion of
Place of Interest Held by Non-controlling

Name of Subsidiary Business the Group Interests
2020 2019 2020 2019
% % % %
Takmur Pte Limited (Holding Company) Singapore 100% - - -

PT Andary Usaha Makmur

(Operator and Manager) Indonesia 99% 99% 1% 1%
PT Investasi Mandiri (Operations) Indonesia - - 100%* 100%™

The non-controlling interests in PT Andary Usaha Makmur is not material to the Group.

Subsidiary financial statements used in the preparation of these consolidated financial statements have
also been prepared as at the same reporting date as the Group’s financial statements.

b. Acquisition of Controlled Entities

Details of acquisition of Takmur Pte Limited are disclosed at note 5.

* This entity is accounted for as a controlled entity on the basis that control was obtained through the execution of an exclusive operations
and management agreement between PT Andary Usaha Makmur and PT Investasi Mandiri and was for nil purchase consideration.
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Summarised Financial Information of Subsidiaries with Material Non-controlling Interests

Set out below is the summarised financial information for each subsidiary that has Non-controlling

interests that are material to the Group, before any intragroup eliminations.

Summarised Financial Position
Current assets

Non-current assets

Current liabilities

Non-current liabilities

NET ASSETS

Carrying amount of Non-controlling interests

Summarised Financial Performance
Revenue

(Loss)/profit after income tax
Other comprehensive income after tax

Total comprehensive income

(Loss)/profit attributable to Non-controlling interests

Distributions paid to Non-controlling interests

Summarised Cash Flow Information

Net cash (used in)/from operating activities
Net cash used in investing activities
Net cash from/(used in) financing activities

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents
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PT Investasi Mandiri

2020 2019
US$ US$
1,046,766 1,030,374
1,362,019 742,808
(2,652,214) (951,530)
(16,773) (19,145)
(260,202) 802,507
(260,202) 802,507
8,956,694 6,858,289
(1,044,970) 38,604
(17,739) 12,296
(1,062,709) 50,900
(1,062,709) 50,900
(1,036,099) (190,794)
(469,219) (144,220)
1,608,935 403,303
103,617 68,289




NOTE 14: PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Land and Buildings
Freehold land at cost

Total land

Buildings at cost
Accumulated depreciation

Total buildings
Total land and buildings

Plant and Equipment
Plant and equipment at cost
Accumulated depreciation

Total plant and equipment

Motor Vehicles
Motor vehicles at cost
Accumulated depreciation

Total motor vehicles

Furniture and Fittings
Furniture and fittings at cost
Accumulated depreciation

Total furniture and fittings

Total property, plant and equipment

a. Movements in Carrying Amounts

Consolidated Group

2020 2019
US$ US$
194,542 57,053
194,542 57,053
802,470 661,720
(139,161) (107,675)
663,309 554,045
857,851 611,098
520,385 103,263
(106,687) (59,610)
413,698 43,653
22,894 -
(3,816) -
19,078 -
30,668 -
(3,461) -
27,207 -
1,317,834 654,751

Movements in the carrying amounts for each class of property, plant and equipment between the
beginning and the end of the current financial year:

Consolidated Group:
Balance at 1 Jan 2019
Additions

Depreciation expense

Balance at 31 Dec 2019

Balance at 1 Jan 2020

Additions
Depreciation expense

Balance at 31 Dec 2020

Freehold Plant and Motor Furniture
Land Buildings Equipment Vehicles and Fittings Total
US$ US$ US$ US$ US$ US$
43,851 453,366 38,280 - - 535,497
13,202 126,332 22,329 - - 161,863
- (25,653) (16,956) - - (42,609)
57,053 554,045 43,653 - - 654,751
57,053 554,045 43,653 - - 654,751
137,489 140,750 417,122 22,894 30,668 748,923
- (31,486) (47,077) (3,816) (3,461) (85,840)
194,542 663,309 413,698 19,078 27,207 1,317,834
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NOTE 15: INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Goodwill:
Cost
Accumulated impairment losses

Net carrying amount

Mining License Renewal:
Cost
Accumulated amortization

Net carrying amount

Total intangible assets

Consolidated Group:

Year ended 31 December 2019

Balance at the beginning of the year
Acquisitions through business combinations

Closing value at 31 December 2019

Year ended 31 December 2020
Balance at the beginning of the year
Addition

Amortisation

Closing value at 31 December 2020
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Consolidated Group

2020 2019
US$ US$
7,774 7,774
7,774 7,774
88,984 -
(4,449) -
84,535 -
92,309 7,774
Mining

Goodwill License Total
US$ US$ US$
7,774 - 7,774
7,774 - 7,774
7,774 - 7,774
- 88,984 88,984

- (4,449) (4,449)
7,774 84,535 92,309




NOTE 16: RIGHT OF USE ASSETS

The Group’s lease portfolio includes motor vehicles & Office Building. These leases have an average of 4 years

for the vehicle and 2 years for Office Building as their lease term.
(i) AASB 16 Related Amounts Recognised in the Balance Sheet

Right of use assets

2020 2019
US$ US$

Leased Buildings 11,187
Accumulated depreciation (3,736)

7,451
Leased Motor Vehicles 140,484 140,484
Accumulated depreciation (87,574) (52,426)

52,910 88,058
Total Right of use assets 60,361 88,058
Movement in carrying amounts:
Leased Buildings:
Additions 11,187
Depreciation expense (3,736) -
Net Carrying Amount 7,451 -
Leased Motor Vehicles:
Opening balance 88,058 63,092
Additions - 69,776
Disposals - (11,020)
Depreciation expense (35,148) (33,790)
Net Carrying Amount 52,910 88,058
Total Right of use assets 60,361 88,058
(ii) AASB 16 Related Amounts Recognised in the Statement of Profit or Loss

2020 2019

US$ US$
Depreciation charge related to right-of-use assets 38,884 33,790
Interest expense on lease liabilities 7,308 12,134
Short term lease expenses 100,366 111,467
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NOTE 17: TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

Consolidated Group

2020 2019
Note $ $
CURRENT
Unsecured liabilities:
Trade payables 311,647 160,359
Sundry payables and accrued expenses 1,315,155 296,100
1,626,802 456,459
a. Financial Liabilities at Amortised Cost Classified as Trade
and Other Payables
Trade and other payables:
— total current 1,626,802 456,459
Financial liabilities as trade and other payables 24 1,626,802 456,459

NOTE 18: LEASE LIABILITIES
At 31 December 2020, the Group had lease liabilities as follows:

Consolidated Group

2020 2019

US$ US$

Current 1,780 40,797
Non-current 16,773 19,145
18,553 59,942

NOTE 19: TAX

Consolidated Group

2020 2019
US$ US$
CURRENT
Income tax recoverable 36,216 —
Income tax payable - (102,086)

- 129 -



NOTE 20: ISSUED CAPITAL

Consolidated Group

2020 2019

US$ US$

267,777,037 (2019: 2,500) fully paid ordinary shares 14,873,158 1,178
14,873,158 1,178

Consolidated Group

2020 2019
No. of  Contributed No. of Contributed
shares equity Shares equity
US$ US$
a. Ordinary Shares

At the beginning of the reporting period 2,500 1,178 1,000 734
Elimination of Takmur Pte Ltd. (2,500) - - -

Shares issued during the year:
— 15 January 2019 - — 1,500 444
— 31 January 2020 18,284,582 - - -
— 31 January 2020 210,274,171 4,917,856 - -
— Share issue costs - (558,519) - -
— 25 February 2020 35,000,000 9,378,600 - -
— 6 April 2020 4,218,284 1,134,043 - -
At the end of the reporting period 267,777,037 14,873,158 2,500 1,178

On 31 January 2020, the Company completed acquisition of Takmur via a reverse takeover. Essentially
the business of Takmur and its controlled entities is the main undertaking of the Group going forward. As
part of the acquisition of Takmur, the Company issued 210,274,171 shares to the vendors of Takmur;

On 31 January 2020, Takmur is deemed to have issued 18,282,082 shares to the shareholders of the
Company at the date of the reverse takeover.

On 25 February 2020, the Company completed a successful capital raise of AU$14million, with
35,000,000 shares issued at AU$0.40 per share;

On 6 April 2020, 4,218,284 shares issued on conversion of 5,186,568 Performance Rights to Shares on
achievement of milestones.

Ordinary shares participate in dividends and the proceeds on winding-up of the Parent Entity in
proportion to the number of shares held.

At the shareholders’ meetings each ordinary share is entitled to one vote when a poll is called; otherwise
each shareholder has one vote on a show of hands.
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b. Capital Management

Management controls the capital of the Group in order to maintain a sustainable debt to equity ratio,

generate long-term shareholder value and ensure that the Group can fund its operations and continue as a

going concern. The Group’s debt and capital include ordinary share capital, redeemable preference

shares, convertible preference shares and financial liabilities, supported by financial assets.

The Group is not subject to any externally imposed capital requirements.

Management effectively manages the Group’s capital by assessing the Group’s financial risks and adjusting its

capital structure in response to changes in these risks and in the market. These responses include the

management of debt levels, distributions to shareholders and share issues.

There have been no changes in the strategy adopted by management to control the capital of the Group since the

prior year.

Total borrowings
Less cash and cash equivalents

Net cash/(debt)
Total equity

Total capital
Gearing ratio

NOTE 21: CAPITAL AND LEASING COMMITMENTS

Lease Liabilities Commitments
Payable — minimum lease payments
— not later than 12 months

— later than 1 year

Minimum lease payments
Less future finance charges

Present value of minimum lease payments

Consolidated Group

2020 2019

Note US$ US$
18,553 451,094

10 3,509,395 93,071
3,490,842 (358,023)

4,520,849 704,983

4.520.849 704,983

0.4% 64%

Consolidated Group

2020 2019
US$ US$
1,780 40,797
16,773 19,145
18,553 59,942
18,553 59,942

The lease on Motor Vehicle, which commenced mostly in 2017, is a 4-year lease with an option to refinance at

the end.
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NOTE 22: CASH FLOW INFORMATION

Consolidated Group

2020 2019
Note US$ US$
Reconciliation of Cash Flows from Operating Activities with
Loss after Income Tax
Loss after income tax (13,820,603) (58,386)
Non-cash flows in (loss):
— depreciation 129,173 76,399
— listing and acquisition costs 7,246,233 —
— share-based payments 3,938,578 -
— exchange difference (102,560) 8,072
— Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment - (1,500)
Changes in assets and liabilities:
— Decrease/(increase) in trade and other receivables 99,896 (388,804)
— increase in advances to suppliers (235,024) -
— decrease in inventories 161,320 418,494
— increase in prepayments and deposits (41,100) -
— decrease in deferred tax assets (264,212) -
— increase in other assets - (117,038)
— decrease in trade and other payables 1,170,343 20,862
— increase in current tax liabilities (138,302) (68,304)
Net cash generated by operating activities (2,086,711) (110,205)
b. Changes in Liabilities Arising from Financing Activities
Non-cash changes
1 January Re- 31 December
2020 Cash flows Acquisition classification 2020
US$ US$ US$ US$ US$
Short term borrowings 391,152 (391,152) - - -
Lease liabilities 59,942 (41,389) - - 18,553
Total 451,094 (432,541) - - 18,553
c. Non-cash Financing and Investing Activities

(i) Share issue:

Refer to note 20 for details of Non-cash financing activities arising from shares issued.

(ii) RTO:

Refer to note 5 for details of Non-cash financing activities arising from RTO.
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NOTE 23: RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Transaction Services Pty Ltd, is a related party of Mr. Martino who resigned on 31 January 2020 and provides
office rental and office supplies. For the period to 31 January 2020 Transaction Services Pty Ltd was paid Nil
(2019 financial year: $33,620 (AU$50,000)) inclusive of GST and expenses recognised for the period to 31
January 2020 totaled Nil (2019 financial year: $86,418 (AU$128,522)) inclusive of GST. During the year ended
31 December 2019 Transaction Services Pty Ltd received 21,773,051 shares pre-consolidation (1,088,652 post
20: 1 consolidation) for fees outstanding as at 30 June 2019 at a price of AU$0.015 per share.

Indian Ocean Corporate Pty Ltd is a related party of Mr. Martino who resigned on 31 January 2020 and provides
company secretarial and accounting services to the Company. For the period to 31 January 2020, Indian Ocean
Corporate Pty Ltd was paid $40,680 (AU$60,500) (2019: NIL), inclusive of GST and expenses recognised for
that period totaled $3,698 (AU$5,500) (2019: $81,360 (AU$121,000)) inclusive of GST. A total of Nil (2019:
$36,982 (AU$55,000)), inclusive of GST, remains due and payable at year end. During the year ended 31
December 2019 Indian Ocean Corporate Pty Ltd received 16,866,667 shares pre-consolidation (843,333 shares
post 20:1 consolidation) for fees outstanding as at 30 June 2019 at a price of AU$0.015 per share.

Indian Ocean Consulting Group is a related party of Mr. Martino who resigned on 31 January 2020 and provides
taxation services to the Company. For the period to 31 January 2020, Indian Ocean Consulting Group has been
paid $1,331 (AU$1,980) (2019: $444 (AU$660)) inclusive of GST, expenses recognized for the period to 31
January 2020 totaled Nil (2019: $1,775 (AU$2,640)) inclusive of GST. A total of Nil (2019: $1,331
(AU$1,980)), inclusive of GST, remains due and payable at year end.

Fanucci Pty Ltd, a related party of Mr. Martino, provided a loan to the Company during the year. As at year end
the balance was $Nil (2019: $51,313 (AU$76,314)), and all amounts have been repaid. The loan was interest
free and repayable on demand. No security has been provided in respect of the loan.

Phoenician Management Services Limited, a related party of Mr. Hasler, provided management support, general
administration and IT services to PT Investasi Mandiri, after acquisition. Phoenician Management Services
Limited has been paid and expenses recognised during the year totalled $494,008 (2019: $315,662).

NOTE 24: FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group’s financial instruments consist mainly of deposits with banks, accounts receivable and payable, loan
and leases.

The totals for each category of financial instruments, measured in accordance with AASB 9: Financial
Instruments as detailed in the accounting policies to these financial statements, are as follows:

Consolidated Group

2020 2019
Note US$ US$
Financial assets
Financial assets at amortised cost
— cash and cash equivalents 10 3,509,395 93,071
— trade and other receivables 1llc 368,627 468,522
Total financial assets 3,878,022 561,593
Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities at amortised cost:
— trade and other payables 17 1,626,802 456,459
— Lease liabilities
Current 18 1,780 40,797
Non-current 18 16,773 19,145
Total financial liabilities 1,645,355 516,401
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Financial Risk Management Policies

The Finance and Operations Committee (FOC) has been delegated responsibility by the Board of Directors for,
among other issues, managing financial risk exposures of the Group. The FOC monitors the Group’s financial
risk management policies and exposures and approves financial transactions within the scope of its authority. It
also reviews the effectiveness of internal controls relating to commodity price risk, counterparty credit risk,
foreign currency risk, liquidity risk, and interest rate risk. The FOC meets on a bi-monthly basis and minutes of
the FOC are reviewed by the Board.

The FOC’s overall risk management strategy seeks to assist the Consolidated Group in meeting its financial
targets, while minimising potential adverse effects on financial performance. Its functions include the review of
the use of hedging derivative instruments, credit risk policies and future cash flow requirements.

Specific Financial Risk Exposures and Management

The main risks the Group is exposed to through its financial instruments are credit risk, liquidity risk, and
market risk consisting of interest rate risk, foreign currency risk and other price risk (commodity and equity
price risk). There have been no substantive changes in the types of risks the Group is exposed to, how these
risks arise, or the Board’s objectives, policies and processes for managing or measuring the risks from the
previous period.

a. Credit Risk

Exposure to credit risk relating to financial assets arises from the potential Non-performance by
counterparties of contract obligations that could lead to a financial loss to the Group.

Credit risk is managed through the maintenance of procedures (such as the utilisation of systems for the
approval, granting and renewal of credit limits, regular monitoring of exposures against such limits and
monitoring of the financial stability of significant customers and counterparties), ensuring to the extent
possible that customers and counterparties to transactions are of sound credit worthiness. Such monitoring
is used in assessing receivables for impairment. Depending on the division within the Group, credit terms

are generally 14 to 30 days from the invoice date.

Trade and other receivables that are neither past due nor impaired are considered to be of high credit
quality. Aggregates of such amounts are detailed in Note 11.

b. Liquidity Risk
Liquidity risk arises from the possibility that the Group might encounter difficulty in settling its debts or
otherwise meeting its obligations related to financial liabilities. The Group manages this risk through the

following mechanisms:

- preparing forward-looking cash flow analyses in relation to its operating, investing and financing
activities;

- obtaining funding from a Parent Group;
- maintaining a reputable credit profile;
- managing credit risk related to financial assets; and

- comparing the maturity profile of financial liabilities with the realisation profile of financial assets.
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The following table reflects an undiscounted contractual maturity analysis for financial assets and

financial liabilities.

Cash flows realised from financial assets reflect management’s expectation as to the timing of realisation.

Actual timing may therefore differ from that disclosed. The timing of cash flows presented in the table to

settle financial liabilities reflects the earliest contractual settlement dates and does not reflect

management’s expectations that banking facilities will be rolled forward.

Financial liability and financial asset maturity analysis

Consolidated Group

Financial liabilities due for
payment

Trade and other payables

Lease liabilities

Total expected outflows

Financial assets — cash flows
realisable

Cash and cash equivalents

Trade and other receivables

Total anticipated inflows

Net (outflow)/inflow on
financial instruments

Within 1 Year 1to S Years Total
2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019
US$ US$ US$ US$ US$ US$
1,626,802 456,459 - - 1,626,802 456,459
1,780 40,797 16,773 19,145 18,553 59,942
1,628,582 497,256 16,773 19,145 1,645,355 516,401
3,509,395 93,071 - - 3,509,395 93,071
368,627 468,522 - - 368,627 468,522
3,878,022 561,593 — - 3,878,022 561,593
2,249,440 64,337 (16,773) (19,145) 2,232,667 45,192
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Market Risk

©)

(ii)

Other price risk

Other price risk relates to the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument
will fluctuate because of changes in market prices for Zircon largely due to demand and supply
factors (other than those arising from interest rate risk or foreign currency risk) for sand minerals.

The Group is exposed to commodity price risk through the operations of its Zircon Produce.
Contracts for the sale and physical delivery of Zircons are executed whenever possible on a pricing
basis intended to achieve a relevant index target. Where pricing terms deviate from the index,
derivative commodity contracts may be used when available to return realised prices to the index.
Contracts for the physical delivery of Zircon are generally not financial instruments and are carried
in the statement of financial position at cost (typically at nil). There were no hedges in place at the
end of the reporting period.

Foreign currency risk

Exposure to foreign currency risk may result in the fair value or future cash flows of a financial
instrument fluctuating due to movement in foreign exchange rates of currencies in which the Group
holds financial instruments which are other than the USD functional and presentation currency of
the Group.

With instruments being held by overseas operations, fluctuations in the IDR and AUD may impact
on the Group’s financial results unless those exposures are appropriately hedged.

The following table shows the foreign currency risk on the financial assets and liabilities of the
Group’s operations denominated in currencies other than the functional currency of the Group’s
operations. The foreign currency risk in the books of the Parent Entity is considered immaterial
and is therefore not shown.

2020 Net Financial Assets/(Liabilities) in USD
Consolidated Group USD AUD Total USD

Functional currency of entity:

US dollar - 970,376 970,376
Indonesian Rupiah 265,679 - 265,679
Statement of financial position exposure 265,679 970,376 1,236,055
2019 Net Financial Assets/(Liabilities) in USD

Consolidated Group USD AUD Total USD

Functional currency of entity:

US Dollar (4,656) (4,656)
Indonesian Rupiah (405,912) - (405,912)
Statement of financial position exposure (405,912) (4,656) (410,568)
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Fair Values
Fair value estimation

The fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities are presented in the following table and
can be compared to their carrying amounts as presented in the statement of financial position.

Differences between fair values and carrying amounts of financial instruments with fixed interest
rates are due to the change in discount rates being applied by the market since their initial
recognition by the Group.

2020 2019
Carrying Fair Carrying Fair
Amount Value Amount Value
Consolidated Group Note US$ US$ US$ US$
Financial assets
Financial assets at amortised
cost:
Cash and cash equivalents® 10 3,509,395 3,509,395 93,071 93,071
Trade and other receivables® 11 368,627 368,627 468,522 468,522
Total financial assets 3,878,022 3,878,022 561,593 561,593
Financial liabilities at
amortised cost
Trade and other payables® 17 1,626,802 1,626,802 456,459 456,459
Lease liabilities® 18 18,553 18,553 59,942 59,942
Total financial liabilities 1,645,355 1,645,355 516,401 516,401

® The carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents, trade and other receivables, trade and other payables and lease liabilities are
equivalent to their fair values.
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NOTE 25: RESERVES

a. Share Based Payment Reserve

The share based payment reserve records items recognised as expenses on valuation of share based
payments.

b. Foreign Currency Translation Reserve

The foreign currency translation reserve records exchange differences arising on translation of the foreign
controlled subsidiaries.

c. Analysis of Each Class of Reserve

Consolidated Group

2020 2019
US$ US$
Share Based Payment Reserve
Share based payments 3,938,578 -
Issue of shares to employees (1,134,043) —
Movement in share based payment reserve 2,804,535 —
Foreign Currency Translation Reserve
Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations (22,084) -
Movement in foreign currency translation reserve (22,084) -
Total 2,782,451 -

NOTE 26: EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

On 15 February 2021, the company has completed the transaction to acquire the entire share capital of Tisma
Development (HK) Ltd. (Tisma), the operator of a world-class mineral sands asset consisting of a concession
area of 1,500 hectares located in Central Kalimantan Province, Indonesia on via the issue of 147,277,370 Shares

in PYX to the shareholders of the Tisma.

No other significant events being noted by the management since the end of the reporting period.
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HALL CHADWICKS' (NSW)

PYX RESOURCES LIMITED
ABN 30 073 099 171
AND CONTROLLED ENTITIES

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF SYDNEY
Level 40,2 Park Street

PYX RESOURCES LIMITED AND CONTROLLED ENTITIES Sydney NSW 2000
Australia Ph:
(6112)3223 2600 Fx:
(612)9263 2800

REPORT ON THE FINANCIAL REPORT
Opinion

We have audited the financial report of PYX Resources Limited and controlled entities (the Group), which
comprises the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2020, the consolidated statement
of profit or loss, the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in
equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated
financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information,
and the directors’ declaration.

In our opinion the accompanying financial report of the Group is in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001,
including:

(a) giving a true and fair view of the Group’s financial position as at 31 December 2020 and of its
performance for the year then ended; and for

(b)  complying with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations 2001 .
Basis of Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Those standards require that we
comply with relevant ethical requirements relating to audit engagements and plan and perform the audit to
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report is free from material misstatement. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibility section of our report.
We are independent of the Company in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001 and the ethical requirements
of the Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board’s APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (the Code) that are relevant to our audit of the financial report in Australia. We have also fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.

We confirm that the independence declaration required by the Corporation Act 2001, which has been given to
the directors of the company, would be in the same terms if given to the directors as at the time of this auditor’s
report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion.

A Member of PrimeGlobal
An Association of independent
Accounting Firms
PrimeGlobal

SYDNEY ¢« PENRITH = MELBOURNE = ADELAIDE  PERTH = DARWIN « BRISBANE
Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation

www.hallchadwick.com.au

- 139 -



Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit

of the financial report for the year ended 31 December 2020. These matters were addressed in the context of our

audit of the financial report as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate

opinion on these matters.
Key Audit Matters

Acquisition of Takmur Pte Ltd
Refer to Note 5 “Acquisition of Takmur Pte Ltd"

During the year, PYX Resources Limited (PYX)
acquired Takmur Pte Ltd (Takmur), for a deemed
purchase consideration of $4,917,856. This acquisition
was considered a significant acquisition for the Group.

Accounting for this transaction is a judgement and
requires management to determine the most
appropriate accounting treatment to account for the
acquisition based on factual circumstances.

It is due to the nature of the acquisition and the
judgement involved in accounting for the acquisition
that this is considered a key audit matter.

Share-based Payments

Refer to Remuneration Report “Compensation
Performance Rights and Options Granted, Exercised.
Converted or Lapsed During the Financial Year”

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the
Company issued performance rights to key
management personnel, which were accounted for as
share-based payments under AASB 2 “Share-based
Payments”.

This was considered a key audit matter as the fair
value of performance rights granted was material and
share-based payments are a complex accounting area
and include assumptions utilised in fair value
calculations and judgments regarding the performance
options and shares issued during the year.

How Our Audit Addressed the Key Audit Matter

Our audit procedures included but not limited to:

. We have read the share exchange agreement to
understand the key terms and conditions.

. We have assessed whether the acquisition was
accounted for in accordance with the Australian
Accounting Standards and in particular whether
the acquisition was considered a reverse
acquisition and if so whether AASB 3
“Business Combinations” and consequently
AASB 2 “Share-based Payments” were the
relevant accounting standards to account for the
acquisition.

o We considered whether fair values or
adjustments to fair values have been dealt with
in accordance with AASB 3.

. We assessed the accuracy of the acquisition
journals at acquisition date.

. We assessed the adequacy of the Group’s
disclosures in respect to the acquisition.

Our audit procedures included but not limited to:

. Evaluating management’s assessment of the
valuation and recognition of the performance
options and shares.

. Obtaining an understanding of the key terms
and conditions of the performance options and
shares by inspecting relevant agreements

. Holding discussions with management to
understand the share-based payments
arrangements in place and evaluating
management's assessment of the likelihood of
meeting the performance conditions attached to
the performance options.
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Going Concern
Refer to Note 1 “Going Concern”

The financial statements have been prepared on a
going concern basis as discussed in Note 1 of the
financial report.

The Group has incurred a loss after income tax of
$13,820,603 and has negative operating cash flows of
$2,091,662 for the year.

The group was listed on the NSX in February 2020
and there was a capital raising associated with the
IPO. The proceeds from the capital raising amounted
to $9.4m.

We included the going concern basis of accounting as
a key audit matter as the Group will rely on existing
cash reserves and revenue growth from operations in
order to pay its debts as and when they fall due over
the next twelve months from the date of this report.

How Our Audit Addressed the Key Audit Matter

. Recalculating the estimated fair value of the
performance options, including assessing the
reasonableness of the key inputs used in the
Company’s valuation model.

. Reviewing the adequacy of the Company’s
disclosures in respect of the accounting
treatment of share-based payments in the
financial statements, including the significant
judgments involved, and the accounting policies
adopted.

Our audit procedures included but not limited to:

o We reviewed the cash flow forecast as a 31
March 2022 provided by management.

. A review of the assumptions and basis of the
cashflow forecast reflected that the Group has
sufficient cash to meet its working capital
requirements over the next 12 months from the
date of this report.

. We have assessed the adequacy of the Group’s
disclosures in respect to going concern.

Information other than the financial report and auditor’s report thereon

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information in the
Group’s annual report for the year ended 31 December 2020 but does not include the financial report and the
auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the financial report does not cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial report, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in
doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial report or our

knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of the other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.
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Responsibilities of the directors for the financial report

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the financial report that gives a true and fair
view in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Act 2001 and for such internal
control as directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of the financial report that gives a true and
fair view and is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial report, the directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

Auditor’s responsibility for the audit of the financial report

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report as a whole is free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance
with Australian Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.

Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of this financial
report.

As part of an audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards, we exercise professional judgement and
maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

- Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

- Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness
of the Group’s internal control.

- Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
and related disclosures made by the directors.

- Conclude on the appropriateness of the director’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based
on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that
may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a
material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related
disclosures in the financial report or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However,
future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

— Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial report, including the disclosures,

and whether the financial report represents the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.
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- Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business
activities within the Group to express an opinion on the financial report. We are responsible for the
direction, supervision and performance of the Group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit
opinion.

We communicate with the directors regarding, amongst other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit
and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during
our audit.

We also provide the directors with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements
regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably
be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the directors, we determine those matters that were of most significance in
the audit of the financial report of the current period and are therefore key audit matters. We describe these
matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the
adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

REPORT ON THE REMUNERATION REPORT

We have audited the remuneration report included in the directors’ report for the year ended 31 December 2020.

In our opinion, the remuneration report of PYX Resources Limited, for the year ended 31 December 2020,
complies with s 300A of the Corporations Act 2001.

Responsibilities

The directors of the company are responsible for the preparation and presentation of the remuneration report in
accordance with s 300A of the Corporations Act 2001. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the
remuneration report, based on our audit conducted in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards.

HALL CHADWICK (NSW)
Level 40, 2 Park Street
Sydney NSW 2000

DREW TOWNSEND
Partner
Dated: 15 March 2021
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SECTION A3: FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF PYX RESOURCES LTD (30 JUNE 2020)

Hall Chadwick Pty Ltd, of Level 40, 2 Park Street, Sydney, NSW 2000, Australia, Chartered Accountants and
statutory auditors to the Company, has given its consent and authorisation for:

1. the inclusion in this Document of the statutory audit report issued with respect to PYX Resources Ltd
Financial Information for the years ended 30 June 2020 included in Section A3 “Financial Information of
PYX Resources (30 June 2020)” of Part 9 “Historical Financial Information”; and

2. the inclusion in this Document of their name.

Their consent and authorisation is provided as required by item 1.3 of Annex 1 of Commission Delegated
Regulation (EU) 2019/980 supplementing the Prospectus Regulation.

Hall Chadwick Pty Ltd has no material interest in the Company.
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HALL CHADWICKS (NSW)

PYX RESOURCES LIMITED
(FORMERLY SOUTH PACIFIC RESOURCES LIMITED)
ABN 30 073 099 171
AND CONTROLLED ENTITIES

AUDITOR’S INDEPENDENCE DECLARATION
UNDER SECTION 301C OF THE CORPORATIONS ACT 2001
TO THE DIRECTORS OF PYX RESOURCES LIMITED

In accordance with section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001,1 am pleased to provide the following
declaration of independence to the directors of PYX Resources Limited. As the lead audit partner for the audit
of the financial report of PYX Resources Limited for the year ended 30 June 2020, I declare that, to the best of
my knowledge and belief, there have been no contraventions of:

i the auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 in relation to the audit; and

ii. any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit.

HALL CHADWICK (NSW)
Level 40, 2 Park Street
Sydney NSW 2000

DREW TOWNSEND
Partner
Dated: 11 September 2020

A Member of PrimeGlobal

SYDNEY ¢ PENRITH « MELBOURNE ¢ ADELAIDE ¢« PERTH « DARWIN ¢ BRISBANE
Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation

www.hallchadwick.com.au
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND NOTES
Directors’ Declaration

In accordance with a resolution of the Directors of Pyx Resources Limited (formerly South Pacific Resources
Ltd), I state that:

The financial statements and notes set out on pages 147 to 189 are in accordance with the Corporations Act
2001:

(a)  Comply with Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations 2001, International Financial
Reporting Standards and other mandatory professional reporting requirements; and

(b)  Give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Group at 30 June 2020 and of their performance
for the year ended on that date.

In the Directors’ opinion, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Group will be able to pay its debts as
and when they become due and payable.

This declaration has been made after receiving the declaration required to be made by the Chief Executive
Officer and Senior Financial Controller to the Directors in accordance with section 295A of the Corporations
Act 2001 for the year ended 30 June 2020.

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the Directors.

Oliver Hasler

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
Hong Kong

Date: 11 September 2020
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020

Note

Revenue 3
Cost of sales

Gross Profit

Other income 3
Selling and distribution expenses

Corporate and administrative expenses

Foreign exchange loss

Listing costs

Acquisition costs

(Loss)/profit before interest and tax
Interest (expense)/benefit

(Loss)/profit before income tax
Income tax benefit/(expense) 6

Net (loss)/profit for the year

Net profit attributable to:
Owners of the Parent Entity
Non-controlling interests

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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Consolidated Group

2020 2019

US$ US$
7,816,397 2,903,161
6,512,164)  (2,208,997)
1,304,233 694,164
98,254 39,200
(153,741) (119,190)
(4,836,486) (296,335)
(228,195) -
(5,356,997) -
(1,795,519) -
(10,968,451) 317,839
(75,714) 155
(11,044,165) 317,994
158,271 (84,264)
(10,885,894) 233,730
(10,300,840) (19,730)
(585,054) 253,460
(10,885,894) 233,730




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020

Consolidated Group

2020 2019
Note US$ US$
Net (loss)/profit for the year (10,885,894) 233,730
Other comprehensive income
Items that will be reclassified subsequently to
profit or loss when specific conditions are met:
Exchange differences on translating foreign operations, net of tax 39,585 -
Total comprehensive income for the year (10,846,309) 233,730
Total comprehensive income attributable to:
Owners of the Parent Entity (10,308,643) (19,730)
Non-controlling interests (537,666) 253,460
(10,846,309) 233,730
Loss per share
Basic loss per share (cents) 9 (10) (1,170)
Diluted loss per share (cents) 9 ) (1,170)

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

AS AT 30 JUNE 2020

ASSETS

CURRENT ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents
Trade and other receivables
Advances to suppliers
Prepayments and deposits
Inventories

TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS

NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Trade and other receivables
Property, plant and equipment
Intangible assets

Right of use assets

Deferred tax assets

TOTAL NON-CURRENT ASSETS
TOTAL ASSETS

LIABILITIES
CURRENT LIABILITIES
Trade and other payables
Lease liabilities

Current tax liabilities

TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
Lease liabilities
TOTAL NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES

TOTAL LIABILITIES
NET ASSETS

EQUITY

Issued capital
Reserves
Accumulated losses

Equity attributable to owners of the Parent Entity

Non-controlling interest

TOTAL EQUITY

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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Note

10
11

12

11
14
15
16

17
18
19

18

20
25

Consolidated Group

2020 2019
US$ US$
4,209,174 210,750
708,091 202,718
353,436 120,594
13,155 -
183,116 472,202
5,466,972 1,006,264
- 201,000
1,178,246 566,171
7,774 7,774
75,760 115,413
85,780 -
1,347,560 890,358
6,814,532 1,896,622
328,121 600,874
19,590 43,594
39,884 212,826
387,595 857,294
18,608 42,557
18,608 42,557
406,203 899,851
6,408,329 996,771
14,873,158 1,178
1,378,084 -
(10,320,570) (19,730)
5,930,672 (18,552)
477,657 1,015,323
6,408,329 996,771




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020

Consolidated Group

Non-
Ordinary Accumulated controlling
Shares losses Subtotal Interests Total
US$ US$ US$ US$ US$
On incorporation 734 - 734 - 734
Comprehensive income
Profit for the year - (19,730) (19,730) 253,460 233,730
Other comprehensive income for the year - - - - -
Total comprehensive income for the year - (19,730) (19,730) 253,460 233,730
Transactions with owners, in their
capacity as owners, and other transfers
Shares issued during the year 444 - 444 - 444
Non-controlling interests on acquisitions - - - 761,863 761,863
Total transactions with owners and
other transfers 444 - 444 761,863 762,307
Balance at 30 June 2019 1,178 (19,730) (18,552) 1,015,323 996,771
Share Foreign
Based Exchange Non-
Ordinary Payment Translation Accumulated controlling
Shares Reserve Reserve losses Subtotal Interests Total
US$ US$ US$ US$ US$ US$ US$
Balance at 1 July 2019 1,178 - - (19,730) (18,552) 1,015,323 996,771
Comprehensive income
Loss for the year - - ~(10,300,840) (10,300,840) (585,054)  (10,885,894)
Other comprehensive
income for the year - - (7,803) - (7,803) 47,388 39,585
Total comprehensive
income for the year - - (7,803)  (10,300,840) (10,308,643) (537,666)  (10,846,309)
Transactions with
owners, in their
capacity as owners,
and other transfers
Shares issued during the
year 14,296,456 - - - 14,296,456 - 14,296,456
Share issue costs (558,519) - - - (558,519) - (558,519)
Share based payments - 2,519,930 - - 2,519,930 - 2,519,930
Issue of shares to
employees 1,134,043 (1,134,043) - - - - -
Total transactions with
owners and other
transfers 14,871,980 1,385,887 - - 16,257,867 - 16,257,867
Balance at 30 June 2020 14,873,158 1,385,887 (7,803) (10,320,570) 5,930,672 477,657 6,408,329

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Receipts from customers

Payments to suppliers and employees

Other income

Interest received

Finance costs

Income tax paid

Net cash (used in)/generated by operating activities

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchase of property, plant and equipment
Payments for acquisitions, net of cash acquired

Net cash used in investing activities

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from issue of shares

Repayments of lease liabilities

Proceeds from borrowings

Repayment of borrowings

Acquisition and capital raising costs

Net cash provided by/(used in) financing activities

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents

Note

22

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of financial year

Effect of foreign exchange rate changes

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of financial year 10

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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Consolidated Group

2020 2019
US$ US$
7,210,387 2,903,035
(9,008,529)  (2,708,826)
98,254 115,813
349 5,456
(76,063) (5,301)
(96,746) (41,828)
(1,872,348) 268,349
(671,874) (52,544)
311 17,468
(671,563) (35,076)
9,378,600 444
(42,243) (22,967)
2,732 -
(41,399) -
(2,524,348) -
6,773,342 (22,523)
4,229,431 210,750
210,750 -
(231,007) -
4,209,174 210,750




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020

The consolidated financial statements and notes represent those of Pyx Resources Limited and Controlled
Entities (the Consolidated Group or Group).

The separate financial statements of the Parent Entity, Pyx Resources Limited have not been presented within
this financial report as permitted by the Corporations Act 2001.

The financial statements were authorised for issue on 11 September 2020 by the directors of the Company.
NOTE 1: SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Basis of Preparation

These general purpose consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the
Corporations Act 2001, Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations of the Australian Accounting
Standards Board and in compliance with International Financial Reporting Standards as issued by the
International Accounting Standards Board. The Group is a for-profit entity for financial reporting purposes
under Australian Accounting Standards. Material accounting policies adopted in the preparation of these
financial statements are presented below and have been consistently applied unless stated otherwise. Except for
cash flow information, the financial statements have been prepared on an accrual basis and are based on
historical costs, modified, where applicable, by the measurement at fair value of selected Non-current assets,
financial assets and financial liabilities.

Going Concern

During the year ended 30 June 2020 the Group incurred a loss after tax of US$10,885,894 and had negative cash
flows from operations of US$1,872,348.

Management has considered it is appropriate to prepare the financial statements on a going concern basis. The
year-end cash position of the Group was US$4,209,174. The losses and negative cash flows from operations in
the year of 2020 were because of the Non-recurring items of US$10,013,781. The main Non-recurring items in
the period were Non-capitalized listing expenses of US$1,795,519, RTO transaction loss of US$5,356,997
(accounting for the transaction loss on the reverse acquisition of Pyx Resources Ltd.) and accrual of
management’s share-based payments of US$2,519,930. The underlying EBITDA for the period was negative
US$860,927 only. Management has a detailed plan to increase the mining and production capacity which is
expected to generate profit and positive cash flows from operations in the forthcoming years.

These financial statements do not include any adjustments relating to the recoverability and classification of
recorded asset amounts, nor to the amounts or classification of liabilities that might be necessary should the
Group not be able to continue as a going concern.

a. Principles of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate all of the assets, liabilities and results of the Parent
(Pyx Resources Limited) and all of the subsidiaries (including any structured entities). Subsidiaries are
entities the Parent controls. The Parent controls an entity when it is exposed to, or has rights to, variable
returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its power
over the entity. A list of the subsidiaries is provided in Note 13.
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The assets, liabilities and results of all subsidiaries are fully consolidated into the financial statements of
the Group from the date on which control is obtained by the Group. The consolidation of a subsidiary is
discontinued from the date that control ceases. Intercompany transactions, balances and unrealised gains
or losses on transactions between Group entities are fully eliminated on consolidation. Accounting
policies of subsidiaries have been changed and adjustments made where necessary to ensure uniformity of
the accounting policies adopted by the Group.

Equity interests in a subsidiary not attributable, directly or indirectly, to the Group are presented as
“Non-controlling interests”. The Group initially recognises Non-controlling interests that are present
ownership interests in subsidiaries and are entitled to a proportionate share of the subsidiary’s net assets
on liquidation at either fair value or at the Non-controlling interests’ proportionate share of the
subsidiary’s net assets. Subsequent to initial recognition, Non-controlling interests are attributed their
share of profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income. Non-controlling interests are
shown separately within the equity section of the statement of financial position and statement of
comprehensive income.

Business Combinations

Business combinations occur where an acquirer obtains control over one or more businesses.

A business combination is accounted for by applying the acquisition method, unless it is a combination
involving entities or businesses under common control. The business combination will be accounted for from
the date that control is obtained, whereby the fair value of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities
(including contingent liabilities) assumed is recognised (subject to certain limited exemptions).

When measuring the consideration transferred in the business combination, any asset or liability resulting from
a contingent consideration arrangement is also included. Subsequent to initial recognition, contingent
consideration classified as equity is not remeasured and its subsequent settlement is accounted for within equity.
Contingent consideration classified as an asset or liability is remeasured in each reporting period to fair value,
recognising any change to fair value in profit or loss, unless the change in value can be identified as existing at

acquisition date.

All transaction costs incurred in relation to business combinations, other than those associated with the issue of
a financial instrument, are recognised as expenses in profit or loss when incurred.

The acquisition of a business may result in the recognition of goodwill or a gain from a bargain purchase.

Goodwill

Goodwill is carried at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is calculated as the excess of the
sum of:

(1) the consideration transferred at fair value;

(i)  any Non-controlling interest (determined under either the fair value or proportionate interest method);
and

(iii)  the acquisition date fair value of any previously held equity interest;

over the acquisition date fair value of any identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed.
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The acquisition date fair value of the consideration transferred for a business combination plus the acquisition
date fair value of any previously held equity interest shall form the cost of the investment in the separate
financial statements.

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in subsidiaries that do not result in the Group losing control over
the subsidiaries are accounted for as equity transactions. The carrying amounts of the Group’s interests and the
Non-controlling interests are adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative interests in the subsidiaries. Any
difference between the amount by which the noncontrolling interests are adjusted and the fair value of the
consideration paid or received is recognised directly in equity and attributed to owners of the Company.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, a gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss and is calculated as
the difference between (i) the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration received and the fair value of any
retained interest and (ii) the previous carrying amount of the assets (including goodwill), and liabilities of the
subsidiary and any Non-controlling interests. All amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income
in relation to that subsidiary are accounted for as if the Group had directly disposed of the related assets or
liabilities of the subsidiary (ie reclassified to profit or loss or transferred to another category of equity as
specified/permitted by applicable Accounting Standards). The fair value of any investment retained in the
former subsidiary at the date when control is lost is regarded as the fair value on initial recognition for
subsequent accounting under AASB 139: Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement, when
applicable, the cost on initial recognition of an investment in an associate or a joint venture.

The amount of goodwill recognised on acquisition of each subsidiary in which the Group holds less than 100%
interest will depend on the method adopted in measuring the Non-controlling interest. The Group can elect in
most circumstances to measure the Non-controlling interest in the acquiree either at fair value (fullgoodwill
method) or at the Non-controlling interest’s proportionate share of the subsidiary’s identifiable net assets
(proportionate interest method). In such circumstances, the Group determines which method to adopt for each
acquisition and this is stated in the respective note to the financial statements disclosing the business
combination.

Under the full goodwill method, the fair value of the Non-controlling interest is determined using valuation
techniques which make the maximum use of market information where available.

Goodwill on acquisition of subsidiaries is included in intangible assets. Goodwill on acquisition of associates is
included in investments in associates.

Goodwill is tested for impairment annually and is allocated to the Group’s cash-generating units or groups of
cash-generating units, representing the lowest level at which goodwill is monitored and not larger than an
operating segment. Gains and losses on the disposal of an entity include the carrying amount of goodwill related
to the entity disposed of.

Changes in the ownership interests in a subsidiary that do not result in a loss of control are accounted for as
equity transactions and do not affect the carrying amounts of goodwill.

Reverse Acquisition Accounting
On 31 January 2020, Pyx Resources Limited (“PYX”) completed a Reverse Takeover (“RTO”) with Takmur

Pte. Ltd. (“Takmur”). In accordance with accounting standards, this RTO has been accounted for as a reverse
acquisition business combination, described in this financial report as an RTO.
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In applying the requirements of AASB 3 Business Combinations:
(a)  PYX became the legal parent entity to the Group; and
(b)  Takmur, which is neither the legal parent nor legal acquirer, is deemed to be the accounting acquirer.

The consolidated financial information incorporated the assets and liabilities of all entities deemed to be
acquired by Takmur and its controlled entities and the results of these entities for the period from which those
entities are accounted for as being acquired by Takmur. The assets and liabilities of PYX acquired by Takmur
were recorded at fair value whilst the assets and liabilities of Takmur were maintained at their book value. The
impact of all transactions between entities in the Group were eliminated in full. The impact on equity of treating
the formation of the Group as a RTO is discussed in more detail in note 5.

AASB 3 Business Combinations requires that consolidated financial statements prepared following an RTO shall
be issued under the name of the legal parent (i.e. PYX), but be a continuation of the financial statements of the
legal subsidiary (i.e. Takmur. the acquirer for accounting purposes). The implications of applying AASB 3 on
each of the attached financial statements comparatives are as follows:

Statement of Financial Position

The consolidated statement of financial position as at 30 June 2020 represents the consolidated financial
position of Takmur Pte. Ltd. (“Takmur”) and its controlled entities as at 30 June 2020. The consolidated
statement of financial position as at 30 June 2019 represents the consolidated financial position of Takmur and
its controlled entities as at 30 June 2019.

Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

The consolidated statement of profit or loss for the year ended 30 June 2020 represents the consolidated results
of Takmur and its controlled entities for the period from 1 July 2019 to 30 June 2020 and the consolidated
results of PYX for the period from 1 February 2020 (date after the RTO) to 30 June 2020. The comparative
information for the period ended 30 June 2019 represents results of Takmur for the period from 28 June 2018
(date of incorporation) to 30 June 2019, the consolidated results of its controlled entity, PT Andary Usaha
Makmur, for the period from 10 January 2019 to 30 June 2019 and the consolidated results of its controlled
entity, PT Investasi Mandiri, for the period from 24 January 2019 to 30 June 2019.

Application of AASB 16

As disclosed in Note 13(a), the financial statements are those of the accounting acquirer, whose financial
year-end is 31 December. As such, AASB 16 was adopted effective 1 January 2019.

b. Income tax

The income tax expense (income) for the year comprises current income tax expense (income) and
deferred tax expense (income).

Current income tax expense charged to profit or loss is the tax payable on taxable income for the current
period. Current tax liabilities (assets) are measured at the amounts expected to be paid to (recovered
from) the relevant taxation authority using tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax expense reflects movements in deferred tax asset and deferred tax liability balances during
the year as well as unused tax losses.
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Current and deferred income tax expense (income) is charged or credited outside profit or loss when the
tax relates to items that are recognised outside profit or loss or arising from a business combination.

A deferred tax liability shall be recognised for all taxable temporary differences, except to the extent that
the deferred tax liability arises from: (a) the initial recognition of goodwill; or (b) the initial recognition
of an asset or liability in a transaction which: (i) is not a business combination; and (ii) at the time of the
transaction, affects neither accounting profit nor taxable profit (tax loss).

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period
when the asset is realised or the liability is settled and their measurement also reflects the manner in
which management expects to recover or settle the carrying amount of the related asset or liability. With
respect to Non-depreciable items of property, plant and equipment measured at fair value and items of
investment property measured at fair value, the related deferred tax liability or deferred tax asset is
measured on the basis that the carrying amount of the asset will be recovered entirely through sale. When
an investment property that is depreciable is held by the entity in a business model whose objective is to
consume substantially all of the economic benefits embodied in the property through use over time (rather
than through sale), the related deferred tax liability or deferred tax asset is measured on the basis that the
carrying amount of such property will be recovered entirely through use. Deferred tax assets relating to
temporary differences and unused tax losses are recognised only to the extent that it is probable that
future taxable profit will be available against which the benefits of the deferred tax asset can be utilised,
unless the deferred tax asset relating to temporary differences arises from the initial recognition of an
asset or liability in a transaction that:

— is not a business combination; and

- at the time of the transaction, affects neither accounting profit nor taxable profit (tax loss). Where
temporary differences exist in relation to investments in subsidiaries, branches, associates, and
joint ventures, deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised where the timing of the reversal
of the temporary difference can be controlled and it is not probable that the reversal will occur in
the foreseeable future.

Current tax assets and liabilities are offset where a legally enforceable right of set-off exists and it is
intended that net settlement or simultaneous realisation and settlement of the respective asset and liability
will occur. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset where: (i) a legally enforceable right of set-off
exists; and (ii) the deferred tax assets and liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation
authority on either the same taxable entity or different taxable entities where it is intended that net
settlement or simultaneous realisation and settlement of the respective asset and liability will occur in
future periods in which significant amounts of deferred tax assets or liabilities are expected to be
recovered or settled.

Inventories
Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value. The cost of manufactured products
includes direct materials, direct labour and an appropriate proportion of variable and fixed overheads.

Overheads are applied on the basis of normal operating capacity. Costs are assigned on the first-in,
first-out basis.
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Property, plant and equipment

Each class of property, plant and equipment is carried at cost or fair value as indicated less, where
applicable, any accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.

Property, plant and equipment are measured on the cost basis and therefore carried at cost less
accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment. In the event the carrying amount of plant and
equipment is greater than the estimated recoverable amount, the carrying amount is written down
immediately to the estimated recoverable amount and impairment losses are recognised. A formal
assessment of recoverable amount is made when impairment indicators are present (refer to Note 1(g) for
details of impairment).

The carrying amount of plant and equipment is reviewed annually by directors to ensure it is not in
excess of the recoverable amount from these assets. The recoverable amount is assessed on the basis of
the expected net cash flows that will be received from the asset’s employment and subsequent disposal.
The expected net cash flows have been discounted to their present values in determining recoverable
amounts.

The cost of fixed assets constructed within the Consolidated Group includes the cost of materials, direct
labour, borrowing costs and an appropriate proportion of fixed and variable overheads.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as
appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to
the Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. All other repairs and maintenance are
recognised as expenses in profit or loss during the financial period in which they are incurred.

Depreciation

The depreciable amount of all fixed assets including buildings and capitalised leased assets, but excluding
freehold land, is depreciated on a straight-line basis over the asset’s useful life to the Consolidated Group
commencing from the time the asset is held ready for use. Leasehold improvements are depreciated over

the shorter of either the unexpired period of the lease or the estimated useful lives of the improvements.

The depreciation rates used for each class of depreciable assets are:

Class of Fixed Asset Depreciation Rate
Buildings 5%

Plant and Equipment 20%

Furniture and Fittings 25%

Motor Vehicle 25%

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each
reporting period.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying
amount is greater than its estimated recoverable amount.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing proceeds with the carrying amount. These
gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise. Gains shall not be
classified as revenue. When revalued assets are sold, amounts included in the revaluation surplus relating
to that asset are transferred to retained earnings.

- 157 -



Leases (the Group as lessee)

The Group as lessee

At inception of a contract, the Group assesses if the contract contains or is a lease. If there is a lease
present, a right-of-use asset and a corresponding lease liability is recognised by the Group where the
Group is a lessee. However all contracts that are classified as short-term leases (lease with remaining
lease term of 12 months or less) and leases of low value assets are recognised as an operating expense on
a straight-line basis over the term of the lease.

Initially the lease liability is measured at the present value of the lease payments still to be paid at
commencement date. The lease payments are discounted at the interest rate implicit in the lease. If this
rate cannot be readily determined, the Group uses the incremental borrowing rate.

Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability are as follows:

- fixed lease payments less any lease incentives;

- variable lease payments that depend on an index or rate, initially measured using the index or rate
at the commencement date;

- the amount expected to be payable by the lessee under residual value guarantees;
- the exercise price of purchase options, if the lessee is reasonably certain to exercise the options;
- lease payments under extension options if lessee is reasonably certain to exercise the options; and

- payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the exercise of an option
to terminate the lease.

The right-of-use assets comprise the initial measurement of the corresponding lease liability as mentioned
above, any lease payments made at or before the commencement date as well as any initial direct costs.
The subsequent measurement of the right-of-use assets is at cost less accumulated depreciation and
impairment losses.

Right-of-use assets are depreciated over the lease term or useful life of the underlying asset whichever is
the shortest.

Where a lease transfers ownership of the underlying asset or the cost of the right-of-use asset reflects that
the Group anticipates to exercise a purchase option, the specific asset is depreciated over the useful life
of the underlying asset.

Financial instruments

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when the Group becomes a party to the contractual

provisions to the instrument. For financial assets, this is the date that the Group commits itself to either
the purchase or sale of the asset (ie trade date accounting is adopted).
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Financial instruments (except for trade receivables) are initially measured at fair value plus transaction
costs, except where the instrument is classified “at fair value through profit or loss”, in which case
transaction costs are expensed to profit or loss immediately. Where available, quoted prices in an active
market are used to determine fair value. In other circumstances, valuation techniques are adopted.

Trade receivables are initially measured at the transaction price if the trade receivables do not contain a
significant financing component or if the practical expedient was applied as specified in AASB 15.63.

Classification and subsequent measurement

Financial liabilities

Financial instruments are subsequently measured at:

— amortised cost; or

- fair value through profit or loss.

A financial liability is measured at fair value through profit and loss if the financial liability is:

- a contingent consideration of an acquirer in a business combination to which AASB 3: Business
Combinations applies;

— held for trading; or
- initially designated as at fair value through profit or loss.

All other financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest
method.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a debt instrument and of
allocating interest expense in profit or loss over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the
internal rate of return of the financial asset or liability. That is, it is the rate that exactly discounts the
estimated future cash flows through the expected life of the instrument to the net carrying amount at
initial recognition.

A financial liability is held for trading if:

- it is incurred for the purpose of repurchasing or repaying in the near term;

- part of a portfolio where there is an actual pattern of short-term profit taking; or

- a derivative financial instrument (except for a derivative that is in a financial guarantee contract or
a derivative that is in a effective hedging relationships).

Any gains or losses arising on changes in fair value are recognised in profit or loss to the extent that they
are not part of a designated hedging relationship are recognised in profit or loss.
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The change in fair value of the financial liability attributable to changes in the issuer’s credit risk is taken
to other comprehensive income and are not subsequently reclassified to profit or loss. Instead, they are
transferred to retained earnings upon derecognition of the financial liability. If taking the change in credit
risk in other comprehensive income enlarges or creates an accounting mismatch, then these gains or
losses should be taken to profit or loss rather than other comprehensive income. A financial liability
cannot be reclassified.

Financial guarantee contracts

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires the issuer to make specified payments to
reimburse the holder for a loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payment when due in
accordance with the terms of a debt instrument.

Financial guarantee contracts are initially measured at fair values (and if not designated as at fair value
through profit or loss and do not arise from a transfer of a financial asset) and subsequently measured at
the higher of:

— the amount of loss allowance determined in accordance with AASB 9.3.25.3; and

- the amount initially recognised less the accumulative amount of income recognised in accordance
with the revenue recognition policies.

Financial assets

Financial assets are subsequently measured at:

— amortised cost;

- fair value through other comprehensive income; or

- fair value through profit or loss.

Measurement is on the basis of two primary criteria:

- the contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial asset; and

- the business model for managing the financial assets.

A financial asset that meets the following conditions is subsequently measured at amortised cost:

- the financial asset is managed solely to collect contractual cash flows; and

- the contractual terms within the financial asset give rise to cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding on specified dates.

A financial asset that meets the following conditions is subsequently measured at fair value through other
comprehensive income:

- the contractual terms within the financial asset give rise to cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding on specified dates;
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- the business model for managing the financial assets comprises both contractual cash flows
collection and the selling of the financial asset.

By default, all other financial assets that do not meet the measurement conditions of amortised cost and
fair value through other comprehensive income are subsequently measured at fair value through profit or
loss.

The Group initially designates a financial instrument as measured at fair value through profit or loss if:

- it eliminates or significantly reduces a measurement or recognition inconsistency (often referred to
as “accounting mismatch”) that would otherwise arise from measuring assets or liabilities or
recognising the gains and losses on them on different bases;

- it is in accordance with the documented risk management or investment strategy, and information
about the groupings was documented appropriately, so that the performance of the financial
liability that was part of a group of financial liabilities or financial assets can be managed and
evaluated consistently on a fair value basis;

- it is a hybrid contract that contains an embedded derivative that significantly modifies the cash
flows otherwise required by the contract.

The initial designation of the financial instruments to measure at fair value through profit or loss is a
one-time option on initial classification and is irrevocable until the financial asset is derecognised.

Equity instruments

At initial recognition, as long as the equity instrument is not held for trading and not a contingent
consideration recognised by an acquirer in a business combination to which AASB 3:Business
Combinations applies, the Group made an irrevocable election to measure any subsequent changes in fair
value of the equity instruments in other comprehensive income, while the dividend revenue received on
underlying equity instruments investment will still be recognised in profit or loss. Regular way purchases
and sales of financial assets are recognised and derecognised at settlement date in accordance with the
Group’s accounting policy.

Derecognition

Derecognition refers to the removal of a previously recognised financial asset or financial liability from
the statement of financial position.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

A liability is derecognised when it is extinguished (ie when the obligation in the contract is discharged,
cancelled or expires). An exchange of an existing financial liability for a new one with substantially
modified terms, or a substantial modification to the terms of a financial liability is treated as an
extinguishment of the existing liability and recognition of a new financial liability.

The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised and the consideration

paid and payable, including any Non-cash assets transferred or liabilities assumed, is recognised in profit
or loss.
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Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset is derecognised when the holder’s contractual rights to its cash flows expires, or the
asset is transferred in such a way that all the risks and rewards of ownership are substantially transferred.
All of the following criteria need to be satisfied for derecognition of financial asset:

- the right to receive cash flows from the asset has expired or been transferred;

- all risk and rewards of ownership of the asset have been substantially transferred; and

- the Group no longer controls the asset (ie the Group has no practical ability to make a unilateral
decision to sell the asset to a third party).

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised cost, the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the sum of the consideration received and receivable is recognised in profit or loss.

On derecognition of a debt instrument classified as at fair value through other comprehensive income, the
cumulative gain or loss previously accumulated in the investment revaluation reserve is reclassified to
profit or loss.

On derecognition of an investment in equity which was elected to be classified under fair value through
other comprehensive income, the cumulative gain or loss previously accumulated in the investment
revaluation reserve is not reclassified to profit or loss, but is transferred to retained earnings.

Impairment

The Group recognises a loss allowance for expected credit losses on:

- financial assets that are measured at amortised cost or fair value through other comprehensive
income;

- lease receivables;

- contract assets (eg amounts due from customers under construction contracts);

- loan commitments that are not measured at fair value through profit or loss; and

- financial guarantee contracts that are not measured at fair value through profit or loss. Loss
allowance is not recognised for:

- financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss; or

- equity instruments measured at fair value through other comprehensive income.

Expected credit losses are the probability-weighted estimate of credit losses over the expected life of a
financial instrument. A credit loss is the difference between all contractual cash flows that are due and all

cash flows expected to be received, all discounted at the original effective interest rate of the financial
instrument.
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The Group uses the following approaches to impairment, as applicable under AASB 9: Financial
Instruments:

- the general approach
- the simplified approach
General approach

Under the general approach, at each reporting period, the Group assesses whether the financial
instruments are credit-impaired, and if:

- the credit risk of the financial instrument has increased significantly since initial recognition, the
Group measures the loss allowance of the financial instruments at an amount equal to the lifetime
expected credit losses; or

- there is no significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, the Group measures the loss
allowance for that financial instrument at an amount equal to 12—-month expected credit losses.

Simplified approach

The simplified approach does not require tracking of changes in credit risk at every reporting period, but
instead requires the recognition of lifetime expected credit loss at all times. This approach is applicable
to:

- trade receivables or contract assets that result from transactions within the scope of AASB 15:
Revenue from Contracts with Customers and which do not contain a significant financing
component; and

- lease receivables.

In measuring the expected credit loss, a provision matrix for trade receivables was used taking into
consideration various data to get to an expected credit loss (ie diversity of customer base, appropriate
groupings of historical loss experience, etc).

Recognition of expected credit losses in financial statements

At each reporting date, the Group recognises the movement in the loss allowance as an impairment gain
or loss in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

The carrying amount of financial assets measured at amortised cost includes the loss allowance relating
to that asset.

Assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income are recognised at fair value, with
changes in fair value recognised in other comprehensive income. Amounts in relation to change in credit
risk are transferred from other comprehensive income to profit or loss at every reporting period. For
financial assets that are unrecognised (eg loan commitments yet to be drawn, financial guarantees), a
provision for loss allowance is created in the statement of financial position to recognise the loss
allowance.
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Impairment of assets

At the end of each reporting period, the Group assesses whether there is any indication that an asset may
be impaired. The assessment will include the consideration of external and internal sources of information
including dividends received from subsidiaries, associates or joint ventures deemed to be out of
pre-acquisition profits. If such an indication exists, an impairment test is carried out on the asset by
comparing the recoverable amount of the asset, being the higher of the asset’s fair value less costs of
disposal and value in use, to the asset’s carrying amount. Any excess of the asset’s carrying amount over
its recoverable amount is recognised immediately in profit or loss, unless the asset is carried at a revalued
amount in accordance with another Standard (eg in accordance with the revaluation model in AASB 116:
Property, Plant and Equipment). Any impairment loss of a revalued asset is treated as a revaluation
decrease in accordance with that other Standard.

Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Group estimates
the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

Impairment testing is performed annually for goodwill, intangible assets with indefinite lives and
intangible assets not yet available for use.

When an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating
unit) is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying
amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss
been recognised for the asset (or cash-generating unit) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is
recognised immediately in profit or loss, unless the relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount, in
which case the reversal of the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation increase.

Foreign currency transactions and balances
Functional and presentation currency

The functional currency of each of the Group’s entities is the currency of the primary economic
environment in which that entity operates. The consolidated financial statements are presented in United
States dollars, which is the Parent Entity’s functional currency.

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates
prevailing at the date of the transaction. Foreign currency monetary items are translated at the year-end
exchange rate. Non-monetary items measured at historical cost continue to be carried at the exchange rate
at the date of the transaction. Non-monetary items measured at fair value are reported at the exchange
rate at the date when fair values were determined.

Exchange differences arising on the translation of monetary items are recognised in profit or loss, except
exchange differences that arise from net investment hedges.

Exchange differences arising on the translation of Non-monetary items are recognised directly in other

comprehensive income to the extent that the underlying gain or loss is recognised in other comprehensive
income; otherwise the exchange difference is recognised in profit or loss.
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Group companies

The financial results and position of foreign operations, whose functional currency is different from the
Group’s presentation currency, are translated as follows:

- assets and liabilities are translated at exchange rates prevailing at the end of the reporting period;

- income and expenses are translated at exchange rates on the date of transaction; and

- all resulting exchange differences are recognised in other comprehensive income.

Exchange differences arising on translation of foreign operations with functional currencies other than US
dollars are recognised in other comprehensive income and included in the foreign exchange translation
reserve in the statement of change in equity and allocated to Non-controlling interest where relevant. The
cumulative amount of these differences is reclassified into profit or loss in the period in which the
operation is disposed of.

Employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits

Provision is made for the Group’s obligation for short-term employee benefits. Short-term employee
benefits are benefits (other than termination benefits) that are expected to be settled wholly before 12
months after the end of the annual reporting period in which the employees render the related service,
including wages, salaries and sick leave. Short-term employee benefits are measured at the
(undiscounted) amounts expected to be paid when the obligation is settled.

The Group’s obligations for short-term employee benefits such as wages, salaries and sick leave are
recognised as part of current trade and other payables in the statement of financial position. The Group’s
obligations for employees’ annual leave and long service leave entitlements are recognised as provisions
in the statement of financial position.

Other long-term employee benefits

Provision is made for employees’ long service leave and annual leave entitlements not expected to be
settled wholly within 12 months after the end of the annual reporting period in which the employees
render the related service. Other long-term employee benefits are measured at the present value of the
expected future payments to be made to employees. Expected future payments incorporate anticipated
future wage and salary levels, durations of service and employee departures and are discounted at rates
determined by reference to market yields at the end of the reporting period on government bonds that
have maturity dates that approximate the terms of the obligations. Any remeasurements for changes in
assumptions of obligations for other long-term employee benefits are recognised in profit or loss in the
periods in which the changes occur.

The Group’s obligations for long-term employee benefits are presented as Non-current provisions in its
statement of financial position, except where the Group does not have an unconditional right to defer
settlement for at least 12 months after the end of the reporting period, in which case the obligations are
presented as current provisions.
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Equity-settled compensation

The Group operates an employee performance rights plan. Share-based payments to employees are
measured at the fair value of the instruments at grant date and amortised over the vesting periods. The
corresponding amounts are recognised in the share-based payment reserve and statement of profit and
loss respectively. The fair value of rights is determined by reference to the share price of the Company.
The number of rights expected to vest is reviewed and adjusted at the end of each reporting period such
that the amount recognised for services received as consideration for the equity instruments granted is
based on the number of equity instruments that eventually vest.

Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the Group has a legal or constructive obligation, as a result of past
events, for which it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will result and that outflow can be

reliably measured.

Provisions are measured using the best estimate of the amounts required to settle the obligation at the end
of the reporting period.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, deposits available on demand with banks, other
short-term highly liquid investments with original maturities of 3 months or less, and bank overdrafts.
Bank overdrafts are reported within borrowings in current liabilities on the statement of financial
position.

Revenue and other income

Revenue recognition

Revenue from sales of zircon is recognised when the customer takes possession of and accepts the
products. If the products are a partial fulfilment of a contract covering other goods and/or services, then
the amount of revenue recognised is an appropriate proportion of the total transaction price under the
contract, allocated between all the goods and services promised under the contract on a relative
stand-alone selling price basis.

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of assets that
necessarily take a substantial period of time to prepare for their intended use or sale are added to the cost
of those assets, until such time as the assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale. All
other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they are incurred.

Comparative figures

When required by Accounting Standards, comparative figures have been adjusted to conform to changes
in presentation for the current financial year.
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Segment information

AASB 8 requires operating segments to be identified on the basis of internal reports about components of

the Company that are regularly reviewed by the chief operating decision maker in order to allocate

resources to the segment and to assess its performance.

The Group engages in one business segment, being premium zircon production, activities from which it

incurs costs. Consequently, the results of the Group are analysed as a whole by the chief operating

decision maker.

Critical accounting estimates and judgements

The directors evaluate estimates and judgements incorporated into the financial statements based on

historical knowledge and best available current information. Estimates assume a reasonable expectation

of future events and are based on current trends and economic data, obtained both externally and within

the Group.

Key estimates

(1) Impairment
The Group assesses impairment at the end of each reporting period by evaluating the conditions
and events specific to the Group that may be indicative of impairment triggers. Recoverable
amounts of relevant assets are reassessed using value-in-use calculations which incorporate various
key assumptions.

Key judgements

(1) Performance obligations under AASB15
To identify a performance obligation under AASB 15, the promise must be sufficiently specific to
be able to determine when the obligation is satisfied. Management exercises judgement to
determine whether the promise is sufficiently specific by taking into account any conditions
specified in the arrangement, explicit or implicit, regarding the promised goods or services. In
making this assessment, management includes the nature/type, cost/value, quantity and the period
of transfer related to the goods or services promised.

(ii)  Lease term and option to extend under AASB 16

The lease term is defined as the Non-cancellable period of a lease together with both periods
covered by an option to extend the lease if the lessee is reasonably certain to exercise that option;
and also periods covered by an option to terminate the lease if the lessee is reasonably certain not
to exercise that option. The decision on whether or not the options to extend are reasonably going
to be exercised is a key management judgement that the entity will make. The Group determines
the likeliness to exercise on a lease-by-lease basis looking at various factors such as which assets
are strategic and which are key to future strategy of the entity.

- 167 -



(iii)  Impact of COVID-19 on the group

2019 showed the strength of the mineral sands market and in particular the zircon market, with

zircon prices reach a historic high during the fourth quarter of the year. Demand remained strong

during the first half of 2020, with our order book reaching the highest level since production

started in 2015 and exceeding our maximum operation capacity. Even with the global economic
fallout caused by the COVID-19 outbreak, prices in 2020 have so far been roughly in line with the
2019 average pricing. The reasons are: (i) zircon is a concentrated industry with a few suppliers

accounting for a large share of the supply base (ii) expectations that a structural supply deficit

would persist, buoying zircon prices.

NOTE 2: PARENT INFORMATION

2020 2019
US$ US$
The following information has been extracted from the books and records of the
financial information of the Parent Entity set out below and has been prepared
in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards.
Statement of Financial Position
ASSETS
Current assets 6,175,150 -
Non-current assets 4,917,856 344,228
TOTAL ASSETS 11,093,006 344,228
LIABILITIES
Current liabilities 111,362 362,780
Non-current liabilities - -
TOTAL LIABILITIES 111,362 362,780
EQUITY
Issued capital 22,143,645 1,178
Accumulated losses (12,886,952) (19,730)
Share-based payment reserve 1,724,951 -
TOTAL EQUITY 10,981,644 (18,552)
Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
Net loss (6,330,239) (19,730)
Total comprehensive income (6,330,239) (19,730)
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NOTE 3: REVENUE AND OTHER INCOME

The Group has recognised the following amounts relating to revenue in the statement of profit or loss.

2020 2019

Note US$ US$

Revenue from contracts with customers 3a 7,816,397 2,903,161
Other sources of revenue 3b 349 5,456
7,816,746 2,908,617

Other income 3c 98,254 39,200

a. Revenue from Contracts with Customers

Revenue from contracts with customers represents the amounts received and receivable for production
and distribution of premium Zircon.

2020 2019
US$ US$
b. Other Sources of Revenue
Interest received
— unrelated parties 349 5,456
Total interest received 349 5,456
Total other sources of revenues 349 5,456
C. Other Income
Other income 98,254 39,200
98,254 39,200
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NOTE 4: (LOSS)/PROFIT FOR THE YEAR

Consolidated Group

2020 2019
US$ US$
(Loss)/profit before income tax from continuing operations includes the
following specific expenses:
a. Expenses
Cost of sales 6,512,164 2,208,997
Interest expense on financial liabilities not classified as at fair value
through profit or loss:
— unrelated parties 64,656
Finance charges 11,407 5,301
Total finance cost 76,063 5,301
Employee benefits expense:
— Staff salaries and benefits 321,256 42,313
— Share based payments 2,519,930 -
Foreign currency losses 228,195 -
Loss allowance on financial assets and other items:
— loss allowance on trade receivables 3,556
— loss allowance on other financial assets measured at amortised cost:
— unrelated parties — 1,178
Rental expense on operating leases
— short-term lease expense 100,366 19,041
Depreciation 93,743 32,056

NOTE 5: ACQUISITION OF TAKMUR PTE. LTD. (“TAKMUR”)

On 30 July 2019, Pyx Resources Limited (“PYX”) entered into a Share Exchange Agreement with the
shareholders of Takmur (“Takmur Vendors”), whereby Pyx would acquire 100% of Takmur, subject to certain
conditions precedent. This transaction completed on 31 January 2020 with PYX issuing 210,274,171 shares to
Takmur Vendors. This transaction constituted a Reverse Takeover (“RTO”). On completion of the transaction,
PYX’s shares were re-instated to quotation on the NSX on 24 February 2020.

Under the accounting standards, when a transaction involves the transfer of consideration through the issue of
share capital, the directors must make an assessment of who the accounting acquirer in the transaction is by
examining the following indicators of control, post-transaction, including (a) the proportion of shareholder
representation in the newly merged group from each transacting entity; and (b) the ability of that shareholder
group to influence control through its power over the governance and operations of the newly merged entity.

After due consideration by the Board and management of composition and other factors, Takmur was
determined to be the acquirer for accounting purposes. The implications of this RTO of Pyx by Takmur are:

(1) Although PYX was considered to be the legal parent company, Takmur was deemed to be the parent
company for accounting purposes;

(ii)  The consolidated statement of profit or loss for the year ended 30 June 2020 represents the consolidated

results of Takmur and its controlled entities for the period from 1 July 2019 to 30 Jun 2020 and the
consolidated results of PYX for the period from 1 February 2020 (date after the RTO) to 30 June 2020;
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(iii) The comparative information for the period ended 30 June 2019 represents results of Takmur for the
period from 28 June 2018 (date of incorporation) to 30 June 2019, the consolidated results of its
controlled entity, PT Andary Usaha Makmur, for the period from 10 January 2019 to 30 June 2019 and
the consolidated results of its controlled entity, PT Investasi Mandiri, for the period from 24 January
2019 to 30 June 2019;

(iv) The consideration that Takmur is deemed to have paid for PYX is the fair value of PYX’s equity at the
date of the RTO, which was US$4,917,856. This consideration has been allocated to the fair value of
PYX’s intangible and tangible assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities.

Application of AASB 3 Business Combinations

Under the accounting standards, the Group has 12 months from the date of acquisition in which to complete its
assessment of the fair value of assets and liabilities acquired. The Group has recognised its initial acquisition
accounting estimates as a result of this assessment as the provisional fair values are outlined below. When the
accounting acquiree does not satisfy the definition of a business, as set out in AASB 3 “Business
Combinations”, the acquisition by the acquirer of the Non-business entity is treated as a share-based payment
under AASB 2 “Share-based payments” and any dilution in the value of equity of the accounting acquirer, plus
any further consideration paid for the acquisition including related transaction costs, less the written-down book
values of its assets and liabilities consolidated into the merged entity is charged to the profit and loss as a
transaction cost. The value of the dilution of equity is calculated at its fair value as at the date of the transaction
(when the transaction is contractually completed — its grant date), being its quoted market value.

Upon consolidation in the newly merged entity, all intergroup balances and transactions between entities in the
pro-forma consolidated group, including any unrealised profits or losses, are eliminated. As at the date of
completion, Takmur Vendors held 210,274,171 shares which represented 79.8% of the post-consolidation
number of shares and shareholders, PYX held 18,284,582 shares, representing 6.9%. Immediately prior to the
RTO the book value of PYX’s net assets was as follows:

30 January

2020

US$

Cash and cash equivalents 311
Other receivables 36,042
Trade and other payables (434,747)
Borrowings (40,747)

Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed (439,141)

The transaction cost of the RTO, which was booked to the statement of comprehensive income, was calculated
as follows:

30 January

2020

US$

Consideration transferred: 4,917,856
Fair value of net liabilities acquired 439,141
Transaction costs 5,356,997

The consideration transferred has been accounted for as an increase in share capital of US$4,917,856. Deemed
transaction costs have been expensed in the Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss for the year ended 30 June
2020.
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NOTE 6: TAX EXPENSE

Consolidated Group

2020 2019
US$ US$
a. The components of tax (expense) income comprise:
Current tax 71,799 (84,264)
Deferred tax 86,472 -
158,271 (84,264)
b. The prima facie tax on (loss)/profit from ordinary activities before
income tax is reconciled to income tax as follows:
(Loss)/profit before income tax expense (11,044,165) 317,994
Prima facie tax payable on (loss)/profit from ordinary activities before
income tax at 27.5% (2019: 27.5%) 3,037,146 (87,448)
Effect of different tax rate of subsidiaries (19,884) 8,443
Add:
Tax effect of:
— Non-allowable items (523,247) (1,905)
— Tax losses and temporary differences not recognised as deferred tax
assets (2,407,543) (3,354)
— Tax credit 71,799 -
Income tax benefit/(expense) 158,271 (84,264)

NOTE 7: KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL COMPENSATION

Refer to the remuneration report contained in the directors’ report for details of the remuneration paid or
payable to each member of the Group’s key management personnel (KMP) for the year ended 30 June 2020.

Consolidated Group

2020 2019
US$ US$
Short-term employee benefits 495,398 129,100
Share-based payments 2,519,930 -
Total KMP compensation 3,015,328 129,100
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NOTE 8: AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

Remuneration of the auditor for:

— auditing or reviewing the financial statements
Hall Chadwick (NSW)
Pitcher Partners BA & A Pty Ltd.

— taxation services
Pitcher Partners BA & A Pty Ltd.

NOTE 9: LOSS PER SHARE

a. Reconciliation of losses to profit or loss:
Loss attributable to Non-controlling equity interest

Loss used to calculate basic and dilutive EPS

Weighted average number of ordinary shares on issue used in the
calculating of basic loss per share

Weighted average number of dilutive options outstanding

Weighted average number of dilutive performance rights outstanding

Weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year
used in calculating dilutive loss per share

Loss per share
Basic loss per share (cents)
Diluted loss per share (cents)

NOTE 10: CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash at bank and on hand

Reconciliation of cash

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial year as shown
in the statement of cash flows is reconciled to items in the statement of
financial position as follows:

Cash and cash equivalents
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Consolidated Group

2020 2019
US$ US$
495,398 129,100
56,094 11,748
8,482 -
1,290 -
65,866 11,748

Consolidated Group

2020 2019

US$ US$
(10,300,840) (19,730)
(10,300,840) (19,730)
No. No.
108,153,655 1,686
537,500 -
12,488,808 -
121,179,963 1,686
(10) (1,170)

9 (1,170)

Consolidated Group

2020 2019
US$ US$
4,209,174 210,750
4,209,174 210,750
4,209,174 210,750
4,209,174 210,750




NOTE 11: TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

CURRENT
Trade receivables

Provision for impairment

Other receivables

Provision for impairment

Total current trade and other receivables

NON-CURRENT
Other receivables

Provision for impairment

Total Non-current trade and other receivables

Consolidated Group

2020 2019

Note US$ US$
266,000 -

266,000 —

443,269 203,896

11a (i) (1,178) (1,178)
442,091 202,718

708,091 202,718

— 201,000

- 201,000

The following table shows the movement in lifetime expected credit loss that has been recognised for trade and

other receivables in accordance with the simplified approach set out in AASB 9: Financial Instruments.

a. Lifetime Expected Credit Loss: Credit Impaired
(1) Current other receivables

(1) Current other receivables

Net Closing

Opening measurement Amounts Balance
Balance of loss Written 30 June

1 July 2018 allowance off 2019
US$ Us$ Us$ US$

- 1,178 - 1,178

- 1.178 - 1,178

Net Closing

Opening measurement Amounts balance
balance of loss written 30 June

1 July 2019 allowance off 2020
US$ Us$ US$ US$

1,178 - - 1,178

1,178 - - 1,178
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The Group applies the simplified approach to providing for expected credit losses prescribed by AASB 9, which
permits the use of the lifetime expected loss provision for all trade receivables. To measure the expected credit
losses, trade receivables have been grouped based on shared credit risk characteristics and the days past due.
The loss allowance provision as at 30 June 2020 is determined as follows; the expected credit losses also
incorporate forward-looking information.

The “amounts written off” are all due to customers declaring bankruptcy, or term receivables that have now
become unrecoverable.

Credit Risk

The Group has no significant concentration of credit risk with respect to any single counterparty or group of
counterparties other than those receivables specifically provided for and mentioned within Note 10. The class of
assets described as “trade and other receivables” is considered to be the main source of credit risk related to the
Group.

The Group always measures the loss allowance for trade receivables at an amount equal to lifetime expected
credit loss. The expected credit losses on trade receivables are estimated using a provision matrix by reference
to past default experience of the debtor and an analysis of the debtor’s current financial position, adjusted for
factors that are specific to the debtor, general economic conditions of the industry in which the debtor operates
and an assessment of both the current and the forecast direction of conditions at the reporting date.

There has been no change in the estimation techniques used or significant assumptions made during the current
reporting period.

The Group writes off a trade receivable when there is information indicating that the debtor is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of recovery; for example, when the debtor has been placed
under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy proceedings, or when the trade receivables are over two years
past due, whichever occurs earlier. None of the trade receivables that have been written off are subject to
enforcement activities.
a. Collateral held as security

The Group does not hold any collateral over the trade and other receivables.

b. Financial assets measured at amortised cost

Consolidated Group

2020 2019
Note US$ US$

Trade and other receivables:
— total current 708,091 202,718
— total Non-current - 201,000
Total financial assets measured at amortised cost 24 708,091 403,718

d. Collateral pledged

The Group does not hold any collateral over the trade and other receivables.
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NOTE 12: INVENTORIES

Consolidated Group

2020 2019
US$ US$
CURRENT - 114,124
At cost:
Raw materials 183,116 358,078
Finished goods 183,116 472,202

NOTE 13: INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

a. Information about Principal Subsidiaries
The subsidiaries listed below have share capital consisting solely of ordinary shares, which are held
directly or indirectly by the Group. The proportion of ownership interests held equals the voting rights

held by the Group. Each subsidiary’s principal place of business is also its country of incorporation.

Proportion of

Principal Place = Ownership Interest Held Non-controlling
Name of Subsidiary of Business by the Group Interests
2020 2019 2020 2019
% % % %
Takmur Pte Limited” Singapore 100% - - -
PT Andary Usaha Makmur® Indonesia 99% 99% 1% 1%
PT Investasi Mandiri” Indonesia - - 100%™ 100%™

The Non-controlling interests in PT Andary Usaha Makmur is not material to the Group.

Subsidiary financial statements used in the preparation of these consolidated financial statements have
also been prepared as at the same reporting date as the Group’s financial statements.

b. Acquisition of Controlled Entities

Details of acquisition of Takmur Pte Limited are shown at note 5.

These subsidiaries have financial year end of 31 December.
* This entity is accounted for as a controlled entity on the bases that control was obtained through the execution of an exclusive operations
and management agreement between PT Andary Usaha Makmur and PT Investasi Mandiri and was for nil purchase consideration.
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Summarised Financial Information of Subsidiaries with Material Non-controlling Interests

Set out below is the summarised financial information for each subsidiary that has Non-controlling

interests that are material to the Group, before any intragroup eliminations.

Summarised Financial Position
Current assets

Non-current assets

Current liabilities

Non-current liabilities

NET ASSETS

Carrying amount of Non-controlling interests

Summarised Financial Performance
Revenue

(Loss)/profit after tax
Other comprehensive income after tax

Total comprehensive income

(Loss)/profit attributable to Non-controlling interests

Distributions paid to Non-controlling interests

Summarised Cash Flow Information

Net cash (used in)/from operating activities
Net cash used in investing activities

Net cash from/(used in) financing activities

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents
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PT Investasi Mandiri

2020 2019
US$ US$
1,417,098 1,006,264
1,101,310 882,584
(2,024,938) (834,367)
(18,608) (42,557)
474,862 1,011,924
474,862 1,011,924
7,816,397 2,903,161
(584,529) 253,460
54,325 -
(530,204) 253,460
(530,204) 253,460
(1,307,132) 307,211
(428,208) (81,818)
1,711,280 (38,361)
(24,060) 187,032




NOTE 14: PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Land and Buildings
Freehold land at cost

Total land

Buildings at cost
Accumulated depreciation

Total buildings

Total land and buildings

Plant and Equipment
Plant and equipment at cost
Accumulated depreciation

Total plant and equipment

Motor Vehicles
Motor vehicles at cost
Accumulated depreciation

Total motor vehicles

Furniture and Fittings
Furniture and fittings at cost
Accumulated depreciation

Total furniture and fittings

Total property, plant and equipment
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Consolidated Group

2020 2019
US$ US$
194,543 45,966
194,543 45,966
635,851 525,398
(123,293) (91,945)
512,558 433,453
707,101 479,419
495,031 133,967
(72,821) (51,569)
422,210 82,398
22,894 4,354
(954) -
21,940 4,354
28,076 -
(1,081) -
26,995 -
1,178,246 566,171




a. Movements in Carrying Amounts

Movements in the carrying amounts for each class of property, plant and equipment between the

beginning and the end of the current financial year:

Furniture
Freehold Plant and Motor and
Land Buildings Equipment  Vehicles Fittings Total
US$ US$ US$ US$ US$ US$
Consolidated Group:
Balance at 1 July 2018 43,185 444921 83,418 4,354 - 575,878
Additions 2,781 - 6,483 - - 9,264
Depreciation expense - (11,468) (7,503) - - (18,971)
Balance at 30 June 2019 45,966 433,453 82,398 4,354 - 566,171
Balance at 1 July 2019 45,966 433,453 82,398 4,354 - 566,171
Additions 148,577 108,882 362,506 22,894 28,076 670,935
Disposals - - - (4,354) - (4,354)
Depreciation expense - (29,777) (22,694) (954) (1,081) (54,506)
Balance at 30 June 2020 194,543 512,558 422210 21,940 26,995 1,178,246

NOTE 15: INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Goodwill:
Cost
Accumulated impairment losses

Net carrying amount

Total intangible assets

Consolidated Group:

Year ended 30 June 2019

Balance at the beginning of the year
Acquisitions through business combinations
Closing value at 30 June 2019

Year ended 30 June 2020

Balance at the beginning of the year
Closing value at 30 June 2020
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Consolidated Group

2020 2019
US$ US$

7,774 7,774
7,774 7,774
7,774 7,774
Goodwill

US$

7,774

7,774

7,774

7,774



NOTE 16: RIGHT OF USE ASSETS

The Group’s lease portfolio includes motor vehicles & Office Building. These leases have an average of 4 years

for the vehicle and 2 years for Office Building as their lease term.

()

(ii)

AASB 16 Related Amounts Recognised in the Balance Sheet

Right of use assets
Leased Buildings
Accumulated depreciation

Leased Motor Vehicles
Accumulated depreciation

Total Right of use assets

Movement in carrying amounts:
Leased Buildings:

Additions

Depreciation expense

Net Carrying Amount

Leased Motor Vehicles:
Opening balance
Acquisitions through business combinations
Additions
Disposals
Depreciation expense

Net Carrying Amount
Total Right of use assets

AASB 16 Related Amounts Recognised in the Statement of Profit or Loss

Depreciation charge related to right-of-use assets

Interest expense on lease liabilities
Short term lease expenses

2020 2019
US$ US$
11,187 -
(932) -
10,255 -
140,484 152,077
(74,979) (36,664)
65,505 115,413
75,760 115,413
11,195 -
(940) -
10,255 -
115,413 -
- 128,498
1,947 -
(13,558) -
(38,297) (13,085)
65,505 115,413
75,760 115,413
2020 2019
US$ US$
39,237 13,085
11,407 5,301
100,366 19,041
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NOTE 17: TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

Note

CURRENT
Unsecured liabilities:
Trade payables
Sundry payables and accrued expenses
a. Financial liabilities at amortised cost classified as trade and

other payables

Trade and other payables:

— total current

Financial liabilities as trade and other payables 24

NOTE 18: LEASE LIABILITIES

At 30 June 2020, the Group had lease liabilities as follows:

Current
Non-current

NOTE 19: TAX

CURRENT
Income tax payable
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Consolidated Group

2020 2019

$ $
77,880 -
250,241 600,874
328,121 600,874
328,121 600,874
328,121 600,874

Consolidated Group

2020 2019
US$ US$
19,590 43,594
18,608 42,557
38,198 86,151

Consolidated Group

2020
US$

39,884

2019
US$

212,8




NOTE 20: ISSUED CAPITAL

Consolidated Group

2020 2019

US$ US$

267,777,037 (2019: 2,500) fully paid ordinary shares 14,873,158 1,178
14,873,158 1,178

Consolidated Group

2020 2019
No. of Contributed No. of Contributed
shares equity shares equity
US$ US$
a. Ordinary Shares

At the beginning of the reporting period 2,500 1,178 1,000 734
Elimination of Takmur Pte Ltd. (2,500) - - -

Shares issued during the year:
— 15 January 2019 - - 1,500 444
— 31 January 2020 18,284,582 - - -
— 31 January 2020 210,274,171 4,917,856 - -
— Share issue costs - (558,519) - -
— 25 February 2020 35,000,000 9,378,600 - -
— 6 April 2020 4,218,284 1,134,043 - -
At the end of the reporting period 267,777,037 14,873,158 2,500 1,178

On 31 January 2020, the Company completed acquisition of Takmur via a reverse takeover. Essentially the
business of Takmur and its controlled entities is the main undertaking of the Group going forward. As part of
the acquisition of Takmur, the Company issued 210,274,171 shares to the vendors of Takmur;

On 31 January 2020, Takmur is deemed to have issued 18,282,082 shares to the shareholders of the Company at
the date of reverse takeover.

On 25 February 2020, the Company completed a successful capital raise of AU$14million, with 35,000,000
shares issued at AU$0.40 per share;

On 6 April 2020, 4,218,284 shares issued on conversion of 5,186,568 Performance Rights to Shares on
achievement of milestones.

Ordinary shares participate in dividends and the proceeds on winding-up of the Parent Entity in proportion to
the number of shares held.

At the shareholders’ meetings each ordinary share is entitled to one vote when a poll is called; otherwise each
shareholder has one vote on a show of hands.
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b. Capital Management

Management controls the capital of the Group in order to maintain a sustainable debt to equity ratio,

generate long-term shareholder value and ensure that the Group can fund its operations and continue as a

going concern.

The Group’s debt and capital include ordinary share capital, redeemable preference shares, convertible

preference shares and financial liabilities, supported by financial assets.

The Group is not subject to any externally imposed capital requirements.

Management effectively manages the Group’s capital by assessing the Group’s financial risks and

adjusting its capital structure in response to changes in these risks and in the market. These responses

include the management of debt levels, distributions to shareholders and share issues.

There have been no changes in the strategy adopted by management to control the capital of the Group

since the prior year.

Total borrowings
Less cash and cash equivalents

Net debt
Total equity

Total capital
Gearing ratio

NOTE 21: CAPITAL AND LEASING COMMITMENTS

Lease Liabilities Commitments
Payable — minimum lease payments:
— not later than 12 months

— later than 1 year

Minimum lease payments
Less future finance charges

Present value of minimum leave payments

Consolidated Group

2020 2019

Note US$ US$
38,198 86,151

10 4,209,174 210,750
(4,170,976) (124,599)

6,408,329 996,771

6,408,329 996,771

0.6% 8.6%

Consolidated Group

2020 2019
US$ US$
19,590 43,594
18,608 42,557
38,198 86,151
38,198 86,151

The lease on Motor Vehicle, which commenced mostly in 2017, is a 4-year lease with an option to refinance at

the end.
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NOTE 22: CASH FLOW INFORMATION

Consolidated Group

2020 2019
US$ US$
a. Reconciliation of Cash Flows from Operating Activities with
(Loss)/Profit after Income Tax

(Loss)/profit after income tax (10,885,894) 233,730
Non-cash flows in (loss)/profit: 43,594
— depreciation 93,743 32,056
— listing and acquisition costs 7,152,516 -
— share-based payment 2,519,930 -
— exchange difference on translation 270,593 2,635

Changes in assets and liabilities, net of the effects of purchase and

disposal of subsidiaries:
— increase in trade and other receivables (270,411) (321,881)
— increase in advances to suppliers (232,842) (120,594)
— decrease in inventories 289,086 230,315
— increase in prepayments and deposits (13,155) -
— increase in deferred tax assets (85,780) -
— (decrease)/increase in trade and other payables (540,897) 169,652
— (decrease)/increase in current tax liabilities (169,237) 42,436
Net cash generated by operating activities (1,872,348) 268,349
b. Changes in Liabilities Arising from Financing Activities
Non-cash changes

1 July Re- 30 June
2019  Cash flows Acquisition classification 2020
US$ US$ US$ US$ US$

Short term borrowings (40,747) 40,747 - -

Lease liabilities 86,151 (47,953) - - 38,198
Total 86,151 (88,700) 40,747 - 38,198
c. Non-cash Financing and Investing Activities

(i) Share issue:

Refer to note 20 for details of Non-cash financing activities arising from shares issued.

(i) RTO:

Refer to note 5 for details of Non-cash financing activities arising from RTO.
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NOTE 23: RELATED PARTY TRANSACTION

Transaction Services Pty Ltd, a related party of Mr. Martino, provided office rental and office supplies. For the
period to 31 January 2020 Transaction Services Pty Ltd was paid $34,315 (AU$50,000) (2019: Nil) inclusive of
GST and expenses recognised for that period totalled $34,315 (AU$50,000) (2019: $109,784 (AU$156,544))
inclusive of GST. A total of $Nil (2019: $229,042 (AU$326,596)) inclusive of GST, remains due and payable at
year end. During the year Transaction Services Pty Ltd received 21,773,051 shares pre-consolidation (1,088,652
post 20: 1 consolidation) for fees outstanding as at 30 June 2019 at a price of AU$0.015 per share.

Indian Ocean Corporate Pty Ltd is a related party of Mr. Martino, providing company secretarial and accounting
services to the Company. For the period to 31 January 2020, Indian Ocean Corporate Pty Ltd was paid $41,521
(AU$60,500) (2019: NIL), inclusive of GST and expenses recognised for that period totalled $41,521
(AU$60,500) (2019: $92,572 (AU$132,000) inclusive of GST. A total of AUS$5,500 (2019: AU$253,000),
inclusive of GST, remains due and payable at year end. During the year Indian Ocean Corporate Pty Ltd
received 16,866,667 shares pre-consolidation (843,333 shares post 20:1 consolidation) for fees outstanding as at
30 June 2019 at a price of AU$0.015 per share.

Indian Ocean Consulting Group is a related party of Mr. Martino, providing taxation services to the Company.
For the period to 31 January 2020, Indian Ocean Consulting Group has been paid $1,812 (AU$2,640) (2019:
Nil) inclusive of GST, expenses recognized during the year totalling $1,812 (AU$2,640) (2019:Nil) inclusive of
GST. A total of $1,359 (AU$1,980) (2019:Nil), inclusive of GST, remains due and payable at year end.

Fanucci Pty Ltd, a related party of Mr. Martino, provided a loan to the Company during the year. As at year end
the balance was $Nil (2019: $37,125 (AU$52,938)), and all amounts have been repaid. The loan was interest
free and repayable on demand. No security has been provided in respect of the loan.

Phoenician Management Services Limited, a related party of Mr. Hasler, provided management support, general
administration and IT services to PT Investasi Mandiri, after acquisition. Phoenician Management Services
Limited has been paid and expenses recognised during the year totalling $462,500 (2019: $54,781).

NOTE 24: FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group’s financial instruments consist mainly of deposits with banks, accounts receivable and payable, loan
and leases.

The totals for each category of financial instruments, measured in accordance with AASB 9: Financial
Instruments as detailed in the accounting policies to these financial statements, are as follows:

Consolidated Group

2020 2019

Note US$ US$

Financial assets 38,198 86,151

Financial assets at amortised cost 4,209,174 210,750

— cash and cash equivalents 10 4,209,174 210,750

— trade and other receivables 1llc 708,091 403,718

4,917,265 614,468

Total financial assets 4,917,265 614,468

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities at amortised cost:

— trade and other payables 17 328,121 600,874

— Lease liabilities 18 38,198 86,151

Total financial liabilities 366,319 687,025
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Financial Risk Management Policies

The Finance and Operations Committee (FOC) has been delegated responsibility by the Board of Directors for,
among other issues, managing financial risk exposures of the Group. The FOC monitors the Group’s financial
risk management policies and exposures and approves financial transactions within the scope of its authority. It
also reviews the effectiveness of internal controls relating to commodity price risk, counterparty credit risk,
foreign currency risk, liquidity risk, and interest rate risk. The FOC meets on a bi-monthly basis and minutes of
the FOC are reviewed by the Board.

The FOC’s overall risk management strategy seeks to assist the Consolidated Group in meeting its financial
targets, while minimising potential adverse effects on financial performance. Its functions include the review of
the use of hedging derivative instruments, credit risk policies and future cash flow requirements.

Specific Financial Risk Exposures and Management

The main risks the Group is exposed to through its financial instruments are credit risk, liquidity risk, and
market risk consisting of interest rate risk, foreign currency risk and other price risk (commodity and equity
price risk). There have been no substantive changes in the types of risks the Group is exposed to, how these

risks arise, or the Board’s objectives, policies and processes for managing or measuring the risks from the
previous period.

a. Credit risk

Exposure to credit risk relating to financial assets arises from the potential Non-performance by
counterparties of contract obligations that could lead to a financial loss to the Group.

Credit risk is managed through the maintenance of procedures (such as the utilisation of systems for the
approval, granting and renewal of credit limits, regular monitoring of exposures against such limits and
monitoring of the financial stability of significant customers and counterparties), ensuring to the extent
possible that customers and counterparties to transactions are of sound credit worthiness. Such monitoring
is used in assessing receivables for impairment. Depending on the division within the Group, credit terms

are generally 14 to 30 days from the invoice date.

Trade and other receivables that are neither past due nor impaired are considered to be of high credit
quality. Aggregates of such amounts are detailed in Note 11.

b. Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk arises from the possibility that the Group might encounter difficulty in settling its debts or
otherwise meeting its obligations related to financial liabilities. The Group manages this risk through the

following mechanisms:

- preparing forward-looking cash flow analyses in relation to its operating, investing and financing
activities;

- obtaining funding from a Parent Group;
- maintaining a reputable credit profile;
- managing credit risk related to financial assets; and

- comparing the maturity profile of financial liabilities with the realisation profile of financial assets.
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The following table reflects an undiscounted contractual maturity analysis for financial assets and

financial liabilities.

Cash flows realised from financial assets reflect management s expectation as to the timing of realisation.

Actual timing may therefore differ from that disclosed. The timing of cash flows presented in the table to

settle financial liabilities reflects the earliest contractual settlement dates and does not reflect

management’s expectations that banking facilities will be rolled forward.

Financial liability and financial assetmaturity analysis

Consolidated Group
Financial liabilities due for payment
Trade and other payables

Lease liabilities

Total expected outflows

Financial assets — cash flows realisable
Cash and cash equivalents

Trade and other receivables

Total anticipated inflows

Net (outflow)/inflow on financial

instruments

Financial assets pledged as collateral

Within 1 Year 1to 5 Years Total

2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019
US$ US$ US$ US$ US$ US$
328,121 600,874 - - 328,121 600,874
19,590 43,594 18,608 42,557 38,198 86,151
347,711 644,468 18,608 42,557 366,319 687,025
4,209,174 210,750 - - 4,209,174 210,750
708,091 202,718 - 201,000 708,091 403,718
4,917,265 413,468 - 201,000 4,917,265 614,468
4,569,554  (231,000) (18,608) 158,443 4,550,946 (72,557)

Certain financial assets have been pledged as security for debt and their realisation into cash may be

restricted subject to terms and conditions attached to the relevant debt contracts.

Market risk

(i) Other price risk

Other price risk relates to the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument

will fluctuate because of changes in market prices for Zircon largely due to demand and supply

factors (other than those arising from interest rate risk or foreign currency risk) for sand minerals.

The Group is exposed to commodity price risk through the operations of its Zircon Produce.

Contracts for the sale and physical delivery of Zircons are executed whenever possible on a pricing

basis intended to achieve a relevant index target. Where pricing terms deviate from the index,

derivative commodity contracts may be used when available to return realised prices to the index.

Contracts for the physical delivery of Zircon are generally not financial instruments and are carried

in the statement of financial position at cost (typically at nil). There were no hedges in place at the

end of the reporting period.
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(ii)

Fair Values

Foreign currency risk

Exposure to foreign currency risk may result in the fair value or future cash flows of a financial

instrument fluctuating due to movement in foreign exchange rates of currencies in which the Group

holds financial instruments which are other than the USD functional and presentation currency of

the Group.

With instruments being held by overseas operations, fluctuations in the IDR and AUD may impact

on the Group’s financial results unless those exposures are appropriately hedged.

The following table shows the foreign currency risk on the financial assets and liabilities of the

Group’s operations denominated in currencies other than the functional currency of the Group’s

operations. The foreign currency risk in the books of the Parent Entity is considered immaterial

and is therefore not shown.

2020
Consolidated Group

Functional currency of entity:

US dollar
Indonesian Rupiah

Statement of financial position exposure

2019
Consolidated Group

Functional currency of entity:
Indonesian Rupiah

Statement of financial position exposure

Fair value estimation

Net Financial Assets/(Liabilities) in USD

USD AUD  Total USD
- 3,991 3,991
314 - 314
314 3,991 4,305

Net Financial Assets/(Liabilities) in USD

USD AUD Total USD
5 - 5
5 - 5

The fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities are presented in the following table and can be

compared to their carrying amounts as presented in the statement of financial position.

Differences between fair values and carrying amounts of financial instruments with fixed interest rates are due

to the change in discount rates being applied by the market since their initial recognition by the Group.
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Consolidated Group

Financial assets

Financial assets at amortised cost:
Cash and cash equivalents®
Trade and other receivables®

Total financial assets

Financial liabilities at amortised cost
Trade and other payables®
Lease liabilities®

Total financial liabilities

NOTE 25: RESERVES

a. Share Based Payment Reserve

Note

10
11

17
18

2020 2019
Carrying Fair Carrying Fair
Amount Value Amount Value
US$ US$ US$ US$
4,209,174 4,209,174 210,750 210,750
708,091 708,091 403,718 403,718
4,917,265 4,917,265 614,468 614,468
328,121 328,121 600,874 600,874
38,198 38,198 86,151 86,151
366,319 366,319 687,025 687,025

The share based payment reserve records items recognised as expenses on valuation of share based

payments.

b. Foreign Currency Translation Reserve

The foreign currency translation reserve records exchange differences arising on translation of the foreign

controlled subsidiaries.

c. Analysis of Each Class of Reserve

Share Based Payment Reserve
Share based payments
Issue of shares to employees

Movement in share based payment reserve

Foreign Currency Translation Reserve

Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations

Movement in foreign currency translation reserve

NOTE 26: EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Consolidated Group

2020
US$

2,519,930
(1,134,043)

2019
US$

1,385,887

(7,803)

(7,803)

No significant events being noted by the management since the end of the reporting period.

® The carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents, trade and other receivables, trade and other payables and lease liabilities are

equivalent to their fair values.
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HALL CHADWICKS (NSW)

PYX RESOURCES LIMITED
(FORMERLY SOUTH PACIFIC RESOURCES LIMITED)
ABN 30 073 099 171
AND CONTROLLED ENTITIES

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF
PYX RESOURCES LIMITED AND CONTROLLED ENTITIES

REPORT ON THE FINANCIAL REPORT

Opinion

We have audited the financial report of PYX Resources Limited and controlled entities (the Group), which
comprises the consolidated statement of financial position as at 30 June 2020, the consolidated statement of
profit or loss, the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in
equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated
financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information,
and the directors’ declaration.

In our opinion the accompanying financial report of the Group is in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001,
including:

a. giving a true and fair view of the Group’s financial position as at 30 June 2020 and of its performance for
the year then ended; and for

b. complying with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations 2001.

Basis of Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Those standards require that we
comply with relevant ethical requirements relating to audit engagements and plan and perform the audit to
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report is free from material misstatement. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibility section of our report.
We are independent of the Company in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001 and the ethical requirements
of the Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board’s APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (the Code) that are relevant to our audit of the financial report in Australia. We have also fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.

We confirm that the independence declaration required by the Corporation Act 2001, which has been given to
the directors of the company, would be in the same terms if given to the directors as at the time of this auditor’s

report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion.
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Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit
of the financial report for the year ended 30 June 2020. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit
of the financial report as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion

on these matters.

Key Audit Matter How Our Audit Addressed the Key Audit Matter

Acquisition of Takmur Pte Ltd

Refer to Note 5 “Acquisition of Takmur Pte Ltd” Our audit procedures included but not limited to:

During the year, PYX Resources Limited (PYX)
acquired Takmur Pte Ltd (Takmur), for a deemed
purchase consideration of $4,917,856. This acquisition
was considered a significant acquisition for the Group. *

Accounting for this transaction is a judgement and
requires management to determine the most
appropriate accounting treatment to account for the
acquisition based on factual circumstances.

It is due to the nature of the acquisition and the

judgement involved in accounting for the acquisition
that this is considered a key audit matter.
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We have read the share exchange agreement to
understand the key terms and conditions.

We have assessed whether the acquisition was
accounted for in accordance with the Australian
Accounting Standards and in particular whether
the acquisition was considered a reverse
acquisition and if so whether AASB 3
“Business Combinations” and consequently
AASB 2 “Share-based Payments” were the
relevant accounting standards to account for the
acquisition.

We considered whether fair values or
adjustments to fair values have been dealt with
in accordance with AASB 3.

We assessed the accuracy of the acquisition
journals at acquisition date.

We assessed the adequacy of the Group’s
disclosures in respect to the acquisition.



Key Audit Matter

Share-Based Payments
Refer to Note 7 “Key Management Personnel
Compensation”

During the year ended 30 June 2020, the Company
issued performance rights to key management
personnel, which were accounted for as share-based
payments under AASB 2 “Share-based Payments”.

This was considered a key audit matter as the fair
value of performance rights granted was material and
share-based payments are a complex accounting area
and include assumptions utilised in fair value
calculations and judgments regarding the performance
options and shares issued during the year.

Going Concern
Refer to Note 1 “Going Conern”

The financial statements have been prepared on a
going concern basis as discussed in Note 1 of the
financial report.

The Group has incurred a loss of $10,885,894 and has
negative operating cash flows of $1,872,348 for the
year.

The group was listed on the NSX in February 2020
and there was a capital raising associated with the
IPO. The proceeds from the capital raising amounted
to $9.4m.

We included the going concern basis of accounting as
a key audit matter as the Group will rely on existing
cash reserves and revenue growth from operations in
order to pay its debts as and when they fall due over
the next twelve months from the date of this report.

How Our Audit Addressed the Key Audit Matter

Our audit procedures included but not limited to:

- Evaluating management’s assessment of the
valuation and recognition of the performance
options and shares.

. Obtaining an understanding of the key terms
and conditions of the performance options and
shares by inspecting relevant agreements.

. Holding discussions with management to
understand the share-based payments
arrangements in place and evaluating
management’s assessment of the likelihood of
meeting the performance conditions attached to
the performance options.

. Recalculating the estimated fair value of the
performance options, including assessing the
reasonableness of the key inputs used in the
Company’s valuation model.

. Reviewing the adequacy of the Company’s
disclosures in respect of the accounting
treatment of share-based payments in the
financial statements, including the significant
judgments involved, and the accounting policies
adopted.

Our audit procedures included but not limited to:

o We reviewed the cash flow forecast as at 30
September 2021 provided by management,

. A review of the assumptions and basis of the
cashflow forecast reflected that the Group has
sufficient cash to meet its working capital
requirements over the next 12 months from the
date of this report.

. We have assessed the adequacy of the Group’s
disclosures in respect to going concern.
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Information Other than the Financial Report and Auditor’s Report Thereon

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information in the
Group’s annual report for the year ended 30 June 2020 but does not include the financial report and the
auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the financial report does not cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial report, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in
doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial report or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of the other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of the directors for the financial report

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the financial report that gives a true and fair
view in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Act 2001 and for such internal
control as directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of the financial report that gives a true and
fair view and is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial report, the directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

Auditor’s Responsibility for the Audit of the Financial Report

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report as a whole is free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance
with Australian Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can
arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of this financial report.

As part of an audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards, we exercise professional judgement and
maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

. Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

. Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness

of the Group’s internal control.

. Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
and related disclosures made by the directors.
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. Conclude on the appropriateness of the director’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based
on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that
may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a
material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related
disclosures in the financial report or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However,
future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

o Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial report, including the disclosures,
and whether the financial report represents the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

. Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business
activities within the Group to express an opinion on the financial report. We are responsible for the
direction, supervision and performance of the Group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit
opinion.

We communicate with the directors regarding, amongst other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit
and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during
our audit.

We also provide the directors with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements
regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably
be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the directors, we determine those matters that were of most significance in
the audit of the financial report of the current period and are therefore key audit matters. We describe these
matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the
adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

Report on the Remuneration Report
We have audited the remuneration report included in the directors’ report for the year ended 30 June 2020.

In our opinion, the remuneration report of PYX Resources Limited, for the year ended 30 June 2020, complies
with s 300A of the Corporations Act 2001.

Responsibilities

The directors of the company are responsible for the preparation and presentation of the remuneration report in
accordance with s 300A of the Corporations Act 2001. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the
remuneration report, based on our audit conducted in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards.

HALL CHADWICK (NSW)
Level 40, 2 Park Street
Sydney NSW 2000

DREW TOWNSEND
Partner
Dated: 11 September 2020
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SECTION A4: FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF PYX RESOURCES
(1 JULY 2019 - 31 JANUARY 2020)
(FORMERLY SOUTH PACIFIC RESOURCES LTD)

Hall Chadwick Pty Ltd, of Level 40, 2 Park Street, Sydney, NSW 2000, Australia, Chartered Accountants and
statutory auditors to the Company, has given its consent and authorisation for:

1. the inclusion in this Document of the statutory audit report issued with respect to PYX Resources Ltd
Financial Information for the period 1 July 2019 to 31 January 2020 included in Section A4 “Financial
Information of PYX Resources (1 July 2019 — 31 January 2020)”; and

2. the inclusion in this Document of their name,

Their consent and authorisation is provided as required by item 1.3 of Annex 1 of Commission Delegated
Regulation (EU) 2019/980 supplementing the Prospectus Regulation.

Hall Chadwick Pty Ltd has no material interest in the Company.
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PYX RESOURCES LIMITED (FORMERLY SOUTH PACIFIC RESOURCES LIMITED)
AND ITS CONTROLLED ENTITIES

GENERAL PURPOSE FINANCIAL REPORT FOR THE PERIOD
FROM 1 JULY 2019 TO 31 JANUARY 2020

DIRECTORS’ REPORT

Your directors present their report on the group for the period 1 July 2019 to 31 January 2020.

DIRECTORS

The names of the directors in office at any time during the period are:

Oliver Hasler — Chairman and CEO (appointed on 31 January 2020)
Gary Artmont — Non-executive Director (appointed on 31 January 2020)
Bakhos Georges — Non-executive Director (appointed on 31 January 2020)

Alvin Tan — Non-executive Director
Domenic Martino — Managing Director (resigned on 31 January 2020)
Joseph (Yosse) Goldberg — Non-executive Director (resigned 31 January 2020)

Directors have been in office since the start of the audited period to the date of this report unless otherwise
stated.

REVIEW OF OPERATIONS
The loss of the group for the period after providing for income tax amounted to a loss of $1,357,468.
SIGNIFICANT CHANGES IN THE STATE OF AFFAIRS

Other than those disclosed within the financial statements, no significant changes in the company’s state of
affairs occurred during the period.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

Until 31 January 2020, the principal activities of the group was oil and gas exploration. Since 1 February 2020
the principal activity of the group is mineral sands exploration and development.

EVENTS SUBSEQUENT TO THE END OF THE REPORTING PERIOD

Apart from the matter disclosed in note 19 of the financial statements, no other matters or circumstances have
arisen since the end of the period which significantly affected or may significantly affect the operations of the
company, the results of those operations, or the state of affairs of the company in future financial periods.

LIKELY DEVELOPMENTS AND EXPECTED RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
Likely developments in the operations of the company and the expected results of those operations in future

financial periods have not been included in this report as the inclusion of such information is likely to result in
unreasonable prejudice to the group.
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ENVIRONMENTAL REGULATION

The group’s operations are not regulated by any significant environmental regulation under a law of the
Commonwealth or of a state or territory.

DIVIDENDS

No dividends were paid or declared during the financial period.

OPTIONS

No options over issued shares or interests in the company were granted during or since the end of the period and
there were no options outstanding at the date of this report.

No shares were issued during or since the end of the period as a result of the exercise of an option over unissued
shares or interests.

INDEMNIFICATION OF OFFICERS

No indemnities have been given or insurance premiums paid, during or since the end of the period, for any
person who is or has been an officer or auditor of the company.

PROCEEDINGS ON BEHALF OF THE COMPANY

No person has applied for leave of court to bring proceedings on behalf of the company or intervene in any
proceedings to which the company is a party for the purpose of taking responsibility on behalf of the company
for all or any part of those proceedings.

The company was not a party to any such proceedings during the period.

AUDITOR’S INDEPENDENCE DECLARATION

A copy of the auditor’s independence declaration as required under s 307C of the Corporations Act 2001 is set
out on page 222.

This directors’ report is signed in accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors:
Oliver Hasler
Chief Executive Officer

Hong Kong
Dated: 2nd August 2021
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

FOR THE PERIOD ENDED 31 JANUARY 2020

Other income

ASIC and stock exchange fees
Consultancy and other professional fees
Loss on extinguishment of liabilities
IT services

Interest on convertible note

Loss on conversion of convertible note
Office rental

Prospectus and meeting costs
Impairment on non-financial assets
Other expenses

Loss before tax

Income tax expense

Loss after tax

Other comprehensive income

Total comprehensive income

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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Note

Period ended

1 July
2019 to

31 January
2020

A$

209,583
(40,807)
(115,201)
(1,013,939)
(18,396)
(3,901)
(21,073)
(55,189)
(223,939)
(648)
(73,958)
(1,357,468)
(1,357,468)
(88,237)
(1,445,705)



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

AS AT 31 JANUARY 2020

ASSETS

CURRENT ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents
Trade and other receivables
Other assets

TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS

NON-CURRENT ASSETS

Plant and equipment

TOTAL NON-CURRENT ASSETS
TOTAL ASSETS

LIABILITIES

CURRENT LIABILITIES

Trade and other payables
Borrowings

TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES
TOTAL LIABILITIES

NET LIABILITIES

EQUITY
Issued capital
Reserves

Accumulated losses
TOTAL EQUITY

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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Note

10
11

As at

31 January
2020

A$

1,463
52,600

54,063

54,063

646,560
60,600
707,160
707,160

(653,097)

10,814,492

504,260
(11,971,849)
(653,097)

As at
30 June
2019
A$

4,646
14,348
50,000
68,994

6438
648
69,642

2,347,706
913,464
3,261,170
3,261,170

(3,191,528)

6,830,356
592,497

(10,614,381)

(3,191,528)



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE PERIOD ENDED 31 JANUARY 2020

Foreign
Share-based currency
Ordinary payment translation Accumulated
shares reserve reserve losses Total
Note A$ A$ A$ A$ A$
Balance at 1 July 2019 6,830,356 504,260 88,237 (10,614,381) (3,191,528)
Comprehensive income
Loss after tax - - - (1,357,468)  (1,357,468)
Other comprehensive income - - (88,237) - (88,237)
Total comprehensive income (88,237) (1,357,468) (1,445,705)
Transaction with owners
Issue of shares, net of transaction costs 10 3,984,136 - - - 3,984,136
Total transaction with owners 3,984,136 - - - 3,984,136
Balance at 31 January 2020 10,814,492 504,260 - (11,971,849) (653,097)

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE PERIOD ENDED 31 JANUARY 2020

Note

Cash flows from operating activities
Cash paid to suppliers and employees
Net cash used in operating activities

Net cash used in investing activities

Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from borrowings
Repayment of borrowings
Net cash used in financing activities

Net (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the period

Cash and cash equivalents at end of the period

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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Period ended
1 July

2019 to

31 January
2020

A$

(10,345)
(10,345)

60,100
(52,938)
7,162

(3,183)
4,646
1,463



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE PERIOD ENDED 31 JANUARY 2020
1 GENERAL INFORMATION

PYX Resources Limited (formerly South Pacific Resources Limited, the “company”) is a company
limited by shares, incorporated in Australia and listed on the Australian Securities Exchange. The
financial statements for the consolidated entity consist of the company and its subsidiaries (the “group”).

The nature of the operations and principal activities of the group during the year was oil and gas
exploration.

Statement of Compliance

The financial report is a general purpose financial report which has been prepared in accordance with
Australian Accounting Standards (AASBs) (including Australian Interpretation) adopted by the Australian
Accounting Standards Board (AASB) and the Corporations Act 2001. The financial report of the group
complies with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) and interpretations adopted by the
International Accounting Standards Board.

The group is a for-profit entity for financial reporting purposes under Australian Accounting Standards.

For the purpose of preparing the financial statements, the group is a for-profit entity. The financial
statements have been prepared in order to meet the needs of management and the requirements of a
Public Offering as part of its process to be admitted to the official list of the London Stock Exchange,
therefore no comparative information is presented.

The financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on 2 August 2021.
2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MEASUREMENT

The financial statements have been prepared on the basis of historic costs, except for the financial assets
for which the fair value basis of accounting has been applied.

The group has adopted all of the new and revised Standards and Interpretations issued by the Australian
Accounting Standard Board (the AASB) that are relevant to their operations and effective for the current
reporting period.

The adoption of all the new and revised Standards and Interpretations has not resulted in any changes to
the group’s accounting policies and has no effect on the amounts reports for the current or prior period.

2.1 Going Concern

The Group incurred a net loss of $1,357,468 and generated an operating cash outflow of $10,345
for the period ended 31 January 2020, and as at that date, had net liabilities of $653,097.

The financial report has been prepared on a going concern basis. In arriving at this position the
directors have determined that the group has, or in the Directors’ opinion will have access to,
sufficient cash to fund administrative and other committed expenditure for a period of at least 12
months from the date of signing this report based upon a cashflow budget prepared by
management.
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2.2

23

In forming this view, the directors have taken into consideration the successful raising of A$14
million (before costs) through a fully subscribed public offer under a Replacement Prospectus and
admittance to the official list of the National Stock Exchange (NSX) of Australia on 24 February
2020.

The financial report does not include any adjustment relating to the recoverability or classification
of recorded asset amounts or to the amounts or classification of liabilities that might be necessary
should the Group not be able to continue as a going concern and meet its debts as and when they
fall due.

Principles of Consolidation

The group financial statements consolidate those of the parent entity and all of its subsidiaries
provided in Note 15. The parent controls a subsidiary if it is exposed, or has rights, to variable
returns from its involvement with the subsidiary and could affect those returns through its power
over the subsidiary.

All transactions and balances between group companies are eliminated on consolidation, including
realised gains and losses on transactions between group companies. Where unrealised losses on
intra-group asset sales are reversed consolidation, the underlying asset is also tested for impairment
from a group perspective. Amounts reported in the financial statements of subsidiaries have been
adjusted where necessary to ensure consistency with the accounting policies adopted by the group.

Profit or loss and other comprehensive income of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the
period is recognised from the effective date of acquisition, or up to the effective date of disposal,
as applicable.

Non-controlling interests, presented as part of equity, represent the portion of a subsidiary’s profit
or loss and net assets that is not held by the group. The group attributes total comprehensive
income or loss of subsidiaries between the owners of the parent and the non-controlling interests
based on their respective ownership interests.

Foreign Currency Translation
Foreign currency transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency of the respective group
entity, using the exchange rate prevailing at the dates of the transactions (spot exchange rate).
Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the
re-measurement of monetary items at year end exchange rates are recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary items are not re-translated at period-end and are measured at historical cost
(translated using the exchange rates at the date of the transaction), except for non-monetary items
measured at fair value which are translated using the exchange rates at the date when fair value
was determined.
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2.4

Foreign operations

In the group’s financial statements, all assets, liabilities, and transactions of group entities with a
functional currency other than the US dollar upon consolidation. The functional currency of the
entities in the group has remained unchanged during the reporting period.

On consolidation, asset and liabilities have been translated into the US dollar at the closing rate at
the reporting date. Under this method, the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
comprehensive income and consolidated statement of cash flows for each year and period have
been translated into the presentational currency using the average exchange rates prevailing during
each reporting period (unless this is not a reasonable approximation of the cumulative effect of the
rates prevailing on the transaction dates, in which case income and expenses are translated at the
dates of the transactions). Exchange differences are charged or credited to other comprehensive
income and recognised in the currency translation reserve in equity. On disposal of a foreign
operation the cumulative translation differences recognised in equity are reclassified to profit or
loss and recognised as part of the gain or loss on disposal.

Income Taxes

Tax expense recognised in profit or loss comprises the sum of deferred tax and current tax not
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current income tax expense charged to profit or loss is the tax payable on taxable income for the
current period. Current tax liabilities (assets) are measured at the amounts expected to be paid to
(recovered from) the relevant taxation authority using tax rates (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred income taxes are calculated using the liability method on temporary differences between
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities and their tax bases. However, deferred tax is not
provided on the initial recognition of goodwill or on the initial recognition of an assets or liability
unless the related transaction is a business combination or affects tax or accounting profit.
Deferred tax on temporary differences associated with investment in subsidiaries and joint ventures
is not provided if reversal of these temporary differences can be controlled by the group and it is
probable that reversal will not occur in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are calculated, without discounting, at tax rates that are expected
to apply to their respective period of realisation, provided they are enacted or substantively enacted
by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that they will be able to be
utilised against future taxable income, based on the group’s forecast of future operating results
which is adjusted for significant non-taxable income and expenses and specific limits to the use of
any unused tax loss or credit. Deferred tax liabilities are always provided for in full.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset only when the group has a right and intention to set off
current tax assets and liabilities form the same taxation authority.

Changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognised as a component of tax income or
expense in profit or loss, except where they relate to items that are recognised in other
comprehensive income (such as the revaluation of land) or directly in equity, in which case the
related deferred tax is also recognised in other comprehensive income or equity, respectively.
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2.5

Financial Instruments

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when the group becomes a party to the
contractual provisions of the financial instrument and are measured initially at fair value adjusted
by transaction costs, except for those carried at fair value through profit or loss, which are
measured initially at fair value. Subsequent measurement of financial assets and financial liabilities
are described below.

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets

Financial assets are subsequently measured at:

o amortised cost;
. fair value through other comprehensive income; or
. fair value through profit or loss.

Measurement is on the basis of two primary criteria:

o the contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial asset; and

. the business model for managing the financial assets.

A financial asset that meets the following conditions is subsequently measured at amortised cost:

. the financial asset is managed solely to collect contractual cash flows; and

. the contractual terms within the financial asset give rise to cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding on specified dates.

A financial asset that meets the following conditions is subsequently measured at fair value
through other comprehensive income:

. the contractual terms within the financial asset give rise to cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding on specified dates;
and

. the business model for managing the financial asset comprises both contractual cash flows

collection and the selling of the financial asset.

By default, all other financial assets that do not meet the measurement conditions of amortised cost
and fair value through other comprehensive income are subsequently measured at fair value
through profit or loss.

A financial asset is derecognised when the holder’s contractual rights to its cash flows expires, or

the asset is transferred in such a way that all the risks and rewards of ownership are substantially
transferred.
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All the following criteria need to be satisfied for the derecognition of a financial asset:

. the right to receive cash flows from the asset has expired or been transferred;
. all risk and rewards of ownership of the asset have been substantially transferred; and
. the group no longer controls the asset (ie it has no practical ability to make unilateral

decisions to sell the asset to a third party).
On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised cost, the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the sum of the consideration received and receivable is recognised in profit or
loss.
On derecognition of a debt instrument classified as fair value through other comprehensive income,
the cumulative gain or loss previously accumulated in the investment revaluation reserve is
reclassified to profit or loss.
On derecognition of an investment in equity that the group elected to classify as at fair value
through other comprehensive income, the cumulative gain or loss previously accumulated in the
investments revaluation reserve is not reclassified to profit or loss, but is transferred to retained
earnings.
Classification and subsequent measurement of financial liabilities
Financial liabilities are subsequently measured at:
o amortised cost; or
. fair value through profit and loss.

A financial liability is measured at fair value through profit and loss if the financial liability is:

. a contingent consideration of an acquirer in a business combination to which AASB 3:
Business Combinations applies;

o held for trading; or
. initially designated as at fair value through profit or loss.

All other financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest method.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a debt instrument
and of allocating interest expense to profit or loss over the relevant period.

The effective interest rate is the internal rate of return of the financial asset or liability. That is, it
is the rate that exactly discounts the estimated future cash flows through the expected life of the

instrument to the net carrying amount at initial recognition.

A financial liability cannot be reclassified.
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2.6

2.7

2.8

2.9

A financial liability is derecognised when it is extinguished (ie when the obligation in the contract
is discharged, cancelled or expires). An exchange of an existing financial liability for a new one
with substantially modified terms, or a substantial modification to the terms of a financial liability,
is treated as an extinguishment of the existing liability and recognition of a new financial liability.

The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised and the
consideration paid and payable, including any non-cash assets transferred or liabilities assumed, is
recognised in profit or loss.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand and other short-term highly liquid investments
with original maturities of three months or less.

Trade and Other Payables

Trade and other payables represent the liabilities for goods and services received by the entity that
remain unpaid at the end of the reporting period. The balance is recognised as a current liability
with the amounts normally paid within 30 days of recognition of the liability.

Trade and other payables are initially measured their fair value and subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Goods and Services Tax (GST)

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of GST, except where the amount
of GST incurred is not recoverable from the Australian Taxation Office (ATO).

Receivables and payables are stated inclusive of the amount of GST receivable or payable. The net
amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the ATO is included with other receivables or
payables in the statement of financial position.

Cash flows are presented on a gross basis. The GST components of cash flows arising from
investing or financing activities which are recoverable from, or payable to, the ATO are presented
as operating cash flows included in receipts from customers or payments to suppliers.

Comparative Figures

When required by Accounting Standards, comparative figures have been adjusted to conform to
changes in presentation for the current financial year.

Where the company retrospectively applies an accounting policy, makes a retrospective restatement
or reclassifies items in its financial statements, a third statement of financial position as at the
beginning of the preceding period in addition to the minimum comparative financial statements is
presented.
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2.10 New and Amended Accounting Policies Adopted by the Group

The following Australian Accounting Standards have been issued or amended and are applicable to
the financial statements of the group:

° AASB 16 - Leases, applicable for annual reporting periods beginning 1 January 2019

AASB 16: Leases (AASB 16) replaced AASB 117: Leases (AASB 17) and introduces a
single lessee accounting model that will require a lessee to recognise right-of-use assets and
lease liabilities for all leases with a term of more than 12 months, unless the underlying
asset is of low value. Right-of-use assets are initially measured at their cost and lease
liabilities are initially measured on a present value basis. Subsequent to initial recognition:

. right-of-use assets are accounted for on a similar basis to non-financial assets,
whereby the right-of-use asset is accounted for in accordance with a cost model
unless the underlying asset is accounted for on a revaluation basis, in which case if
the underlying asset is investment property, the lessee applies the fair value model in
AASB 140: Investment Property to the right-of-use asset; or property, plant or
equipment, the lessee can elect to apply the revaluation model in AASB 116:
Property, Plant and Equipment to all of the right-of-use assets that relate to that class
of property, plant and equipment; and

o lease liabilities are accounted for on a similar basis as other financial liabilities,
whereby interest expense is recognised in respect of the liability and the carrying
amount of the liability is reduced to reflect lease payments made.

AASB 16 substantially carries forward the lessor accounting requirements in AASB 117.

In accordance with the transition requirements of AASB 16, the group has elected to apply
AASB 16 retrospectively to those contracts that were previously identified as leases under
the predecessor standard, with the cumulative effect of initially applying the new standard
recognised at the beginning of the current reporting period (i.e., at 1 July 2019).
Accordingly, comparative information has not been restated.

The group has assessed its lease in existence as at 1 July 2019 and concluded that it does
not fall within the scope of AASB 16 as the Group does not have the right to control the
underlying asset (shared office space) to which the lease relates. Rental payments made in
relation to the lease have therefore continued to be recognised as an expense on a
straight-line basis over the lease term.

3 OTHER INCOME AND EXPENDITURE

Period ended

1 July
2019 to
31 January
2020
A$

Other income
Reversal of trade payable and indirect tax payable 31,421
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries 178,162
Total other income 209,583

Expenditure

Accounting and audit fees 47,683
Company secretarial 35,000
Office rental 45,455
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4

TAXATION

Income tax expense comprise of:
Current tax

Deferred tax

Total income tax expense

Reconciliation of income tax expense to prima facie fax payable on accounting loss
Loss before tax

Australian prima facie tax benefit on loss at 30%

Non-assessable income

Non-deductible expenditure

Deferred tax assets not recognised

Income tax expense

Deferred Tax Assets not Brought to Account

Period ended
1 July

2019 to

31 January
2020

A$

(1,357,468)

(407,240)

(53,449)
326,117
134,572

The directors estimate that the potential deferred tax assets carried forward but not brought to account as
at period end at the Australian and Papua New Guinean corporate tax rate are made up as follows:

As at

31 January
2020

A$

Tax losses 7,103,797
Deductible temporary differences 1,265,034
Total 8,368,831

As at
30 June
2019
A$

6,969,225
1,265,034
8,234,259

The company estimates the group has accumulated income tax losses of $27,896,103. The benefit of these

losses and timing difference will only be obtained if:

. The group derives future assessable income of a nature and an amount sufficient to enable the

benefit from the deductions for the loss to be realised;

. The group continues to comply with the conditions for deductibility imposed by law; and

. No changes in tax legislation adversely affect the group in realising the benefit from the deduction

for the loss.

The group expects to have carried forward tax losses, which have not been recognised as deferred assets,
as it is not considered sufficiently probable that these losses will be recouped by means of future profits
taxable in the relevant jurisdictions. The utilisation of the tax losses is subject to the group passing the

required continuity of ownership and same business test rules at the time the losses are utilised. Net
deferred tax assets have not been brought to account as it is not probable within the immediate future that

tax profits will be available against which deductible temporary differences can be utilised.

- 208 -



DIVIDENDS
No dividend has been paid and recommended during the period.

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

As at As at

31 January 30 June

2020 2019

A$ A$

Bank and cash balances 1,463 4,646
Total cash and cash equivalents

Represented by:

Australian dollar 221 -

US dollar 1,242 918

Papua New Guinean Kina — 3,728

6.1 Reconciliation of Cash Flows from Operating Activities with Loss after Income Tax

A$
Loss after tax (1,357,468)
Non-cash flows in loss:
Impairment on non-financial assets 648
Interest on convertible note 3,901
Loss on conversion of convertible note 21,073
Loss on extinguishment of liabilities 1,013,939
Foreign exchange (88,237)
Changes in assets and liabilities:
Trade and other receivables (38,254)
Other assets 50,000
Trade and other payables 384,053
Net cash used in operating activities (10,345)
TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
As at As at
31 January 30 June
2020 2019
A$ A$
GST receivables 51,600 14,348
Other receivables 1,000 -
Total trade and other receivables 52,600 14,348

- 209 -



8

TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

As at As at

31 January 30 June

2020 2019

A$ A$

Trade payables 543,804 2,100,907
Accrued expenses 102,756 246,799
Total trade and other payables 646,560 2,347,706

Trade and other payables are carried at amortised cost and represent liabilities for goods and services
provided to the group prior to the end of the financial period that are unpaid and arise when the group
becomes obliged to make future payments in respect of the purchase of these goods and services.

BORROWINGS
As at As at
31 January 30 June
2020 2019
A$ A%
Convertible notes' - 860,026
Loan payable to related parties® - 52,938
Loan payable to others? 60,600 500
Total borrowings 60,600 913,464

The company issued 750,000 10% convertible notes for $750,000 on 25 October 2017. The notes were convertible into ordinary shares
of the company, at the option of the holder, or repayable on 25 October 2018. The repayment date was subsequently extended to 25
October 2019 and then again to 25 March 2020. The convertible note was redeemed for equity in the Company on 29 August 2019 at
$0.015 per share. The convertible notes are presented in the statement of financial position as follows:

A$
Face value of notes issued 750,000
Transaction costs (65,164)
Net proceeds 684,836
Amount classified as equity (net of transaction costs) (27,511)
Other equity instruments — issue of options recognised as a cost of the transaction (229,436)
Unwind of interest* 442,276
Gain on extinguishment of financial liability (10,464)
Loss on extinguishment of financial lability 4,226
Conversion to equity (including interest) (885,000)
Loss on conversion of convertible note to equity 21,073

Closing balance at 31 January 2020 -
" Interest expense is calculated by applying the effective interest rate of 13% to the liability component. The initial fair value of the

liability portion of the convertible note was determined using a market interest rate for an equivalent non-convertible note at issue
date.
Relates to loan payable to Fanucci Pty Ltd, a related party of Mr. Martino. The loan is interest free and repayable on demand. No
security has been provided in respect of the loan. The loan was fully repaid in January 2020.
The principal is repayable from the proceeds of capital raised under the company’s Prospectus lodged in November/December 2019. A
1% interest amount is payable on repayment. The loan was fully repaid in January 2020.
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10

ISSUED CAPITAL
10.1 Ordinary Shares

As at 31 January 2020
No. A$

Fully paid ordinary shares 18,284,582 10,814,492

The movements in fully paid ordinary shares were as follows:

Balance at 1 July 2019

Issue of shares with a fair value of $0.02 per share in payment of
trade creditors and convertible notes'

Capital raising costs

Consolidation of shares on 20:1 basis?

Balance at 31 January 2020

As at 30 June 2019

No.

165,515,311

No.

165,515,311

200,178,900

(347,409,629)

18,284,582

A$

6,830,356

A$
6,830,356

4,003,578
(19,444)

10,814,492

Ordinary shares have no par value. Ordinary shares participate in dividends and the proceeds on

winding up of the parent entity in proportion to the number of shares held.

At shareholders meetings, each ordinary share is entitled to one vote per share when a poll is

called, otherwise each shareholder has one vote on a show of hands.

On 20 August 2019 shareholders approved the issue of 200,178,900 shares (10,008,945 shares post consolidation) in payment of
$3,002,683 of trade creditors (including director fees outstanding as at 30 June 2019) and convertible notes. The number of shares to be
issued was calculated on an agreed conversion price of A$0.015. The fair value per share issued on 29 August 2019 has been calculated
at $0.40 per share (post share consolidation) based on a quoted market price, totalling $4,003,578. As a result of the difference between
the conversion price and the fair value of the issue price, an equity conversion cost of $1,013,939 (including fees of $13,044) has arisen

and has been recognised in profit in loss.

At a General Meeting of the Company held on 13 December 2019, shareholders approved the consolidation of the company’s issued
capital by consolidating every 20 existing shares into 1 new share (Consolidation). This resulted in the number of securities on issue
reducing from 365,694,211 to 18,284,582 (taking into account rounding). The purpose of the Consolidation is to implement a more
appropriate capital structure for the company going forward and enable the company to satisfy listing requirements. The Consolidation

took effect from 27 December 2019.
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11

10.2

Options on Issue

Options issued under share based payment arrangements entered into, or existing during the period
ended 31 January 2020 are set out below:

Weighted
average
No. exercise price

Outstanding at 1 July 2019 15,750,000 $0.08
Granted during the period - -
Expired during the period (5,000,000) $0.15
Exercise during the period - -
Consolidation on 20:1 basis' (10,212,500)
Outstanding at 31 January 2020? 537,500 $1.00
10.3 Capital Risk Management
The company’s capital includes share capital, and its cash and cash equivalents. The company’s
objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the company’s ability to continue as a going
concern, so that it can continue to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other
stakeholders. The company manages the capital structure and makes adjustments to it in light of
changes in economic conditions and the risk characteristics of the underlying assets. In order to
achieve this, the company may issue new shares in order to meet its financial obligations.
RESERVES
As at As at
31 January 30 June
2020 2019
A$ A$
Share based payment reserve
Opening balance 504,260 504,260
Closing balance 504,260 504,260
Foreign currency translation reserve
Opening balance 88,237 100,010
Foreign exchange movement (88,237) (11,773)
Closing balance - 88,237
11.1 Share Based Payment Reserve
The share based payment reserve records the issue of shares and options in consideration for
services rendered.
11.2 Foreign Currency Translation Reserve

The foreign currency translation reserve records the exchange differences resulting from the
translation of the group’s subsidiaries denominated in foreign currencies.

At a General Meeting of the company held on 13 December 2019, shareholders approved the consolidation of the company’s issued
capital by consolidating every 20 existing shares into 1 new share (Consolidation). The purpose of the Consolidation is to implement a
more appropriate capital structure for the company going forward and enable the company to satisfy listing requirements. The
Consolidation took effect from 27 December 2019.

Represents one class of option which exists as at 31 January 2020 being 537,500 options with an exercise price of $1.00 and expiry date
of 22 February 2023.
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13

SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS

In November 2017, the company received approval from shareholders at its Annual General Meeting to
issue 10,750,000 unlisted options exercisable at $0.05 with an expiry date of five years from their date of
issue as a cost of entering into the convertible note agreement. These options were issued as a cost of the
transaction entered into with Tamarind Classic Resources Limited for the convertible notes issued. The
fair value of each option when granted was determined as $0.02134 per option. These values were
calculated using an option pricing model applying the following inputs:

Share price $0.023

Exercise price $0.050

Expected share price volatility 173.49%

Vesting date 30 November 2017
Expiry date 30 November 2022
Risk-free interest rate 2.39%

Dividends -

These options were issued on 22 February 2018. In 2018, $229,436 was recognised within the share based
payment reserve as a transaction cost of the convertible notes issued. This amount is expensed within the
statement of profit and loss over the term of the convertible notes, as an unwinding of the interest
applicable to the financial liability component.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The group’s financial instruments consist of deposits with banks, accounts receivable, accounts payable
and borrowings. The main risks arising from the group’s financial instruments are foreign currency risk
and liquidity risk. Risk management is carried out by the Board of Directors who monitor, evaluate, and
manage the group’s financial risk across its operating units. The group does not enter or trade financial
instruments, including derivative financial instruments, for speculative purposes.

There has been no change to the group’s exposure to these financial risks or the manner in which it
manages and measures the risk.

13.1 Liquidity Risk

Liquidity risk refers to the risk in which the group encounters difficulties in meeting its short-term
obligations. Liquidity risks are managed by matching the payment and receipt cycle.

The group actively manages its operating cash flows so as to ensure that all repayment needs are
met. As part of overall prudent liquidity management, the group maintains sufficient levels of cash
to meet working capital requirements.

The following table details the group remaining contractual maturities for financial instruments.
The tables have been drawn up based on undiscounted cash flows of financial instruments based on
the earlier of the contractual date or when the group is expected to receive or pay. The tables
includes both interest and principal cash flows.
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As at
31 January 2020

Financial assets

Cash

Other receivables

Total anticipated
inflows

Financial liabilities

Trade and other
payables

Loan payable to
others

Total expected
outflows

Net (outflow)/inflow
on financial
instruments

As at
30 June 2019

Financial assets

Cash

Other receivables

Total anticipated
inflows

Financial liabilities

Trade and other
payables

Loan payable to
related parties and
others

Convertible notes

Total expected
outflows

Net (outflow)/inflow
on financial
instruments

Weighted
average
interest

rate
%o

Weighted
average
interest

rat
%

13%

1to 12
months
A$

1,463

52,600

54,063

646,560

60,600

707,160

(653,097)

1to 12
months
A$

4,646
14,348

18,994

2,347,706

53,438

860,026

3,261,170

(3,242,176)
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1to5
years
A$

1to
5 years
A$

>5
years
A$

>5
years
A$

Total
contractual

cash flows
A$

1,463

52,600

54,063

646,560

60,600

707,160

(653,097)

Total
contractual

cash flows
A$

4,646
14,348

18,994

2,347,706

53,438

860,026

3,261,170

Carrying
amount
A$

1,463

52,600

54,063

646,560

60,600

707,160

(653,097)

Carrying
amount
A$

4,646
14,348

18,994

2,347,706

53,438

860,026

3,261,170

(3,242,176) (3,242,176)



13.2

13.3

Foreign Currency Risks

Currency risk arises from transactions denominated in currency other than the functional currency
of the entities within the group. The currencies that give rise to this are primarily Papua New
Guinea Kina, US Dollar and Hong Kong Dollar.

It is not the group’s policy to take speculative positions in foreign currency. At the end of the
reporting period, the carrying amounts of monetary assets and monetary liabilities denominated in
currencies other than the functional currency of the entities within the group are as follows:

Kina USD HKD
As at 31 January 2020
Cash and cash equivalents — 1,242 —
Trade and other payables - - 17,425
As at 30 June 2019
Cash and cash equivalents 918 3,728 -
Trade and other payables 121,634 143,256 -

The group has foreign operations, whose net assets are exposed to currency translation risk. The
group does not currently designate its foreign currency denominated debt as a hedging instrument
for the purpose of hedging the translation of its foreign operations.

Exposure to foreign currency risk is monitored on an ongoing basis in accordance with the group’s
risk management policies to ensure that the net exposure is at an acceptable level.

The group has performed sensitivity analyses on its exposure to foreign exchange risk on balances
as at balance date. The sensitivity analysis includes only outstanding foreign currency denominated
monetary items and adjusts their translation at the end of the reporting period for a 10% change in
foreign currency rates where it would give rise to an impact on the group’s profit or loss and/or
equity.

If the relevant foreign currency strengthens or weakens by 10% against the functional currency of
the group’s profit or loss will increase/(decrease) by:

31 January 30 June
2020 2019
Strengthen against AUD
Kina - (6,077)
uUsSD (124) (57,359)
HKD (1,742) -
Weaken against AUD
Kina - 6,077
usSDh 124 57,359
HKD 1,742 —

Financial Instruments Not Measured at Fair Value

Financial instruments not measured at fair value includes cash and cash equivalents, trade and
other receivables, trade and other payables and borrowings. Due to their short-term nature, the
carrying amount of these current financial assets and financial liabilities measured at amortised
cost approximates their fair value.
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14

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND DISCLOSURES

14.1 Key Management Personnel

The following persons were key management personnel of PYX Resources Limited during the
financial period:

Oliver Hasler Chairman, CEO — appointed 31 January 2020
Bakhos Georges Non-executive director — appointed 31 January 2020
Gary Artmont Non-executive director — appointed 31 January 2020
Alvin Tan Non-executive director

Domenic Martino Managing director — resigned 31 January 2020
Joseph Goldberg Non-executive director — resigned 31 January 2020

No agreements with key management personnel or their controlled entities have been entered into.
Remuneration of non-executive directors is based on fees approved by the Board of Directors and
is set at levels to reflect market conditions and encourage the continued services of Directors.

The company does not offer any variable remuneration incentive plans or bonus schemes to
Executive Directors or any retirement benefits and, as such, there are no performance related links
to the existing remuneration policies.

The key management personnel of the company are the directors of PYX Resources Limited.
Details of the remuneration of the directors of the company are set out below.

Period ended
1 July

2019 to

31 January
2020

A$

Short-term employee benefit -
Post-employment benefit -
Termination benefits -
Other long-term benefits -
Share based payments -
Total key management personnel compensation -

No shares or options were provided to key management personnel as remuneration during the
period. No shares were issued on exercise of compensation options for the current period.
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14.2

The number of shares in the company held by directors or other key management personnel of the
company, including their associated entities at the end of the reporting period as follows:

Received

Opening during the Closing
Key management personnel and balance period Net change balance
associated entities No. No. No. No.
Mr. Martino 14,578,000 57,973,051 (68,923,499) ! 3,627,552
Mr. Goldberg 14,504,545 9,423,033 (22,731,199) ! 1,196,379
Mr. Tan 1,115,984 14,800,000 (15,120,186) ! 795,798
Mr. Hasler - - - -
Mr. Georges - - - -
Mr. Artmont - - - -

Transactions and Balances with Related Parties

During the reporting period, there were no formal agreements in place with Directors. Furthermore,
commencing 1 July 2019, the Directors agreed with the group not to receive any further director
fees by way of remuneration for services provided. Alvin Tan will recommence receiving director
fees upon signing a new agreement after the acquisition of Takmur (Mr. Martino and Mr. Goldberg
resigned after the acquisition of Takmur).

During the period to 31 December 2019, Directors converted all outstanding director fees (with the
exception of some GST) as at 30 June 2019 to shares at a price of $0.015 per share. This includes:

. Mr. Martino received shares for director fees outstanding as at 30 June 2019 and was paid
director fees totalling $nil. The amount payable to Mr. Martino as at reporting date totalled
$nil.

. Mr. Goldberg received shares for director fees outstanding as at 30 June 2019 and was paid
director fees totalling $nil. The amount payable to Mr. Goldberg as at reporting date totalled
$nil.

. Mr. Tan received shares for director fees outstanding as at 30 June 2019 and was paid
director fees totalling $nil. The amount payable to Mr. Tan as at reporting date totalled
$23,880.

Transaction Services Pty Ltd, a related party to Mr. Martino, provided office rental and supplies.
During the reporting period, outstanding payments owing to Transaction Services Pty Ltd to 30
June 2019 were converted to shares at $0.015 per share. In addition, the office lease agreement was
terminated as at 31 November 2019, with the bond of $50,000 used to pay the five months’ rental
owing to that date. Transaction Services Pty Ltd has been paid $50,000 (including GST) for the
reporting period. The amount payable as at 31 January 2020 totalled $nil.

Indian Ocean Corporate Pty Ltd is a related party of Mr. Martino, providing company secretarial,
accounting and administration services to the Group. During the reporting period, outstanding
payments owing to Indian Ocean Corporate Pty Ltd to 30 June 2019 were converted to shares at
$0.015 per share. Indian Ocean Corporate Pty Ltd has been paid $nil (excluding GST) for the
reporting period. The amount payable to Indian Ocean Corporate Pty Ltd as at 31 January 2020
totalled $60,500.

Share consolidation at 20 to 1 on 13 December 2019
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Fanucci Pty Ltd, a related party of Mr. Martino, provided a loan to the group which was converted

to shares. The loan is interest free and repayable on demand. No security has been provided in

respect of the loan. As at 31 January 2020, the balance is $nil.

There were no loans made to the directors of the company, including their related parties during

the period.

15 INTEREST IN SUBSIDIARIES

The consolidated financial report includes the financial information of PYX Resources Limited and the

subsidiaries listed in the following table:

Country of

Name incorporation
Indo Pacific Energy Pty Ltd Australia
Coral Sea Petroleum (PNG) Ltd Papa New

Guinea
Pacific Shale Gas Ltd Papa New

Guinea
South Pacific Resources Ltd Papa New

Guinea

Disposal of Subsidiaries During the Reporting Period

Principal
activity

Holding
company
Oil and gas
exploration
Oil and gas
exploration
Oil and gas
exploration

Equity interest

31 Januar
2020
%

30 June
2019

%

100

100

100

100

On 31 January 2020, the group disposed of its 100% equity interest in its subsidiary, Indo Pacific Energy

Pty Ltd for $1,000 consideration. At the date of disposal, the carrying amounts of Indo Pacific Energy

Pty Ltd’s group net liabilities were as follows:

Sale consideration receivable?
Less: net liabilities disposed
Gain on disposal

! Disposed on 31 January 2020, refer to note below.

2 The sale consideration was subsequently received on 20 February 2020.
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(179,162)
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16

17

AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

Audit and review of financial statements
Auditors of the company — Hall Chadwick NSW
Other services

Tax compliance

Total auditor’s remuneration

PARENT ENTITY INFORMATION

Period ended
1 July

2019 to

31 January
2020

A$

8,000

8,000

PYX Resources Limited is the legal parent entity of the consolidated group. The following information is

provided for the company:

17.1 Financial Position

ASSETS

Current assets
Non-current assets
Total assets
Liabilities

Current liabilities
Total liabilities
Equity

Issued capital
Share based payment reserve
Accumulated losses
Total equity

17.2 Financial Performance

Loss for the period
Other comprehensive income
Total comprehensive income
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As at

31 January
2020

A$

54,063

54,063

707,160
707,160

10,814,492
504,260

(11,971,849)

(653,097)

As at
30 June
2019
A$

2,771
32,249
35,020

2,451,610
2,451,610

6,830,356

504,260
(9,751,206)
(2,416,590)

Period ended
1 July

2019 to

31 January
2020

A$

(2,220,643)

(2,220,643)
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COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
On acquisition of Takmur, the group assumes the following commitments:

. On 3 January 2019 PTIM entered into a machinery lease contract with PT CFM Minerals Indonesia
(CFM) for the lease of machinery and equipment for use on the Mandiri Tenement. The term of the
lease commenced on 3 January 2019 and will end on 3 January 2022. A sum of IDR 180,000,000
per year is due to CFM from PTIM for leasing the equipment and machinery. Key items of
machinery leased by PTIM under this contract include a forklift, generator set, 2 overhung pumps,
shaking table and magnetic separators. The lease agreement also provides that PTIM must sell to
CFM each month during the term of the lease up to 200 metric tons of Zircon sand of 65,5% of
minimum ZrO2 content (Sale Commitment), provided CFM has made a payment for the required
working capital in advance. The sale price of this zircon sold by PTIM to CFM will be 6.5% less
than the open market benchmark price. At its sole discretion, CFM may increase the quantity of
the zircon sold by PTIM to it by up to 500 metric tons.

. The Group has no additional leasing arrangements, other than a few motor vehicle leases under
normal operating terms.

. PTIM has entered into 11 mining contractor cooperation agreements with contracted miners
(mining contractors) to unearth heavy mineral concentrate containing zircon. Pursuant to the
agreements, PTIM, acting pursuant to [UP 16/DPE/IW/2010, will purchase the zircon mined and
produced by the mining contractor in Desa Tumbang Empas, Kecamatan Mihing Raya, Kabupaten
Gunung Mas. The agreements are to last for a term of 5 years before automatically ending in 2023
unless extended. The quality of the zircon produced by the mining contractors must be 35% zircon,
the price paid is to cover extraction cost and will be calculated according to the domestic market
price determined at PTIM’s zircon warehouse in Desa Tumbang Empas. PTIM may reject the
mined zircon if it fails to meet the agreed quality requirements. PTIM must pay the mining
contractor royalties for the zircon prior to transporting the minerals.

There are no contingent liabilities for the group as at 31 January 2020.
SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
Since the balance date, the group has:

. The company de-listed from the ASX on 11 February 2020 and listed on the NSX on 25 February
2020.

. In February 2020, the company completed a successful capital raise of AU$14 million, with
35,000,000 shares issued at AU$0.40 per share.

. In February 2020, the company completed acquisition of Takmur via a reverse takeover. Essentially
the business of Takmur and its controlled entities is the main undertaking of the group going
forward. As part of the acquisition of Takmur, the company issued 210,274,171 shares to the
vendor of Takmur. On completion of the acquisition of Takmur the company changed its name to
“PYX Resources Limited”.

. In February 2020, the company issued 17,675,376 performance rights to Mr. Oliver Hasler. These

performance rights can be converted into a maximum of 21,110,195 shares on the achievement of
various milestones at various dates between 31 March 2020 to 31 December 2022.
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. In February 2021, the company completed the transaction to acquire the entire share capital of
Tisma Development (HK) Ltd (Tisma), the operator of a world-class mineral sands asset consisting
of a concession area of 1,500 hectares located in Central Kalimantan Province, Indonesia via the
issue of 142,277,370 shares in the company to the shareholders of the Tisma.

. In June 2021, the company completed AU$11.2 million (before costs) via a share placement to
professional and sophisticated investors.

Other than the matters disclosed in the financial statements, there have been no significant changes in the
company’s state of affairs during the period ended 31 January 2020.
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DIRECTORS’ DECLARATION

The Directors declare that the financial statements and notes set out on pages 198 to 221 are in accordance with
the Corporations Act 2001:

. Comply with Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations 2001, and other mandatory
professional reporting requirements;

. As stated in Note 1 of the financial statements also comply with International Financial Reporting
Standards; and

. Give a true and fair view of the financial position of the group at 31 January 2020 and of their
performance for the period ended on that date.

In the Directors’ opinion, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the group will be able to pay its debts as
and when they become due and payable.

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the Directors.

Oliver Hasler

Chief Executive Officer
Hong Kong

Dated: 2nd August 2021
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PYX RESOURCES LIMITED
(FORMERLY SOUTH PACIFIC RESOURCES LIMITED)
ABN 30 073 099 171
AND ITS CONTROLLED ENTITIES

AUDITOR’S INDEPENDENCE DECLARATION
UNDER S 307C OF THE CORPORATIONS ACT 2001 TO THE DIRECTORS OF
PYX RESOURCES LIMITED

In accordance with section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001, I am pleased to provide the following
declaration of independence to the directors of PYX Resources Limited. As the lead audit partner for the audit
of the financial report of PYX Resources Limited for the period ended 31 January 2020, I declare that, to the
best of my knowledge and belief, there have been no contraventions of:

i the auditor independence requirements as set out in the Corporations Act 2001 in relation to the audit;
and
ii. any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit.

HALL CHADWICK
Level 40, 2 Park Street
Sydney NSW 2000

DREW TOWNSEND
Partner
Dated: 2 August 2021
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PYX RESOURCES LIMITED
(FORMERLY SOUTH PACIFIC RESOURCES LIMITED)
ABN 30 073 099 171
AND ITS CONTROLLED ENTITIES

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S AUDITOR REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF
PYX RESOURCES LIMITED

REPORT ON THE FINANCIAL REPORT
Opinion

We have audited the financial report of PYX Resources Limited (the company) and its controlled entities (the
group), which comprises the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 January 2020, the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and
consolidated statement of cash flows for the period then ended, notes to the financial statements, including a
summary of significant accounting policies and the directors’ declaration.

In our opinion:

a. the accompanying financial report of the group is in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001,
including:

1) giving a true and fair view of the group’s financial position as at 31 January 2020 and of its
financial performance for the period then ended; and

(i)  complying with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations 2001; and
b. the financial report also complies with International Financial Reporting Standards as disclosed in Note 1.
Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report section of
our report. We are independent of the group in accordance with the auditor independence requirements of the
Corporations Act 2001 and the ethical requirements of the Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards
Board’s APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the Code) that are relevant to our audit of the
financial report in Australia. We have also fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the
Code.

We confirm that the independence declaration required by the Corporations Act 2001, which has been given to
the directors of the company, would be in the same terms if given to the directors as at the time of this auditor’s

report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion.
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Information Other than the Financial Report and Auditor’s Report Thereon

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information
included in the group’s annual report for the period ended 31 January 2020 but does not include the financial
report and our auditor’s report thereon. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a
material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in
this regard.

Our opinion on the financial report does not cover the other information and accordingly we do not express any
form of assurance conclusion thereon. In connection with our audit of the financial report, our responsibility is
to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent
with the financial report or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

Responsibilities of the Directors for the Financial Report

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the financial report that gives a true and fair
view in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Act 2001 and for such internal
control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of the financial report that gives a true
and fair view and is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial report, the directors are responsible for assessing the ability of the group to continue
as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis
of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the group or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report as a whole is free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance
with the Australian Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of this financial report.

As part of an audit in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards, we exercise professional judgement
and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

- Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

- Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that

are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness
of the group’s internal control.
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- Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
and related disclosures made by the directors.

- Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based
on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that
may cast significant doubt on the group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a
material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related
disclosures in the financial report or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However,
future events or conditions may cause the group to cease to continue as a going concern.

— Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial report, including the disclosures,
and whether the financial report represents the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

- Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business
activities within the group to express an opinion on the financial report. We are responsible for the
direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit
opinion.

We communicate with the directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit
and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during
our audit.

HALL CHADWICK
Level 40, 2 Park Street
Sydney NSW 2000

DREW TOWNSEND
Partner
Dated: 2 August 2021
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SECTION AS: FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF PYX RESOURCES LTD (30 JUNE 2019)
(formerly South Pacific Resources Ltd)

Pitcher Partners BA&A Pty Ltd, of Level 11, 12-14 The Esplanade, Perth, Western Australia 6000, statutory
auditors to the Company at the time known as South Pacific Resources, has given its consent and authorisation
for:

1. the inclusion in this Document of the statutory audit report issued with respect to PYX Resources Ltd (at
the time known as South Pacific Resources Ltd) Financial Information for the year ended 30 June 2019
included in Section A5 “Financial Information of PYX Resources (30 June 2019) (formerly South Pacific
Resources Ltd)” of Part 9 “Historical Financial Information”; and

2. the inclusion in this Document of their name.

Their consent and authorisation is provided as required by item 1.3 of Annex 1 of Commission Delegated
Regulation (EU) 2019/980 supplementing the Prospectus Regulation.

Pitcher Partners BA&A Pty Ltd has no material interest in the Company.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2019

Notes

Other income

Gain on modification of convertible note

Gain on extinguishment of financial liabilities 4(b)
Net foreign exchange gain/(losses)

Total Other income

Consultancy and other professional fees

Computer and office expenses

Impairment of exploration and evaluation expenditure 7
Interest expense

Loss on extinguishment of convertible note 10
Convertible Interest

Scoping study expense

Travel and entertainment expenses

Other expenses

Total Expenditure 2

Loss from ordinary activities before income tax expenses
Income tax expenses relating to ordinary activities 3

Loss for the year

Other Comprehensive Income

Other comprehensive income, net of income tax:

Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit and loss

Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations 12

Total other comprehensive income

Total comprehensive loss for the year attributable to the owners of
the parent

Earnings per share
Basic and diluted loss per share (cents) 13

2019 2018

$ $

10,464 67,744
203,825 -
- 7,919
214,289 75,663
(435,132) (416,018)
(143,041) (137,368)
(7,381) (49,245)
(187,849) -
(4,226) -
(166,723) (271,649)
- (348,252)
(2,333) (1,717)
(65,470) (57,080)
(1,012,155) (1,281,329)
(797,866) (1,205,666)
(797,866) (1,205,666)
(11,773) (6,494)
(11,773) (6,494)
(809,639) (1,212,160)
(0.48) (0.73)

The Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income is to be read in conjunction with the notes to the

financial statements set out on pages 232 to 265.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

AS AT 30 JUNE 2019

Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents

Trade and other receivables

Total Current Assets

Non-Current Assets
Rental Bond
Exploration expenditure
Plant & equipment

Total Non-Current Assets

Total Assets

Current Liabilities
Trade and other payables
Borrowings

Total Current Liabilities

Total Liabilities

Net Liabilities

Equity
Issued capital
Reserves
Accumulated losses

Total Equity

Notes

N

10

11
12

2018

2019 (Restated*)

$ $

4,646 3,576
14,348 24,193
18,994 27,769
50,000 50,000
648 1,945
50,648 51,945
69,642 79,714
2,347,706 1,761,562
913,464 700,041
3,261,170 2,461,603
3,261,170 2,461,603
(3,191,528) (2,381,889)
6,830,356 6,830,356
592,497 604,270
(10,614,381) (9,816,515)
(3,191,528) (2,381,889)

The Consolidated Statement of Financial Position is to be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial

statements set out on pages 232 to 265.

* Certain amounts shown here do not correspond to the 30 June 2018 financial statements and reflect adjustments disclosed in Note 6.



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2019

Balance at 1 July 2018
Loss for the year

Foreign exchange movement

Total comprehensive loss for the year

Transactions with owners in their capacity

as owners.

Balance at 30 June 2019

Balance at 1 July 2017
Loss for the year
Foreign exchange movement

Total comprehensive loss for the year

Transactions with owners in their capacity
as owners:

Issue of 1,000,000 at $0.03 per share in
payment of an invoice

Issue of convertible notes (Note 10)

Issue of 10,750,000 unlisted options
(Note 14)

Expensing unlisted options (Note 14)

Balance at 30 June 2018

Share Foreign

Based Currency Total

Ordinary Payment Translation Accumulated Attributable
Shares Reserve Reserve Losses to Members

$ $ $ $ $
6,830,356 504,260 100,010 (9,816,515)  (2,381,889)
- - - (797,866) (797,866)
- - (11,773) - (11,773)
(11,773) (797,866) (809,639)
6,830,356 504,260 88,237 (10,614,381)  (3,191,528)
6,772,845 242,247 106,504 (8,610,849)  (1,489,253)
- - - (1,205,666)  (1,205,666)
- - (6,494) - (6,494)
- - (6,494)  (1,205,666)  (1,212,160)

30,000 - - - 30,000
27,511 - - - 27,511

- 229,436 - - 229,436

- 32,577 - - 32,577
6,830,356 504,260 100,010 9,816,515)  (2,381,889)

The Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity is to be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial

statements set out on pages 232 to 265.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2019

Cash Flows From Operating Activities
Cash paid to suppliers and employees
Cash paid for Exploration and Evaluation
Interest received

Net cash used in operating activities

Cash Flows From Investing Activities
Payments for Exploration and Evaluation

Net cash used in investing activities

Cash Flows From Financing Activities
Proceeds/(Repayment) of borrowings
Proceeds from issue of convertible notes
Convertible notes facility fee

Net cash from financing activities

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year

2019 2018

Notes $ $
(51,867) (260,966)

- (348,252)

- 10

4(b) (51,867) (609,208)
- (80,855)

- (80,855)

52,937 (37,538)

— 750,000

- (65,164)

52,937 647,298

1,070 (42,765)

3,576 46,341

4(a) 4,646 3,576

The Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows is to be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial statements

set out on pages 232 to 265.
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PREFACE TO THE NOTES

The notes include information which is required to understand the financial statements and is material and
relevant to the operations and financial position and performance of the Company. Information is considered
relevant and material if:

. The amount is significant due to its nature or size;

. The amount is important in understanding the results of the Company;

. It helps to explain the impact of significant changes in the Company’s business; or

. It relates to an aspect of the Company’s operations that is important to its future performance.

The notes are organised in the following sections:

. Basis of preparation;

. Key numbers;

. Capital,

. Risk management;

. Group structure and management;
. Unrecognised items; and

. Other notes.

1. Basis of Preparation

(a)  Reporting entity
South Pacific Resources Limited (the “Company” or “SPR”) is a company limited by shares,
incorporated in Australia and listed on the Australian Securities Exchange. The financial

statements for the consolidated entity consist of SPR and its subsidiaries (the “Group”).

The nature of the operations and principal activities of the Group are described in the Directors’
Report.

(b)  Statement of compliance
The financial report is a general purpose financial report which has been prepared in accordance
with Australian Accounting Standards (AASBs) (including Australian Interpretations) adopted by
the Australian Accounting Standards Board (AASB) and the Corporations Act 2001. The financial
report of the Group complies with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) and
interpretations adopted by the International Accounting Standards Board.

For the purpose of preparing the financial statements, the Group is a for-profit entity.

The financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on 27 September 2019.
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(c)

(d)

(e)

Basis of preparation

The financial statements have been prepared on the basis of historic costs, except for the financial
assets for which the fair value basis of accounting has been applied.

The Group has adopted all of the new and revised Standards and Interpretations issued by the
Australian Accounting Standards Board (the AASB) that are relevant to their operations and
effective for the current reporting period.

The adoption of all the new and revised Standards and Interpretations has not resulted in any
changes to the Group’s accounting policies and has no effect on the amounts reports for the current
or prior periods.

Functional and presentation currency

These financial statements are presented in Australian dollars, which is the Parent and the Group’s
functional currency with the exception of CSP(PNG), which has a functional currency of US
dollars. The Group’s presentation currency is in Australian dollars.

New and amended standards adopted by the Group

The Group has adopted all the new and revised Standards and Interpretations issued by the
Australian Accounting Standard Board (“AASB”) that are relevant to their operations and effective
for the current reporting period. The adoption of all the new and revised Standards and
Interpretations has not resulted in any material impacts on the amounts reported for the current or
prior periods. The accounting policies have been consistently applied by the Group and are
consistent with those applied in the previous financial year and those of the corresponding interim
reporting period, except for the accounting policies described below.

AASB 15 ‘Revenue from Contracts with Customers’

AASB 15 supersedes AASB 111 Construction Contracts, AASB 118 Revenue and related
interpretations and it applies with limited exceptions, to all revenue arising from contracts with its
customers. AASB 15 establishes a five-step model to account for revenue arising from contracts
with customers and requires that revenue be recognised at an amount that reflects the consideration
to which an entity expects to be entitled in exchange for transferring goods or services to a
customer.

AASB 15 requires the Group to exercise judgement, considering all the relevant facts and
circumstances when applying each step of the model to contracts with customers.

The Group adopted AASB 15 using the full retrospective method of adoption. The effect of the
transition on the current period has not been disclosed as the standard provides an optional
practical expedient, however the impact on the current period is immaterial. The Group did not
apply any of the other available optional practical expedients.

At the initial date of application, the effect of adopting AASB 15 did not have a material impact on
the transactions and balances recognised in the financial statements.
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AASB 9 ‘Financial Instruments’

AASB 9 supersedes pronouncement AASB 139 ‘Financial Instruments: Recognition and
Measurement’ and was adopted by the Group effective 1 July 2018. The standard brings together
all three aspects of the accounting for financial instruments: classification and measurement,
impairment; and hedge accounting.

With the exception of hedge accounting which has no application to the Group so it will apply
prospectively should it enter into any such arran